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"Company," "we," "us," and "our" refer to TPG REFinance Trust, lnc., a Maryla11d corporation and. where applicable, its 
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PART I 

CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 

This Fonn I 0-K contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27 A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended 
(the "Securities Act"), and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"), which reflect our 
current views with respect to, among other things, our operations and financial performance. You can identify these forward-looking 
statements by the use of words such as "outlook," "believe," "expect," "potential," "continue," "may," "should," "seek," 
"approximately," "predict," " intend," "will," "plan," "estimate," "anticipate," the negative version of these words, other comparable 
words or other statements that do not relate strictly to historical or factual matters. By their nature, forward-looking statements speak 
only as of the date they are made, are not statements of historical fact or guarantees of future performance and are subject to risks, 
uncertainties, assumptions or changes in circumstances that are difficult to predict or quantify. Our expectations, beliefs and 
projections are expressed in good faith, and we believe there is a reasonable basis for them .. However, there can be no assurance that 
management's expectations, beliefs and projections will occur or be achieved, and actual results may vary materially from what is 
expressed in or indicated by the forward-looking statements. 

There are a number of risks, uncertainties and other important factors that could cause our actual results to differ materially from the 
forward-looking statements contained in this Form 10-K. Such risks and uncertainties include, but are not limited to, the following: 

the general political, economic, regulatory, competitive and other conditions in the markets in which we invest; 

fluctuations in interest rates and credit spreads have reduced and in the future could reduce our ability to generate income on 
our loans and other investments, which could lead to a significant decrease in our results of operations, cash flows and the 
market value of our investments and could materially impair our ability to pay distributions to our stockholders; 

adverse changes in the real estate and real estate capital markets; 

general volatility of the securities markets in which we participate; 

changes in our business, investment strategies or target assets; 

difficulty in obtaining financing or raising capital; 

an inability to borrow incremental amounts or an obligation to repay amounts under our financing arrangements; 

reductions in the yield on our investments and increases in the cost of our fmancing; 

events giving rise to increases in our current expected credit loss reserve; 

we have in the past and may in the future foreclose on certain of the loans we originate or acquire, which could result in 
losses that negatively impact our results of operations and financial condition; 

as an owner of real estate through foreclosure or otherwise, we are subject to risks inherent in the ownership and operation of 
real estate and development of real estate; 

adverse legislative or regulatory developments, including with respect to tax laws, securities laws and the laws governing 
financing and lending institutions; 

acts of God such as hmricanes, floods , earthquakes, droughts, wildfires, mudslides, volcanic eruptions, and other natural 
disasters, acts of war and/or terrorism, or other hostilities and other events that may cause unanticipated and uninsured 
performance declines and/or losses to us or the owners and operators of the real estate securing our investments; 

global economic trends and economic conditions, including heightened inflation, slower growth or recession, changes to 
fiscal and monetary policy, higher interest rates, structural shifts and regulatory changes to the commercial banking systems 
of the U.S. and Western Europe, labor shortages, currency fluctuations and challenges in global supply chains; 

the failure of any banks with which we and/or our borrowers have a commercial relationship could adversely affect, among 
other things, our borrower's ability to access deposits or obtain fmancing on favorable tenus or at all; 

reduced demand for office space, including as a result of fully remote and/or hybrid work schedules which allow work from 
remote locations other than the employer•s office premises; 

changes in the availability of attractive loan and other investment opportunities, whether they are due to competition, 
regulation or otherwise; 

deterioration in the performance of properties securing our investments that may cause deterioration in the performance of 
our investments, adversely impact certain of our financing arrangements and our liquidity, and potentially expose us to 
principal losses on our investments; 

defaults by borrowers in paying debt service or principal on outstanding indebtedness; 

the adequacy of collateral securing our investments and declines in the fair value of our investments; 
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adverse developments in the availability of desirable investment opporttmities, whether due to competition, regulation or 
otherwise; 

difficulty or delays in redeploying the proceeds from repayments o:f our existing investments; 

increased competition from entities engaged in mortgage lending and/or investing in our target assets; 

difficulty in successfully managing our growth, including integrating new assets into our existing systems; 

the cost of operating our platform, including, but not limited to, the cost of operating a real estate investment platform and the 
cost of operating as a publicly traded company; 

the availability of qualified personnel and our relationship with our Manager; 

conflicts with TPG and its affiliates, including our Manager, the perso1mel of TPG providing services to us, including our 
officers, and certain funds managed by TPG; 

our ability to maintain our qualification as a real estate investment !trust ("REIT") for U.S. federal income tax purposes; 

our ability to maintain our exemption or exclusion from registration under the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended 
(the "Investment Company Act"); and 

authoritative U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (or "GAAP") or policy changes from standard-setting bodies such 
as the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("F ASB"), the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC"), the Internal 
Revenue Service ("IRS"), the New York Stock Exchange ("NYSE") and other authorities that we are subject to, as well as 
their counterparts in any foreign jurisdictions where we might do business. 

There may be other risks, uncertainties or factors that may cause our acttual results to differ materially from the forward-looking 
statements contained in tilis Form 10-K, including risks, uncertainties, and factors disclosed in Item lA- "Risk Factors" and in Item 7 
- "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations." You should evaluate all forward­
looking statements made in this F onn I 0-K in the context of ti1ese risks, uncertainties and other factors. 

Although we believe tim ti1e expectations reflected in ti1e forward-looking statements are reasonable, we cannot guarantee fim1re 
results, levels of activity, perfomumce, or achievements. We caution you that the risks, tmcertainties and other factors referenced 
above may not contain all of the risks, uncertainties and other factors that are important to you. In addition, we cannot assure you that 
we will realize the results, benefits or developments that we expect or anticipate or, even if substantially reaUzed, that they will result 
in the consequences or affect us or om business in the way expected. All forward-looking statements in this Form 10-K apply only as 
of the date made and are expressly qualified in tlleir entirety by the cautionary statements included in this Form l 0-K and in oilier 
filings we make with the SEC. We undertake no obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements to reflect 
subsequent events or circumstances, except as required by law. 
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Item 1. Business. 

Company and Organization 

TPG REFinance Trust, Inc. is a commercial real estate finance company externally managed by TPG RE Finance Trust Management, 
L.P., an affiliate ofTPG. Our principal executive offices are located at 888 Seventh Avenue, 35'11 Floor, New York, New York 10106. 
We are organized as a holding company and conduct our operations primarily through TPG RE Finance Trust Holdco, LLC 
("Holdco"), a wholly owned Delaware limited liability company, and Holdco's direct and indirect subsidiaries. We conduct our 
operations as a REIT for U.S. fedleral income tax purposes. We generally will not be subject to U.S. federal income taxes on our REIT 
taxable income to the extent that we annually distribute all of our REIT taxable income to stockholders and maintain our qualification 
as a REIT. We also operate our business in a manner that permits us to maintain an exclusion or exemption from regisu·ation w1der the 
Investment Company Act. 

We operate our business as one segment. Our principal business activity is to directly originate and acquire a diversified portfolio of 
commercial real estate-related assets, consisting primarily of first mortgage loans and senior participation interests in frrst mortgage 
loans secured by institutional-quality properties in primary and select secondary markets in the United States. 

Manager 

We are externally managed by our Manager, TPG RE Finance Trust Management, L.P., an affiliate of TPG. TPG is a leading global 
alternative asset manager with $246 billion in assets under management as of December 31 , 2024. TPG offers a broad range of 
investment strategies across the alternative asset management landscape, primarily in private equity, credit, and real estate. Our 
Manager manages our investments and our day-to-day business and affairs in confonnity with our investment guidelines and other 
policies that are approved and monitored by our board of directors. Our Manager is responsible for, among other matters, the selection, 
origination or pmchase and sale of our portfolio investments, our financing activities and providing us with investment advisory 
services. Our Manager is also responsible for our day-to-day operations and perfonns (or causes to be performed) such services and 
activities relating to our investments and business and affairs as may be appropriate. Our investment decisions are approved by an 
investment committee of our Manager that is comprised of senior investment professionals of TPG, including senior investment 
professionals of TPG's real estate equity group and TPG's executive conllilittee. 

TPG Real Estate, TPG's real estate platform, includes TPG's real estate equity and debt investment vehicles, (including us, TPG's 
public real estate debt investment platform). Collectively, TPG Real Estate managed more than $17.6 billion in real estate :<md real 
estate-related assets as of December 31, 2024. In the fourth quarter of 2023, TPG Real Estate held an initial closing of TPG Real 
Estate Credit Opp01tunities, and two associated fw1ds-of-one. Tluoughout 2024, TPG Real Estate held additional closings of TPG 
Real Estate Credit Opportunities, and in the fourth quarter of 2024 closed an additional associated fund-of-one (collectively, the 
foregoing referenced vehicles, the "TRECO Funds"). The TRECO Funds are private credit vehicles, with investment mandates 
focused on opportunistic real estate credit investing. TPG Real Estate's teams work across TPG offices in New York, San Francisco 
and London, and representative offices in Atlanta and Chicago, and have 19 and 45 employees, respectively, between TPG's real 
estate debt investment platform and TPG's real estate equity platform. 

Our chief executive officer, president and chief financial officer are senior TPG Real Estate professionals. None of our executive 
officers, our Manager, or other personnel supplied to us by our Manager is obligated to dedicate any specific amount of time to our 
business. Our Manager is subject to the supervision and oversight of our board of directors and has only such functions and authority 
as our board of directors delegates to it. Pursuant to a management agreement between our Manager and us (our "Management 
Agreement"), our Manager is entitled to receive a base management fee, an incentive fee, and certain expense reimbursements. 

See Note I 0 to our Consolidated! Financial Statements included in this Fonn I 0-K for more detail on the terms of the Management 
Agreement. 

Investment Strategy 

Our investment objective is to dlirectly originate and acquire a diversified portfolio of commercial real estate-related credit assets, 
consisting prin1arily of frrst mortgage loans and senior participation imerests in first mortgage loans secured by institutional-quality 
properties in primary and select secondary markets in the United States. We invest primarily in conm1ercial mortgage loans and other 
commercial real estate-related debt instruments, including, but not limited to, the following: 

Commercial Mortgage Loans. We focus primarily on directly originating and selectively acquiring frrst mortgage loans. 
These Loans are secured by high quality commercial real estate p roperties undergoing some fonn of transition and value 
creation, such as retenanting, refurbishment or other form of repositioning, may vary in duration, predominantly bear interest 
at a floating rate, may provide for regularly scheduled principal amortization and typically require a balloon payment of 
principal at maturity. Tlhese investments may encompass a whole commercial mortgage loan or may include a pari passu 
participation within a commercial mortgage loan. 
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Other Commercial Real Estate-Related Debt Instruments. From Lime to time we may invest in other commercial rea l estate­
related debt instnunents, subject to maintaining our qualification as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax pmposes and 
exclusion or exemption from regulation under the Investment Company Act, including, but not limited to, subordinate 
mortgage interests, mezzanine loans, secured real estate securities, note financing, preferred equity and miscellaneous debt 
instruments. We have in the past invested in short-term, primarily investment grade collateralized loan obligations ("CRE 
CLOs") and commercial mortgage-backed securities ("CMBS"). 

The commercial mortgage loans we target for origination or acquisition typically include, but are not limited to, the following 
characteristics: 

Unpaid principal balance greater than $35.0 million; 

As-is loan-to value ("LTV") of less than 75% with respect to individual properties; 

Floating rate loans tied to the one-month U.S. dollar-denominated Secured Ovemight Financing Rate ("Tenn SOFR") and 
credit spreads of 300 to 600 basis points over the benchmark interest rate; 

Secured by properties that are: (1) primarily in the multifamily/housing, life science, mixed-use, hospitality, self storage, and 
industrial real estate sectors; (2) expected to reach stabilization within 36 months of the origination or acquisition date; and 
(3) located in primary and select secondary markets in the U.S. that we believe have attractive economic conditions and 
commercial real estate fundamentals, such as growth in employment and household formation , medical infrastructure, 
universities and attractive cultural and lifestyle amenities; and 

Well-capitalized sponsors with experience in particular real estate sectors and geographic markets. 

We believe that our current investment strategy provides significant opportunities to our stockholders for attractive risk-adjusted 
returns over time through cash distributions and capital appreciation. However, to capitalize on investment opportunities and returns at 
different points in the economic and real estate investment cycle, we may modify, expand or change our investment strategy by 
targeting other assets with debt characteristics, such as subordinate mortgage loans, mezzanine loans, preferred equity, real estate 
securities and note fmancings, in each case subject to any duties to offer or other contractual obligations to other funds managed by 
TPG. We may also target assets with equity-linked characteristics, or forlllS of direct equity ownership of collllllercial real estate 
properties, in either case subject to any duties to offer or other contractual obligations to other funds managed by TPG. We believe that 
the flexibility of our investment strategy, supported by our Manager's significant commercial real estate experience and the extensive 
resources of TPG and TPG Real Estate, will allow us to take advantage of continued changing market conditions to maximize risk­
adjusted returns to our stockholders. 

We believe that the diversification of our investment portfolio, our ability to actively manage those investments, and the flexibility of 
our strategy positions us to generate attractive returns for our stockholders in a variety of market conditions over the long tenn. 

Investment Portfolio 

Our interest-earning assets are comprised substantially of a portfolio of floating rate, first mortgage loans and contiguous mezzanine 
loans. As of December 31 , 2024, our balance sheet loan portfolio consisted of 45 loans held for investment totaling $3.4 b illion of 
commitments and an unpaid principal balance of$3.3 billion, with a weighted average credit spread of3.7%. 

As of December 31 , 2024, our balance sheet loan portfolio had a weighted average all-in yield of 8.3% and a weighted average term to 
extended maturity (assuming all extension options are exercised by our borrowers) of 2.4 years. As of December 31 , 2024, 99.7% of 
our loan commitments were floating rate, of which 100.0% were first mortgage loans. Tn two instances, a first mortgage loan and 
contiguous mezzanine loan are both owned by us. As of December 31 , 2024, our balance sheet loan portfolio had a weighted average 
LTV of 66.1% and, subject to the satisfaction of certain borrower milestones, $ 127.9 million of unftmded loan commitments. 

We may hold real estate owned ("REO'') as a result of taking title to a loan's collateral. As of December 31 , 2024, we owned four 
office properties and four multifamily properties with an aggregate canying value of $275.8 million. 
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Loan Portfolio 

The following table details overall statistics for our loans held for investment portfolio as of December 31 , 2024 (dollars in 
thousands): 

Number of loans 

Floating rate loans 

Total loan comm~tment<'> 

Unpaid principal balance<2> 

Unfi.mded loan coimnitments<3> 

Amortized cost 

Weighted average credit spread<4> 

Weighted average all-in yield(4) 

Weighted average term to extended maturity (in yearsP> 

Weighted average LTv<6> 

Balance sheet portfolio 

45 

99.7% 

$ 3,412,016 

$ 3,284,510 

$ 127,866 

$ 3,278,588 

3.7% 

8.3% 

2.4 

66.1% 

Total loan exposure<'> 

45 

99.7% 

$ 3,412,016 

$ 3,284,510 

$ 127,866 

$ 3,278,588 

3.7% 

8.3% 

2.4 

66.1% 

(I) ln certain instances, we create structural leverage through the co-origination or non-recourse syndication of a senior loan interest to a third­
party. ln. either case, the senior mortgage loan (i.e., the non-consolidated senior interest) is not included on our balance sheet. When we 
create stmctural leverage through the co-origination or non-recourse syndication of a senior loan interest to a third-party, we retain on our 
balance sheet a mezzanine loan. Total loan exposure encompasses the entire loan portfolio we originated, acquired and fmanced. We did 
not have any non-consolidated senior interests as of December 31, 2024. See Item 7 - "Management's Discussion and Analysis of 
Financial Condition and Results of Operations-Investment Portfolio Financing-Non-Consolidated Senior Interests" in this Form 10-K for 
additional infonnation. 

(2) Unpaid principal balance includes PIK interest of$0.4 million related to one loan as of December 31, 2024. 
(3) Unfunded loan commitments may be funded over the term of each loan, subject in certain cases to an expiration date or a force-fi.mding 

date, primarily to llnance property improvements or lease-related expend!itures by our bonowers, and to fmance operating dellcits during 
renovation and lease-up. 

(4) As of December 31 , 2024, all of our loans were indexed to Tenn SOFR. [n addition to credit spread, all-in yield includes the amortization 
of defened origination fees, purchase price premium and discount, and accmal of both extension and exit fees. All-in yield for the total 
portfolio assumes Tenn SOFR as of December 31 , 2024 for weighted average calculations. 

(5) Extended maturity assumes all extension options are exercised by our borrowers; provided, however, that our loans may be repaid prior to 
such dale. As of December 31, 2024, based on the unpaid principal balance of our total loan exposure, 22.1% of our loans were subject to 
yield maintenance or other prepayment restrictions and 77.9% were open to repayment by the borrower without penalty. 

(6) Except for constmction loans, LTV is calculated for loan originations and existing loans as the total outstanding principal balance of the 
loan or participation interest in a loan (plus any llnancing that is pari passu with or senior to such loan or participation interest) as of 
December 31 , 2024, divided by the as-is appraised value of our collateral at the time of origination or acquisition of such loan or 
participation interest. For constmction loans only, LTV is calculated as the total conu11itment an1ount of the loan divided by the as­
stabilized value of the real estate securing the loan. The as-is or as-stabilized (as applicable) value reflects om Manager's estimates, at the 
time of origination or acquisition of the loan or participation interest in a loan, of the real estate value underlying such loan or participation 
interest determined in accordance with our Manager's underwriting standards and consistent with third-party appraisals obtained by our 
Manager. 

Our loans held for investment are classified as Bridge, Light Transitional, Moderate Transitional and Constmction loans and are 
secured by a diverse portfolio of properties located in primary and select secondary markets in the U.S. These loan categories are 
utilized by us to classify, define, a nd assess our loan investments. Generally, loan investments are classified based on the percentage of 
total loan commitment represented by deferred fundings. Bridge loans involve deferred fundings of less than I 0%, while Light and 
Moderate Transitional loans involve deferred fundings of I 0% to 20%, and over 20%, respectively. Construction loans involve 
ground-up construction where deferred fund ings often represent the majority of the loan commitment amount. Deferred fundings are 
commonly conditioned on the borrower's satisfa,ction of certain collateral performance tests, the completion of specified property 
improvements, or both. As of December 31, 2024, we held no Construction loans. 
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The following charts present, by total loan commitment, the property types securing our balance sheet loans held for investment 
portfolio and their geographic distribution within the U.S., as of December 31, 2024: 

Property Type Geographic Regions 

Midwest , 

Life 

• Multifamily • Office • Life Science Hotel 
• Mixed-Use • Industrial • Self Storage • West • East South • Midwest • Various 

The following charts present, by total loan commitment, our loans held for investment portfolio by year of origination and loan 
category, as of December 31, 2024: 

• 2017 • 2018 

Loan Vintage 
2017, 1.5% 

2019 • 2021 • 2022 • 2023 • 2024 

Loan Category 

• Bridge • Moderate Transitional Light Transitional 

As of December 31, 2024, we had no loans on non-accrual status. As of December 31 , 2024, our allowance for credit losses for loans 
held for investment was $64.0 million, or 187 basis points of total loan commitments, including an allowance for credit losses on 
unfunded loan commitments, compared to $69.8 million, or 190 basis points of total loan commitments, as of December 31 , 2023, a 
decrease of $5.8 million from the prior year. 
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The following table details our total loan conunitments and tmpaid principal balance across t11e top 25 Metropolitan Statistica l Areas 
("MSA"), as of December 3 1, 2024 (dollars in thousands). 

MSA<1> MSArank<1> Number of loans Loan commitment Unpaid principal balance 
New York City I 4 $ 555,623 $ 555,624 
San Francisco 11 2 317,573 308,130 
Phoenix 12 3 173,600 166,099 
Los Angeles 2 2 172,732 168,284 
Dallas 4 3 170,160 144,145 
Miami 8 3 169,375 161,372 
San Antonio 24 3 120,460 117,448 
Baltimore 21 113,025 113,025 
Tampa 18 69,000 66,647 
St. Louis 20 65,600 63,546 
San Diego 17 51,000 46,425 

Denver 19 31,000 30,309 
Other 20 1,402,868 1,343,456 
Total 45 $ 3,412,016 $ 3,284,510 

( I) Based on rankings ofMSAs according to the United States Census Bureau. 

Real Estate Ownell 

As of December 31 , 2024, we owned four office properties and four multifamily properties witJ1 an aggregate carrying value of $275.8 
million. 

For additional infonnalion regarding our investment portfolio as of December 31 , 2024, see Item 7- "Management's Discussion and 
Analysis ofFinancial Condition and Results of Operations" in this Form 10-K. 
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Investment Portfolio Financing Strategy 

We fmance our investment portfolio using secured financing arrangements, including secured credit agreements, secured revolving 
credit facilities, mortgage loans, asset-specific financing arrangements, and collateralized loan obligations ("CLOs"). In certain 
instances, we may create structural leverage and obtain matched-term financing through the co-origination or non-recourse syndication 
of a senior loan interest to a third party (a "non-consolidated senior interest"). We may in the future use other forms of leverage, 
including structured financing other than CLOs, derivative instruments, and public and private secured and unsecured debt issuances 
by us or our subsidiaries. 

We generally seek to match-fund and match-index our investments by minimizing the differences between the durations and indices of 
our investments and those of our liabilities, while minimizing our exposure to mark-to-market risk. We seek to accomplish this 
primarily by selecting borrowing arrangements (i) where benchmark interest rate mirrors the benchmark rates of our loan investments, 
(ii) where maturities equal or exceed the expected maturities of our loan investments, and (iii) that do not involve mark-to-market 
structural features. This may be accomplished in certain instances using derivatives, although no such derivatives are currently used by 
us. Under certain circumstances, we may detennine not to match-fimd or match-index our investments, or we may otherwise be unable 
to do so. 

Certain of our borrowing arrangements contain defined mark-to-market provisions that permit our lenders to issue margin calls to the 
Company only in the event that the collateral properties tmderlying the Company's loans pledged to the Company's lenders experience 
a non-temporary decline in value ("credit marks" ) due to reasons other than capital markets events that result in changing credit 
spreads for similar borrowing obligations. As of December 31 , 2024, 77.0% of our loan investment portfolio fmancing arrangements 
contained no mark-to-market provisions. 

The following table details the principal balance amounts outstanding for our loan portfolio fmancing arrangements as of 
December 31, 2024 (dollars in thousands): 

Collateralized loan obligations 

Secured credit agreements 

Secured revolving credit facility 

Asset-specific financing 

Total indebtedness0 > 

Percent of total indebtedness 

$ 

$ 

Total indebtedness 

1,682,288 

585,042 

86,625 

186,500 

2,540,455 

(I) Excludes deferred fmancing costs of$2.3 million as of December 31, 2024. 

$ 

$ 

Non-mark-to-market Mark-to-market 

1,682,288 $ 

585,042 

86,625 

186,500 

1,955,413 $ 585,042 

77.0% 23.0% 

The amount of leverage we employ for particular investments will depend upon our Manager's assessment of the credit, liquidity, 
price volatility, and other risks of those assets and the financing counterparties, the availability of particular types of financing at the 
tin1e, and the financial covenants tmder our fmancing arrangements. Our Manager's decision to use leverage to finance our 
investments, including the amount of leverage we use, will be at its discretion and is not subject to the approval of our stockholders. 
We currently expect that our leverage, measuredl as the ratio of total debt to equi ty, will generally be less than 3.75: I, subject to 
compliance with our fmancial covenants under our secured financing agreements and other contractual obligations. We reserve the 
right to adjust this range without advance notice to satisfy our corporate flnance and risk management objectives. 
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Floating Rate Portfolio 

Our business model seeks to minimize our exposure to changing interest rates by match-indexing our assets and liabilities using the 
same benchmark index, which is one-month Tenn SOFR. Accordingly, rising interest rates will generally increase our net interest 
income, while declining interest rates will generally decrease om net interest income, subject to the impact of interest rate floors in om 
mortgage loan investment portfolio. As of December 31, 2024, 99.8% of our loan investments by unpaid principal balance earned a 
floating rate of interest and were financed with liabilities that require interest payments based on floating rates, which resulted in 
approximately $0.7 billion of net floating rate exposure, subject to the impact of interest rate floors on all of our floating rate loans and 
less than 5.6% of our liabilities. The weighted average interest rate floor on the mortgage Joan investment portfolio was 1.84% and the 
weighted average interest rate floor on the liabilities was 0.10% as of December 31, 2024. Our liabilities are generally index-matched 
to each loan investment asset, resulting in a net exposure to movements in benchmark rates that varies based on the relative proportion 
of floating rate assets and liabilities. 

The following table illustrates the quarterly impact to our net interest income of an immediate increase or decrease of 50 and I 00 basis 
points in the Term SOFR benchmark rates underlying our existing floating rate loans held for investment portfolio and related 
liabilities as of December 31 , 2024 (dollars in thousands): 

Portfolio Net Interest Income Sensitivity($ Impact per Share per Quarter) 

0.03 l Index Rate at December 31, 2024 

I Term SOFR: 4.33% 

J $0.02 
0.02 

I 

0.01 i $0.01 

0.00 -+-
$0.00 

I 

(0.01) i ($0.01) 

I 

(0.02) i ($0.02) 

(0.03) ... 
-1.00% -0.50% 0.00% +0.50% +1.00% 

Change in Index Rate 

Due to the floating rate and short-term nature of our loan investment portfolio, we have elected not to employ interest rate derivatives 
(e.g., interest rate swaps, caps, floors, collars or swaptions) to limit om exposure to increasing or declining interest rates, but we may 
do so in the future. 
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Investment Guidelines 

Our board of directors has approved U1e following investment guidelines: 

No investment will be made that would cause us to fai l to maintain our qualification as a REJT under the Internal R evenue 
Code of 1986, as amended (the "Internal Revenue Code"); 

No investment will be made U1at would cause us or any of our subsidiaries to be required to be registered as an investment 
company under t11e Investment Company Act; 

Our Manager will seek to invest our capital in our target assets; 

Prior to the deployment of our capital into our target assets, our Manager may cause our capital to be invested in any short­
teml investments in money market funds, bank accounts, overnight repurchase agreements with primary Federal Reserve 
Bank dealers collateralized by direct U.S. government obligations and other instruments or investments determined by our 
Manager to be of high quality; 

Not more ilian 25% of our Equity (as defined in our Management Agreement) may be invested in any individual investment 
without the approval of a majority of our independent directors (it being understood, however, that for purposes of the 
foregoing concentration limit, in the case of any investment tllat is comprised (whether through a structured investment 
vehicle or other arrangement) of securities, instruments or assets of multiple portfolio issuers, such investment for purposes 
of tJ1e foregoing limitation will be deemed to be multiple investments in such underlying securities, instruments and assets 
and not the particular vehicle, product or oilier arrangement in which they are aggregated); and 

Any investment in excess of $300 million requires the approval of a majority of our independent directors. 

These investment guidelines may be amended, supplemented or waived pursuant to the approval of our board of directors (which must 
include a majority of our independent directors) from time to time, wiiliout the approval of our stockholders. 

Competition 

We operate in a competitive market for the origination and acquisition of attractive invesnnent opportunities. We compete with a 
variety of institutional investors, including other REITs, debt funds, specialty finance companies, savings and loan associations, banks, 
mortgage bankers, insurance companies, mutual funds, institutional investors, investment banking firn1s, financial institutions, private 
credit funds, private equity and hedge funds, governmental bodies and other entities and may compete with other TPG Funds (such as 
tile TRECO Funds). Many of om competitors are substantially larger and have considerably greater financial, technical and marketing 
resources than we do. Several of our competitors, including oilier REITs, have recently raised, or are expected to raise, significant 
amounts of capital and may have investment objectives that overlap with our investment objectives, which may create additional 
competition for lending and other investment opportunities. Some of our competitors may have a lower cost of funds and access to 
funding sources tllat may not be available to us or are only available to us on substantially less attractive terms. Many of our 
competitors are not subject to the operating constraints associated with REIT tax compliance or maintenance of an exclusion or 
exemption from the Investment Company Act. In addition, some of our competitors may have higher risk tolerances or different risk 
assessments, which could allow them to consider a wider variety of investments and establish more lending relationships than we do. 
Competition may result in realiz ing fewer investments, higher prices, acceptance of greater risk, greater defaults, lower yields or a 
narrower spread of yields over our borrowing costs. In addition, competition for attractive investments could delay the investment of 
our capital. 

In tJ1e face of thjs competition, we have access to our Manager's professionals through TPG and TPG Real Estate, and their industry 
expertise, which provides us with an advantage in competing effectively for attractive investment opportunities, helps us assess risks 
and determine appropriate pricing for certain potential investments, and affords us access to capital with low costs and other attractive 
attributes. However, we may not be able to achieve our business goals or expectations due to the competitive risks that we face. For 
additional information concerning t11ese competitive risks, see Item 1 A - "Risk Factors-Risks Related to Our Lending and 
Investment Activities-We operate in a competitive market for the origination and acquisition of attractive invesnnent opportunities 
and competition may limit our ability to originate or acquire attractive invesnnents in our target assets, which could have a material 
adverse effect on us." 

Environmental, Social, and Governance 

Because we are externally managed by our Manager, an affiliate of TPG, many of the Environmental, Social, and Governance 
("ESG") initiatives undertaken by them impact or apply to us. We risk damage to our reputation if we, affiliates of our Manager, or 
TPG fail to act responsibly in areas such as diversity and inclusion, environmental stewardship, support for local collllnw1ities, 
corporate governance and transparency, and incorporating ESG factors in our investment processes. We strive to maintain an 
environment that fosters integrity, professionalism, and candor when conducting our day-to-day operations, during our investment 
decision making process, and while implementing and maintaining our ESG initiatives. 
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E mployees 

We do not have any employees, nor do we expect to have employees in the future. We arc externally managed and are advised by our 
Manager pursuant to our Management Agreement between our Manager and us. All of our executive officers and certain of our 
directors are employees of om Manager or its affiliates. 

Our success depends to a significant extent upon tthe ongoing efforts, experience, diligence, skill, and network of business contacts of 
our executive officers and the other key personnel of TPG provided to our Manager and its affiliates. These individuals evaluate, 
negotiate, execute, and monitor our loans, other investments and our capitalization, and advise us regarding maintenance of our REIT 
status and exclusion or exemption from regulation under the Investment Company Act. Our success depends on their skills and 
management expe11ise and continued service with our Manager and its affiliates. 

Government Regulation 

Our operations are subject, in certain instances, to supervision and regulation by U.S. and other governmental authorities, and may be 
subject to various laws and judicial and administrative decisions imposing various requirements and restrictions, which among other 
things: (i) regulate credit-granting activities; (ii) establish maximum interest rates, finance charges and other charges; (iii) require 
disclosures to customers; (iv) govern secured transactions; and (v) set collection, foreclosure, repossession and claims-handling 
procedures and other trade practices. We are also required to comply with certain provisions of the Equal Credit Opportunity Act that 
are applicable to commercial loans. We intend to conduct our business so that neither we nor any of our subsidiaries are required to 
register as an investment company under the Investment Company Act. 

In recent years, legislators in the United States and in other countries have said that greater regulation of financial services finns is 
needed, particularly in areas such as risk management, leverage, and disclosure. While we expect that additional new regulations in 
these areas may be adopted and existing ones may change in the future, it is not possible at this time to forecast the exact nature of any 
future legislation, regulations, judicial decisions., orders or interpretations, nor their impact upon our future business, financial 
condition, or results of operations or prospects. 

Operating and Regulatory Structure 

REIT Qualification 

We made an election to be taxed as a REIT for U.S. federa l income tax purposes, commencing with our initial taxable year ended 
December 31 , 2014. We generally must distribute annually at least 90% of om net taxable income, subject to certain adjustments and 
excluding any net capital gain, in order for us to continue to qualify as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax pur poses. To the extent that 
we satisfy this distribution requirement but distribute less than 100% of our net taxable income, we will be subject to U.S. federal 
income tax on our undistributed taxable income. In addition, we will be subject to a 4% nondeductible excise tax if the actual amount 
that we pay out to our stockholders in a calendar year is less than a minimum amount specified under U.S. federal tax laws. Our 
qualification as a REIT also depends on our ability to meet various other requirements imposed by the Internal Revenue Code, which 
relate to organizational structure, diversity of stock ownership, and certain restrictions with regard to the nature of our assets and the 
sources of our income. Even if we continue to qualify as a REIT, we may be subject to certain U.S. federal excise taxes and state and 
local taxes on our income and assets. If we fail to qualify as a REIT in any taxable year, we will be subject to U.S. federal income tax 
at regular corporate rates, and applicable state and local taxes, and will not be able to qualify as a REIT for the subsequent four years. 

Furthermore, we have multiple taxable REIT subsidiaries ("TRSs"), which when active, pay U.S. federal, state, and local income tax 
on t11eir net taxable income. See Item I A - "Risk Factors - Risks Related to our REIT Status and Certain Other Tax Items" for 
additional tax status information. 

Investment Company Act Exclusion or Exemption 

We conduct, and intend to continue to conduct, our operations so that neither we nor any of our subsidiaries are required to register as 
an invesnnent company under the Invesnnent Company Act. Complying with provisions that allow us to avoid the consequences of 
registration under the Investment Company Act may at times require us to forego otherwise attractive opportunities and limit the 
manner in which we conduct our operations. We conduct our operations so that we are not an " investment company" as defined in 
Section 3(a)(l )(A) or Section 3(a)(l )(C) of the Investment Company Act. We believe we are not an investment company under 
Section 3(a)(l)(A) of the Investment Company Act because we do not engage primarily, or hold ourselves out as being engaged 
primarily, in the business of investing, reinvesting or trading in securities. Rather, through our wholly-owned or majority-owned 
subsidiaries, we are primarily engaged in non-investment company businesses related to real estate. In addition, we intend to conduct 
our operations so that we do not come within the definition of an investment company under Section 3(a)(l)(C) of the Invesnnent 
Company Act because less than 40% of the value of om total assets (exclusive of U.S. government securities and cash items) on an 
unconsolidated basis will consist of" investment securities." Excluded from the term "investment secmities" (as that term is defined in 
the Investment Company Act) are securities issued by majority-owned subsidiaries that are themselves not investment companies and 
are not relying on the exclusions from the definition of investment company set forth in Section 3(c)( I) or Section 3(c)(7) of the 
Investment Com.pany Act. Om interests in wholly-owned or majority-owned subsidiaries that qualify for the exclusion pursuant to 
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Section 3(c)(5)(C), as described below, Rule 3a-7, as described below, or another exclusion or exception under the Investment 
Company Act (other than Section 3(c)(l) or Section 3(c)(7) thereof), do not constitute "investment securities." 

We hold our assets primarily through direct or indirect wholly-owned or majority-owned subsidiaries, certain of which are excluded 
from the defmition of investment company pmsuant to Section 3(c)(5)(C) of the Investment Company Act. We classify the assets of 
om subsidiaries relying on the Section 3(c)(5)(C) exemption from the Investment Company Act based upon positions set forth by the 
SEC staff. Based on such positions, to qualify for the exclusion pursuant to Section 3(c)(5)(C), each suclh subsidiary generally is 
required to hold at least (i) 55% of its assets in "qualifying" real estate assets and (ii) at least 80% of its assets in "qualifying" real 
estate assets and real estate-related assets. 

Certain of om subsidiaries rely on Rule 3a-7 w1der the Investment Company Act. We refer to these subsidiaries as om "CLO 
subsidiaries." Rule 3a-7 under the Investment Company Act is available to certain structmed financing vehicles that are engaged in the 
business of holding fmancial assets that, by their terms, convert into cash within a finite time period and that issue fixed income 
securities entitling holders to receive payments that depend primarily on the cash flows from these assets, provided that, among other 
things, the structured fmance vehicle does not engage in certain portfolio management practices resembling those employed by 
management investment companies (e.g., mutual ftmds). Accordingly, each of these CLO subsidiaries is subject to legal and 
contractual restrictions regarding their structure and operation. As a result of these restrictions, our CLO subsidiaries may suffer losses 
on their assets and we may suffer losses on our investments in those CLO subsidiaries. 

As a consequence of our seeking to avoid the need to register under the Investment Company Act on an ongoing basis, we and/or our 
subsidiaries may be restricted from making certain investments or may structure investments in a marmer that would be less 
advantageous to us than would be the case in the absence of such requirements. In particular, a change in the value of any of our assets 
could negatively affect our ability to avoid the need to register under the Investment Company Act and cause the need for a 
restructming of om investment portfolio. For example, these restrictions may limit our and our subsidiaries' ability to invest directly in 
mortgage-backed secmities that represent less than the entire ownership in a pool of senior mortgage loans, debt and equity !ranches of 
securitizations and certain asset-backed securities, non-controlling equity interests in real estate companies or in assets not related to 
real estate; however, we and our subsidiaries may invest in such securities to a certain extent. In addition, seeking to avoid the need to 
register under the Invesunent Company Act may cause us and/or om subsidiaries to acquire or hold additional assets that we might not 
otherwise have acquired or held or dispose of invesunents that we and/or our subsidiaries might not have otherwise disposed of, which 
could result in higher costs or lower proceeds to us than we would have pa id or received if we were not seeking to comply with such 
requirements. Thus, avoiding registration under the Investment Company Act may hinder our ability to operate solely on the basis of 
maximizing profits. 

If we were required to register as an invesunent company w1der the Investment Company Act, we would become subject to substantial 
regulation with respect to om capital structure (including om ability to use borrowings), management, operations, transactions with 
affiliated persons (as defi11ed in the Investment Company Act) and portfolio composition, including disclosure requirements and 
restrictions with respect to diversification and industry concentration and other matters. Compliance with the Investment Company 
Act would, accordingly, limit our ability to make certain investments and require us to significantly restructure our business plan, 
which could materially and adversely affect our ability to pay distributions to our stockholders. 

Available Information 

We maintain a website at www.tpgrefinance.com. We are providing the address to our website solely for the information of investors. 
The information on om website is not a part of, nor is it incorporated by reference into, this report. Through our website, we make 
available, free of charge, our annual proxy statement, atmual reports on Form 1 0-K, quarterly reports on Fonn I 0-Q, current reports on 
Fom1 8-K and amendments to those reports filed or furn ished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act as soon as 
reasonably practicable after we electronically file such material with, or furnish them to, the SEC. 
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Item lA. Risk Factors. 

The following is a summary of the principal risks and uncertainties that could materially adversely affect our business, financial 
condition and results of operations. This summary should be read together with the more detailed risk factors contained below. 

Risks Related to Our Lending and Investment Activities 

Our success depends on the availability of attractive investment opportunities and our Manager's ability to identify, structme, 
consummate, leverage, manage and realize returns on our investments. 

Our commercial mortgage loans and other commercial real estate-related debt instluments expose us to risks associated with 
real estate investments generally. 

We operate in a competitive market for the origination and acquisition of attractive investment opportunities and competition 
may limit our ability to originate or acquire attractive investments in our target assets. 

The due diligence process undertaken by our Manager in regard to our investment opportunities may not reveal all facts 
relevant to an investment and, as a result, we may experience losses. 

Real estate valuation is inherently subjective and uncertain, and is subject to change, especially during periods of volatility. 
Our allowance for loan losses may prove inadequate. 

Interest rate, prepayment, concentration, liquidity, collateral and credit risk may adversely affect our ftJlancial performance. 
There are no assurances that the U.S. or global financial systems will remain stable. 

Any credit ratings assigned to our investments will be subject to orngoing evaluations and revisions, and we cannot assure you 
that those ratings will not be downgraded. 

The success of our investment strategy depends, in part, on our ability to successfully effectuate loan modifications and/or 
restructurings. 

We have in the past and may in the future acquire ownership of property securing our loans through foreclosure or deed-in­
lieu of foreclosure. When we take title to the property securing one of our loans, and if we do not or cannot sell the property, 
we own and operate the property as " real estate owned." Our real estate owned assets are subject to risks particular to real 
property. These risks may have resulted and may continue to result in a reduction or elimination of return from a loan secured 
by a particular property. 

Property insurance costs may continue to increase, and in some cases insurance may not be available. 

Risks Related to Our Financing 

• 

We have a significant amount of debt, which subjects us to increased risk of loss. 

Our financing arrangements may require us to provide additional collateral or repay debt. 

Certain of our current financing arrangements contain, and certain of our future financing arrangements may contain, various 

fmancial and operational covenants, and a default of any such covenants could materially and adversely affect us. 

There can be no assurance that we will be able to obtain or utilize additional financing arrangements in the future on similar 
or more favorable terms. or at all. 

Risks Related to Our Relationship with Our Manager and its Affiliates 

We depend on our Manager and the persotmel ofTPG provided to our Manager for our success. We may not find a suitable 
replacement for our Manager if our Management Agreement is terminated, or if key persmmel cease to be employed by TPG 
or otherwise become unavailable to us. 

Our Manager manages our pm1folio pursuant to very broad investment guidelines and is not require{f to seek the approval of 
our board of directors for each investment, financing, asset allocation or hedging decision made by it, which may result in our 
making riskier loans andl other investments. 

Risks Related to Our Company 

Our investment, asset allocation and financing strategies may be changed without stockholder cousent and we may not be 
able to operate our business successfully or implement our opcratirng policies and investment strategy. 

TPG and our Manager may not be able to hire and retain qualified investment professionals or grow and maintain our 
relationships with key borrowers and loan brokers. We also depend on a third-party service provider for asset management 
services. We may not find a suitable replacement for this service provider if our agreement with them is tenninated, or if key 
personnel of this service provider cease to be employed or otherwise become unavailable to us. 
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Rapid changes in the market value or income potential of our assets may make it more difficult for us to maintain our 
qualification as a REIT or our exclusion or exemption from regulation under the Investment Company Act. 

Actions of the U.S. government and other governmental and regulatory bodies designed to stabilize or refonn the financial 
markets may not achieve the intended effect. 

Operational risks, includling the risks of cyberattacks, may dismpt our businesses, result in losses or limit our growth. 

Risks Related to our REIT Status and Certain Other Tax Items 

Failure to comply with REIT requirements could subject us to higher taxes and liquidity issues and reduce the amount of cash 
available for distribution to our stockholdlers. 

Dividends payable by REITs do not qualify for the reduced tax rates available for some dividends. 

Compliance with the REIT requirements may hinder our ability to grow, which could materially and adversely affect 111s. 

We may choose to make distributions to our stockholders in shares of our common stock, in which case our stockholders 
could be required to pay income taxes in excess of the cash dividends they receive. 

Liquidation of assets may jeopardize our ability to maintain our REIT qualification or create additional tax liability for us. 

Risks Related to Our Common Stock 

We have not established a minimum distribution payment level and we cannot assure you of our ability to pay distributions in 
the future. 

The authorized but unissued shares of our common stock and preferred stock may prevent a change in our control. 

Ownership linlitations may delay, defer or prevent a transaction or a change in our control that might involve a premium 
price for our common stock or otherwise be in the best interest of our stockholders. 

Our charter contains provisions that make removal of our directors difficult, which makes it more difficult for our 
stockholders to effect changes to our management and may prevent a change in control of our company that is in the best 
interests of our stockholders. 

General Risks 

A global economic slowdov.rn, a recession or declines in real estate values could impair our investments and have a 
significant adverse effect on our business, fmancial condition and results of operations. 

Our obligations associated with being a public company, our failure to maintain an effective system of internal control and 
social, political, and economic instability, unrest, and other circumstances beyond our control could adversely affect our 
business operations. 
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Risks Related to Our Lending and Investment Activities 

Our success depends on the aVltilability of attractive investment opportunities and our Manager's abilily to identify, structure, 
consummate, leverage, manage aiUI realize returns on our investments. 

Our operating results are dependent upon the availability of, as well as our Manager's ability to identify. structure, consummate, 
leverage, manage and realize rerunlS on, om loatlS and other invesunents. In general, the availability of attractive invesunent 
opportunities and, consequently, our operating results, will be affected by the level and volatility of interest rates, conditions in the 
financial markets, general economic conditions, the demand for investment opportunities in our target assets and the supply of capital 
for such investment opportunities. We cannot assure you that our Manager will be successful in identifying and consummating 
attractive investments or that such invesunents, once made, will perform as anticipated. 

Our commercial mortgage loans and other commercial real estate-related debt instruments expose us to risks associated with real 
estate investments generally. 

We seek to originate and selectively acquire commercial mortgage loans and other conm1ercial real estate-related debt instruments. 
Deterioration of real estate fundamentals generally, and in the United States in particular, has negatively impacted our perfonnance by 
making it more diflicull for borrowers to satisfy their debt payment obligations, increasing the default risk applicable to borrowers and 
made it relatively more difficult for us to generate attractive risk-adjusted retwns. Real estate investments are subject to various risks, 
including: 

economic and market fluctuations; 

political instability or changes, terrorism and acts of war or other hostilities; 

changes in building, enviromnental, zoning and other laws; 

casualty or condenmation losses; 

regulatory limitations on rents or moratoriums against tenant evictions or foreclosures; 

decreases in property values; 

changes in the appeal of properties to tenants, including due to the impact of remote work on how tenants and workers can 
efficiently use collilllercial space; 

changes in supply (resulting from the recent growth in commercial real estate debt funds or otherwise) and demand; 

energy supply shortages; 

various uninsured or uninsurable risks; 

increasing costs relating to, or the unavailability of, various categories of property-related insurance; 

natural disasters and outbreaks of pandemic or other severe public health events; 

changes in government regulations (such as rent control, regulation of investments in multifamily/housing properties or 
regulation of greenhouse gas emissions); 

changes in monetary policy; 

changes in capital expenditure costs; 

changes in the availability of debt financing and/or mortgage funds which may render the sale or refinancing of properties 
difficult or impracticable; 

increased mortgage defaults; 

declining interest rates which reduce asset yields, subject to the impact of interest rate floors on certa in of our floating rate 
loans; 

increasing interest rates, which may make it more difficult for our bonowers to repay loans via a refinancing or sak of the 
collateral property; 

increases in borrowing rates; 

changes in conswner spending; and 

negative developments in the economy and/or adverse changes in real estate values generally and other risk factors that are 
beyond our control. 
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Recent concerns about the real estate market, elevated interest rates, inflation, energy costs and geopolitical issues have contributed to 
increased volatility and diminished expectations for the economy and markets going forward. We ca1mot predict the degree to which 
economic conditions generally, and the conditions for commercial real estate debt investing in particular, will improve or decline. Any 
declines in the perforn1ance of the U.S. and global economies or in the real estate debt markets could have a material adverse effect on 
us. 

Commercial real estate debt instruments that are secured or othenvise supported, directly or indirectly, by commercial prop erty are 
subject to tlelinquency, foreclosure ami loss, which coultl materially and lldversely affect us. 

Conm1ercial real estate debt instruments, such as mortgage loans, that are secured or, in the case of certain assets (inclucling 
participation interests, mezzanine loans and preferred equity), supported by commercial properties, are subject to risks of delinquency 
and foreclosure and risks of loss that are greater than similar risks associated with loans made on the security of single-family 
residential property. The ability of a borrower to pay the principal of and interest on a loan secured by an income-producing property 
typically is dependent primarily upon the successful operation of such property rather than upon the existence of independent income 
or assets of the borrower. If the net operating income of the property is reduced, the borrower's ability to pay the principal of and 
interest on the loan in a timely maru1er, or at all, may be impaired and therefore could reduce our return from an affected property or 
investment, which could materially and adversely affect us. Net operating income of an income-producing property may be adversely 
affected by the risks particular to commercial real property described above, as well as, among other things: 

tenant mix and tenant bankruptcies; 

success of tenant businesses; 

property management decisions, including with respect to capital improvements, particularly in older builcling stmctures; 

renovations or repositionings during which operations may be limited or halted completely; 

property location and condition, including, without limitation, any need to address environmental contamination or climate­
related risks at a property; 

competition from comparable types of properties; 

changes in global, national, regional or local economic conditions or changes in specific industry segments; 

changes in interest rates, and in the state of the credit, securitization, debt and equity capital markets, including diminished 
availability or lack of debt financing for commercial real estate; 

global trade disruption, supply chain issues, significant introductions of trade barriers and bilateral trade frictions; 

declines in regional or local real estate va lues or rental or occupancy rates; 

responses of businesses, governments and individuals to pandemics or other severe public health events; 

labor shortages and increases in the minimum wage and other forms of employee compensation and benefits; 

higher rates of inflation; 

changes in real estate tax rates, tax credjts and other operating expenses; 

changes to tax laws and rates to which real estate lenders and investors are subject; and 

government regulations. 

In the event of any default ooder a mortgage loan held directly by us, we will bear a risk of loss to the extent of any deficiency 
between the value of the collateral and the principal of and accrued interest on the mortgage loan. ln the event of the bankmptcy of a 
borrower of a loan, or a tenant or an operator of a property, the loan to such borrower or the loan secured by such property will be 
deemed to be secured only to the extent of the value of the underlying collateral at the time of bankruptcy (as determjned by the 
bankmptcy court), and the lien securing the mortgage loan will be subject to t11e avoidance powers of the bankruptcy trustee or debtor­
in-possession to the extent the lien is unenforceable under state law. Foreclosure of a mortgage loan can be an expensive and lengthy 
process that could have a substantial negative effect on any anticipated return on the foreclosed mortgage loan. 
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We originate am/ acquire transitional loans, which involl,es greater risk of loss than sttlbilized commercial mortgage loans. 

We originate and acquire transitional loans secured by first lien mortgages on commercial real estate, and in some instances pledges of 
equity in the property holder. These loans provide interim financing to borrowers seeking short-term capital for the acquisition, lease 
up or repositioning of commercial real estate and generally have an initial matmity of three years or less. A borrower under a 
transitional loan has usually identified an asset that the borrower views as undervalued, having been w1der-managed and/or is located 
in a recovering market. If the borrower's assessment of the asset as undervalued is inaccurate, or if the market in which the asset is 
located fails to recover according to the borrower' s projections, or if the borrower fai Is to sufficiently improve the operating 
performance of the asset or the value of the asset, the borrower may not receive a sufficient return on the asset to satisfy the 
transitional loan, and we will bear the risk that we may not recover some or all of our investment. During periods in which there are 
decreases in demand for certain properties as a result of macroeconomic factors, reductions in the fmancial resources of tenants and 
defaults by borrowers or tenants, borrowers face additional challenges in transitioning properties. Market downturns or other adverse 
macroeconomic factors may affect transitional loans in our portfolio more adversely than loans secured by more stabilized assets. A 
portion of our loans are secured by office space and similar commercial real estate. This sector has recently been affected by certain 
macroeconomic factors, such as an increased prevalence of remote work. 

In addition, borrowers often use tJ1e proceeds of a sale or refinancing to repay a loan, and both sales and refinancings are subject to the 
broader risk that the underlying collateral may not be liquid and that financing may not be available on acceptable terms or at all. In 
the event of any failure to repay under a transitional loan held by us, we will bear the risk of loss of principal and non-payment of 
interest and fees to the extent of any deficiency between the value of the underlying collateral and the principal amount and unpaid 
interest of the loan. To the extent we suffer such losses with respect to our loans, it could adversely affect our results of operations and 
fmancial condition. 

There can be no assurances that the U.S. or global financial systems will remain stable, and the occurrence of another significant 
cretlit market disruption may negatively impact our ability to execute our investment strategy, which would materially and 
atlversely affect us. 

The U.S. and global financial markets experienced significant disruptions in the past, dil.lfing which times global credit markets 
collapsed, borrowers defaulted on their loans at historically high levels, banks and other lending institutions suffered heavy losses and 
the value of real estate declined. During such periods, a significant number of borrowers became unable to pay principal and interest 
on outstanding loans as the value of their real estate declined. After the 2008 Global Financial Crisis, liquidity eventually returned to 
the market and property values recovered to levels that exceeded those observed prior to the Global Financial Crisis. However, 
declining real estate values due to changes in interest rates, economic conditions, or other factors, have in the past and could again in 
the future reduce the level of new mortgage and other real estate-related loan originations. Instability in the U.S. and global financial 
markets in the future could be caused by any number of factors beyond our control, including, without limitation, terrorist attacks or 
other acts of war or other hostilities and adverse changes in national or international economic, market and political conditions or 
another health pandem.ic. Any future sustained period of increased payment delinquencies, foreclosures or losses could adversely 
affect both our net interest income from loans in our portfolio as well as our ability to originate and acquire loans, which would 
materially and adversely affect us. 

Difficulty in redeploying the proceetls from repayments of our existing loans and other investments could materially ami atlversely 
affect us. 

As our loans and other investments are repaid, we attempt to redeploy the proceeds we receive into new loans and investments (which 
can include future fundings associated with our existing loans) and repay borrowings under our secured financing agreements and 
other financing arrangements. It is possible that we will fail to identify reinvestment options that would provide a yield and/or a risk 
profile that is comparable to the asset that was repaid. If we fail to redeploy the proceeds we receive from repayment of a loan or other 
investment in equivalent or better alternatives, we could be materially and adversely affected. If we carmot redeploy the proceeds we 
receive from repayments into funding loans in property types or geographic markets that our Manager has identified as priorities for 
us, such repayments may cause tlhe composition of our loan portfolio to skew towards less favored property types or geographies and 
prevent us from achieving our portfolio construction objectives. 

lf we are unable to successfully integrate new assets and manage our growth, our results of operations and financial condition 
may suffer. 

We have in the past and may in the future significantly increase the size and/or change the mix of our portfolio of assets. We may be 
unable to successfully and efficiently integrate newly-acquired assets into our existing portfolio or otherwise effectively manage our 
assets or our growth effectively. In addition, increases in our portfolio of assets and/or changes in the mix of our assets may place 
significant demands on our Manager' s administrative, operational, asset management, financial and other resources. Any failure to 
manage increases in size effectively could adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition. 
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We operate in a competitive market for the origination ami acquisition of attractive investment opportunities and competition may 
limit our ability to originate or acquire attractive investments in our target assets, which CQu/d have a material at/verse effect on us. 

We operate in a competitive market for the origination and acquisition of attractive investment opportunities. We compete with a 
variety of institutional investors, including other REITs, debt funds, specialty finance companies, savings and loan associations, banks, 
mortgage bankers, insurance companies, mutual fimds, institutional investors, investment banking firms, financial institutions, private 
equity and hedge funds, govenunental bodies and other entities and may compete with TPG Funds (such as the TRECO Funds), 
subject to duties to offer, other contractual obligations and other internal rules. Many of our competitors are substantially larger and 
have considerably greater financial, technical and marketing resources than we do. Several of our competitors, including other REITs, 
have recently rai sed, or are expected to raise, significant amounts of capital, and may have investment objectives that overlap with our 
investment objectives, which may create additional competition for lending and other investment opportunities. Some of our 
competitors may have a lower cost of funds and access to funding sources tbat may not be available to us or are only available to us on 
substantially less attractive terms. Many of our competitors are not subject to tl1e operating constraints associated with REIT tax 
compliance or maintenance of an exclusion or exemption from the Investment Company Act. In addition, some of our competitors 
may have higher risk tolerances or different risk assessments, which could allow them to consider a wider variety of investments and 
establish more lending relationships than we do. Competition may result in realiz ing fewer investments, higher prices, acceptance of 
greater risk, greater defaults, lower yields or a narrower spread of yields over our borrowing costs. In addition, competition for 
attractive investments could delay the investment of our capital. Furthermore, changes in t11e financial regulatory regime could 
decrease the restTictions on banks and other financial institutions and allow them to compete with us for investment opportunities that 
were previously not available to, or otherwise pursued by, them. See "-Risks Related to Our Company-Changes in laws or 
regulations governing our operations or those of our competitors, or changes in the interpretation thereof, or newly enacted laws or 
regulations, could result in increased competition for our target assets, require changes to our business practices and collectively could 
adversely impact our revenues and impose additional costs on us, which could materially and adversely affect us." 

As a result, competition may limit our ability to originate or acquire attractive investments in our target assets and could result in 
reduced returns. We can provide no assurance that we will be able to identify and originate or acquire attractive investments that are 
consistent with our investment strategy. 

The due diligence process undertaken by our Manager in regan / to our investment opportunities may not reveal all facts relevant 
to an investment and, as a result, we may experience Losses, which could materially and tulversely affect us. 

Before originating a loan to a borrower or making other investments for us, our Manager conducts due diligence that it deems 
reasonable and appropriate based on the facts and circumstances relevant to each potential investment. When conducting due 
diligence, our Manager may be required to evaEuate important and complex issues, including but not limited to those related to 
business, financial, tax, accounting, environmental, ESG, technology, cybersecurity, legal <md regulatory and macroeconomic trends. 
With respect to ESG, the nature and scope of our Manager's diligence will vary based on the investment, but may include a review of, 
among other things: energy management, air and water pollution, land contamination, risks of fire, floods, hurricanes and wind storms, 
and otl1er climate-related hazards, d iversity, employee health and safety, accomlting standards and bribery and corruption. Outside 
consultants, legal advisors, accountants and investment banks may be involved in the due diligence process in varying degrees 
depending on the type of potential invesunent. The due diligence investigation with respect to any investment opportunity may not 
reveal or highlight all relevant facts (including fraud) or risks that may be necessary or helpful in evaluating such investment 
opportunity, and our Manager may not identify or foresee future developments tllat could have a material adverse effect on an 
investment. In addition, selecting and evaluating material ESG factors is subjective by nature, and there is no guarantee that the 
criteria utilized or judgment exercised by our Manager or a third-party ESG specialist (if any) will reflect the beliefs, values, intemal 
policies or preferred practices of any particular investor or align with the beliefs or values or preferred practices of other asset 
managers or with market trends. The materiality of ESG risks and impacts on an individual potential investment or portfolio as a 
whole are dependent on many factors, includirlg the relevant industry, country, asset class and investment style. Further, some matters 
covered by our Manager's diligence, such as ESG, are continuously evolving and our Manager may not accurately or fi.Jlly anticipate 
such evolution. There has also been recent regulatory focus on the marketing of socially conscious investment strategies and the 
methodology used to evaluate ESG, which has resulted in fines and penalties related to insufficient assessment processes around the 
marketing of invesunems marketed as ESG. 

Relying on the resources available to it, our Manager evaluates our potential investments based on criteria it deems appropliate for the 
relevant investment. Our Manager's estimates may not prove accurate, as actual results may va1y from estimates. If our Manager 
underestimates tile asset-level losses relative to tile price we pay for a particular investment, we may be required to recognize an 
impairment and/or realize losses with respect to such investment. Additionally, during the loan underwriting process, appraisals will 
generally be obtained by our Manager on the collateral underlying each prospective loan. Inaccurate or inflated appraisals may result 
in an increase in the severity of losses on the loans .. Any such losses could materially and adversely affect us. 
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Interest rate fluctuations have tlecreased am/ in the future coultl significantly decrease our ability to generate income on our 
investments, which could materittlly am/ adversely affect us. 

Our primary interest rate exposure relates to the y ield on our invesunents and the financing cost of our debt. Changes in interest rates 
have affected and may in the future affect our net interest income, which is the difference between the interest income we earn on our 
interest-earning investments and the interest expense we incur in financing these investments. Interest rate fluctuations resulting in our 
interest expense exceeding our interest income would result in operating losses for us. Changes in t11e level of interest rates have 
affected and may in the future affect our ability to orig inate or acquire investments and have impaired and may in ilie future impair the 
value of our investments and our ability to realize gains from the disposition of assets. Changes in interest rates have also affected and 
may in the future affect borrower default rates. 

ln an effort to combat rising inflation levels, the U.S. Federal Reserve steadily began increasing the target funds rate in the first quarter 
of 2022 and continued to do so in 2023. The target federal funds rate increased by 525 basis points between March 2022 and 
December 2023 and then subsequently decreased by 75 basis points between December 2023 and December 2024. A lthough 
decelerating, inflation remains above the U.S. Federal Reserve's target levels. Despite multiple federal fund rate decreases over the 
course of 2024, !interest rates have remained elevated, with the U.S. Federal Reserve indicating in early 2025 an expectation of slower 
rate decreases moving forward. A slower-than-expected decrease, or a further increase, in interest rates would continue to present a 
challenge to real estate valuations. Such factors are even more challenging in the traditional office market, where more troubled assets 
are likely to emerge, as well as other properties with long-term leases that do not provide for short-tenn rent increases. Elevated 
interest rates have increased our interest expense, increased our borrowers' interest payments, and, for certain borrowers, caused 
defaults and losses to us. Elevated interest rates have also adversely affected commercial real estate property values. Any future 
increases in the target federal funds rate would increase our interest expense, increase our borrowers' interest payments, and, for 
certain borrowers, may cause defaults and possible losses to us. Such increases could also adversely affect commercial real estate 
property values. 

Notwithstanding recent increases in interest rates, the U.S. Federal Reserve decreased interest rates in 2024 and had indicated that it 
may further decrease interest rates in 2025. In a period of declining interest rates, our interest income on floating-rate investments 
would generally decrease, while any decrease in the interest we are charged on our floating-rate debt may be subject to floors and may 
not compensate for such decrease in interest income. Any such scenario could adversely affect our results of operations and financial 
condition. 

Our operating results depend, in part, on differences between the income earned on our investments, net of credit losses, and our 
tinancing costs. For any period during which our investments are not match-funded, ilie income earned on such investments may 
respond more slowly to interest rate fluctuations than the cost of om borrowings. Consequently, changes in interest rates, particularly 
short-term interest rates, could materially and adversely affect us. 

Prepayment rates may adversely affect our financial performance and cash flows ami the value of certain of our investments. 

Our business is currently focused on originating or acquiring primarily floating rate mortgage loans secured by commercial real estate 
assets. Generally, our mortgage loan borrowers may repay their loans prior to their stated maturities. In periods of declining interest 
rates and/or credit spreads, prepayment rates on loans will generally increase. If general interest rates or credit spreads decline at t11e 
same time, the proceeds of such prepayments received during such periods may not be reinvested for some period of time or may be 
reinvested by us in comparable assets with lower yields than the assets that were prepaid .. Conversely, in periods of rising interest 
rates, prepayment rates are likely to decrease and the number of our borrowers who exercise extension options, which could extend 
beyond the tem1 of certain seemed financing agreements we use to finance a portion of our loan investments, is likely to increase. This 
could have a negative impact on our results of operations, and in some situations, we may be forced to sell assets to maintain adequate 
liquidity, which could cause us to incur losses. 

The value of certain of our assets may be affected by prepayment rates. For example, if in the future we acquire fixed rate CRE debt 
securities investments or other fixed rate mortgage-related securities, or a pool of such fixed rate mortgage-related securities, we 
anticipate that the mortgage loans underlying these ftxed rate securities will prepay at a projected rate generating an expected yield. If 
we were to purchase these secmities at a premium to par value, when borrowers prepay the mortgage loans tmderlying these securities 
faster ilian expected, the increase in corresponding prepayments on t11ese securities will likely reduce the expected yield. Conversely, 
if we were to purchase these securities at a discount to par value, when borrowers prepay the mortgage loans underlying these 
securities slower than expected, the decrease in corresponding prepayments on these securities will likely increase the expected yield. 
In addition, if we were to purchase these securities at a discmmt to par val11.1e, when borrowers prepay the mortgage loans underlying 
these securities faster t11an expected, the increase in corresponding prepayments on these securities will likely increase the expected 
yield. 
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Prepayment rates on floating rate and fixed rate loans may differ in different interest rate environments, and may be affected by a 
number of factors, including, but not limited to, fluctuations in asset values, the availability of mortgage credit, the status of the 
business plan for the underlying property, the renative economic vitality of the area in which the related properties are located, the 
servicing of the loans, possible changes in tax laws, other opportunities for investment, and other economic, social, geographic, 
demographic and legal factors, all of which are beyond our control, and structural factors such as call protection. Consequently, such 
prepayment rates cannot be predicted with certainty and no strategy can completely insulate us from prepayment risk. 

Our loans often contain penalty provisions to borrowers that repay their loan prior to initia I maturity. These deterrents to repayment 
include prepayment fees expressed as a percentage of the unpaid principal balance, or the amOtmt of foregone net interest income due 
to us from the date of repayment through initial maturity, or a sooner date that is frequently 12 or 18 months after the origination date. 
Loans that are outstanding beyond the end of the call protection or yield maintenance period can be repaid at any time, subject only to 
interest due through the next interest payment date. The absence of call protection provisions may expose us to the risk of early 
repayment of loans, and the inability to redeploy capital accretively. 

Our investment.5 may be concentrated ami could he subject to risk of default. 

We are not required to observe specific diversification criteria. Therefore, our investments may be concentrated in certain property 
types that are subject to higher risk of foreclosure, or secured by properties concentrated in a limited number of geographic locations. 
For example, as of December 31 , 2024, 52.0% and 52.4% of the loan investments in our portfolio, based on total loan commitments 
and unpaid principal balance, respectively, consisted of loans secured by multifamily properties and 17.8% and 17.7% of !the loan 
investments in our portfolio, based on total loan commitments and unpaid principal balance, respectively, consisted of loans secured 
by office buildings. Although we attempt to mitigate our risk through various credit and structural protections, we cannot assure you 
that these efforts will be successful. To the extent that our portfolio is concentrated in any one region or type of asset, downturns 
relating generally to such region or type of asset may result in defaults on a number of our investments within a short time period, 
which may reduce our net income and, depending upon whether such loans are matched-term funded, may pressure our liquidity 
position. While we seek to construct our portfolio to mitigate such risk, we may not be successful and this may be beyond our control, 
such as due to underlying loan repayments concentrated in a particular property type. Such outcomes may adversely affect the market 
price of our common stock and, accordingly, have a material adverse effect on us. 

For more information on the concentration of credit risk in our loan portfolio by geographic region, property type and loan category, 
see Note 15 to our Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Form I 0-K. 

The illiquidity of certain of our loans and other in vestments may materially am/ adversely aff ect us. 

The illiquidity of certain of our loans and other investments may make it difficult for us to sell such loans and other investments if the 
need or desire arises. Tn addition, certain of our loans and other investments may become less liquid after we originate or acquire them 
as a result of periods of delinquencies or defaults or turbulent market conditions, including due to current market conditions and 
exacerbated market volatility, which may make it more difficult for us to dispose of such loans and other investtnents at advantageous 
times or in a timely manner. Moreover, we expect that many of our investments are not or will not be registered w1der the relevant 
securities laws, resulting in prohibitions against their transfer, sale, pledge or their disposition except in transactions that are exempt 
from registration requirements or are otherwise in accordance with such laws. As a result, many of our loans and other investments are 
or will be illiquid, and if we are required to liquidate all or a portion of our portfolio quickly, for exan1ple as a result of margin calls, 
we may realize significantly less than the value at which we have previously recorded our investments. For a discussion of losses that 
we recorded from sales of our CRE debt securities that we made in connection with margin calls against our former CRE debt 
securities portfolio in March and April of 2020, see "-Risks Related to Our Financing -Our financing arrangements may require us 
to provide additional collateral or repay debt." 

Further, we may face other restrictions on our ability to liquidate a loan or other investment to the extent that we or our Manager (and/ 
or its affi liates) has or could be attributed as having material, non-public infom1ation regarding such business entity. As a result, our 
ability to vary our portfolio in response to changes in economic and other conditions may be relatively limited, which could materially 
and adversely affect us. 
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Most of the commercial mortgage loans that we originate or acquire are nonrecourse loans and the assets securing these loans 
may not be sufficient to protect us from a partial or complete loss if the borrower defaults on the loan, which coultl materitLlly and 
tulversely affect us. 

Except for customary nonrecourse carve-outs for certain actions and environmental liability, most commercial mortgage loans are 
nonrecourse obligations of the sponsor and borrower, meaning that there is no recourse against the assets of the sponsor other than the 
underlying collateral. In the event of any default under a commercial mortgage loan held directly by us, we will bear a risk of loss to 
the extent of any deficiency between the value of the collateral and the principal of and accrued interest on the mortgage loan, which 
could materially and adversely affect us. Even if a commercial mortgage loan is recourse to the borrower, in most cases, the 
borrower's assets are limited primarily to its interest in the related mortgaged property. Further, although a commercial mortgage loan 
may provide for limited recourse to a principal or affiliate of the related borrower, there is no assurance that any recovery [Tom such 
principal or affiliate will be made or that such principal 's or affil iate' s assets would be sufficient to pay any otherwise recoverable 
claim. In the event of the bankruptcy of a borrower, the loan to such borrower will be deem.ed to be secured only to the extent of the 
value of the underlying collateral at the time of bankruptcy (as determined by the bankruptcy court), and the lien securing the loan will 
be subject to the avoidance powers of the bankruptcy trustee or debtor-in-possession to the extent d1e lien is unenforceable under state 
law. 

We may not have control over certain of our investments. 

Our ability to manage our portfolio may be limited by the fonn in which our investments are made. In certa in situations, we have in 
the past or may in the future: 

acquired loans or investments subject to rights of senior classes, servicers or collateral managers under intercreditor or 
servicing agreements or securitization documents; 

pledged our investments as collateral for .financing arrangements; 

acquired only a minority and/or a non-controlling participation in an underlying loan or investment; 

co-invested with others through partnerships, joint vent1rres or other entities, thereby acquiring non-controlling interes,ts; or 

relied on independent third-party management or servicing with respect to the management of an asset. 

Therefore, we may not be able to exercise control over all aspects of our loans and investments. Such financial assets may involve 
risks not present in invesnnents where senior creditors, jtmior creditors, servicers or third-party controlling investors are not involved. 
Our rights to control the process following a borrower default may be subject to the rights of senior or junior creditors or servicers 
whose interests may not be aligned with ours. A partner or co-venturer may have financial difficulties resulting in a negative impact on 
such asset, may have economic or business interests or goals that are inconsistent with ours, or may be in a position to take action 
contrary to our invesnnent objectives. In addition, we may, in certain circumstances, be liable for the actions of our partners or co­
venturers. 

Future joint venture investments could be adversely affectetl by our lack of sole decision-making authority, our reliance on joint 
venture partners ' financial condition antlliquitlity and tlisputes between us and our joint v,enture partners. 

We may in the future make invesnnents t11rough joint ventures. Such joint venture investments may involve risks not otherwise present 
when we originate or acquire investments without parmers, including the following: 

we may not have exclusive control over the investment or the joint venture, which may prevent us from taking actions that 
are in our best interest; 

joint venture agreements often restrict the transfer of a partner's interest or may otherwise restrict our ability to sell the 
interest when we desire and/or on advantageous tenns; 

any future joint venture agreements may contain buy-sell provisions pursuant to which one part11er may initiate procedures 
requiring the other partner to choose between buying the other partner's interest or selling its interest to that parmer; 

we may not be in a position to exercise sole decision-making authority regarding the investment or joint venture, which could 
create the potential risk of creating impasses on decisions, such as with respect to acquisitions or dispositions; 

a partner may, at any time, have economic or business interests or goals t11at are, or that may become, inconsistent witJ1 om 
business interests or goals; 

a partt1er may be in a position to take action contrary to our instructions, requests, policies or objectives, including our policy 
with respect to maintaining our qualification as a REIT and our exclusion or exemption from registration under the 
Investment Company Act; 

a partner may fail to fund its share of required capital contributions or may become bankrupt, which may mean that we and 
any other remaining parmers generally would remain liable for d1e joint ventme's liabilities; 
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our relationships with our partners are contractual in nature and may be tenn.inated or dissolved tmder the tenns of the 
applicable joint venture agreements and, in such event, we may not continue to own or operate the interests or investments 
tmderlying such relationship or may need to purchase such interests or investments at a premium to the market price to 
continue ownership; 

disputes between us and a partner may result in litigation or arbitration that could increase our expenses and prevent our 
Manager and our officers and directors from focusing their time an d efforts on our business and could result in subjecting the 
investments owned by the joint venture to additional risk; or 

we may, in certain circumstances, be liable for the actions of a partner, and the activities of a partner could adversely affect 
om ability to maintain om qualification as a REIT or om exclusion or exemption from registration under the Investment 
Company Act, even though we do not control the joint venture. 

Any of the above may subject us to liabilities in excess of those contemplated and adversely affect the value of our future joint venture 
investments. 

We are subject to additional risks associate£! with investments in the f orm .of loan particip ation interests. 

We have in the past invested, and may in the future invest, in loan participation interests in which another lender or lenders share with 
us the rights, obligations and benefits of a commercial mortgage loan made by an originating lender to a borrower. Accordingly, we 
will not be in privity of contract with a borrower because the other lender or participant is the record holder of the loan and, therefore, 
we will not have any direct right to any underlying collateral for the loan. These loan participations may be senior, pari passu or junior 
to the interests of the other lender or lenders in respect of distributions from the commercial mortgage loan. Furthennore, we may not 
be able to control the pursuit of any rights or remedies under the commercial mortgage loan, including enforcement proceedings in the 
event of default thereunder. In certain cases, the original lender or another participant may be able to take actions in respect of the 
commercial mortgage loan that are not in our best interests. In addition, in the event that (1) the owner of the Loan participation interest 
does not have the benefit of a perfected security interest in the lender' s rights to payments from the borrower under the commercial 
mortgage loan or (2) there are suibstantial differences between the terms of the commercial mortgage loan and those of the applicable 
loan participation interest, such loan participation interest could be recharacterized as an unsecured loan to a lender that is the record 
holder of the loan in such lender's bankruptcy, and the assets of such lender may not be sufficient to satisfy tl1e tenns of such loan 
participation interest. Accordingly, we may face greater risks from loan participation interests than if we had made first mortgage 
loans directly to the owners of real estate collateral. 

Mezzanine loans, B-Notes am/ o.tlzer im,estments that are subortlinated or otherwise j unior in an issuer's capital structure, such as 
pref erred equity, ami that in volve privately negotiated structures, will expose us to greater risk of loss. 

We have in the past originated and acquired, and may in the future originate and acquire, mezzanine loans, B-Notes and other 
investments that are subordinated or otherwise junior in an issuer' s capital structure, such as preferred equity, and that involve 
privately negotiated structures. To tl1e extent we invest in subordinated debt or preferred equity, such investments and our remedies 
with respect thereto, including the ability to foreclose on any collateral securing such investments, will be subject to the rights of 
holders of more senior tranches in the issuer' s capital structure and, to the extent applicable, contractual co-lender, intercreditor, and/or 
participation agreement provisions, which will expose us to greater risk of loss. 

As the terms of :such loans and invesnnents are subject to contrachtal relationsh.ips among lenders, co-lending agents and others, they 
can vary significantly in their structural characteristics and other risks. For example, the rights of holders of B-Notes to control the 
process following a borrower default may vary from transaction to transaction. Like B-Notes, mezzanine loans are by their nature 
structurally subordinated to more senior property-level Onancings. If a borrower defaults on our mezzanine Joan or on debt senior to 
our loan, or if the borrower is in bankruptcy, our mezzanine loan will be satisfied only after the property-level debt and other setlior 
debt is pa.id in full. As a result, a partial loss in the value of the underlying collateral can result in a total loss of the value of the 
mezzanine loan. In addition, even if we are able to foreclose on the underlying collateral following a default on a mezzanine Eoan, we 
would be substituted for tl1e defaulting borrower and, to the extent income generated on the underlying property is insufficient to meet 
outstanding debt obligations on the property, we may need to commit substantial additional capital and/or deliver a replacement 
guarantee by a creditworthy entity, which could include us, to preserve the existing mortgage loan on the property, stabilize the 
property and prevent additional defaults to lenders w ith existing liens on the property. In addition, mezzanine loans may have higher 
LTVs than conventional mortgage loans, resulting in less equity in the underlying property and increasing the risk of default and loss 
of principal. Significant losses related to our B-Notes and mezzanine loans would result in operating losses for us and may limit our 
ability to make distributions to our stockholders. 
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Our origination or acquisition of construction loans exposes us to an increased risk of loss. 

We may originate or acquire construction loans. If we fai l to fund our entire commitment on a construction loan or if a borrower 
otherwise fails to complete the construction of a project, there could be adverse consequences associated with the loan, including, but 
not limited to: a loss of the value of the property securing the loan, especially if the borrower is llllable to raise funds to complete 
constmction from other sources; a borrower claim against us for fai lure to perform tmder the loan documents; increased costs to the 
borrower that the borrower is unable to pay; a bankruptcy filing by the borrower; and abandonment by the borrower of the collateral 
for the loan. A borrower default on a construction loan where the property has not achieved completion poses a greater risk than a 
conventional loan, as completion would be required before the property is able to generate revenue. As described below, the process of 
foreclosing on a property is time-conswning, and we may incur significant expense if we foreclose on a property securing a loan under 
these or other circumstances. 

Risks of cost overruns and non-completion of the construction or renovation of the properties underlying loans we originate or 
acquire could materially and adversely affect us. 

The renovation, refurbishment or expansion by a borrower of a mortgaged property involves risks of cost overruns and non­
completion. Costs of construction or renovation to bring a property up to market standards for the intended use of that property may 
exceed original estimates, possibly making a project uneconomical. Inflation in the cost of labor and materials, as well as global 
supply chain shortages or slowdowns can also create challenges. Other risks may include: environmental risks, pennitting risks, other 
construction risks, and subsequent leasing of the property not being completed on schedule or at projected rental rates. If such 
construction or renovation is not completed in a timely manner, or if it costs more than expected, the borrower may experience a 
prolonged reduction of net operating income and may be unable to make payments of interest or principal to us, which could 
materially and adversely affect us. 

Investments that we make in CRE debt securities am/ other similar structured finance investments, as well as those that we 
structure, sponsor or arrange, pose tulditional risks. 

We have in the past invested, and may in the future invest, in CRE debt securities such as CMBS and CRE CLO debt securities, 
including in select instances subordinate classes of CLOs and other similar structured finance investments secured by a pool of 
mortgages or loans. Such investments are the first or among the fi rst to bear loss upon a restructuring or liquidation of the underlying 
collateral, and the last to receive payment of interest and principal. There is generally only a nominal amount of equity or other debt 
securities jllllior to such positions, if any, issued in such structures. The estimated fair values of such subordinated interests tend to be 
much more sensjtive to economic downturns and adverse underlying borrower developments than more senior securities. A projection 
of an economic downturn, for example, could cause a decline in the price of lower credit quality CRE debt securities because the 
ability of borrowers to make principal and interest payments on the mortgages or loans underlying such securities may be impaired. 

There may not !be a trading market for subordinate interests in CMBS and CRE CLOs and similar structured finance investment 
vehicles generally, and volatility in CMBS and CRE CLO trading markets may cause the value of these investments to decline. In 
addition, if the underlying mortgage portfolio has been overvalued by the issuer, or if the value of the underlying mortgage portfolio 
declines and, as a result, less collateral value is available to satisfy interest and principal payments and any other fees in connection 
with the trust or other conduit arrangement for such securities, we may incur significant losses. Subordinate interests in CRE CLOs are 
typically rated non-investment grade, and the most subordinate class is typically not rated, and any investments that we make in such 
interests would subject us to the risks inherent in such investments. See "-Risks Related to Our Lending and Investment Activities­
Investments in non-investment grade, rated or unrated, investments involve an increased risk of default and loss." 

With respect to the CRE debt securities in which we may invest, control over the related underlying loans will be exercised through a 
special servicer or collateral manager designated by a "directing certificate holder" or a "controlling class representative," or otherwise 
pursuant to the related securitization documents. We may acquire classes ofCRE debt securities for which we may not have the right 
to appoint the directing certificate holder or otherwise direct the special servicing or collateral management, either at inception of the 
investment or at a later date if the controlling class is detennined to be a class of CRE debt securities other than the class we a,cquired. 
With respect to the management and servicing of those loans, the related special servicer or collateral manager may take actions that 
could materially and adversely affect our interests. 

Investments in non-investment grade, rated or unratetl, investments involve an increased risk of default and loss. 

Many of our investments may not conform to conventional loan standards applied by traditional lenders and either will not be rated (as 
is often the case for private loans) or will be rated as non-investment grade by the rating agencies. As a result, these investments 
should be expected to have an increased risk of default and loss as compared to investment-grade rated assets. Any loss we incur may 
be significant and may materially and adversely affect us. Our investment guidelines do not limit the percentage of unrated or non­
investment grade rated assets we may hold in our portfolio . 
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Any cretlit ratings assigned to our investments will be subject to ongoing evaluations and revisions and we cannot assure you that 
those ratings will not be downgradetl 

Some of our investments may be rated by rating agencies. Any credit ratings on our investments are subject to ongoing evaluation by 
credit rating agencies, and we cannot assure you that any such ratings will not be downgraded or withdrawn by a rating agency in the 
future if, in its judgment, circumstances warrant. If rating agencies assign a lower-than-expected rating or reduce or withdraw, or 
indicate that they may reduce or withdraw, their ratings of our investments in the future, the value and liquidity of our investments 
could significantly decline, which would adversely affect the value of our investment portfolio and could result in losses upon 
disposition or the failure of borrowers to satisfy their debt service obligations to us. 

The success of our investment strategy tlepends, in part, on our ability to successfully effectuate loan motlifications am/lor 
restructurings. 

In certain cases (e.g., in connection with a workout, restructuring and/or foreclosure proceedillgs involving one or more of our loans), 
the success of our investment stTategy has depended, and will continue to depend, in part, on our ability to effectuate loan 
modifications and/or restructurings with our borrowers. The activity of identifying and implementing successful modifications and 
restructurings entails a high degree of uncertainty, including macroeconomic and borrower-specific factors beyond our control that 
impact our borrowers and their operations. There can be no assurance that any of the loan modifications and restructurings we have 
effected will be successful or that (i) we will be able to identify and implement successful modifications and/or restructurings with 
respect to any other distressed loans or investments we may have from time to time, or (ii) we will have sufficient resources to 
implement such modifications and/or restructurings in times of widespread market challenges. Further, such loan modifications and/or 
restructurings may entail, among other things, a substantial reduction in the interest rate and/or a substantial write-off of the principal 
of such loans. Moreover, even if a restructuring were successfully accomplished, a risk exists that, upon maturity of such loan, 
replacement " takeout" financing will not be available. Additionally, such loan modifications have resulted and may in the future result 
in our becoming the owner of the underlying real estate. 

We have in the p ast and may in the future acquire ownership of property securing our loans through foreclosure or tleed-in-lieu of 
foreclosure. When we take title to the property securing one of our loans, and if we do not or cannot sell the property, we own am/ 
operate the property as «real estate owned" or "REO". Our real estate owned assets are subject to risks particular to real property. 
These risks may have resulted am/ may contin·ue to result in a reduction or elimination of return from a loan secured by a 
particular property. 

To the extent we acquire ownership of properties securing our loans through foreclosure or deed-in-lieu of foreclosure and own real 
estate directly, as we have done and may do in the future, we are subject to risks particular to owning real property. Taking title to, 
owning and operating real property involves risks that are different (and in many ways more significant) than the risks faced in owning 
a loan secured by that property. The process of taking title to a property, including through foreclosure or deed-in-lieu of foreclosure, 
subjects us to the risk of incurring significant costs, including transaction costs such as legal fees and transfer taxes, and in the case of 
foreclosures, litigation costs. Once owned, the costs associated with operating and redeveloping the property, including any operating 
shortfalls, the costs of financings, and significant capital expenditures, could materially and adversely affect our results of operations, 
fmancial condition and liquidity. In addition, at such time that we elect to sell such property. the liquidation proceeds upon sa[e of the 
underlying real estate may not be sufficient to recover our cost basis, resulting in a loss to us. Furthermore, any costs or delays 
involved in the maintenance or liquidation of the underlying property will further reduce the net proceeds and, thus, increase the loss. 

Ownership and operation of real estate is subject to various risks, including: 

tenant mix and tenant bankmptcies; 

success of tenant businesses; 

property management decisions, including with respect to capital improvements, particularly in older building stmctures; 

renovations or repositionings during which operations may be limited or halted completely; 

property location and condition, including, without limitation, any need to address enviro1m1ental contamination or climate­
related risks at a property; 

competition from comparable types of properties; 

changes in global, national, regional or local economic conditions or changes in specific industry segments; 

changes in interest rates, and in the state of the credit, securitization, debt and equity capital markets, including diminished 
availability or lack of debt financing for commercial real estate; 

global trade dismption, supply chain issues, significant introductions of trade barriers and bilateral trade frictions; 

declines in regional or local real estate values or rental or occupancy rates; 

responses of businesses, governments and individuals to pandemics or other severe public health events; 

labor shortages and increases in the minimum wage and otl1er forms of employee compensation and benefits; 

higher rates of inflation; 
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increases in the costs and/or reduced availability of property-related insurance coverage; 

changes in real estate tax rates, tax credits and other operating expenses; 

changes to tax laws and rates to which real estate lenders and investors are subject; and 

govermnent regulations. 

If any of these or similar events occurs, it may reduce our retmn from an affected property or investment and reduce or eliminate our 
ability to pay dividends to stockholders. 

We have in the p ast and may in the f uture need to foreclose on certain of the loans we originate or acquire, which could result in 
losses that materially and adversely affect us. 

We have in the past and may in the future find it necessary or desirable to foreclose on certain of the loans we originate or acquire, and 
the foreclosure process may be lengthy and expensive. Whether or not we have participated in the negotiation of the tenns of any such 
loans, we cannot assure you as to the adequacy of the protection of the terms of the applicable loan, including the validity or 
enforceability of the loan and the maintenance of the anticipated priority and perfection of the applicable security interests. 
Furthermore, claims may be asserted by lenders or borrowers that might interfere with enforcement of our rights. Borrowers may resist 
foreclosure actions by asserting numerous cla ims, counterclaims and defenses against us, including, without limitation, lender liability 
claims and defenses, even when the assertions may have no basis in fact, in an effort to prolong the foreclosure action and seek to 
force the lender into a modification of the loan or a favorable discounted pay-off of the borrower's position in the loan. In some states, 
foreclosure actions can take several years or more to litigate. At any time prior to or during the foreclosure proceedings, the borrower 
may file for bankruptcy, which would have the effect of staying the foreclosure actions and further delaying or even preventing the 
foreclosure process and could potentially result in a reduction or discharge of a borrower's debt. The expense of a foreclosure process 
may be exacerbated if we detennine that it is necessary or desirable to make expenditures to protect the property during the 
foreclosure process. 

Foreclosure may create a negative public perception of the related property, resulting in a diminution of its value. Even if we are 
successful in foreclosing on a loan, the liquidation proceeds upon sale of the tlllderlying real estate may not be sufficient to recover our 
cost basis in the loan, resulting in a loss to us. Furthermore, any costs or delays involved in the foreclosure of the loan or a liquidation 
of the underlying property will furt11er reduce the net proceeds and, thus, increase the loss. The incurrence of any such losses could 
materially and adversely affect us. 

Real estate valuation is inherently subjectil'e and uncertain, anti is subject to change, especially tluring periotls of volatility. 

The valuation of the commercial real estate that secures or otherwise supports our investments is inherently subjective and uncertain 
due to, among other factors, the im.dividual nature of each property, its location, the expected future rental revenues from that particular 
property and t11e valuation methodology adopted. Appraisals we obtain from third-pa1ty appraisers may be overstated or market values 
may decline, which could result in inadequate collateral for loans we make. In addition, where we invest in transitional or construction 
loans, initial valuations will assume completion of the business plan or pr~ject. As a result, t11e valuations of the commercial real estate 
that secures or otherwise supports investments are made on the basis of assumptions and methodologies that may not prove to be 
accurate, particularly in periods of volatility, low transaction flow or restricted debt availability in the commercial real estate markets. 
Regardless of whether an appraisal is accurate at tlle time it is completed, all valuations are subject to change, especially during 
periods of market volatility or reduced demand for real estate, which may make it difficult to ensure loans are collateralized as 
expected across the life of t11e loan. The valuation of loans we hold may not reflect the price at which the loan is ultimately sonct in the 
market, and the difference between that valuation and tlle ultimate sales price could be material. Valuation methodologies are subject 
to change from time to time. 
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Our allowance for loan losses may prove inatlequate, which could have a material tulverse effect on us. 

We evaluate our loans and allowance for loan losses, and we will evaluate t!he adequacy of any future allowance for loan losses we are 
required to recognize, on a quarterly basis. In tl1e future, we may maintain varying levels of an allowance for loan losses. Our 
determination of general and asset-specific allowance for loan losses may rely on material estimates regarding many factors, including 
the fair value of any loan collateral. The estimation of ultimate loan losses, allowance for loan losses, and credit loss expense is a 
complex and subjective process. As such, there can be no assurance that our judgment will prove to be correct and that any future 
allowance for loan losses will be adequate over time to protect against losses inJ1erent in our portfolio at any given time. Any such 
losses could be caused by various factors, including, but not limited to, tmanticipated adverse changes in the economy or events 
adversely affecting specific assets, borrowers, industries in which our borrowers operate or markets in which our borrowers or their 
properties are located. If our future allowance for loan losses prove inadequate, we may recognize additional losses, which could have 
a material adverse effect on us. 

In June 2016, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update 2016-1 3, "Financial Instruments-Credit Losses, Measurement of Credit 
Losses on Financial Instruments (Topic 326)," which on its adoption date of January 1, 2020 replaced the former "incurred loss" 
model for recognizing credit losses with an "expected loss" model referred to as the Current Expected Credit Losses ("CECL") model. 
Under the CECL model, which we adopted on January I, 2020, we are required to present certain financial assets carried at amortized 
cost, such as loans held for investment, at the net amount expected to be collected. The measurement of expected credit losses over the 
life of each fmancial asset is based on infonnation about past events, including historical experience, current conditions, and 
reasonable and supportable forecasts that affect the collectability of the reported amotmt. This measurement occurs when the financial 
asset is first added to the balance sheet and updated quarterly thereafter. This differs significantly from the "incurred loss" model that 
was previously required under GAAP, which delayed recognition until it was probable a loss had been incurred. Thus, the amount that 
we report as our allowru1ce for loan losses has been and will likely continue to be more volatile than under tJ1e "incurred loss" model 
that we were required to use prior to January I, 2020. The CECL model is an accounting estimate and is inherently uncertain because 
it is sensitive to changes in economic and credit conditions in the geographic locations in which we operate. Economic and credit 
conditions are interdependent ru1d as a result there is no single factor to which the Company as a whole is sensitive; therefore, it is 
possible that actual events will ultimately differ fTom the assumptions built into the financial model used by the Company to detennine 
its future expected loan losses, resulting in material adjustments to t11e Company' s financial assets measured at amortized cost. 
Additionally, the Company's application of CECL is subject to ongoing review and evaluation and open to change should relevant 
information emerge. If we are required to materially increase our level of aUowru1ce for loan losses for ru1y reason, such increase could 
adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. 

We may e.-cperience a decline in the fair value of investments we may make in CRE tlebt securities, which could materially and 
atlverse/y affect us. 

A decline in the fair value of investments we may make in CRE debt securities may require us to recognize an other-than-temporary 
impairment ("OTTI") against such assets tmder GAAP if we were to determine that, with respect to any assets in unrealized loss 
positions, we do not have the ability and intent to hold such assets to maturity or for a period of time sufficient to allow for recovery to 
the original acquisition cost of such assets. If such a determination were to be made, we would recognize u nrealized losses through 
eamings and write down the amortized cost of such assets to a new cost basis, based on the fair value of such assets on the date they 
are considered to be other-than-temporarily impaired. Such impairment charges reflect non-cash losses at the time of recognition. The 
subsequent disposition or sale of such assets couldl further affect our future losses or gains, as they are based on the difference between 
the sale price received ru1d adjusted runortized cost of such assets at the time of sale. If we experience a decline in the fair value of om 
investments, it could materially and adversely affect us, our financial condition, ru1d our results of operations. 

Some of our investments may be recorded at fair value ami, as tl result, there will be uncertainty as to the value of these 
investments. 

Our investments are not publicly-traded but some of our investments may be publicly-traded in the future. The fair value of securities 
and other investments that are not publicly-traded may not be readily determinable. Any of our investments classified as available-for­
sale or as trading assets will be recorded each quarter at their fair value, which may include unobservable inputs. Because such 
valuations are subjective, the fair value of certain of our investments may fluctuate over short periods of time and our determinations 
of fair value may differ material1y from the values that would have been used if a ready market for these investments existed. The 
value of our common stock could be adversely affected if our detem1inations regarding the fair value of these investments were 
materially higher than the values that we ultimately realize upon U1eir disposal. 

Additionally, our results of opera tions for a given period could be adversely affected if our detenninations regarding the fair value of 
investrnents treated as available-for-sale or trading assets were materially higher than the values that we ultimately realize upon their 
disposal. 
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In addition to other analytical tools, our Manager utilizes financial models to evaluate commercial mortgage loans ami estimate 
expected losses. The accuracy and effectiveness of these analytical tools cannot he guaranteed. 

In addition to other analytical tools, our Manager utilizes financial models to evaluate the credit quality of commercial mortgage loans. 
The accuracy and effectiveness of these analytical tools cannot be guaranteed. It is possible that fmancial models used for our CECL 
estimate may fail to include relevant factors or to accurately estimate the impact of factors they identify. In all cases, financial models 
are only estimates of future resuhs which are based upon assumptions made at the time that the projections are developed. There can 
be no assurance that our Manager's projected results will be attained and actual results may vary significantly from the projections. 
General economic and industry-specific conditions, which are not predictable, can have an adverse impact on the reliability of 
projections. 

Insurance proceeds on a property may not cover all losses, which could result in the corresponding non-performance of or loss on 
our investment relaletl to such property. 

There are certain types of losses, generally of a catastrophic nature, such as earthquakes, droughts, floods, hurricanes, fires, terrorism 
or acts of war, or other hostilities, which may be uninsurable or not economically insurable. Inflation, changes in building codes and 
ordinances, environmental considerations and other factors, including terrorism or acts of war or other hostilities, also might result in 
insurance proceeds that are insufficient to repair or replace a property if it is damaged or destroyed. Under these circumstances, the 
insurance proceeds received witll respect to a property relating to one of our investments might not be adequate to restore our 
economic position with respect to our investment. Any uninsured loss could result in the corresponding non-performance of or loss on 
our investment related to such property. 

In circumstances where insurance proceeds on a property are insufficient to cover losses on the property, we may pursue various 
financing or structuring strategies in an effort to restore our economic position with respect to our investment or to mitigate our 
exposure to losses associated with the investment. These structuring and financing strategies may not be successful and would also 
expose us to any risks that may be associated with such strategies. 

Property insurance costs may continue to increase, and in some cases insurance may not be available. 

In the past few years, the costs of property insurance have increased significantly, and these increased costs have had an adverse effect 
on us. In addition, in some instances, property insurance may be unavailable altogether. Increased insurance costs or the w1availability 
of some insurance coverages altogether have adversely affected the ability of our borrowers to operate the properties securing our 
loans profitably, as well as om own ability to profitably operate and dispose of our real estate owned. Market conditions may also limit 
the scope of insurance or coverage available to our borrowers or us on economic terms. Any uninsured loss with respect to a property 
relating to one of our invesnnents could result in the corresponding non-performance of or loss on our investment related to such 
property. See "-Risks Related to Our Lending and Tnvesnnent Activities-Insurance proceeds on a property may not cover all losses, 
which could result in the corresponding non-performance of or loss on our i111vestment related to such property." 

The impact of any future terrorist attacks and the availability of affordable terrorism insurance expose us to certain risks. 

Terrorist attacks (including cyber sabotage or similar attacks), the anticipation of any such attacks, the consequences of any military or 
other response by ilie U.S. and its allies, and oilier armed conflicts could cause consumer confidence and spending to decrease or result 
in increased volatility in the U.S. and worldwide financial markets and economy. The economic impact of these events could also 
adversely affect the credit quality of some of our investments and t11e properties underlying our interests. 

We may suffer losses as a result of the adverse impact of any future attacks and these losses may adversely impact our performance 
and may cause tJ1e market price of our conunon stock to decline or be more volatile. A prolonged economic slowdown, a recession or 
declining real estate values could impair the perfom1ance of our investments, increase our funding costs, limit our access to the capital 
markets or result in a decision by lenders not to extend credit to us, any of which could materially and adversely affect us. Losses 
resulting from these types of events may not be fully insurable. 

In addition, with the enactment of the Terrorism Risk Insurance Act of 2002 ('TRIA") and the subsequent enactment of legislation 
extending TRIA through the end of2027, insurers are required to make terrorism insurance available w1der their property and ,casualty 
insurance policies, but this legislation does not regulate the pricing of such insurance, and there is no assurance that TRIA will be 
extended beyond 2027. The absence of affordable insurance coverage may adversely affect the general real estate finance market, 
lending volume and the market's overall liquidity and may reduce the number of suitable investment opportunities available to us and 
the pace at which we are able to make investments. If the properties underlying our investments are w1able to obtain affordable 
insurance coverage, the value of those investments could decline, and in the event of an uninsured loss, we could lose all or a portion 
of our invesn11ent. 
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Liability relating to environmental matters may impact the value of p roperties that we may acquire upon jtulicial or non-judicial 
foreclosure, or deed-in-lieu of foreclosure, of the properties securing our loans. 

To the extent we acquire ownership of properties securing our loans through foreclosure or deed-in-lieu of foreclosure and own real 
estate directly, as we have done and may do in the future, we may be subject to environmental liabilities arising from such properties. 
Under various U.S. federal, state and local laws, an owner or operator of real property may become liable for the costs of removal of 
certain hazardous substances released on its property. These laws often impose liability without regard to whether the owner or 
operator knew of, or was responsible for, the release of such hazardous substances. If we acquire ownership of any properties 
underlying our loans, the presence of hazardous substances on a property may adversely affect our ability to sell the property and we 
may incur substantial remediation costs. As a result, the discovery of material environmental liabilities attached to such properties 
could materially and adversely affect us. 

Climate change has the potential to impact the properties untlerlying our investments. 

Currently, it is not possible to predict how legislation or new regulations that may be adopted to address greenhouse gas emissions will 
impact commercial properties. However, any such future laws and regulations imposing reporting obligations or limitations on 
greenhouse gas emissions or add~tional taxation of energy use could require the owners of properties to make significant expenditures 
to attain and maintain compliance. Any such increased costs could impact the financial condition of our borrowers and their ability to 
meet their loan obligations to us. Consequently, any new legislative or regulatory initiatives related to climate change could adversely 
affect our business. 

Owners of properties are also subject to legislation that has been passed but has not yet taken effect. For example, owners of large 
commercial buildings in New York City are subject to Local Law 97 passed by the New York City Council in April 2019, which for 
each such building establishes annual limits for greenhouse gas emissions, requires yearly emissions reports beginning in May 2025, 
and imposes penalties for emissions above such limits. 

We also face business trend-related climate risks. Some investors take into account ESG factors, including climate risks, in 
determining whether to invest in companies or properties. Additionally, our reputation and investor relationships could be damaged as 
a result of our involvement with certain industries or assets associated with activities perceived to be causing or exacerbating climate 
change, as well as any decisions we make to continue to conduct or change our activities in response to considerations relating to 
climate change. 

TI1e physical impact of climate change could also have a material adverse effect on the properties underlying our investments. Physical 
effects of climate change such as increases in temperature, sea levels, t11e severity of weather events and tile frequency of natural 
disasters, such as hurricanes, tropical storms, tornadoes, wildfires, droughts, floods and eartllquakes, among other effects, could 
damage the properties underlying our investments. The costs of remediating or repairing such damage, or of investments made in 
advance of such weather events to minimize potential damage, could be considerable. Additionally, such actual or threatened climate 
change related damage could increase the cost of, or make unavailable, insurance on favorable tem1s on the properties underlying our 
investments. Such repair, remediation or insurance expenses could reduce the net operating income of the properties underlying our 
investments which may in turn impair borrowers' ability to repay their obligations to us. 

We may be subject to lender liability claims, and if we are heltlliable under such claims, we could be subject to losses. 

In recent years, a number of judicial decisions have upheld the right of borrowers to sue lending institutions on the basis of various 
evolving legal theories, collectively termed " lender liability." Generally, lender liability is founded on the premise that a lender has 
either violated a duty, whether implied or contractual, of good faith and fair dealing owed to the borrower or has assumed a degree of 
control over the borrower resulting in the creation of a fiduciary duty owed to the borrower or its other creditors or stockholders. We 
caonot assure you that such clain1s will not arise or that we will not be su~ject to significant liability and losses if a claim of this type 
were to arise. 

lf the loans that we originate or t1cquire do not comply with applicable laws, we may be subject to penalties-, which coultl materially 
and adversely affect us. 

Loans that we originate or acquire may be directly or indirectly subject to U.S. federal , state or local governmental laws. Real estate 
lenders and borrowers may be responsible for compliance with a wide range of laws intended to protect the public interest, induding, 
without limitation, the Truth in Lending, Equal Credit Opportunity, Fair Housing and Americans with Disabilities Acts and local 
zoning laws (including, but not limited to, zoning laws that allow permitted non-conforming uses). If we or any other person fails to 
comply with such laws in relation to a loan that we have originated or acquired, legal penalties may be imposed, which could 
materially and adversely affect us. Additionally, jurisdictions with "one action," "security first" and/or "anti-deficiency rules" may 
limit our ability to foreclose on a real property or to realize on obligations secured by a real property. In tile future, new laws may be 
enacted or imposed by U.S. federal, state or local governmental entities, and such laws could have a material adverse effect on us. 
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If we origim1te or acquire commercial mortgage loans or commercial real estate-related debt instruments secured by liens on 
facilities that are subject to a ground lease am/ su ch ground lease is terminated unexpectellly, our interests in such loans could be 
materially and adversely affected. 

A ground lease is a lease of land, usually on a long-term basis, that does not include buildings or other in1provements on the land. 
Normally, any real property improvements made by the lessee during the term of the lease will revert to the landowner at the end of 
the lease tern1. We may originate or acquire commercial mortgage loans or commercial real estate-related debt instruments secured by 
liens on leasehold interests, and, if the ground lease were to expire or terminate unexpectedly, due to the borrower' s default on such 
ground lease, our interests in such loans could be materially and adversely affected. Additionally, any rent payments that the borrower 
may be obligated to make pursuant to the terms of such ground lease would reduce cash flows available to the borrower from the 
property, which may in turn impair the borrower's ability to repay the borrower's obligations to us. 

Risks Related to Our Financing 

We have a significant amount of debt, which subjects us to increased risk of loss, and our charter and bylaws contain no limitation 
on the amount of llebt we may incur or hm1e outstamling. 

As of December 31 , 2024, we had $2.6 billion of debt outstanding. In the future, subject to market conditions and availability, we may 
incur additional debt through secured credit agreements, secured revolving credit facilities, structured financing such as non-recourse 
CLO liabilities, and derivative instruments, in addition to transaction or asset-specific fmancing arrangements. We may also rely on 
short-term fmancing that would especially expose us to changes in availability. We have issued and may also in the future issue 
additional equity, equity-related and debt securities to fund our investment strategy. On May 28, 2020, we issued $225.0 million in 
shares of I I% Series B Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock, par value $0.00 I per share (the "Series B Preferred Stock"). On June 
14, 2021 , we issued $201.3 million in shares of6.25% Series C Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock, par value $0.001 per share 
(the "Series C Preferred Stock") and redeemed all of our outstanding shares of Series B Preferred Stock. As of December 31, 2024, we 
were a party to secured credit agreements with each of Goldman Sachs Bank USA, Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, Barclays 
Bank PLC, and Bank of America N.A., with an aggregate maximum amount of approximately $ 1.7 billion available to finance our 
loan investments. 

Subject to compliance with the leverage covenants contained in our secured credit agreements and other financing documents, we 
expect that the amount of leverage that we will incur in the future will take into account a variety of factors, which may include our 
Manager' s assessment of credit, liquidity, price volatility and other risks of our investments and the fmancing counterparties, the 
potential for losses and extension risk in our portfolio, availability of particular types of fll1ancing at the then-current rate and our cash 
needs. Given current market conditions, we expect that our overall leverage, measured as the ratio of debt to equity excluding cash on 
our consolidated balance sheets, will generally be less than 3.75: l (as defined under our secured credit agreements), subject to 
compliance with our financial covenants under our secured credit agreements, and other contractual obligations, although we may 
employ more or less leverage on individual loan investments after consideration of the impact on expected risk and return of the 
specific situation, and future changes in value of underlying properties. To the extent we believe market conditions are favorable, we 
may revise our leverage policy in the future. Incurring substantial debt could subject us to many risks that, if realized, would 
materially and adversely affect us, including the risk that: 

our cash flow from operations may be insufficient to make required payments of principal and interest on our debt, which is 
likely to result in (a) acceleration of such debt (and any other debt containing a cross-default or cross-acceleration provision), 
which we then may be unable to repay from internal fimds or to refinance on favorable terms, or at all, (b) our inability to 
borrow undrawn amounts tll1der our financing arrangements, even if we are current in payments on borrowings tll1der those 
arrangements, which would result in a decrease in our liquidity, and/or (c) the loss of some or all of our collateral assets to 
foreclosure or sale; 

our debt may increase our vulnerability to adverse economic and industry conditions with no assurance that investment yields 
will increase in an amount sufficient to offset the higher financing costs; 

we may be required to dedicate a substantial portion of our cash flow from operations to payments on our debt, thereby 
reducing funds available for operations, future business oppommities, stockholder djstributions or other purposes; and 

we may not be able to refinanc.e any debt that matures prior to the maturity (or realization) of an underlying investment it was 
used to finance on favorable terms or at all. 

There can be no assmance that om leverage strategy will be successful, and our leverage su·ategy may cause us to incur significant 
losses, which COllJld materially and adversely affect us. 
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11wre can be no assurance that we will be able to obtain or utilize addit;onal financing arrangements in the future on similar or 
more favorable terms, or at all. 

Our ability to fund our investments and refinance our existing indebtedness will be impacted by our abmty to secure additional 
fmancing on favorable terms through various arrangements, includi11g secured credit agreements, non-recourse CLO fmancing, 
mortgage loans, and asset-specifLc borrowings. Enevated interest rates have increased and could continue to increase the cost of debt 
financing for the transactions we pursue. In certain instances, we create stmctural leverage through the co-origination or non-recourse 
syndication of a senior loan interest to a third party. In either case, the senior mortgage loan is not included on our consolidated 
balance sheets, and we refer to such senior loan interest as a "non-consolidated senior interest." When we create structural leverage 
through the co-origination or non-recourse syndication of a senior loan interest to a third. party, we retain on our balance sheet a 
mezzanine loan. Over time, in addition to these types of financings, we may use other fonns of leverage, including derivative 
instruments and public and private secured and unsecured debt issuances by us or our subsidiaries. Our access to additional sources of 
fmancing will depend upon a number of factors, over which we have little or no control, including: 

the overall condition of the financial markets and global and domestic economies; 

the market ' s view of the quality of our investments; 

the market's perception of our growth potential; 

the ratings assigned by one or more nationally-recognized statistical credit rating organizations to our company, or to a 
specific issue of indebtedness issued by us or our subsidiaries; 

our current and potential future earnings and cash distributions; 

our fmancial condition, operating results and future prospects; 

any credit ratings we or our corporate debt may receive from major credit rating agencies; 

the prevailing interest rates being paid by other companies that investors could consider comparable to us; and 

the market price of our common stock. 

We also expect to periodically access the capital markets to raise cash to fund new investments. Unfavorable economic or capital 
market conditions may increase our funding costs, limit our access to the capital markets or could result in a decision by our potential 
lenders not to extend credit. An inability to successfully access the capital markets could Limit our ability to grow our business and 
fully execute our investment strategy and could decrease our earnings and liquidity. In addition, any dislocation or weakness in the 
capital and credit markets could adversely affect one or more lenders and could cause one or more of our lenders to be unwilling or 
unable to provide us with financing or to increase the costs of that financing. In addition, if regulatory capital requirements imposed on 
our lenders are increased, they may be required to limit, or increase the cost of, financing they provide to us. In general, this could 
potentially increase our financing costs and reduce our liquidity or require us to sell assets at an inopportune time or an tmfavorable 
price. Further, as the lender to our borrowers, we may be obligated to fund all or a significant portion of a loan we have agreed to at 
one or more future. dates. 

During 2023, bank failures and other events affecting financial institutions contributed to volatility in global markets and diminished 
liquidity and credit availability in the market broadly. Any downgrade of our or our corporate debt's credit ratings by any of the 
principal credit agencies may make it more difficult and costly for us to access capital. Additionally, the notes issued in our 
securitization transactions for which we are required to retain a portion of the credit risk, have been, and in the future may be, rated by 
rating agencies. There can be no assurances that the credit ratings of our corporate debt or the notes issued in our securitization 
transactions will not be downgraded in tl1e future, whetl1er as a result of deteriorating general economic conditions, fa ilure to 
successfully implement our operating strategy or the adverse impact on our results of operations or liquidity position of any of the 
above, or otherwise. 

The condition of t11e financial markets and prevailing interest rates have fluctuated in the past and are likely to fluctuate in the future. 
Such fluctuations could have an adverse effect on the price of our corporate debt. In addition, credit rating agencies continually review 
their ratings for the companies that they follow. U, in the future, one or more rating agencies were to provide a rating for us or our 
corporate debt, or the notes issued in our securitization transactions, and then reduce or withdraw their rating, t11e market price of such 
debt or notes, or of our common stock, may be adversely affected. 

Actual events involving limited liquidity, defaults, non-performance or other adverse developments that affect financia l institutions, 
transactional cow1terparties or other companies in the fmancial services industry or the fmancial services industry generally, or 
concerns or rumors about any events of these kinds or other sinlilar risks, have in the past and may in the future lead to market-wide 
liquidity problems. Recent or ongoing developments in banking, such as bank closures, may also have other implications for broader 
economic and monetary policy, including interest rate policy, and may impact the financial condition of banks and ot11er financial 
institutions outside of the United States. 
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In addition, inflation, rapid increases in interest rates, and other similar macroeconomic trends or factors can result in extreme 
volatility in the capital and credit markets, and economic dismptions have led and may in the future lead to a decline in the trading 
value of previously issued govenm1ent securities with interest rates below current market interest rates, which may result in additional 
liquidity concerns for us and/or in the broader financial services industry. If we are unable to access funding, we may not have the 
funds available at such future date(s) to meet our funding obligations under a loan. In that event, we would I ikely be in breach of our 
agreement under such loan. There can be no assurance that we will be able to obtain or utilize any financing arrangements in the fi.Jture 
on similar or more favorable terms, or at all. In addition, even if we are able to access the capital markets, significant balances may be 
held in cash or cash equivalents pending future investment as we may be unable to invest proceeds on the timeline anticipated. 

Certain of our current financing arrangements contain, and certain of our future financing arrangements may contain, various 
financial and operational covenants, and a default of any such covenants coull/ materially and adversely affect us. 

Certain of our current financing arrangements contain, and our future financing arrangements likely will contain, various financia l and 
operational covenants affecting our ability and, in certain cases, our subsidiaries' ability, to incur additional debt, make certain 
investments, reduce liquidity below certain levels, make distributions to our stockholders and otherwise affect our operating policies. 
For a description of certain of the covenants, see Item 7- "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results 
of Operations-Investment Portfolio Financing." There have been instances in the past where we were not in compliance with certain 
of these covenants. Although these instances of non-compliance have since been cured or waived, if we were to fail to meet or satisfy 
any of the covenants in our financing arrangements in the future and are unable to obtain a waiver or other suitable relief from the 
lenders, we would be in defaultt m1der these agreements, which could result in a cross-default or cross-acceleration 1Ulder other 
fmancing arrangements, and orn lenders could elect to declare outstanding runo1Ults due ru1d payable (or such runounts may 
automatically become due and payable), terminate their commitments, require the posting of additional collateral and enforce their 
respective interests against existing collateral. A dlefault also could limit significantly our financing alternatives, which could cause us 
to curtail our investment activities or dispose of assets when we otherwise would not choose to do so. Frnther, this could make it 
difficult for us to satisfy the requitrements necessary to maintain our qualification as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes. As a 
result, a default on any of our debt agreements, and in particular our secured credit agreements (since a significant portion of our assets 
are or will be, as the case may be, financed tl1ereunder), could materially and adversely affect us. 

Effective September 30, 2023, we obtained from our lenders a waiver with respect to the minimum interest coverage ratio covenant 
included in certain of our financing arrangements. This waiver reduced tlle minimum interest coverage ratio to 1.30 to 1.0 from 1.40 to 
1.0 for the quarters ended September 30, 2023 and! December 3 L, 2023. The interest coverage ratio threshold reverted to 1.40 to L.O for 
the quarter ending March 31 , 2024 and thereafter. 

Our financing ltrrangements may require us to prOI'il/e atlditional collateral or repay debt. 

Certain of our current and future financing arrangements involve the risk that the market value of the assets pledged or sold by us to 
the provider of the financing may decline in value, in which case the lender or counterparty may require us to provide additional 
collateral or lead to margin calls that may require us to repay all or a portion of the funds advanced. We may not have U1e funds 
available to repay our debt at that time, which would Likely result in defaults unless we are able to raise the funds from alternative 
sources, including by selling assets at a time when we might not otherwise choose to do so, which we may not be able to achieve on 
favorable ten11S or at all. See "--Certain of our current financing arrangements contain, and our future financing arrangements likely 
will contain, various financial and operational covenants, and a default of any such covenants could materially and adversely affect 
us." Posting additional margin would reduce our cash available to make other, higher yielding investments, thereby decreasing our 
return on equity. For example, fluctuations in the value of our former CRE debt securities portfolio previously resulted in us being 
required to post cash collateral with lenders under daily mark-to-market secured credit facilities. We sold during March and April 
2020 all of our CRE debt securities, and retired at par all of our related secured borrowings (including margin calls outstanding). 
However, we cannot assure you t11at we will not face margin calls in the future in connection with borrowjngs secured by our first 
mortgage loan investments. If we cannot meet these requirements, U1e lender or counterparty could accelerate our indebtedness, 
increase the interest rate on advanced funds and terminate our ability to borrow funds from it, which could materially ru1d adversely 
affect us. In tl1e case of repurchase transactions, if the value of the 1Ulderlying security has declined as of the end of that term, or if we 
default on our obligations under the secured credit faci lities, we will likely incur a loss on our repurchase transactions. In addition, if a 
lender or counterparty files for bankruptcy or becomes insolvent, our loans may become subject to bankruptcy or insolvency 
proceedings, thus depriving us, at least temporarily , of the benefit of these assets. Such an event could restrict our access to fmru1cing 
and increase our cost of capital. 
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Interest rate fluctuations could increase our fimmcing costs, which could materially am/ allversely affect us. 

Our primary interest rate exposures relate to the yield on our loans and the linancing cost of our debt, as well as any interest rate swaps 
uti lized for hedging purposes. Changes in interest rates affect our net interest income, wh·ich is the difference between the interest 
income we earn on our interest-earning assets and the interest expense we incur in fmancing these assets. ln a period of rising interest 
rates, our interest expense on floating rate debt would increase, while any additional interest income we earn on floating rate assets 
may not compensate for such increase in interest expense and the inte rest income we earn on fixed rate assets would not change. 
Similarly, in a period of declining interest rates, our interest income on floating rate assets would decrease (subject to the existence of 
any interest rate floors), while any decrease in the interest we are charged on our floating rate debt may not compensate for such 
decrease in interest income, and the interest expense we incur on our fixed rate debt would not change. Consequently, changes in 
interest rates may significantly influence our net interest income. Interest rate fluctuations resulting in our imerest expense exceeding 
interest income would result in operating losses, which could materially and adversely affect us. Changes in the level of interest rates 
also may affect our ability to originate or acquire loans or other investments, the value of our investments and our ability to realize 
gains from the djsposition of assets. Moreover, changes in interest rates may affect borrower default rates. 

We may enter into hedging transactions that could expose us to contingent liabilities in the f uture and culversely imp act our 
financial condition. 

Subject to maintaining our qualification as a REIT, we may enter into hedging transactions that could require us to fund cash payments 
in certain circumstances (e.g., the early termination of the hedging instrument caused by an event of default or other early tem1ination 
event, or the decision by a counterparty to request margin securities it is contractually owed under the tenns of the hedging 
instrument). The amount due would be equal to the unrealized loss of the open swap positjons with the respective counterparty and 
could also include other fees and charges. Any such economic losses will be reflected in our results of operations, and our ability to 
fund these obligations will depend on the liquidity of our assets and access to capital at the time, and the need to fund these obligations 
could adversely impact our financial condition. 

In addition, certain of the hedging instTuments that we may enter into could involve risks since they often are not traded on regulated 
exchanges, guaranteed by an exchange or its clearing house, or regulated by any U.S. or foreign governmental authorities. A liquid 
secondary market may not exist for hedging instruments that we may purchase or sell in the future, and we may be required to 
maintain a position until exercise or expiration, which could result in significant losses. 

In addition, subject to maintaining our qualification as a REIT, we may pursue various hedging strategies to seek to reduce our 
exposure to adverse changes in interest rates. We may fail to recalculate, readjust and execute hedges in an efficient marmer. 

While we may enter into such transactions seeking to reduce interest rate risks, unanticipated changes in interest rates may result in 
poorer overall investment performance than if we had not engaged in any such hedging transactions. In addition, the degree of 
correlation between price movements of the instruments used in a hedging strategy and price movements in the portfolio positions or 
liabilities being hedged may vary materially. Moreover, for a variety of reasons, we may not seek to establish a perfect correlation 
between such hedging instnnnentts and the portfolio positions or liabilities being hedged. Any such imperfect correlation may prevent 
us from achieving the intended hedge and expose us to risk of loss. 

Furthermore, we intend to record any derivative and hedging transactions we enter into in accordance with GAAP. However, we may 
choose not to pursue, or fail to qualify for, hedge accounting treatment relating to such derivative instruments. As a result, our 
operating results may suffer beca.use any losses on these derivative instruments may not be offset by a change in the fair value of the 
related hedged transaction or item. 
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Our investments may be subject to fluctuations in interest rates that may not be adequately protected, or protected at all, by our 
hedging strategies. 

Our investments currently include loans with floating interest rates and, in the future, may include loans with fixed interest rates. 
Floating rate invesnnents earn interest at rates that adjust from time to time (typically, in our case, monthly) based upon an index (in 
our case, Tenn SOFR). These floating rate loans are insulated from changes in value specifically due to changes in interest rates; 
however, the interest they earn fluctuates based upon interest rates (for example, Tenn SOFR) and, in a declining and/or low interest 
rate environment, these loans will earn lower rates of interest and this will impact our Ojperating perfonnance. Fixed interest rate 
investments, however, do not have adjusting interest rates and the relative value of the fixed cash flows from these investments will 
decrease as prevailing interest rates rise or increase as prevailing interest rates fall, causing potentially sign.ificant changes i:n value. 
Our Manager may employ various hedging strategies on our behalf to limit the effects of changes in interest rates (and in some cases 
credit spreads), including engaging i:n interest rate swaps, caps, floors and other interest rate derivative products. We believe that no 
strategy can completely insulate us from the risks associated with interest rate changes and there is a risk that hedging strategies may 
provide no protection at all and potentially compow1d the impact of changes in interest rates. Hedging transactions involve certain 
additional risks such as counterparty risk, leverage risk, the legal enforceability of hedging contracts, the early repayment of hedged 
transactions and the risk that unanticipated and significant changes in interest rates may cause a significant loss of basis in the contract 
and a change in current period expense. We cannot make assurances that we will be able to enter into hedging transactions or that such 
hedging transactions will adequately protect us against the foregoing risks. 

Our use ofleverage may create a mismatch with the duration and index of the investments that we are f inancing. 

We generally seek to structure our leverage such that we minimize the differences between the tenn of our investments and the 
leverage we use to finance such an investment. However, under certain circwnstances, we may determine not to do so or we may 
otherwise be w1able to do so. Accordingly, the extended term of the financed loan or other investment may not correspond to the term 
to extended matiUrity of the financing for such loan or other investment. In the event that our leverage is for a shorter tern1 than the 
financed loan or other investment, we may not be able to extend or find appropriate replacement leverage, which would have an 
adverse impact on our liquidity and our returns. In the event that our leverage is for a longer tem1 than the fmanced loan or other 
investment, we may not be able to repay such leverage or replace the fmanced loan or other investment with an optimal substitute or at 
all, which would negatively impact our desired leveraged returns. 

We generally attempt to structure our leverage such that we minimize the differences between the index of our investments and the 
index of our leverage (for example, financing floating rate investments with floating rate leverage and fixed rate investments with 
fixed rate leverage). If such leverage is not available to us from om lenders on reasonable terms, we may use hedging instruments in 
an effort to effectively create such a match. For example, in the case of ft1ture fixed rate investments, we may finance such 
investments witb floating rate leverage, but effectively convert all or a portion of the attendant leverage to fixed rate using hedging 
strategies. 

The success of our attempts to mitigate such risk is subject to factors outside our control, such as the availability of fmancing and 
hedging options on favorable terms, including with respect to duration and term matching. The risks of a duration mismatch are 
magnified by the potential for the extension of loans in order to maximize the likelihood and magnitude of their recovery value in the 
event the loans experience credit or performance challenges. Employment of this asset management practice would effectively extend 
the duration of our investments, while many of our liabilities have set maturity dates. While our CLO liabilities have set maturity 
dates, repayment of these liabilities are dependent on timing of related collateral loan asset repayments after the reinvestment period 
concludes. 
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Warehouse ftlcilities that we may obtain in the future may limit our ability to originate or acquire assets, ami we may incur losses if 
the collateral is liquitlated. 

We may utilize, if available, warehouse facilities pursuant to which we would accumulate loans in anticipation of a securitization or 
other fmancing, which assets would be pledged as collateral for such facilities until the securitizati011 or other transaction is 
consummated. To borrow funds to originate or acquire assets under any f1.1ture warehouse facilities, we expect that our lenders 
thereunder would have the right to review the potential assets for which we seek financing. We may be unable to obtain the consent of 
a lender to originate or acquire assets that we believe would be beneficial to us and we may !be unable to obtain alternate financing for 
such assets. In addition, no assurance can be given that a securitization or other financing would be consummated with respect to the 
assets being warehoused. If the securitization or other financing is not consummated, the lender could demand repayment of the 
facility, and in the event that we were unable to timely repay, could liquidate the warehoused collateral and we would then have to pay 
any amount by which the original purchase price of the collateral assets exceeds its sale price, subject to negotiated caps, if any, on our 
exposure. In addition, regardless of whether the securitization or other financing is consummated, if any of the warehoused collateral 
is sold before the securitization OJT other financing is completed, we would have to bear any resulting loss on the sale. 

We have utilized ancl may in the future utilize non-recourse securitizations to finance our investments, which may expose us to 
risks that could .result in losses. 

We have utilized and may in the future utilize non-recourse securitizations of certain of our investments to generate cash for funding 
new investments and for other purposes. Such financing generally involves creating a special purpose vehicle, contributing a pool of 
our investments to the entity, and selling interests in the entity on a non-recourse basis to purchasers (whom we would expect to be 
willing to accept a lower interest rate to invest in investment-grade loan pools). We would expect to retain all or a portion of the equity 
and potentially other tranches in the securitized pool of portfolio investments. Prior to any such fmancings, we may use our secured 
credit agreements, or other short-term facilities, to finance the acquisition of investments until a sufficient quantity of investments had 
been accumulated, at which time we would refinance these faci lities through a securitization, such as a CLO, or issuance of CMBS, or 
the private placement of loan participations or other long-tenn financing. When employing this strategy, we would be subject to the 
risk that we would not be able to acquire, during the period that our short-term credit facilities are available, a sufficient amount of 
eligible investments or loans to maximize the efficiency of a CLO, CMBS, or private placement issuance. We also would be subject to 
the risk that we would not be able to obtain short-tenn credit faci lities or would not be able to renew any short-tem1 credit faci li ties 
after they expire should we find it necessary to extend our short-tem1 credit facilities to allow more time to seek and acquire the 
necessary eligible investments for a long-term financing. The inability to consun1mate securitizations to finance our investments on a 
long-term basis could require us to seek other forms of potentially less attractive fmancing or to liquidate assets at an inopportune time 
or unfavorable price, which could adversely affect our perfonnance and our ability to grow our business. 

Moreover, conditions in the capital markets, including volatility and disruption in the capital and credit markets, may not permit a 
securitization at any particular time or may make the issuance of any such securitization less attractive to us even when we do have 
sufficient eligible assets. We may also suffer losses if the value of the mortgage loans we acquire declines prior to securitization. 
Declines in the value of a mortgage loan can be due to, among other things, changes in interest rates and changes in the credit quality 
of the loan. In addition, we may suffer a loss due to the incurrence of transaction costs related to executing these transactions. To the 
extent that we incur a loss executing or participating in future securitizations for the reasons described above or for other reasons, it 
could materially and adversely impact our business and fmancial condition. The inability to securitize our portfolio may hurt our 
performance and our ability to grow our business. 

We may be subject to losses arising from guarantees of debt and contingent obligations of our subsitliaries or joint venture or co­
investment partners. 

We conduct substantially all of our operations and own substantially all of our assets through our holding company subsidiary, 
Holdco. Holdco has guaranteed certain obligations of our subsidiaries under various arrangements that provide for significant 
aggregate borrowings. Holdco may in the future guarantee the performance of additional subsidiaries' obligations. The guarantee 
agreements contain financial covenants covering liquid assets, debt-to-equity ratio, interest coverage ratio, and net worth requirements. 
Holdco's failure to satisfy these covenants and other requirements could result in defaults under the relevant agreements and 
acceleration of amounts borrowed thereunder. Such defaults could have a material adverse effect on us. We may also agree to 
guarantee indebtedness incurred by a joint venture or co-investment partner .. Such a guarantee may be on a joint and several basis with 
such joint venture or co-investment partner, in which case we may be liable in the event such partner defaults on its guarantee 
obligation. The non-performance of such obligations may cause losses to us in excess of the capital we initially may have invested or 
committed under such obligations and there is no assurance that we will have sufficient capital to cover any such losses. 
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We are subject to counterparty risk associatetl with our debt obligations. 

Our counterparties for crilical financial relationships may include both domestic and international financial institutions. These 
institutions could be severely impacted by credit market tllnnoil, changes in legislation, changes in regulation, allegations of civil or 
crilllina1 wrongdoing and may as a result experience financial or other pressures. In addition, if a lender or coUllterparty ftles for 
bankruptcy or becomes insolvent, our borrowings w1der fmancing agreements with them may become subject to bankruptcy or 
insolvency proceedings, thus depriving us, at least temporarily, of the benefit of these assets. Such an event could restrict our access to 
financing and increase our cost of capital. If any of our counterparties were to limit or cease operation, it could lead to financia l losses 
for us. 

Certain of our current financing arrangements contain financial covenants that, if violated, could result in the diversion of cash 
flow from us to our lenders to pay interest tlue aJUI reduce the principal amount outstanding of our borrowings until such time as 
the default is cured, which may reduce our cash available to pay interest and operating expenses, satisfy other obligations, and 
ftmd required distributions to common stockhol£lers to maintain our qualification as a RE/1: 

Our CRE CLO liabilities are issued by certain of our wholly-owned trust subsidiaries pursuant to indenturecS that include a range of 
covenants and operational tests, including: (a) a minimum ratio of aggregate pledged loan collateral (valued in accordance with the 
indenture) divided by the aggregate principal runoUllt of bonds outstanding (the "overcollateralization test"); and (b) a minimum ratio 
of interest income collected with respect to pledged loan collateral divided by interest expense with respect to bonds outstanding. A 
failure of either or both tests generally entitles the trustee to divert ("sweep") cash from the trust waterfall that would otherwise be 
distributed to us to pay interest and, to the extent sufficient cash remains after the payment of interest, to retire the senior-most bonds 
until the tests are satisfied. In certain circumstances, such diversions may last for extended periods depending upon the credit 
performance of the pledged loru1s. 

Our secured credit agreements are between wholly-owned subsidiaries at1d our lender cowlterparties. Each involves cross­
collateralized pools of pledged loans, and one of our agreements includes a pool-wide debt yield test where failure to comply triggers a 
cash flow sweep to pay interest and retire borrowings until compliance is restored. 

The temporary or prolonged loss of these cash receipts by us may reduce our cash-on-hand to levels that threaten our ability to pay 
operating expenses, dividends due on our Series C Preferred Stock or distributions to our common shareholders in amounts sufficient 
to preserve our REIT status. Cash flow with respect to interest receipts that is swept by our lenders is considered as taxable income to 
us, ~md our distribution requirements as a REIT are not lessened. 

llisks Related to Our Relationship with Our Manager and its Affiliates 

We depend on our Manager and the personnel of TPG provitletl to our Manager for our success. We may not find a suitable 
replacement for our Manager if our Management Agreement is terminated, or if key personnel cease to be employetl by TPG or 
otherwise become unavailable to us, which would materially and atlversely affect us. 

We are externally managed and advised by our Manager, an affiliate of TPG. We currently have no employees and all of our executive 
officers are employees of TPG. We are completely reliant on our Manager, which has significant discretion as to the implementation 
of our investment and operating policies and strategies. 

Our success depends to a significant extent upon n.he ongoing efforts, experience, diligence, skill, and network of business contacts of 
our executive officers and the other key personnel of TPG provided to our Manager and its affiliates. These individuals evaluate, 
negotiate, execute and monitor our loans and other investments and financings and advise us regarding maintenance of our REIT 
status and exclusion or exemption from regulation under the Investment Company Act. Our success depends on their skills and 
management expertise and continued service with our Mru1ager and its affiliates. Furthennore, there is significant competition among 
financial sponsors, investment banks and other real estate debt investors for hiring and retaining qualified investment professionals, 
and there can be no assurance that such professionals will continue to be associated with us, our Manager or its affiliates or that any 
replacements will perform well. 

There is no guarantee that any non-competition and non-solicitation agreements to which TPG personnel are subject, together with 
TPG's other arrangements with them, will prevent them from leaving, joining our competitors or otherwise competing with us. In 
addition, there is no assurance th at such agreements will be enforceable im all cases, particularly as states enact legislation aimed at 
effectively prohibiting non-competition agreements. 

In addition, we can offer no assurance that our Manager will remain our investment manager or that we will continue to have access to 
our executive officers and the other key personnel of TPG who provide services to us. If we tem1inate our Management Agreement 
other than upon the occurrence of a cause event or if our Mru1ager terminates our Management Agreement upon our material breach, 
we would be required to pay a very substatltial termination fee to our Manager. See "-Termination of our Management Agreement 
would be costly." Furthennore, if our Management Agreement is temlinated and no suitable replacement is found to manage us, we 
may not be able to achieve our investment objectives, which would materially and adversely affect us. 
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Other than any dedicatetl or partially dedicated chief financial officer that our Manager may elect to provide to us, the TPG 
personnel provitled to our Manager, as our external manager, are not required to dedicate a specific portion of their time to the 
management of our business. 

Other than with respect to any dledicated or partially dedicated chief financial officer that our Manager may elect to provide to us, 
neither our Manager nor any other TPG affiliate is obligated to dedicate any specific persom1el exclusively to us nor are they or their 
personnel obligated to dedicate any specific portion of their time to the management of our business. Although our Manager has 
informed us that Robert Foley will continue to serve as our chief financial officer and that he will spend a substantial portion of his 
time on our affairs, key personnel provided to us by our Manager have in the past and may in the future become unavailable to us as a 
result of their departure from TPG or for any other reason. As a result, we cannot provide any assurances regarding the amount of time 
our Manager or its affiliates will dedicate to the management of our business. Our Manager and its affiliates may have confl icts in 
allocating their time, resources and services among our business and any TPG Funds they may manage, including the TRECO Funds, 
and such conflicts may not be resolved in our favor. Each of our executive officers is also an employee of TPG, who has now or may 
be expected to have significant responsibilities for TPG Funds managed by TPG now or in the future. For example, certain of the TPG 
personnel that provide services to us, including our executive officers, currently also provide services for the TRECO Funds and are 
expected to continue to provide services for the TRECO Funds for the foreseeable future. Consequently, we may not receive the level 
of support and assistance that we otherwise might receive if we were internally managed. Our Manager and its affiliates are not 
restricted from entering into other investment advisory relationships or from engaging in other business activities. 

The integration of Angelo Gortlon 's business into TPG's business could strain our Manager's resources. 

On November 1, 2023, TPG and certain affiliated entities completed the acquisition of Angelo, Gordon & Co., L.P. and certain 
affiliated entities (collectively, "Angelo Gordon"). Angelo Gordon is an alternative investment firm focused on credit and real estate 
investing. Certain TPG personnel that provide services to us have in the past allocated and will likely in the future allocate a portion of 
their time to assisting with the integration of Angelo Gordon's business and people into TPG's businesses, which has reduced and 
could in the future reduce t11e amount of time that such TPG personnel can dedicate to our business. See "-Other than any dedicated 
or partially dedicated chief fmancial officer that our Manager may elect to provide to us, the TPG personnel provided to our Manager, 
as our external manager, are not required to dedicate a specific portion of their time to the management of our business." 

Our Manager manages our portfolio pursuant to broad investment guidelines and is not required to seek the approval of our board 
of directors for each investment, financing, asset allocation or hedging tlecision made by it, which may result in our making riskier 
loans anti other investments and which could materially and (1(/versely affect us. 

Our Manager is authorized to follow broad investment guidelines that provide it with substantial discretion regarding investment, 
fmancing, asset allocation and hedging decisions. Our board of directors will periodically review our investment guidelines and our 
portfolio but will not, and will not be required to, review and approve in advance all of our proposed loans and other investments or 
our Manager's financing, asset allocation or hedging decisions. In addition, in conducting periodic reviews, our directors rely 
primarily on infonnation provided, or recommendations made, to them by our Manager or its affiliates. Subject to maintaining our 
REIT qualification and our exclusion or exemption from regulation under the Investment Company Act, our Manager has significant 
latitude within the broad investment guidelines in determining the types of loans and other investments it makes for us, and how such 
loans and other investments are financed or hedged, which could result in investment returns that are substantially below expectations 
or losses, which could materially and adversely affect us. 

Our Manager's fee structure may not create proper incentives or may induce our Manager and its affiliates to cause us to make 
certt1in loans or other investments, including speculative investments, which increase the risk of our portfolio. 

We pay our Manager base management fees calculated on equity without regard to performance of our portfolio. Our Manager's 
entitlement to base management fees, which are not based solely upon perfonnancc metrics or goals, might reduce its incentive to 
devote its time and effort to seeking loans or other investments that provide attractive risk-adjusted returns for our stockholders. 
Because the base management fees are also based in part on our outstanding equity, our Manager may also be incentivized to advance 
strategies that increase our equity, and there may be circumstances where increasing our equity will not optimize the returns for our 
stock110lders. Consequently, we are required to pay our Manager base management fees in a particular period despite experiencing a 
net loss or a decline in the value of our portfolio during that period. 
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In addition, our Manager has tJ1e ability to earn incentive compensation each quarter based on our Core Eamings, as calcwated in 
accordance with our Management Agreement, which may create an incentive for our Manager to cause us to invest in assets with 
higher yield potential, which are generally riskier or more speculative, or sell an asset premahrrely for a gain, in an effort to increase 
our short-tenn net income and thereby increase the incentive compensation to which it is entitled. This could result in increased risk to 
our investment portfolio. If our interests and those of our Manager are not aligned, tJ1e execution of our business plan could be 
adversely affected, which could materially and adversely affect us. 

We have in the p ast and in the future will likely compete with existing cmd future TPG Fumls, inchuling the TREGO Funds, which 
may present various conflicts f~{ interest that restrict our ability to pursue certain investment opportuniNes or take other actions 
that are beneficial to our business and/or result in (lecisions that are not in the best interests of our stockho.lders. 

We are subject to conflicts of interest arising out of our relationship with TPG, including our Manager and its affi liates. As of 
December 31 , 2024, three of our seven directors are employees of TPG. In addition, our chief financial officer and our other executive 
officers are also employees of TPG, and we are managed by our Manager, a TPG affiliate. There is no guarantee that the policies and 
procedures adopted by us, the terms and conditions of our Management Agreement or the policies and procedures adopted by our 
Manager, TPG and their affiliates, as the case may be, will enable us to jdentify, adequately address or mitigate these conflicts of 
interest. Some examples of conflicts of interest that may arise by virtue of our relationship with our Manager and TPG include: 

TPG's Policies and Procedures. Specified policies and procedures implemented by TPG, including our Manager, to mitigate 
potential conflicts of interest and address certain regulatory requirements and contractual restrictions may reduce the 
advantages across TPG's various businesses that TPG expects to draw on for purposes of pursuing attractive investment 
opportunities. Because TPG has many different asset management, advisory and other businesses, it is subject to a number of 
actual and potential conflicts of interest, greater regulatory oversight and more legal and contractual restrictions than that to 
which it would otherwise be subject if it had just one line of business. In addressing these conflicts and regulatory, legal and 
contractual requirements across its various businesses, TPG has implemented certain policies and procedures (for example, 
information walls) that may reduce the benefits that TPG expects to utilize for our Manager for purposes of identifying and 
managing our investments. For example, TPG may come into possession of material non-public information with respect to 
companies that are TPG' s advisory clients in which our Manager may be considering making an investment on our behalf. As 
a consequence, that information, which could be of benefit to our Manager or us, might become restricted to those other 
businesses and otherwise be unavailable to our Manager, and could also restrict our Manager's activities. Additionally, the 
terms of confidentiality or other agreements with or related to companies in which any TPG Fund (including any TRECO 
Fund) bas or has considered making an investment or which is otherwise an advisory client of TPG may restrict or otherwise 
limit the ability ofTPG or our Manager to engage in businesses or activities competitive with such companies. 

Allocation oflnvestment Opportunities. Certain inherent conflicts of interest arise from the fact that TPG and our Manager 
provide investment management and other services both to us and to other persons or entities, whether or not the investment 
objectives or policies of any such other person or entity are similar to those of ours, including, without limitation, the 
sponsoring, closing and/or managing of any TPG Fund (including the TRECO Funds). However, for so long as om 
Management Agreement is in effect and TPG controls our Manager, neither our Manager nor TPG Real Estate Management, 
LLC, which is the manager of TPG Real Estate Partners, will directly or indirectly fom1 any other public vehicle in the U.S. 
whose strategy is to primarily originate, acquire and manage performing commercial mortgage loans. The respective 
investm.ent guidelines and policies of our business and certain TPG Funds (including the TRECO Funds) overlap in part, and 
where these overlaps exist, investment opporhmities will be allocated between us and the TPG Funds, including one or more 
of the TRECO Ftmds, in a manner that may result in fewer investment opportunities being allocated to us than would have 
otherwise been the case in the absence of such TPG Funds. The methodology applied between us and one or more of the TPG 
Funds, including the TRECO Funds, under TPG's allocation policy may result in us not participating (and/or not participating 
to the same extent) in certain investment opportunities in which we would have otherwise participated had the related 
allocations been determined without regard to such allocation policy and/or based only on the circumstances of those 
particular investments. TPG and our Manager may also give advice to TPG Funds, including the TRECO Funds, t11at may 
differ from advice given to us even though such TPG Funds' investment objectives may be the same or similar to ours. 

To the extent any TPG Funds, including a TRECO Fund, otherwise have investment objectives or guidelines that overlap witi1 ours, in 
whole or in part, then, ptrrsuant to TPG's allocation policy, investment opportun.ities U1at fall within such common o~jectives or 
guidelines wiJJ generally be allocated among om company and one or more of such TPG Funds, including a TRECO Fund, on a basis 
that our Manager and applicable TPG affiliates determine to be fair and reasonable in their sole discretion, subject to the following 
considerations: 

our and the relevant TPG Funds' investment focuses and objectives; 

the TPG professionals who somced the investment opportunity; 

the TPG professionals who are expected to oversee and monitor the investment; 
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the expected ru11ount of capital required to make the investment, as well as our and t11e relevant TPG Funds' current 
md projected capacity for investing (including for any potential follow-on investments); 

our and the relevant TPG Funds' targeted rates of return and investment holding periods; 

the stage of development of the p rospective portfolio company or borrower; 

our and tJ1e relevant TPG Funds' respective existing portfolio of investments; 

the investment opportunity's risk profile; 

om <Uld the relevmt TPG Ftllds' respective expected life cycles; 

ru1y investment targets or restrictions (e.g., industry, size, etc.) that apply to us and the relevant TPG Funds; 

om ability md the ability of the relevmt TPG Ftmds to accommodate structural, timing and other aspects of the 
investment process; md 

legal, tax, contractual, regulatory or other considerations that our Mmager md applicable TPG affiliates deem 
relevant. 

There is no assmance that my such conflicts arising out of the foregoing will be resolved in our favor. Our Mmager and TPG 
affiliates are entitled to amend their investment objectives or guidelines at any time without prior notice to us or our consent. 

Investments in Different Levels or Classes of an Issuer's Securities. We md the TPG Funds, including TRECO Funds, may 
make investments at different levels of an issuer's or borrower's capital structure (for example, an investment by a TPG Fund 
(such as a TRECO Fund) in an equity, debt or mezzanine interest w ith respect to the same portfolio entity in which we invest 
at a different level or vice versa) or in a different tranche of debt or equity with respect to an entity in which we have an 
interest. We may make investments that are senior or junior to, or have rights ru1d interests different from or adverse to, the 
investm.ents made by TPG FtUlds (including TRECO Funds). Such investments may conflict with the interests of such TPG 
Funds in related investments, and the potential for any such conflicts of interests may be heightened in the event of a default 
or restructuring of any such investments. Actions may be taken for TPG Funds (including TRECO Funds) that are adverse to 
us, including with respect to the timing and manner of sale md actions taken in circumstances of financial distress. In 
addition, in c01mection with such invesnnents, TPG will generally seek to implement certain procedures to mitigate conflicts 
of interest which typically involve maintaining a non-controlling interest in any such investment and a forbearance of rights, 
including certain non-economic rights, relating to t11e TPG Funds, such as where TPG may cause us to decline to exercise 
certain control- md/or foreclosure-related rights with respect to a borrower (including following the vote of other third-party 
lenders generally or otherwise recusing itself with respect to decisions), including with respect to defaults, foreclosures, 
workouts, restructurings and/or exit opportunities, subject to certain limitations. Our Management Agreement requires our 
Manager to keep our board of directors reasonably infonned on a periodic basis in connection with the foregoing, including 
with respect to transactions that involve investments at different levels of an issuer's or borrower' s capital structure, as to 
which om Manager has agreed to provide our board of directors with quarterly updates. While TPG will seek to resolve my 
conflicts in a fair and equitable manner witJ1 respect to conflicts resolution among us and the TPG Funds generally, such 
transactions are not required to be presented to our board of directors for approva I, and t11ere can be no assurance that any 
such conflicts will be resolved in our favor. 

Co-lnvestrnents with Other TPG Vehicles. We may co-invest together with TPG investment vehicles (including TRECO 
Funds) in some of our investment opportunities. In such circums tances, the size of the investment opportunity otherwise 
available to us may be less than it would otherwise have been, and we may participate in such opportunities on different and 
potentially less favorable economic terms than such parties if our Manager deems such participation as being otherwise in our 
best interests. Furthermore, when TPG investment vehicles have interests or requirements that do not align with our interests, 
including differing liquidity needs or desired investment horizons, conflicts may arise in the manner in which any voting or 
control rights are exercised with respect to the relevant investment, potentially resulting in an adverse impact on us. 

Assignment and Sharing or Limitation of Rights. We may invest alongside TPG Funds (including TRECO Funds) and in 
connection therewith may, for legal, tax, regulatory or other reasons which may be unrelated to us, share with or assign to 
such TPG Funds certain of our rights, in whole or in part, or agree to limit our rights, including in certain instances certain 
control- and/or foreclosure-related rights with respect to such shared investments and/or otJ1erwise agree to implement certain 
procedures to runeliorate conflicts of interest which may in certain circumstances involve a forbearance of our rights. Such 
sharing or assignment of rights could make it more difficult for us to protect our interests and could give rise to a conflict 
(which may be exacerbated in the case of fmru1cial distress) and could result in a TPG Fund exercising such rights in a way 
that is adverse to us. 

Providing Debt Financings in connection with Acquisitions by Third Parties of Assets Owned by TPG Funds. We may 
provide financing (1) as part of the bid or acquisition by a third party to acquire interests in (or otherwise make an invesnnent 
in the underlying assets of) a portfolio entity or borrower owned by one or more TPG Funds or their affiliates of assets and/or 
(2) with respect to one or more portfolio entities or borrowers in cmmection with a proposed acquisition or investment by one 
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or more TPG Funds or their affiliates re lating to such portfolio entities and/or their underlying assets. This may include 
making comminnents to provide financing at, prior to or around the time that any such purchaser commits to or makes such 
investments. We may also make investments and provide debt financing with respect to portfolio entities in which TPG 
Funds and/or their affiliates hold or propose to acquire an interest. While the tem1s and conditions of any such debt 
commitments and related arrangements will generally be on market terms, the involvement of us and/or such TPG Funds or 
their affiliates in such transactions may affect the terms of such transactions or arrangements and/or may otherwise influence 
our Manager's decisions with respect to the management of us and/or TPG's management of such TPG Funds and/or the 
relevant portfolio entity, which will give rise to potential or actual conflicts of interests and which may adversely impact us. 

Pursuit of Differing Strategies. TPG and our Manager may determine that an investment opportunity may not be appropriate 
for us but may be appropriate for one or more of the TPG Funds (such as a TRECO Fund) or may decide that our company 
and certain of the TPG Funds (including the TRECO Funds) should take differing positions with respect to a particular 
investm.ent. In these cases, TPG and our Manager may pursue separate transactions for us and one or more TPG Funds (such 
as a TRECO Fund). This may affect the market price or the terms of the particular invesnnent or the execution of the 
transaction, or both, to the detriment or benefit of us and one or more TPG Funds. For example, a TPG investment manager 
may determine that it would be in the interest of a TPG Fund to sell a security that we hold long, potentially resulting in a 
decrease in the market price of the security held by us. 

Obtaining Financing from Other TPG Vehicles. We may from time to time obtain financing from one or more TPG Funds 
(including the TRECO Funds). We and/or TPG may face conflicts of interest in connection with any borrowings or disputes 
related to such financing agreement(s) which may adversely impact us. 

Variation in Financial and Other Benefits. A conflict of interest arises where the financial or other benefits available to our 
Manager or its affiliates differ among us and the TPG Funds that it manages. If the amount or structure of the base 
management fees, incentive compensation and/or our Manager's or its affiliates' compensation differs among us and the TPG 
Funds (including the TRECO Funds) (such as where certain TPG Funds pay higher base management fees, incentive 
compensation, performance-based management fees or other fees), our Manager or its affiliates might be motivated to help 
such TPG Funds (including TRECO Ftmds) over us. Similarly, the desire to maintain assets under management or to enhance 
our Manager's or its affiliates' performa11ce records or to derive other rewards, financial or otherwise, could influence our 
Manager or its affiliates in affording preferential treatment to TPG Funds (including TRECO Funds) over us. Our Manager 
may, for example, have an incentive to allocate favorable or limited opportunity investments or structure the timing of 
investments to favor such TPG Funds (including TRECO Funds). Additionally, our Manager might be motivated to favor 
TPG Funds, including TRECO Ftmds, in which it has an ownership interest or in which TPG has ownership interests. 
Conversely, if an investment professional at our Manager or its affiliates does not personally hold an investment in us but 
holds investments in TPG Funds (such as the TRECO Funds), such investt11ent professional 's conflicts of interest with 
respect to us may be more acute. 

Underwriting, AdvisOJy and Other Relationships. As part of its regular business, TPG provides a broad range of 
underwriting, investtnellit banking, placement agent and other services. In connection with selling investments by way of a 
public offering, a TPG broker-dealer has in the past and may again in the future act as the managing underwriter or a member 
of the underwriting syndicate on a fim1 commitment basis and purchase securities on that basis. TPG may retain any 
commissions, remLmeration, or other profits and receive compensation from such Lmderwriting activities, which have the 
potential to create conflicts of interest. TPG may also participate in underwriting syndicates from tin1e to time with respect to 
us or portfolio companies of TPG Ftmds or may otherwise be involved in the private placement of debt or equity securities 
issued by us or such portfolio companies, or otherwise in arranging frnancings with respect thereto. Subject to applicable law, 
TPG has in the past and may again in the future receive underwriting fees, placement commissions or other compensation 
with respect to such activities, which were not and will not be shared with us or our stockholders. Where TPG serves as 
underwriter with respect to a portfolio company's securities, we or the applicable TPG Fund holding such securities may be 
subject to a " lock-up" period following the offering under applicable regulations during which time our ability to sell any 
securities that we continue to hold is restricted. TI1is may prejudice our ability to dispose of such securities at an opportune 
time. 
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TPG has long-tenn relationships with a significant number of corporations and their senior management. In detem1ining whether to 
invest in a particular transaction on our behalf, our Manager may consider those relationships (subject to its obligations under our 
Management Agreement), which may result in certain transactions that our Manager would not otherwise undertake or refrain from 
undertaking on our behalf in view of such relationships. 

Service Providers. Certain of our service providers or their affiliates (including administrators, lenders, brokers, property 
managers, asset managers, attorneys, consultants and investment banking or commercial banking finns) also provide goods or 
services to, or have business, personal or other relationships with, TPG. Such service providers may be sources of investment 
opportunities, co-investors or commercial counterparties or portfolio companies of TPG Ftmds. Such relationships may 
influence our Manager in deciding whether to select such service providers. In certain circumstances, service providers or 
their affiliates may charge different rates or have different arrangements for services provided to TPG or TPG Funds as 
compared to services provided to us, which in certain circumstances may result in more favorable rates or arrangements than 
those payable by, or made with, us. In addition, in instances where multiple TPG businesses may be exploring a potential 
individual investment, certain of these service providers may choose to be engaged by TPG rather than us. 

For example, we have engaged SOP 2 Management, LLC, a portfolio company owned by an affiliate ofTPG, Inc. to provide 
a specified scope of asset management services related to our REO properties. For more information regarding this 
arrangement, see Note I 0 to our consolidated financial statements included in U1is Form I 0-K. 

Material, Non-Public !riformation. We, directly or through TPG, our Manager or certain of their respective affiliates may 
come into possession of material non-public infonnation with respect to an issuer or borrower in which we have invested or 
may invest. Should this occur, our Manager may be restricted from buying or selling securities, derivatives or loans of the 
issuer or borrower on our behalf until such time as the information becomes public or is no longer deemed material. 
Disclosure of such information to the persmmel responsible for management of our business may be on a need-to-know basis 
only, and we may not be free to act upon any such information. Therefore, we and/or our Manager may not have access to 
materia I non-public information in the possession of TPG which might be relevant to an investment decision to be made by 
our Manager on our behalf, and our Manager may initiate a transaction or purchase or sell an investment which, if such 
infonnation had been known to it, may not have been undertaken. Due to these restrictions, our Manager may not be able to 
initiate a transaction on our behalf that it otherwise might have initiated and may not be able to purchase or sell an investment 
that it otherwise might have purchased or sold, which could negatively affect us. 

Possible Future Activities. Our Manager and its affi liates may expand the range of services that they provide over time. 
Except as and to t11e extent expressly provided in our Management Agreement, our Manager, TPG RE Management, LLC 
and their respective affiliates will not be restTicted in the scope of their businesses or in the performance of any such services 
(whether now offered or undertaken in the futme) even if such activities could give rise to conflicts of interest, and whether 
or not such conflicts are described herein. Our Manager, TPG and their affiliates continue to develop relationships with a 
significant number of companies, financial sponsors and their senior managers, including relationships with clients w ho may 
hold or may have held investments sin1ilar to those intended to be made by us. These clients may themselves represent 
appropriate investment opportunities for us or may compete with us for investment opportunities. 

Transactions with TPG Funds. From time to time, we may enter into purchase· and sale transactions with TPG Funds, 
including TRECO Funds. Such transactions will be conducted in accordance with, and subject to, the terms and conditions of 
our Management Agreement (including the requirement that sales to, or acquisitions of investments or receipt of financing 
from, TPG, any TPG Fund or any of their affil iates be approved in advance by a majority of our independent directors) and 
our code of business conduct and ethics and applicable laws and regulations. 

Loan Refinancings. We may from time to time seek to participate in investments relating to t11e refinancing of loans held by 
TPG Funds, including TRECO Fw1ds. While it is expected iliat our participation in cotmection with such refinancing 
transactions will be at anns' length and on market/contract terms, such transactions may give rise to potential or actual 
conflicts of interest. 

TPG may enter into one or more strategic relationships in certain geographical regions or with respect to certain types of investments 
that, although intended to provide greater opportunities for us, may require us to share such opporttmities or otherwise limit the 
amount of an opjportunity we can ot11erwise take. 

Further conflicts could arise once we and TPG have made our and their respective investments. For example, if a company goes into 
bankruptcy or reorganjzation, becomes insolvent or otherwise experiences financial distress or is unable to meet its payment 
obligations or comply with covenants relating to securities held by us or by TPG, TPG may have an interest ilia! conflicts wiU1 om 
interests or TPG may have infonnation regarding the company that we do not have access to. If additional financing is necessary as a 
result of financial or other difficulties, it may not be in our best interests to provide such additional financing. If TPG were to lose 
investments as a result of such difficulties, the ability of our Manager to reconunend actions in our best interests might be impaired. 
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Termination of our Management Agreement would be costly. 

Termination of our Management Agreement without cause would be difficult and costly. Our independent directors will review our 
Manager' s perfonnance and the fees tJ1at may be payable to our Manager annually, and our Management Agreement may be 
tenninated each year upon the affmnative vote of at least two-thirds of our independent directors, based upon their determination that 
(1) our Manager' s performance is unsatisfactory and materially detrimental to us and our subsidiaries taken as a whole or (2) tJ1e base 
management fee and incentive compensation, taken as a whole, payable to our Manager is not fair, subject to our Manager' s right to 
prevent any termination due to unfair fees by accepting a reduction of fees agreed to by at least two-thirds of our independent 
directors. We are required to provide our Manager with 180 days' prior written notice of any such termination. Additionally, upon 
such a termination unrelated to a cause event, or if we materially breach our Management Agreement and our Manager terminates our 
Management Agreement, our Management Agreement provides that we will pay our Manager a tennination fee equal to three times 
the sum of (x) the average annual base management fee and (y) the average annual incentive compensation earned by our Manager, in 
each case during ilie 24-monili period immediately preceding the most recently completed calendar quarter prior to the date of 
termination. These provisions increase the cost to us of tenninating our Management Agreement and adversely affect our ability to 
tenninate our Manager in ilie absence of a cause event. 

Our Manager maintains a contNICiual as opposed to a fiduciary relationship with us. Our Manager's liability is limited under our 
Management Agreement, and we have agreetl to indemnify our Manager against certt1in U:abilities. 

Pursuant to our Management Agreement, our Manager assumes no responsibility to us other than to render the services called for 
thereunder in good faith and wilJ not be responsible for any action of our board of directors in following or declining to follow its 
advice or recommendations, including as set forth in our investment guidelines. Our Manager maintains a contractual as opposed to a 
fiduciary relationship with us. Under the terms of our Management Agreement, our Manager and its affiliates, and their respective 
directors, officers, employees, members, partners and stockholders, will not be liable to us, any subsidiary of ours, our board of 
directors, our stockholders or any of our subsidiaries' stockholders, members or partners for acts or omissions performed in 
accordance wifu and pursuant to our Management Agreement, except by reason of acts or omissions constituting bad faith, willful 
misconduct, gross negligence or reckless disregard of their duties under our Management Agreement. We have agreed to indel1lllify 
our Manager, its affiliates and the directors, officers, employees, members, partners and stockl10lders of our Manager and its affiliates 
from any and all expenses, losses, damages, liabilities, demands, charges and claims of any nature whatsoever (including reasonable 
attorneys' fees) in respect of or arising from any acts or omissions of such party perfonned in good faith under our Management 
Agreement and not constituting bad faith, willful misconduct, gross negligence or reckless disregard of duties of such party under our 
Management Agreement. As a result, we could experience poor performance or losses for which our Manager would not be liable. 

We do not own the TPG name, but we may use it as part of our corporate name pursuant to a trademark license agreement with an 
affiliate of TPG. Use of the name by other parties or the termination of our tratlemark license agreement may harm our business. 

We have entered into a trademark license agreement (the "trademark license agreement") with an affiliate of TPG (the " licensor"), 
pursuant to which it has granted us a fully paid-up, royalty-free, non-exclusive, non-transferable, non-sublicensable license to use the 
name "TPG RE Finance Tmst, Inc." and ilie ticker symbol "T RTX." Under this agreement, we have a right to use iliis name for so 
long as our Manager (or another TPG affiliate that serves as our manager) remains an affiliate of the licensor under tJ1e trademark 
license agreement. The trademark license agreement may be terminated by either party as a result of certain breaches or upon 90 days' 
prior written notice; provided that upon notification of such termination by us, the licensor may elect to effect tennination of the 
trademark license agreement immediately at any !Eme after 30 days from the date of such notification. The licensor will retain the right 
to continue using the "TPG" name. The trademark license agreement does not permit us to preclude the licensor from licensing or 
transferring the ownership of the "TPG" name to third parties, some of whom may compete with us. Consequently, we may be unable 
to prevent any damage to goodwill that may occur as a result of the activities oftJ1e licensor, TPG or others. Furthermore, in the event 
that ilie trademark license agreement is tenninated, we will be required to, among other things, change our name and NYSE ticker 
symbol. Any of these events could disrupt our recognition in the marketplace, damage any goodwill we may have generated and 
otl1erwise have a material adverse effect on us. 

Our business may be atlversely aff ected if ou r reputation, the reputation of the Manager or TPG, or the reputation of 
counterparties with whom we associate is harmed. 

We may be harmed by reputational issues and adverse publicity relating to us, ilie Manager or TPG. Issues could include real or 
perceived legal or regulatory violations or could be the result of a failure in performance, risk-management, governance, technology or 
operations, or claims related to employee misconduct, conflict of interests, ethical issues or failure to protect private infonnation, 
among others. Similarly, market rumors and actual or perceived association witl1 counterparties whose own reputation is under 
question could harm our business. Such reputational issues may depress the market price of our capital stock or have a negative effect 
on our ability to attract counterparties for our transactions, or otherwise adversely affect us. 
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Risks Related to Our Company 

Our investment strategy and guidelines, asset allocation and financing strategy may be changed without stockholder consent. 

Our Manager is authorized to follow broad investment guidelines that have been approved by our board of directors. Those investment 
guidelines, as well as our target assets, investment strategy, financing strategy and hedgiJlg policies with respect to investments, 
originations, acquisitions, growtlh, operations, indebtedness, capitalization and distributions, may be changed at any time without 
notice to, or the consent of, our stockholders. This could result in an investment portfolio with a different risk profile. A chru1ge in our 
investment strategy may increase our exposure to interest rate risk, default risk ru1d real estate market fluctuations. Furthermore, a 
change in our asset allocation could result in our making investments in asset categories different from those described in this Form 
1 0-K. These changes could materially and adversely affect us. 

We may not be able to operate our business successfully or implement our operating policies am/ hn•estment strategy. 

We cannot assure you that our past experience will be sufficient to enable us to operate our business successf11lly or implement our 
operating policies and investment strategy as described in this Form 10-K. Furthermore, we may not be able to generate s111fficient 
operating cash flows to pay our operating expenses or service our indebtedness. Our operating cash flows will depend on many 
factors, including the performance of our existing portfolio, the availability of attractive investment opportunities for the origination 
and selective acquisition of addiltional assets, the level and volatility of interest rates, readily accessible short-tem1 and long-term 
fmancing, conditions in the finmcial markets, the real estate market and the economy, md our ability to successfully operate our 
business ru1d execute our invesnnent strategy. We face substantial competition in originating and acquiring attractive loans and other 
investments, which could adversely impact the retmns from new loans and other invesnnents. 

TPG and our Manager may not be able to hire ami retain qualified investment professionals or grow and maintllin our 
relationships with key borrowers am/ loan brokers, am/ if they are unable to tlo so, we coultl be materially and adversely aff ecletl. 

We depend on TPG and our Mru1ager to generate borrower clients by, among other things, developing relationships with property 
owners, developers, mortgage brokers and investors and others, which we believe leads to repeat and referral business. Accordingly, 
TPG and our Manager must be able to attract, motivate and retain skilled investment professionals. The market for investment 
professionals is highly competitive and may lead to increased costs to hire and retain them. We callllot guarantee that TPG and our 
Manager will be able to attract or retain qualified investment professionals. lfTPG and our Manager cannot attract, motivate or retain 
a sufficient number of skilled investment professionals, or even if they can motivate or retain them but at higher costs, we could be 
materially and adversely affected. We also depend on TPG and our Manager for a network of loan brokers, which generates a 
significant portion of our loan originations. While TPG and om M~mager will strive to continue to cultivate long-stmding broker 
relationships that generate repeat business for us, brokers are free to transact business with other lenders and have done so in the past 
and will do so in the future. Our competitors also have relationships with some of our brokers and actively compete with us in bidding 
on loans marketed by these brokers, which could impair our loan origination volume and reduce our returns. There cm be no 
assurance that TPG and om Manager will be able to maintain or develop new relationships with additional brokers. 

Maintenance of our exemptions f rom registration as an investment company umler the Investment Company Act imposes 
significant limits on our operations. Your investment return may be retluced if we are required to register as an investment 
company under the Investment Company Act. 

We conduct, and intend to continue to conduct, our operations so that we are not required to register as an "investment company" as 
defined in Section 3(a)( I )(A) or Section 3(a)( I )(C) of the Investment Company Act. We believe we are not an investment company 
under Section 3(a)(I)(A) of the Investment Company Act because we do not engage primarily, or hold ourselves out as being engaged 
primarily, in the business of investing, reinvesting or trading in securities. Rather, through our wholly-owned or majority-owned 
subsidiru·ies, we are primarily engaged in non-investment compmy businesses related to real estate. In addition, we conduct and intend 
to continue to conduct, our operations so that we do not come within the definition of an investment company under Section 
3(a)(l )(C) of the Investment Company Act because less than 40% of the value of our total assets (exclusive of U.S. government 
securities and cash items) on an unconsolidated basis consist of " investment securities" (the "40% test''). Excluded from the term 
"investment securities" (as that term is defined in the Invesnnent Company Act) are secmities issued by majority-owned subsidiaries 
that are themselves not invesnnent compru1ies and are not relying on the exclusions from the definition of invesnnent compru1y set 
forth in Section 3(c)(l) or Section 3(c)(7) of the Investment Company Act. Our interests in wholly-owned or majority-owned 
subsidiaries that qualify for the exclusion pLusuant to Section 3(c)(5)(C), as described below, Rule 3a-7, as described below, or 
another exclusion or exception under the Investment Company Act (other than Section 3(c)(l) or Section 3(c)(7) thereof). do not 
constitute " invesnnent securities . ., 

To maintain our status as a non-invesnnent company, the securities issued to us by any of our existing wholly-owned or majority­
owned subsidiaries or subsidiaries that we may fom1 in the future, that are excluded from the definition of investment company under 
Section 3(c)( l) or Section 3(c)(7) of the Investment Company Act, together with any other investment securities we may own, may not 
have a value in excess of 40% of the value of our total assets on an unconsolidated basis. We monitor our holdings to ensme ongoing 
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compliance with this test, but there can be no assunmce that we will be able to maintain an exclusion or exemption from registration 
under the Investment Company Act. The 40% test limits the types of businesses in which we may engage through our subsidiaries. In 
addition, the assets we and our subsidiaries may originate or acquire are limited by the provisions of the Investment Company Act and 
the rules and regulations promulgated under the Investment Company Act, which may materially and adversely affect us. 

We hold our assets primarily through direct or indirect wholly-owned or majority-owned subsidiaries, certain of which are excluded 
from the definition of investment company pursuant to Section 3(c)(5)(C) of the Investment Company Act. We will classify our assets 
of our subsidiaries relying on the Section 3(c)(5)(C) exemption from the Investment Company Act based upon positions set forth by 
the SEC staff. Based on such positions, to qualify for the exclusion pursu8!llt to Section 3(c)(5)(C), each such subsidiary generally is 
required to hold at least (i) 55% of its assets in "qualifying" real estate assets, which we refer to as "Qualifying Interests," and (ii) at 
least 80% of its assets in Qualifying Interests and real estate-related assets. Qualifying Interests for this purpose include senior 
mortgage loans, certain B-Notes and certain mezzanine loans that satisfy various conditions as set forth in SEC staff no-action letters 
and other guidance, and other assets that the SEC staff in various no-action letters and other guidance has determined are Qualifying 
Interests for the purposes of the Investment Company Act. We treat as real estate-related assets B-Notes, CRE debt securities and 
mezzanine loans that do not satisfy the conditions set forth in the relevant SEC staff no-action letters and other guidance, and debt and 
equity securities of companies primarily engaged in real estate businesses. The SEC has not published guidance with respect to the 
treatment of the pari passu participation interests in senior mortgage loans held by certain of our subsidiaries for purposes of the 
Section 3(c)(5)(C) exclusion. Unless the SEC or its staff issues guidance applicable to the participation interests, we intend to treat 
such participation interests as real estate-related assets. Because of the composition of the assets of our subsidiaries tl1at own such 
participation interests, we currently treat such subsidiaries as excluded from the definition of investment company under Section 
3(c)(l) or Section 3(c)(7) of the ]nvestment Company Act, and treat the securities issued by them to us as " investment securities" for 
purposes of the 40% test. 

Certain of our subsidiaries rely on Rule 3a-7 under the Investment Company Act. We refer to these subsidiaries as our "CLO 
subsidiaries." Rule 3a-7 under the Investment Company Act is available to certain structured financing vehicles that are engaged in the 
business of holding fmancial assets that, by their tenns, convert into cash within a finite time period and that issue fixed income 
securities entitling holders to receive payments that depend primarily on tlle cash flows from these assets, provided that, among other 
things, the structured finance vehicle does not engage in certain portfolio management practices resembling tl10se employed by 
management invesnnent companies (e.g., mun1al funds). Accordingly, each of these CLO subsidiaries is subject to an indermrre (or 
similar transaction docun1ents) that contains specific guidelines and restrictions limiting the discretion of the CLO subsidiary and its 
collateral manager, if applicable. In particular, tJ1ese guidelines and restr ictions prohibit the CLO subsidiary from acquiring and 
disposing of assets primarily for the purpose of recognizing gains or decreasing losses resu.lting from market value changes. Thus, a 
CLO subsidiary cannot acquire or dispose of assets primarily to enhance rerwm to the owner of the equity in the CLO subsidiary; 
however, subject to this limitation, sales and purchases of assets may be made so long as doing so does not violate guidelines 
contained in the CLO subsidiary's relevant transaction documents. A CLO subsidiary generally can, for example, sell an asset if the 
collateral manager believes that its credit characteristic qualifies it as an impaired asset, subject to fulfilling the requirements set forth 
in Rule 3a-7 under the Investment Company Act and the CLO subsidiary' s relevant transaction documents. As a result of these 
restrictions, our CLO subsidiaries may suffer losses on their assets and we may suffer losses on our investments in those CLO 
subsidiaries. 

SEC no-action positions are based on specific factual situations tllat differ in some regards from the factual situations we and our 
subsidiaries may face, and as a result, we may have to apply SEC staff guidance that relates to other factual situations by analogy. A 
number of these no-action positions were issued more than twenty years ago. There may be no guidance from the SEC staff that 
applies directly to our factual situations, and the SEC may disagree with our conclusion tJ1at the published guidance applies in the 
manner we have concluded. No assurance can be given tllat the SEC or its staff will concur with our classification of our assets. In 
addition, the SEC or its staff may, in the fun1re, issue further guidance that may require us to re-classify our assets for pmposes of the 
Investment Company Act, includling for purposes of our subsidiaries' comp liance with the exclusions provided in Section 3(c)(5)(C) 
or Rule 3a-7 of the Investment Company Act. There is no guarantee that we will be able to adjust our assets in the manner required to 
maintain our exclusion or exemption from the Investment Company Act and any adjustment in our strategy or assets could have a 
material adverse effect on us. 

To the extent that the SEC or its staff provides more specific guidance regarding any of the matters bearing upon the defmition of 
invesnnent company and the exemptions to that definition, we may be required to adjust om strategy accordingly. On August 31 , 
20 I I , the SEC issued a concept release and request for comments regarding the Section 3(c)(5)(C) exclusion (Release No. IC-29778) 
in which it contemplated the possibility of issuing new rules or providing new interpretations of tl1e exemption that might, among 
other things, define the phrase "liens on and oU1er interests in real estate" or consider sources of income in determining a company's 
"primary business." Any additional guidance from the SEC or its staff could further inhibit our ability to pursue the strategies we have 
chosen. 

Because registration as an investment company would significantly affect our (or our subsidiaries') ability to engage in certain 
transactions or be structured in the manner we currently are, we intend to conduct our business so tllat we and our wholly-owned 
subsidiaries and majority-owned subsidiaries will continue to satisfy the requirements to avoid regulation as an investment company. 
However, there can be no assurance that we or our subsidiaries will be able to satisfy these requirements and maintain our and their 
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exclusion or exemption from such registration. If we or our wholly-owned subsidiaries or our majority-owned subsidiaries do not meet 
these requirements, we could be forced to alter om investment portfolio by selling or otherwise disposing of a substantial portion of 
the assets that do not satisfy the applicable requirements or by acquiring a significant position in assets that are Qualifying Interests. 
Such investments may not represent an optimum use of capital when compared to the available investments we and our subsidiaries 
target pursuant to our investment strategy. These investments may present additional risks to us, and these risks may be compounded 
by om inexperience with such investments. Altering om investment portfolio in this maliller may materially and adverse affect us if 
we are forced to dispose of or acquire assets in an unfavorable market. 

There can be no assurance that we and our subsidiaries will be able to successfully avoid operating as an unregistered investment 
company. If it were established that we were an w1registered inveshnent company, there would be a risk that we would be subject to 
monetary penalties and injunctive relief in an action brought by the SEC, that we would lbe unable to enforce contracts with third 
parties, that third parties could seek to obtain rescission of transactions undertaken during the period for which it was established that 
we were an unregistered invesnnent company, and that we would be subject to limitations on corporate leverage that would have an 
adverse impact on our investment returns. 

If we were requjred to register as an invesnnent company under the Invesnnent Company Act, we would become subject to substantial 
regulation with respect to our capital structure (including our ability to use borrowings), management, operations, transactions with 
affiliated persons (as defined i.n the Investment Company Act) and portfolio composition, includjng disclosure requirements and 
restrictions with respect to diversification and industry concentration and other matters. Compliance with the Investment Company 
Act would, accordingly, limit our ability to make certain investments and require us to significantly restructure our business plan, 
which could materially and adversely affect our ability to pay distributions to our stockholders. Because affiliate transactions generally 
are prohibited under the Investment Company Act, we would not be able to enter into transactions with any of our affiliates if we fail 
to maintain our exclusion or exemption, and our Manager may tenninate our Management Agreement if we become required to 
register as an investment company, with such termination deemed to occur immediately before such event. If our Management 
Agreement is terminated, it could constitute an event of default tmder our fmancing arrangements and fmancial institutions may then 
have the right to accelerate their outstanding loans to us and terminate their arrangements and their obligation to advance funds to us in 
the future. In addition, we may not be able to secure a replacement manager on favorable terms, if at all. Thus, compliance w ith the 
requirements of the Investment Company Act imposes significant limits on our operations, and our failure to comply wilt.h those 
requirements would likely have a material adverse effect on us. 

Rapid changes in the market val11e or income potential of our assets may make it more difficult for us to maintain our qualification 
as a REIT or our exclusion or exemption from regulation umler the Investment Company Act. 

If the market value or income potential of our assets declines, we may need to acquire adilltional assets and/or liquidate certain types 
of assets in order to maintain our REIT qualification or our exclusion or exemption from the Investment Company Act. If the decline 
in the market value and/or income of our assets occurs quickly, this may be especially difficult to accomplish. This rufficul!y may be 
exacerbated by the illiquid nature of the assets that we may own. We may have to make investment decisions that we otherwise would 
not make absent the REIT qualification and Investment Company Act considerations, which could materially and adversely affect us. 

Failure to obtain, maintain or renew required licenses and authorizations necessary to operate our mortgage-related activities may 
materially and adversely affect us. 

We and our Manager are required to obtain, maintain or renew certain licenses and authorizations (including "doing business" 
authorizations and hcenses to act as a commercial mortgage lender) from U.S. federal or state governmental authorities, govermnent 
sponsored entities or similar bodies in connection with some or all of our mortgage-related activities. There is no assurance th.at we or 
our Manager will be able to obtain, maintain or renew any or a ll of the licenses and authorizations that we require or that we or our 
Manager will avoid experiencing significant delays in connection therewith. The failure of our company or our Manager to obtain, 
maintain or renew licenses wm restrict our options and ability to engage in desired activities, and could subject us to fines, 
suspensions, terminations and various other adverse actions if it is determined that we or our Manager have engaged without the 
requisite licenses or authorizations in activities that required a license or authorization, which could have a material adverse effect on 
us. 

Changes in laws or regulations gm,erning our op erations or those of our competitors, or changes in the interpretation thereof, or 
newly enacted laws or regulations, could result in increasetl competition f or our target assets, require changes to our business 
practices and collectively couM adversely impact our revenues and imp ose lulditional costs on us, which could materially and 
adversely affect us. 

The laws and regulations governing our operations or those of our competitors, as well as their interpretation, may change from time 
to time, and new laws and regulations may be enacted. We may be required to adopt or suspend certain business practices as a result of 
any changes, which could impose additional costs on us, which could materially and adversely affect us. Furthermore, if "regulatory 
capital" or "capital adequacy" requirements-whether under the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Refom1 and Consumer Protection Act (the 
"Dodd-Frank Act"), Basel III, or other regulatory action-are further strengthened or expanded with respect to lenders that provide us 
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with debt financing, or were to be imposed on us directly, they or we may be required to limit, or increase the cost of, financing they 
provide to us or that we provide to others. Among other things, this could potentially increase our financing costs, reduce our ability to 
originate or acquire loans and other investments and reduce our liquidity or require us to sell assets at an inopporllme time or 
unfavorable price. 

In addition, various laws and regulations currently exist that restrict the investment activities of banks and certain other financial 
institutions but do not apply to us, which we believe creates opportunities for us to originate loans and participate in certain other 
investments that arc not available or attractive to these more regulated institutions. However, proposals for legislation that would 
change how the financial services industry is regulated are continually being introduced in the U.S. Congress and in state legislallrres. 
Federal financial regulatory agencies may adopt regulations and amendments intended to effect regulatory reforms including reforms 
to certain Dodd-Frank-related regulations. Moreover, following the U.S. Presidential election in November 2024, there are indications 
that the new administration will seek to deregulate the financia l industry. Changes in the regulatory and business landscape as a result 
of the Dodd-Frank Act and as a result of other current or futlrre legislation and regulation may decrease the restrictions on banks and 
other financial institutions and allow them to compete with us for investment oppommities that were previously not available or 
attractive to, or otherwise pursued by, them, which could have a material adverse impact on us. See "-Risks Related to Our Lending 
and Investment Activities-We operate in a competitive market for the origination and acquisition of attractive investment 
opportunities and competition may limit our ability to originate or acquire attractive investments in our target assets, which could have 
a material adverse effect on us." 

Over the last several years, there also has been an increase in regulatory attention to the extension of credit outside of the traditional 
banking sector, raising the possibility that some portion of the non-bank financial sector will become subject to new regulation. While 
it ca1mot be known at this time whether any regulation will be implemented or what fom1 it may take, increased regulation of non­
bank lending could negatively impact our results of operations, cash flows or financial condition, impose additional costs on us, 
intensify the regulatory supervision of us or otherwise materially and adversely affect us. 

Actions of the U.S. government, including the U.S. Congress, Federal Reserve Board, U.S. Treasury Department (lfld other 
government(J[ am/ regulatory bodies, designed to stabilize or reform the financial markets, or market rejponse to those actions, 
may not achieve the intemled effect am/ could materially and adversely affect us. 

In July 2010, the Dodd-Frank Act was signed into law, which imposes significant investment restrictions and capital requirements on 
banking entities and other organizations that are significant to U.S. finamcial stability. For instance, the so-called "Volcker Rule" 
provisions of the Dodd-Frank Act impose significant restrictions on the proprietary trading activities of banking entities and on their 
ability to sponsor or invest in private equity and hedge fw1ds. It also subjects nonbank financial companies that have been designated 
as "systemically important" by the Financial Stability Oversight Council to increased capital requirements and quantitative limits for 
engaging in such activities, as well as consolidated supervision by the Federal Reserve Board. The Dodd-Frank Act also seeks to 
reform the asset-backed securitization market (including the mortgage-backed securities market) by requiring the retention of a portion 
of the credit risk inherent in the pool of securitized assets and by imposing additional registration and disclosure requirements. In 
October 2014, five U.S. federal banking and housing agencies and the SEC issued final credit risk retention mles, which generally 
require sponsors of asset-backed securities to retain at least 5% of the credit risk relating to the assets that underlie such asset-backed 
securities. These rules, which generally became effective in 2016 with respect to new securitization transactions backed by mortgage 
loans other than residential mortgage loans, could restrict credit availability and could negatively affect the terms and availability of 
credit to fund our investments. See "-Risks Related to Our Financing-We have utilized and may in the futme utilize non-recomse 
securitizations to fmance our investments, which may expose us to risks that could result in losses." The Dodd-Frank Act's extensive 
requirements may have a significant effect on the financial markets and may affect the availability or terms of financing from our 
lender counterparties and the availability or terms of mortgage-backed securities, which may, in turn, have a material adverse effect on 
us. 

On December 16, 2015, the U.S. Commodity Futures Trading Commission (the "CFTC") published a final rule governing margin 
requirements for uncleared swaps entered into by registered swap dealers and major swap participants who are not supervised by the 
Federal Reserve Board, the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency, the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, the Farm Credit 
Administration and the Federal Housing Finance Agency (collectively, the "Pmdential Regulators"), referred to as "covered swap 
entities", and such rule was amended on November 19, 2018. The final rule generally requires covered swap entities, subject to certain 
thresholds and exemptions, to collect and post margin in respect of uncleared swap transactions with other covered swap entities and 
fmancial end-users. In particular, the final mle requires covered swap entities and fmancial end-users having "material swaps 
exposure," defmed as an average aggregate daily notional amount of uncleared swaps exceeding a certain specified amount, to collect 
and/or post (as applicable) a minimum amount of "initial margin" in respect of each uncleared swap; the specified amounts for 
material swaps exposure differ subject to a phase-in schedule, when the average aggregate daily notional amount will thenceforth be 
$8.0 billion as calculated from June, July and August of the previous calendar year. Following the CFTC's publication of a final mle in 
November 2020 which extended the last implementation phase of the initial margin requirements for tmcleared swaps these 
requirements ultimately took effect on September I , 2022. In addition, the final rule requires covered swap entities entering into 
uncleared swaps with other covered swap entities or financial-end users, regardless of swaps exposure, to post and/or collect (as 
applicable) "variation margin" in reflection of cha11ges in the mark-to-market value of an uncleared swap since the swap was executed 
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or the last time such margin was exchanged. The CFTC fina l rule is broadly consistent with a similar rule requiring the exchange of 
initial and variation margin adopted by the Prudential Regulators in October 2015, as amended, which apply to registered swap 
dealers, major swap participants, security-based swap dealers and major security-based swap participants that are supervised by one or 
more of the Prudential Regulators. These rules on margin requirements for uncleared swaps could adversely affect our business, 
including our ability to enter such swaps or our available liquidity. 

The current regulatory environment may be impacted by future legislative developments, such as amendments to key provisions of the 
Dodd-Frank Act, including provisions setting forth capital and risk retention requirements. Financial services regulation, including 
regulations applicable to us, has increased significantly in recent years, and may in the future be subject to further enhanced 
governmental scrutiny and/or increased regulation. Although we cannot predict the likelihood, nature or extent of government 
regulation that may arise from future legislation or administrative action, changes to legal rules and regulations, or interpretation or 
enforcement of them, could have a negative effect on our business. 

Changes in U.S. federal policy, including tax policies, and at regulatory agencies occur over time through policy and personnel 
changes following elections, which lead to changes involving the level of oversight and focus on the financial services industry or the 
tax rates paid by corporate entities. We cannot predict the ultimate impact of the foregoing on us, our business and investments, or the 
real estate industry generally, and any prolonged uncertainty could also have an adverse impact on us and our investment objectives. 
Future changes may adversely affect our operating environment and therefore our business, operating costs, financial condition and 
results of operations. Further, an extended federal government shutdown resulting from failing to pass budget appropriations, adopt 
continuing funding resolutions, or raise the debt ceiling, and other budgetary decisions lin1iti.ng or delaying government spending, may 
negatively impact U.S. or global economic conditions, including corporate and consumer spending, and liquidity of capital markets. 

We depend on our Manager to develop appropriate systems and procedures to control operational risk. 

We depend on our Manager and its affiliates to develop the appropriate systems and procedures to control operational risk. 
Operational risks arising from mistakes made in the confmnation or settlement of transactions, from transactions not being properly 
booked, evaluated or accounted for or other similar disruption in our operations may cause us to suffer financial losses, the disruption 
of our business, liability to third parties, regulatory intervention or damage to our reputation. We rely heavily on our Manager's 
fmancial, accounting and other data processing systems. The ability of our systems to accommodate transactions could also constrain 
our ability to properly manage our portfolio. Generally, our Manager will not be liable for losses incurred due to the occurrence of any 
such errors. 

Operational risks, including the risks of cyberattacks, may disrupt our businesses, result in losses or limit our growth. 

We rely heavily on TPG' s financial, accounting, communications and other data processing systems. Such systems may fail to operate 
properly or become disabled as a result of tampering or a breach of the network security systems or otherwise. In addition, such 
systems are from time to time subject to cyberattacks, which are continually evolving and may increase in sophistication and 
frequency in the future. Attacks on TPG and its affiliates and their portfolio companies' and! service providers' systems could involve 
attacks that are intended to obtain unauthorized access to our proprietary information or personal identifying information of our 
stockholders, destroy data or disable, degrade or sabotage the TPG systems on which we rely, or divert or otherwise stea l funds, 
including through the introduction of "phishing" attempts and other forms of social engineering, ransom ware attacks, cyber extortion, 
computer viruses and other malicious code. 

Cybcrsecurity incidents and cyber-attacks, denial of service attacks, ransomware attacks, and social engineering attempts (including 
business email compromise attacks) have been occurring globally at a more frequent and! severe level and will likely continue to 
increase in frequency in the future (including as a consequence of the increased frequency of virtual working arrangements). There 
have been a number of recent highly publicized cases involving the dissemination, theft and destruction of corporate infonnation or 
other assets, as a result of a failure to follow procedures by employees or contractors or as a result of actions by a variety of third 
parties, including nation state actors and terrorist or criminal organizations. TPG, we and our service providers and other market 
participants increasingly depend on complex information technology and communications systems to conduct business ftmctions, and 
their operations rely on the secure access to, and processing, storage and transmission of confidential and other information in their 
systems and those of tJ1eir respective third-party service providers. These information, technology and conununications systems are 
subject to a nwnber of different threats or risks that could adversely affect TPG or us. For example, the information and technology 
systems of TPG. its portfolio entilties and other rellated parties, such as service providers, may be vulnerable to damage or interruption 
from cybersecurity breaches, computer viruses or other malicious code, network failures, computer and telecommunication failmes, 
infiltration by unauthorized persons and otJ1er security breaches, usage errors by their respective professionals or service providers, 
power, conmmnications or other service outages and catastrophic events such as fires, droughts, tornadoes, tloods, hurricanes and 
earthquakes. Cyberattacks and other secmity threats could originate from a wide variety of sources, including cyber criminals, nation 
state hackers, hacktivists and other outside parties. Cyberattacks and otJ1er secmity threats could also originate from the malicious or 
accidental acts of insiders. There has been an increase in the frequency and sophistication of the cyber and security tJ1reats TPG faces, 
with attacks ranging from tl10se common to businesses generally to those that are more advanced and persistent, which may target 
TPG because TPG holds a significant amount of confidential and sensitive information about its and our investors, its portfolio 
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companies and its and our potential investments. As a result, we and TPG may face a heightened risk of a security breach or disruption 
with respect to this information. If successful, these types of attacks on TPG's network or other systems could have a material adverse 
effect on our business and results of operations, due to, among other things, the loss of investor or proprietary data, interruptions or 
delays in the operation of our business and damage to our or TPG's reputation. There can be no assurance that measures that TPG 
takes to ensure the integrity of its systems will provide protection, especially because cyberattack teclmiques change frequently, may 
persist undetected over extended periods of time, and may not be mitigated :in a timely manner to prevent or minimize tile impact of an 
attack on TPG or its affiliates. 

If unauthorized [parties gain access to such infonnation and technology systems, they may be able to steal, publish, delete or modify 
private and sensitive information, including nonpublic personal information related to stockholders (and their beneficial owners) and 
material nonpublic infonnation. Although TPG has implemented, and its portfolio entities and service providers may implement, 
various measures to manage risks relating to these types of events, such systems could prove to be inadequate and, if compromised, 
could become inoperable for extended periods of time, cease to function properly or fail to adequately secure private information. 
There also have been several publicized cases of ransomware where hackers have requested ransom payments in exchange for not 
disclosing client or customer infonnation or restoring access to information technology or conununications systems. Although TPG 
has processes to oversee and identify material risks associated with the use of third party service providers, TPG does not control the 
cybersecurity plans and systems put in place by third party service providers, and such third party service providers may have limited 
indemnification obligations to TPG, its portfolio entities and us, each of which could be negatively impacted as a result. Breaches such 
as those involving covertly introduced malware, impersonation of authorized users and industrial or other espionage may not be 
identified even with sophisticated prevention and detection systems, potentially resulting in further harm and preventing them from 
being addressed appropriately. 

The fai lure of these systems or of disaster recovery plans for any reason could cause significant intemtptions in TPG's, its affiliates', 
their portfolio entities' or our operations and result in a failure to maintain the security, confidentiality or privacy of sensitive data, 
including personal infom1ation relating to stockholders, material nonpublic information and the intellechtal property and trade secrets 
and other sensitive information in the possession ofTPG and its portfolio entities. We, TPG or a portfolio entity could be required to 
make a significant investment to remedy tJ1e effects of any such failures, harm to our or their reputations, legal claims that we or they 
and their respective affiliates may be subjected to, regulatory action or enforcement arising out of applicable privacy and other laws, 
adverse publicity and other events that may affect our and their businesses and fmancial performance. 

Even if we or TPG are not targeted directly, cyberattacks on the U.S. and foreign govermnents, financial markets, financial 
institutions, or other businesses, including borrowers, vendors, software creators, cybersecurity service providers, and otJ1er third 
parties with whom we or TPG do business, may occur, and such events could disrupt our or TPG's nom1al business operations and 
networks in the future. 

In addition, we and TPG operate in businesses that are highly dependent on infom1ation systems and technology. The costs related to 
cyber or otJ1er security threats or disruptions may not be fully insured or indemnified by other means. In adldition, cybersecurity has 
become a top priority for regulators arotu1d the world and rapidly developing and changing privacy, data protection and cybersecurity 
laws and regulations could further increase compliance costs and subject us to enforcement risks and reputa.tional damage. The SEC 
recently adopted amendments to its rules related to cybersecurity risk management, strategy, governance, and incident reporting, and 
many jurisdictions in which we and TPG operate have, or are considering adopting, laws and regulations relating to data privacy, 
cybersecurity and protection of personal information, including the General Data Protection Regulation in the European Union that 
went into effect in May 2018 and the California Consumer Privacy Act that became effective on January 1, 2020. Virginia, Colorado, 
Utah and Connecticut have also enacted similar data privacy legislation. Some jurisdictions have also enacted or proposed laws 
requiring compa11ies to notify individuals and government agencies of data security breaches involving certain types of personal data. 

Breaches in security, whether malicious in nature or tJ1rough inadvertent transmittal or other loss of data, could potentially jeopardize 
our or TPG's, its employees', or our investors' or counterparties' confident1al, proprietary and other infonnation processed and stored 
in, and transmitted through, TPG' s computer systems and networks, or otherwise cause interruptions or malfunctions in our or TPG's, 
its employees', or our investors', our cotu1terparties' or third parties' operations, which could result in significant losses, increased 
costs, disruption of our business, liability to our investors and other counterparties, regulatory intervention or reputational damage. 
Furthermore, if we or TPG fail to comply with the relevant laws and regulations or fail to provide the appropriate regulatory or other 
notifications of a breach in a timely manner, it could result in regulatory :investigations and penalties, which could lead to negative 
publicity and reputational harm and may cause om investors or investors in the TPG Funds and TPG clients to lose confidence in the 
effectiveness of our or TPG's security measures. 

New technologies also continue to develop, including tools that harness generative artificial intelligence and other machine learning 
techniques (collectively, "AI"). AI is developing at a rapid pace and becoming more accessible. As a result, the use of such new 
technologies by us, our service providers or our borrowers can present additional known and unknown risks, including, among otJ1ers, 
the risk that confidential information may be stolen, misappropriated or disclosed and the risk that we, our service providers and/or our 
borrowers may rely on incorrect, unclear or biasedl outputs generated by such technologies, any of which could have an adverse impact 
on us and our business. See "-Artificial intelligence and otJ1er machine learning techniques could increase competitive, operational, 
legal and regulatory risks to our business in ways that we cannot predict." 
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Finally, most of tJ1e personnel of TPG provided to our Manager are located in TPG's New York City and Fort Worth offices, and we 
depend on continued access to these offices for the continued operation of our business. A disaster or a disruption in the infrastructure 
that supports our business, including a disruption involving electronic communications or other services used by us or third parties 
with whom we conduct business, or directly affecting our headquarters, could have a material adverse impact on our ability to 
continue to operate our business without interruption. TPG's disaster recovery program may not be sufficient to mitigate the hann that 
may result from such a disaster or disruption. In addition, insurance and other safeguards might only partially reimburse us for our 
losses, if at all. 

Artificial intelli;:ence and other machine learninK techniques coultl increase competitive, operational, leKal and reKulatory risks to 
our business in ways that we cannot predict. 

The use of AI by us and others, and the overall adoption of AI throughout society, may exacerbate or create new and w1predictable 
competitive, operational, legal and regulatory risks to our business. There is substantial uncertainty about the extent to wl1ich AI will 
result in dramatic changes throll!ghout the world, and we may not be able to anticipate, prevent, mitigate or remediate all of the 
potential risks, challenges or impacts of such changes. These changes could potentially dismpt, an1ong other things, our business 
model, investment strategies and operational processes. Some of our competitors may be more successful than us in the development 
and implementation of new technologies, including services and platforms based on AI, to improve their operations. If we are unable 
to adequately advance our capabilities in these areas, or do so at a slower pace than others in our industry, we may be at a competitive 
disadvantage. 

If the data we, or third parties whose services we rely on, use in connection with the possible development or deployment of AI is 
incomplete, inadequate or biased in some way, the perfonnance of our business could suffer. In addition, recent technological 
advances in AJ both present opport1L11ities and pose risks to us. Data in technology that uses AI may contain a degree of inaccuracy and 
error, which could result in flawed algorithms in various models used in our business. The volume and reliance on data and algorithms 
also make AI more susceptible to cybersecurity threats, including data poisoning and the compromise of underlying models, training 
data or other intellectual property. The personnel provided to us by our Manager or t11e personnel of our service providers could, 
without being known to us, improperly utilize AJ and machine learning-technology while carrying out their responsibilities. TI1is could 
reduce the effectiveness of AI teclmologies and adversely impact us and our operations to the extent that we rely on the Al's work 
product. 

There is also a risk that AI may be misused or misappropriated by third parties we engage. For example, a user may input confidential 
information, including material non-public infonn ation or personally identifiable infom1ation, into AI applications, resulting in the 
information becoming a part of a dataset that is accessible by third-party technology applications and users, including our competitors. 
Further, we may not be able to control how third-party AI that we choose to use is developed or maintained, or how data we input is 
used or disclosed. The misuse or misappropriation of our data could have an adverse impact on our reputation and could subject us to 
legal and regulatory investigations or actions or create competitive risk. 

In addition, the use of AI by us or otJ1ers may require compliance with legal or regulatory frameworks that are not fully developed or 
tested, and we may face litigation and regulatory actions related to our use of AI. There has been increased scrutiny, including from 
global regulators, regarding the use of "big data," diligence of data sets and oversight of data vendors. Our ability to use data to gain 

insights into and manage our business may be limited in tl1e future by regulatory scmtiny and legal developments. 

We depend on S itus Asset Management, LLC ("SitusAMC'') for asset management sen ,ice-s ami servicing of our loans. We may not 
jim/ a suitable replacement f or S itusAMC if either of our agreements with SitusAMC is terminated, or if key personnel cellse to be 
employell by SitusAMC or otherwise become unavailable to us. 

We are party to agreements with SitusAMC pursuant to which SitusAMC (i) provides us wid1 dedicated asset management employees 
for perfom1ing asset management services pursuant to our proprietary guidelines and (ii) services our loans. Our ability to monitor the 
performance of our investments will depend to a significant extent upon the efforts, experience, diligence and skill of SitusAMC and 
its employees. 

In addition, we can offer no assurance that SitusAMC will continue to be able to (i) provide us with dedicated asset management 
employees for performing asset management services for us or (ii) continue to service our loans. Any interruption or deterioration in 
the perfonnance of SitusAMC or failures of SEtusAMC's infonnation systems and technology could impair the quali ty of our 
operations and could affect our reputation and hence materially and adversely affect us. If either of our agreements with SitusAMC is 
terminated and no suitable replacement is fotmd to manage our portfolio or service our loans, we may not be able to monitor the 
performance of our investments. furthermore, we may incur certain costs in connection with a termination of eitJ1er of our agreements 
with SitusAMC. 
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Accounting rules for certain of our transactions are highly complex am( involve significant jllllgment am/ assumptions. Changes 
in accounting interpretations or assumptions could impact our ability to timely p r:epare consolida.ted historical financial 
statements, which could materially am/ adversely affect us. 

Accounting rules for transfers of financial assets, consolidation of variable interest entities, allowance for loan losses, valuation of 
assets and liabilities, and other aspects of our operations are highly complex and involve significant judgment and assumptions. These 
complexities could lead to a delay in preparation of financial infonnation and the delivery of this infonnation to our stockholders. 
Changes in accounting interpretations or assumptions could impact our consolidated historical financial statements and our ability to 
timely prepare our consolidated historical financial statements. Our inability to timely prepare our consolidated historical financial 
statements in the future could materially and adversely affect us. 

Risks Related to our REIT Status and Certain Other Tax Items 

If we f ail to remain qualijietl a$ a REIT, we will be subject to tax as a C corporation am/ could face a substantial tax liability, 
which would reduce the amount of cash available for distribution to our stockholders. 

We currently intend to operate in a manner that will allow us to continue to qualify as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes. 
We have not requested nor obtained a ruling from t11e IRS as to our REIT qualification. Our continued qualification as a REIT depends 
on our satisfaction of certain asset, income, organizational, distribution, stockholder ownership and other requirements on a continuing 
basis. Our ability to satisfy the asset tests depends upon our analysis of the characterization and fair values of our investments, some of 
which are not susceptible to a precise determinatiion, and for which we will not obtain independent appraisals. Our compliance with 
the REIT annual income and quarterly asset requirements also depends upon our ability to successfully manage the composition of our 
income and assets on an ongoing basis. Moreover, the proper classification of an instrument as debt or equity for U.S. federal income 
tax purposes may be uncertain in some circumstances, which could affect the application of the REIT qualification requirements. 
Accordingly, there can be no assurance that the IRS will not contend that our interests in subsidiaries or in securities of other issuers 
will not cause a violation of the REIT requirements. 

If we were to fail to qualify as a REIT in any taxable year, we would be suQject to U.S. federal income tax and applicable state and 
local taxes on our taxable income at regular corporate rates, and distributions made to our stockholders would not be deductible by us 
in computing our taxable income. Any resulting corporate tax liability could be substantial and would reduce the amount of cash 
available for distribution to our stockholders, which in tum could materially and adversely affect us and the value of our common 
stock. Unless we were entitled to relief under certain Internal Revenue Code provisions, we also would be disqualified from taxation 
as a REIT for the four taxable years following the year in which we failed to qualify as a REIT. 

Dividends payable by RE/Ts tlo not qualify f or the retluced tax rates available f or some divitlends. 

The maximum tax rate applicable to income from "qualified dividends" payable to domestic stockholders that are taxed at individual 
rates is currently 20%, plus the 3.8% surtax on net investment income, if applicable. Dividends payable by REITs, however, are 
generally not ehgible for the reduced rates on qualified individual income. Rather, REJT dividends constitute "qualified business 
income" (to the extent the income is classified as ordinary income) and thus a 20% deduction is available to individual taxpayers with 
respect to such dividends. To qualify for this deduction, the U.S. stockholder receiving such dividends must hold the dividend-paying 
REIT stock for at least 46 days (taking into account certain special holding period rules) of tl1e 91 -day period beginning 45 days before 
the stock becomes ex-dividend and cannot be under an obligation to make related payments with respect to a position in substantially 
similar or related property. The 20% deduction results in a 29.6% maximum U.S. federal tax rate (plus the 3.8% surtax on net 
investment income, if applicable) for individual U.S. stockholders. Witl10ut furtlm legislative action, the 20% deduction applicable to 
REIT dividends will expire on January l , 2026. The more favorable rates applicable to regular corporate qualified dividends could 
cause investors who are taxed at individual rates to perceive investments in REITs to be relatively less attractive than investments in 
the stocks of non-REIT corporations that pay dividends, which could adversely affect the value of the shares of REITs, including our 
common stock. 

Compliance with the REIT requirements may hinder our ability to grow, which coulli materially and adversely affect us. 

We generally must distribute annually at least 90% of our REIT taxable income, subject to certain adjustments and excluding any net 
capital gain, in order to qualify as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes. To the extent that we satisfy this distribution 
requirement but d istribute less than 100% of our REIT taxable income, we will be subject to U.S. federal corporate income tax on our 
undistributed taxable income. In addition, we will be subject to a 4% nondeductible excise tax if the actual amount that we pay out to 
our stockholders in a calendar year is less t11an a minimum amount specified under U.S. federal tax laws. We intend to continue to 
make distributions to our stockholders to comply with the REIT requirements of the Internal Revenue Code. 

From time to time, we may generate taxable income greater than our income for financial reporting purposes prepared in accordance 
with GAAP, or differences in timing between the recognition of taxable income and the actual receipt of cash may occur, which in 
each case would i11crease the amount we are required to distribute to shareholders without corresponding receipt of cash. For example, 
we may be required to accrue income from mortgage loans, CRE debt securities and other types of debt investments or interests in 
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debt investments before we receive any payments of interest or principal on such assets. We may also acquire distressed debt 
investments that are subsequently modified by agreement with the borrower. If the amendments to the outstanding debt are 
"significant modifications" under the applicable U.S. Treasury Regulations, the modified debt may be considered to have been 
reissued to us at a gain in a debt-for-debt exchange with the borrower, with gain recognized by us to the extent that the p rincipal 
amount of the modified debt exceeds our cost of purchasing it prior to modification. Moreover, we generally are required to take 
certain amounts into income no later than the time such amounts are reflected on certain financial statements. The application of this 
rule may require the accmal of income with respect to our debt instnunents, such as original issue discount or market discount, earlier 
than would be the case under the general tax mles, which could increase our "phantom income" and REIT distribution requirement. 

We may also be required under the terms of indebtedness that we incur to use cash received from interest payments to make principal 
payments on that indebtedness, with the effect of recognizing income and increasing our REIT distribution requirement but not having 
a corresponding amount of cash a vai !able for distribution to our stockholders. 

As a result, we may find it difficult or impossible to meet the REIT distribution requirements from our ordinary operations in certain 
circumstances. In particular, where we experience differences in timing between the recognition of taxable income and the actual 
receipt of cash, the requirement to distribute a substantial portion of our taxable income could cause us to do any of the following in 
order to comply with the REIT requirements: (i) sell assets in adverse market conditions, (ii) raise funds on unfavorable terms, (iii) 
distribute amounts that would otherwise be invested in future acquisitions, capital expenditures or repayment of debt or (iv) make a 
taxable distribution of shares of our cmmnon stock, as part of a distribution in which stockholders may elect to receive shares (subject 
to a limit measured as a percentage of the total distribution). These alternatives could increase our costs or reduce our equity. Thus, 
compliance with the REIT requirements may hinder our ability to grow, which could materially and adversely affect us. 

We may choose to make distributions to our stockholders in our own common stock, in which case our stockhohlers coul£1 be 
required to pay income taxes in excess of the cash tlividemls they receive. 

We may in the future distribute taxable dividends that are payable in cash and shares of our common stock at the election of each 
stockholder. Taxable stockholders receiving such distributions will be required to include the f11ll amount of the distribution as 
ordinary income to the extent of our current and accumulated earnings and profits for U.S. federal income tax pw-poses. As a result, 
stockholders may be required to pay income taxes with respect to such dividends in excess of the cash dividends received. If a U.S. 
stockholder sells the stock that it receives as a dividend in order to pay this tax, the sale proceeds may be less than the amount included 
in income with respect to the dividend, depending on the market price of our common stock at the time of the sale. Furthermore, with 
respect to certain non-U.S. stockholders, we or the applicable withholding agent may be required to withhold U.S. tax with respect to 
such dividends, including in respect of all or a portion of such dividend that is payable io common stock. In addition, if a significant 
number of our stockholders determine to sell shares of our common stock in order to pay taxes owed on dividends, it may put 
downward pressme on the trading price of our common stock. 

The IRS has issued Revenue Procedure 2017-45 authorizing elective cash/stock dividends to be made by publicly offered REITs (i.e., 
REITs that are required to file annual and periodic reports with the SEC under the Exchange Act). Pursuant to Revenue Procedure 
2017-45, the IRS will treat the distribution of stock pursuant to an elective cash/stock dividend as a distribution of property under 
Section 301 ofthe Internal Revenue Code (i.e., a dividend), as long as at least 20% of the total dividend is available in cash and certain 
other parameters detailed in the Revenue Procedure are satisfied. This threshold has been temporarily reduced in the past, and may be 
reduced in the future, by IRS guidance. Although we have no current intention of paying dividends in our own common stock, if in the 
future we choose to pay dividends in our own common stock, our stockholders may be required to pay tax in excess of the cash that 
they receive. 

Even if we remain qualified as .a REI1: we may f ace other tax liabilities that reduce our cash flow, which could materially am/ 
atlversely affect us. 

Even if we remain qualified for taxation as a REIT, we may be subject to certain U.S. federal , state and local taxes on our income and 
assets, including taxes on any undistributed income, tax on income from some activities conducted as a result of a foreclosure, and 
state or local income, property and transfer taxes, such as mortgage recording taxes. In addition, in order to continue to meet the REIT 
qualification requirements, prevent the recognition of certain types of non-cash income or to avert the imposition of a I 00% tax that 
applies to certain gains derived by a REIT from dealer property or inventory, we may hold a significant amount of our investments 
through TRSs or other subsidiary corporations that will be subject to corporate-level income tax at regular rates. In addition, if a TRS 
borrows funds either from us or a third party, it may be unable to deduct all or a portion of the interest paid, resulting in a higher 
corporate-level tax liability. Specifically, deductions for business interest expense (even if paid to third parties) are limited to the sum 
of a taxpayer' s business interest income and 30% of the adjusted taxable income of the business, which is its taxable income computed 
without regard to business interest income or expense, net operating losses or the pass-through income deduction. The TRS rules also 
impose a 100% excise tax on certain transactions between a TRS and its parent REIT that are not conducted on an arm' s-length basis. 
Any of these taxes would reduce our cash flow, which could materially and adversely affect us. 
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Complying with REIT requirements may cause us to forego otherwise attractive investment opportunities. 

To continue to qualify as a REJT for U.S. federal income tax purposes, we must satisfy ongoing tests concerning, among other things, 
the sources of our income, the nature and diversification of our assets, the amounts that we distTibute to our stockholders and the 
ownership of om stock. We may be required to make distributions to stockholders at disadvantageous times or when we do not have 
fi.mds readily available for distribution, and may be w1able to pursue investments that would be otherwise advantageous to us in order 
to satisfy the source-of-income or asset-diversification requirements for qualifying as a REIT. In addition, in certain cases, the 
modification of a debt instrument could result in the conversion of the instrument from a qualifying real estate asset to a wholly or 
partially non-qualifying asset that must be contributed to a TRS or disposed of in order for us to maintain our REIT status. Compliance 
with the source-of-income requirements may also limit our ability to acquire debt instruments at a discount from their face amount. 
Thus, compliance with the REIT requirements may cause us to forego or, in certain cases, to maintain ownership of, otherwise 
attractive investment opportunities. 

Complying with KElT requirements may force us to liquidate or restructure otherwise attractive investments. 

To continue to qualify as a REJT, we must ensure that at the end of each calendar quarter, at least 75% of the value of our assets 
consists of cash, cash items, government securities and qualified REIT real estate assets, including certain mortgage loans and certain 
kinds of CRE debt securities. The remainder of om investments in securities (other than government securities, securities of TiRSs and 
qualified real estate assets) generally cannot include more than 10% of the outstanding voting securities of any one issuer or more than 
I 0% of the total value of the outstanding securities of any one issuer. In addition, in general, no more than 5% of the value of our 
assets (other than government securities, securities of TRSs and qualified real estate assets) can consist of the securities of any one 
issuer, and no more than 20% of the value of our total securities can be represented by securities of one or more TRSs. If we fail to 
comply with these requirements at the end of any calendar quarter, we must correct the failure within 30 days after the end of the 
calendar quarter or qualify for certain statutory relief provisions to avoid losing our REIT qualification and suffering adverse tax 
consequences. As a result, we may be required to liquidate or restructure otherwise attractive investments. These actions could have 
the effect of reducing our income and amounts available for distribution to our stockholders. 

We may be required to report taxable income from certain investments in excess of the economic income we ultimately realize from 
them. 

We may acquire debt instruments in the secondary market for less than their face amount. The discount at whEch such debt instrwnents 
are acquired may reflect doubts about their ultimate collectability rather than current market interest rates. The ammmt of such 
discount will nevertheless generally be treated as «market discount" for U.S. federal income tax purposes. Accrued market discount is 
generally reported as income when, and to the extent that, any payment of principal of the debt instrument is made. Payments on 
commercial mortgage loans are ordinarily made monthly, and consequently accrued market discount may have to be included in 
income each month as if the debt instrwnent were assured of ultimately being collected in full. If we collect less on the debt instrument 
than our purchase price plus the market discount we had previously reported as income, we may not be able to benefit from any 
offsetting loss deductions. In addition, we may acquire distressed debt investments that are subsequently modified by agreement with 
the borrower. If the amendments to the outstanding debt are "significant modifications" under applicable U.S. Treasury Regulations, 
the modified debt may be considered to have been reissued to us at a gain in a debt-for-debt exchange with the borrower. In that event, 
we may be required to recognize taxable gain to the extent the principal amount of the modified debt exceeds our adjusted tax basis in 
the unmodified debt, even if the value of the debt or the payment expectations have not changed. 

Moreover, for CRE debt securities that we may in the future acquire, som.e may be issued with original issue discount. We will be 
required to report such original issue discount based on a constant yield method and will be taxed based on the assumption that all 
future projected payments due on such CRE debt securities will be made. If such CRE debt securities turn out not to be fully 
collectible, an offsetting loss deduction will become available only in the later year that w1co!lectibility is probable. 

Additionally, we generally are required to take certain amounts in income no later than the time such amounts are reflected on certain 
fmancial statements. The application of this mle may require the accrual of income with respect to our debt instrun1ents, such as 
original issue di scount or market discount, earlier than would be the case w1der the general tax ntles, which could increase our 
"phantom income." 

Finally, in the event that any debt instruments or CRE debt securities acquired by us are delinquent as to mandatory principal and 
interest payments, or in the event payments with respect to a particular debt instrument are not made when due, we may nonetheless be 
required to continue to recognize the w1paid interest as taxable income as it accrues, despite doubt as to its ultimate collectability. In 
each case, while we would in general ultimately have an offsetting loss deduction available to us when such interest was determined to 
be uncollectible, the utility of that deduction could depend on our having taxable income in that later year or tlhereafter. 
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111e "taxable mortgage pool" rilles may increase the taxes that we or our stockholders may incur, and may limit the manner in 
which we effect future securitizations. 

Our securitizations have, and could in the future, result in the creation of taxable mortgage pools ("TMPs"), for U.S. federal income 
tax purposes. As a REIT, so long as we own (or a subsidiary REIT of ours owns) 100% of the equity interests in a TMP, we generally 
will not be adversely affected by the characterization of the securitization as a TMP. A subsidiary REIT of ours currently owns 100% 
of the equity interests in each TMP created by our securitizations. To the extent that we (as opposed to our subsidiary REIT) own 
equity interests in a TMP, certain categories of stockholders, however, such as foreign stockholders eligible for treaty or other 
benefits, stockholders with net operating losses, and certain tax-exempt stockholders that are subject to unrelated business income tax, 
could be subject to increased taxes on a portion of their dividend income from us that is attributable to the TMP. In addition, in such a 
case, to the extent that our common stock is owned by tax-exempt "disqualified organizations," such as certain govemment-related 
entities and charitable remainder trusts that are no't subject to tax on unrelated business income, we may incur a corporate level tax on 
a portion of our income from the TMP. In that case, we may reduce the amount of our distributions to any disqualified organization 
whose stock ownership gave rise to the tax. While we believe that we have structured our securitizations such that the above taxes 
would not apply to our stockholders with respect to TMPs held by our subsidiary REIT, our subsidiary REIT is in part owned by a 
TRS of ours, which will pay corporate level tax on any dividends it may receive from the subsidiary REIT. 

Moreover, we are precluded from selling equity interests in our securitizations to outside investors, or selling any debt securities 
issued in connection with these securitizations that might be considered to be equity interests for U.S. federal income tax purposes. 
These limitations may prevent us from using certain techniques to maximize our returns from securitization transactions. 

The tttx on prohibitetl transactions limits our abUity to engage in transactions, including certain methods of securitizing mortgage 
loans, which would be treatetl as sales for U.S. federal income tax purposes. 

A REIT' s net income from prohibited transactions is subject to a 100% U.S. federal income tax. In general, prohibited transactions are 
sales or other d!ispositions of property, other than foreclosure property, but including mortgage loans, held primarily for sale to 
customers in the ordinary course of business. We might be subject to this tax if we were to dispose of or securitize loans in a manner 
that was treated as a sale of the loans for U.S. federal income tax purposes. Therefore, in order to avoid the prohibited transactions tax, 
we may choose not to engage in certain sales of loans at the REIT level, and may limit the structures we utiLize for our securitization 
transactions, even though the sales or structures might otherwise be beneficial to us. 

Our investments in construction loans will require us to make estimates about the .fair value of lam/ improvements that may be 
challenged by the IRS. 

We have invested and may in the future invest in construction loans, the interest from which will be qualifying income for purposes of 
the REIT income tests, provided that the loan value of the real property securing the construction loan is equal to or greater than the 
highest outstanding principal amOtmt of the construction loan during any taxable year. For purposes of construction loans, the loan 
value of the real property is the fair value of the land plus the reasonably estimated cost of the improvements or developments (other 
than personal property) that will secure the loan and that are to be constructed from the proceeds of the loan. TI1ere Call be no 
assurance that the IRS would not challenge our estimate of the loan value of the real property. 

11te failure of tl mezzanine loan to qualify as a real estate asset could adversely affect our ability to continue to qua/ifj1 as a REIT. 

We have invested and will continue to invest in mezzanine loans, for which the IRS has provided a safe harbor but not rules of 
substantive law. Pursuant to the safe harbor, if a mezzanine loan meets certain requirements, it will be treated by the IRS as a real 
estate asset for purposes of the REIT asset tests, and interest derived from the mezzanine loan will be treated as qualifying mortgage 
interest for purposes of the REIT 75% income test. Certain of our mezzanine loans may not meet all of the requirements of this safe 
harbor. In the event we own a mezzanine loan that does not meet the safe harbor, the IRS could challenge such loan's treatment as a 
real estate asset for purposes of the REIT asset and income tests and, if such a challenge were sustained, we could fail to qualify as a 
REIT. 

The failure of assets subject to secured cretlit agreements to quafijj, as rettl estate assets could ad11ersely affect our ability to 
continue to qualify as a REIT. 

We have entered into secured credit agreements and may in the future enter into additional secured credit facilities pursuant to which 
we would agree, from time to time, to nominally sell certain of our assets to a counterpar'ty and repurchase these assets at a later date 
in exchange for a purchase price. Economically, repurchase transactions are financings which are secured by the assets sold pursuant 
thereto. We believe that we would be treated for REIT asset and income test purposes as the owner of the assets that are the subject of 
any such repurchase transaction notwithstanding that such agreement may transfer record ownership of the assets to the counterparty 
during the term of the agreement. It is possible, however, that the IRS cou[d assert that we did not own the assets during the term of 
the repurchase transaction, in which case we could fai l to continue to qualify as a REIT. 
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Liquidation of ttssets may jeopartlize our REIT qualification or create additional tax liabi/Uy f or us. 

To continue to qualify as a REIT, we must comply witll requirements regarding our assets and our sources of income. If we are 
compelled to liquidate our investments to repay obligations to our lenders, we may be unable to comply with these requirements, 
ultimately jeopardizing our qualification as a REIT, or we may be subject to a I 00% U.S. federal income tax on ~my resultant gain if 
we sell assets in transactions that are treated as prohibited transactions. 

Complying with REI T requirements may limit our ability to hedge effectively and may cau:r;e us to incur tux liabilities. 

The REIT provisions of the Internal Revenue Codle substantially limit our ability to hedge our assets and liabilities. Any income from 
a properly ident)fied hedging transaction we enter into either (i) to manage risk of interest rate changes with respect to borrowings 
made or to be made to acquire or carry real estate assets, (ii) to manage ris k of currency fluctuations with respect to items of income 
that qualify for purposes of the REIT 75% or 95% gross income tests or assets that generate such income, or (iii) to hedge another 
instrument that hedges risks descr ibed in clause (i) or (ii) for a period following the extinguishment of the liability or the disposition of 
the asset that was previously hedged by the instrument, and, in each case, such instrument is properly identifted under applicable U.S. 
Treasury Regulations, does not constitute "gross income" for purposes of the 75% or 95% gross income tests. To the extent that we 
enter into other types of hedging transactions, the income from those transactions is likely to be treated as non-qualifying income for 
purposes of both of the gross income tests. As a result of these rules, we intend to limit our use of advantageous hedging techniques or 
implement those hedges through a TRS. This could increase the cost of our !hedging activities because our TRS would be subject to tax 
on gains or expose us to greater risks associated with changes in interest rates than we would otherwise want to bear. In addition, 
losses in a TRS will generally not provide any tax benefit, except for being carried forward against future taxa.ble income in such TRS. 

If our subsidiary REIT f ailetl to lJUalify as a REI T, we could be subject to higher ta.xes and could fail to remain qualijietl as a 
REIT. 

We indirectly (through disregarded subsidiaries and a TRS) own 100% of the common shares of a subsidiary that has elected to be 
taxed as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes. Our subsidiary REIT is subject to the various REIT qualification requirements 
and other limitations described herein that are applicable to us. If our subsidiary RElT were to fail to qualify as a REIT, then (i) such 
subsidiary REIT would become subject to U.S. federal income tax and applicable state and local taxes on its taxable income at regular 
corporate rates and (ii) our ownership of shares in such subsidiary REIT would cease to be a qualifying asset for purposes of the asset 
tests applicable to REITs. If our subsidiary REIT were to fa il to qualify as a REIT, it is possible that we wouUd fail certain of the asset 
tests applicable to REITs, in wlhich event we would fail to qualify as a REIT unless we could avail ourselves of certain relief 
provisions. We have made annual "protective" TRS elections with respect to our subsidiary REIT and may implement other protective 
arrangements intended to avoid such an outcome if our subsidiary REIT were not to qualify as a REIT, but tJ1ere can be no assurance 
t11at such "protective" elections and other arrangements will be effective to avoid t11e resulting adverse consequences to us. 

Moreover, even if the "protective" TRS elections were to be effective in the event of the failure of our subsidiary REIT to qualify as a 
REIT, such subsidiary REIT would be subject to U.S. federal income tax and applicable state and local taxes on its taxable income at 
regular corporate rates and we cannot assure you that we would not fail to satisfy the requirement that not more than 20% of the value 
of our total assets may be represented by the securities of one or more TRSs. In this event, we would fail to qualify as a REIT unless 
we or such subsidiary REIT could avail ourselves or itself of certain relief provisions. 

Qualifying as a REIT involves highly technical and complex p rovisions of the I nternal Revenue Cofle. 

Qualification as a REIT involves the application of highly technical and complex provisions of the Internal Revenue Code for which 
only limited judicial and administrative authori ties exist. Even a teclmical or inadvertent violation cou.ld jeopardize our REIT 
qualification. Our continued qualification as a REIT will depend on our satisfaction of certain asset, income, organizational, 
distribution, stockholder ownership and other requirements on a continuing basis. In addition, our ability to satisfy the requirements to 
continue to qualify as a REIT depends in part on the actions of third parties over which we have no control or only limited influence, 
including in cases where we own an equity interest in an entity that is classified as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes. 
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New legislation or administrative or judicial action, in each instance potentially with retrottctive effect, could make it more tfijficult 
or impossible for us to remain qllalifietl as a REIT or have other adverse effects on us. 

The present U.S. federal income tax treatment of REITs may be modified, possibly with retroactive effect, by legislative, judicial or 
administrative action at any time, which could affect the U.S. federal income tax treatment of an investment in us. The U.S. federal 
income tax rules dealing with REITs are constantly tmder review by persons involved in the legislative process, the IRS and the U.S. 
Treasury Department, which results in statutory changes as well as frequent revisions to regulations and interpretations. Any such 
changes to the tax laws or interpretations thereof, with or without retroactive application, could materially and adversely affect our 
stockholders or us. We cannot predict how changes in the tax laws might affect our stockholders or us. 

Stockholders are w-ged to consult with their tax advisors with respect to potential changes to the tax laws and any other regulatory or 
administrative developments and proposals and their potential effect on an investment in our common stock. 

Risks Related to Our Common Stock 

The market price for our common stock may fluctuate significtmtly. 

Our common stock trades on the NYSE tmder tbe symbol "TRTX". The capital and credit markets have on occasion experienced 
periods of extreme volatility and dismption. The market price and liquidity of the market for shares of our common stock may be 
significantly affected by numerous factors, some of which are beyond our control and may not be directly related to our operating 
performance. Accordingly, no assurance can be gEven as to the ability of our stockholders to sell their conm10n stock or the price that 
our stockholders may obtain for their common stock. Some of the factors that could negatively affect the market price of our common 
stock include: 

our actual or projected operating results, financial condition, cash flows and liquidity, or changes in investment strategy or 
prospects; 

actual or perceived changes in the value of our investment portfolio; 

actual or perceived conflicts of interest with TPG, including our Manager, and the personnel of TPG provided to our 
Manager, including our executive officers, and TPG Funds; 

equity issuances by us, or share resales by our stockholders, or the perception that such issuances or resales may occur; 

loss of a major funding source or inability to obtain new favorable funding sources in the future; 

increases in market interest rates, which may lead investors to demand a higher distribution yield for our common stock and 
would result in increased interest expense on our debt; 

our financing strategy and leverage; 

actual or anticipated accounting problems; 

publication of research reports, including by short sellers, or speculation in the press or the investment community, about us 
or the commercial real estate industry; 

adverse market reaction to additional indebtedness we incur or securities we may issue in the future; 

additions to or departures of key personnel ofTPG, including our Manager; 

changes in market valuations or operating performance of companies comparable to us; 

price and volume fluctuations in the overall stock market from time to time; 

short-selling pressure with respect to shares of our common stock or REITs generally; 

speculation in the press or investment community; 

any shortfall in revenue or net income or any increase in losses from levels expected by investors or securities analysts; 

failure to maintain our REIT qualification or exclusion or exemption from Investment Company Act regulation or listing on 
the NYSE; 

changes in law, regulatory policies or tax guidelines, or interpretations thereof, particularly with respect to REITs; 

general market and economic conditions and trends, including inflationary concerns and the current state of the credit and 
capital markets; and 

the other factors described in this Item lA- "Risk Factors." 
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As noted above, market factors umelated to our performance could also negatively impact the market price of om common stock. One 
of the factors that investors may consider in deciding whether to buy or sell our cmrunon stock is our distribution yield, if any, as a 
percentage of our stock price relative to market interest rates. If market interest rates increase, prospective investors may demand a 
higher distribution yield or seek alternative investments paying higher dividends or interest.. As a result, interest rate fluctuations and 
conditions in the capital markets can affect the market price of our common stock. 

Common stock eligible for future sale may have adverse effects on the market price of our common stock. 

Prior to the completion of our initial public offering on July 25, 2017, we entered into a registration rights agreement wit11 TPG 
Holdings ill, L.P. and certain of our other stockholders. The registration rights agreement provides these stockholders with certain 
demand, shelf and piggyback registration rights. Pursuant to the registration rights agreement, each of the l1olders may make up to 
three requests that we register the resale of all or any part of such holder's registrable securities under the Securities Act at any time. 
The registration rights agreement also provides the holders with certain shelf registration rights. Accordingly, a holder may request 
that we file a shelf registration statement pursuant to Rule 415 under the Securities Act relating to the resale of the registrable 
securities held by such holder from time to time in accordance with the methods of distribution elected by such holder. In any demand 
or shelf registration, subject to certain exceptions, the other holders will have the right to participate in the registration on a pro rata 
basis, subject to certain conditions. By exercising these rights and selling a significant number of shares of our co1runon stock, the 
market price of our common stock could decline significantly. 

The registration rights agreement provides the holders with piggyback registration rights that require us to register the resale of shares 
of our common stock held by the holders in the event we register for sale, either for our own account or for the account of others, 
shares of our common stock in future offerings. The holders will be able to participate in such registration on a pro rata basis, subject 
to certain terms and conditions. 

In addition, a substantial amount of our shares of common stock held by our stockholders prior to our initial public offering are 
eligible for resale subject to the requirements of Rule 144 under the Securities Act. 

We have also filed a registration statement on Form S-8 registering the issuance of an aggregate of 4,600,463 shares of our common 
stock issuable under the TPG RE Finance Tmst, Inc. 2017 Equity Incentive Plan (the "Incentive Plan"). The issuance of thes·e shares 
or any additional shares under any equity incentive plan of ours and the subsequent sale of such shares could cause the market price of 
our common stock to decline. 

We cannot predict the effect, if any, of future issuances or sales of our stock, or the availability of shares for future issuances or sales, 
on the market price of our common stock. Issuances or sales of substantial amounts of stock or the perception that such issuances or 
sales could occur may adversely affect the prevailing market price for our common stock. 

We may issue shares of restricted stock and other equity-based awards under the Incentive Plan. Also, we may issue additional shares 
of our stock in public offerings or private placements to make new investments or for other general corporate purposes. We are not 
required to offer any such shares to existing stockholders on a preempt)ve basis. Therefore, it may not be possible for existing 
stockholders to participate in such future stock issuances, which may dilute the then existing stockholders' interests in us. 

We have not establishe£1 a minimum distribution payment level and we cannot liSSllre stockholders of our ability to pay 
distributions in the future. 

We are generally required to distribute to our stockholders at least 90% of our REIT taxable income each year for us to maintain our 
qualification as a REIT under the Internal Revenue Code, which requirement we currently intend to satisfy tl1rough quarterly 
distributions of at least 90% of our REIT taxable income in such year, subject to certain adjustments. We have not established a 
mi11imUll1 distribution payment level and our ability to make distributions may be adversely affected by a number of factors, including 
the risk factors described in this fonn 1 0-K. Distributions to our stockholders, if any, will be authorized by our board of directors in 
its sole discretion out of funds legally available therefor and will be dependent upon a number of factors, including our historical and 
projected results of operations, cash flows and fmancial condition, our fmancing covenants, maintenance of our REIT qualification, 
applicable provisions of the Maryland General Corporation Law (the "MGCL") and such other factors as our board of directors deems 
relevant. 

We believe that a change in any one of the fol lowing factors could adversely affect our results of operations and cash flows and impair 
our ability to make distributions to our stockholders: 

our ability to make attractive investments; 

margin calls or other expenses that reduce our cash flows; 

defaults or prepayments in our investment portfolio or decreases in the value of our investment portfolio; 

the imp·act of changes in interest rates on our net interest income; and 

the fact that anticipated operating expense levels may not prove accurate, as actual results may vary from estimates. 
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We have in the past deferred the payment of our cash dividends and reduced the authorized amount of our cash dividends. No 
assurance can be given that we will be able to make distributions to our stockholders at any time in the future or that the level of any 
distributions we do make to our stockholders wiln achieve a market yield or increase or even be maintained over time, any of which 
could materially and adversely affect us. 

In addition, distributions that we make to our stockholders will generally be taxable to our stockholders as ordinary income. However, 
a portion of our distributions may be designated by us as long-tenn capital gains to the extent that they are attributable to capital gain 
income recognized by us or may constitute a return of capital to the extent that they exceed our earnings and profits as detennined for 
U.S. federal income tax purposes. A return of capital is not taxable but has the effect of reducing the basis of a stockholder's 
investment in our common stock. 

Certain provisions of Maryland law could inhibit changes in control. 

Certain provisions of the MGCL may have the effect of deterring a third party from making a proposal to acquire us or of inhibiting a 
change in control under circumstances that otherwise could provide the holders of our common stock with the opportunity to realize a 
premium over the then-prevailing market price of our common stock. Under the MGCL, certain "business combinations" (including a 
merger, consolidation, share exchange or, in certaEn circumstances, an asset transfer or issuance or reclassification of equity securities) 
between a Maryland corporation and an interested stockholder (as defined in the statute) or an affiliate of such an interested 
stockl10lder are prohibited for five years after the most recent date on which the interested stockJ10lder becomes an interested 
stockJ10lder. Thereafter, any sucl1 business combination must be recol1lJ1lended by the board of directors of such corporation and 
approved by the afftm1ative vote of at least (I) 80% of the votes entitled to be cast by holders of outstanding shares of voting stock of 
the corporation and (2) two-thirds of the votes entitled to be cast by holders of shares of voting stock of the corporation other than 
shares held by the interested stockholder with whom (or with whose affiliate) the business combination is to be effected or held by an 
affiliate or associate of the interested stockholder, unless, among other conditions, the corporation' s common stockholders receive a 
minimum price (as defined in the MGCL) for their shares and the consideration is received in cash or in the same fom1 as previously 
paid by the interested stockholder for its shares. 

These provisions of the MGCL do not apply, however, to business combinations that are approved or exempted by a board of directors 
prior to the time that the interested stock110lder becomes an interested stockholder. Pursuant to the statute, our board of directors has 
adopted a resolution exempting any business combination between us and any other person, provided that such business combination 
is first approved by our board of directors. 

The MGCL provides that holders of "control shares" of our company (defined as shares of voting stock that, if aggregated with all 
other shares of capital stock owned or controlled by the acquirer, would entitle the acquirer to exercise one of three increasing ranges 
of voting power in electing directors) acquired in a "control share acquisition" (defined as the direct or indirect acquisition of issued 
and outstanding "control shares") have no voting rights except to the extent approved at a special meeting of stockholders by the 
affirmative vote of at least two-thirds of all of the votes entitled to be cast on the matter, excluding all votes cast by holders of 
interested shares. Our bylaws currently exempt any and all acquisitions by any person of shares of our stock from the control share 
provisions of the MGCL. 

The "unsolicited takeover" provisions of the MGCL pennit our board of directors, without stockholder approval and regardless of 
what is currenlly provided in our charter or bylaws, to implement takeover defenses, including a classified board structure, if we have 
a class of equity securities registered w1der tl1e Exchange Act and at least tlrree independent directors (both of which we currently 
have). These provisions may have the effect of inhibiting a third party from making an acquisition proposal for us or of delaying, 
deferring or preventing a change in control of our company w1der circumstances tl1at otherwise could provide tl1e holders of shares of 
our common stock with tl1e opportunity to realize a premium over the then-current marke t price. Our charter contains a provision 
whereby we have elected to be subject to the provisions of Title 3, Subtitle 8 of the MGCL relating to the filling of vacancies on our 
board of directors. Pursuant to tlus provision, any and all vacancies on om board of directors may be filled only by the affinnative vote 
of a majority of the directors remaining in office, even if the remaining directors do not constitute a quorum, and any director elected 
to fill a vacancy shall serve for the remainder of the full tenn of the directorship in which such vacancy occurred and until a successor 
is duly elected and qualifies. 

The authorized hut unissuefl sh((res of our common stock and preferred stock may prevent a change in our control. 

Our charter authorizes us to issue additional authorized but unissued shares of our common stock and preferred stock. In addition, a 
majority of om entire board of directors may, wiU10ut stockholder approval, amend our charter to increase or decrease the aggregate 
nwnber of shares of our capital stock or the mnnber of shares of our capital stock of any class or series tl1at we have authority to issue 
and classify or reclassify any unissued shares of our common stock or preferred stock and set tl1e preferences, conversion or other 
rights, voting powers, restrictions, limitations as to dividends or other distributions, qualifications and tenns and conditions of 
redemption of the classified or reclassified shares. As a result, our board of directors may establish a class or series of common stock 
or preferred stock that could delay, defer or prevent a transaction or a change in control tl1at might involve a premium price for shares 
of our common stock or otherwise be in the best interest of our stockholders. 
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Ownership limitations may delay, defer or prevent a transaction or a change in our control that might involve a premium price for 
our common stock or otherwise be in the best interest of our stockholders. 

In order for us to maintain our qualification as a REIT under the Internal Revenue Code, not more than 50% of the value of the 
outstanding shares of our capital stock may be owned, directly or indirectly, by five or fewer individuals (as defined in the Internal 
Revenue Code to include certain entities) during the last half of a taxable year. Our charter, with certain exceptions, authorizes our 
board of directors to take the actions that are necessary or appropriate to preserve our qualification as a REJT. Unless exempted by our 
board of directors, no person may own more than 9.8% in value or in number of shares, whichever is more restrictive, of the 
outstanding shares of any class or series of our capital stock. Our board may grant an exemption prospectively or retroactively in its 
sole discretion, subject to such representations, covenants and tmdertakings as it may deem appropriate. These ownership limitations 
in our charter are standard in REIT charters and are intended to provide added assurance of compliance with the tax law requirements, 
and to reduce administrative burdens. However, these ownership limits might also delay, defer or prevent a transaction or a change in 
our control that might involve a premium price for our common stock or otherwise be in the best interest of our stockholders or result 
in the transfer of shares acquired in excess of the ownership limits to a trust for the benefit of one or more charitable beneficiaries and, 
as a result, the forfeiture by the acquirer of the benefits of owning the additional shares. 

Our charter contains provisions that make removal of our directors difficult, which makes it more difficult for our stockholders to 
effect changes to our management and may prevent a change in control of our company that is in the best interests of our 
stockholders. 

Our charter provides that, subject to the rights of holders of one or more classes or series of preferred stock, a director may be removed 
from office at any time, but only for cause (as defined in our charter) and then only by the affim1ative vote of at least two-thirds of all 
the votes of stockholders entitled to be cast generally in the election of directors. Vacancies on our board of directors may be filled 
only by a majority of the remaining directors, even if the remaining directors do not constitute a quorum, and any individual elected to 
fill such a vacancy will serve for the remainder of the full tenn of the directorship in which the vacancy occurred and unti l his or her 
successor is duly elected and qualifies. These requirements make it more difficult for our stockholders to effect changes to our 
management by removing and replacing directors and may prevent a change in control of our company t11at is otherwise in the best 
interests of our stockholders. 

Our charter contains provisiom; that limit the responsibilities of our directors and officers with respect to certain business 
opportunities. 

Our charter provides that, if any director or officer of our company who is also a partner, advisory board member, director, officer, 
manager, member or shareholder of TPG or any of TPG's affiliates (any such director or officer, a "TPG Director/Officer") acquires 
knowledge of a [pOtential business opportunity, we renounce, on our behalf and on behalf of our subsidiaries, any potential interest or 
expectation in, or right to be offered or to participate in, such business opportunity to the maximum extent permitted from time to time 
by Maryland law. Accordingly, to the maximum extent pennitted from time to time by Maryland law, (I) no TPG Director/Officer is 
required to present, conununicate or offer any business opportunity to us or any of our subsidiaries and (2) the TPG Director/Officer, 
on his or her own behalf or on behalf of TPG or any of TPG's affiliates, will have the right to hold and exploit any business 
opportunity, or to direct, recommend, offer, sell, assign or otherwise transfer such business opportunity to any person or entity other 
than us and our subsidiaries. 

In addition, the taking by a TPG Director/Officer for himself or herself, or the offering or other transfer to another person or entity, of 
any potential business opporttmity whether pursuant to our charter or otherwise, will not constitute or be constmed or interpreted as (a) 
an act or omission of the TPG Director/Officer committed in bad fa ith or as the result of active or deliberate dishonesty or (b) receipt 
by the TPG Director/Officer of an improper benefit or profit in money, property, services or otherwise. 

Accordingly, any TPG Director/Officer may hold and make use of any business opportunity or direct such opportunity to any person 
or entity other than us and our subsidiaries and, as a result, those business opportunities may not be available to us and our 
subsidiaries. 

Our rights and the rights of our stockholders to take action against our directors am/ officers are limited, which could limit your 
recourse in the event of actions not in your best interests. 

Our charter eliminates the liability of our directors and officers to us and om stockholders for money dan1ages to the maximtun extent 
pem1itted under Maryland law. Under current Maryland law, our present and fonner directors and officers will not have any liability to 
us or our stockholders for money damages except for liability resulting from: 

actual receipt of an improper personal benefit or profit in money, property or services; or 

active and deliberate dishonesty by the director or executive officer that is established by a final judgment and is material to 
the cause of action adjudicated. 
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Our charter and bylaws obligate us, to the maximum extent permitted by Maryland law in ef fect from time to time, to indemnify and, 
without requiring a preliminary determination of the ultimate entitlement to indemnification, pay or reimburse reasonable expenses in 
advance of final disposition of a proceeding to: 

any individual who is a present or former director or executive officer of our company and who is made, or threatened to be 
made, a party to, or witness in, the proceeding by reason of his or her service in that capacity; or 

any individual who, while a director or officer of our company and at our request, serves or has served as a director, officer, 
trustee, member, manager or partner of another corporation, real estate investment trust, limited liability company, 
partnership, joint venture, trust, employee benefit plan or other enterprise and who is made, or threatened to be made, a party 
to, or witness in, the proceeding by reason of his or her service in that capacity. 

Our charter and bylaws also pem1it us, with the approval of our board of directors, to indemnify and advance expenses to any person 
who served a predecessor of ours in any of the capacities described above and to any employee or agent of our company or a 
predecessor of our company. 

As a result, we and our stockholders may have more lin1ited rights against our directors and officers than might otherwise exist absent 
the current provisions in our charter and bylaws or that might exist with other companies, which could limit your recourse in the event 
of actions not in your best interes(s. 

We are a holding company with no direct opemtions and, as such, we rely on f unds receive(/ from Holdco to pay liabilities and 
distributions to our stockholders, and the interests of our stockholders are structurally subordinated to all liabilities and any 
preferred equity of Holdco ami its subsidiaries. 

We are a holding company and conduct substantially all of our operations through Holdco. We do not have, apart from an interest in 
Holdco, any independent operations. As a result, we rely on distributions from Holdco to pay any dividends that our board of directors 
may authorize, and we may declare on shares of our stock. We also rely on distributions from Holdco to meet any of our obligations, 
including any tax liability on taxable income alloca ted to us from Holdco. In addition, because we are a holding company, your claims 
as stockholders are structurally subordinated to all existing and future 1 iabilities (whether or not for borrowed money) and any 
preferred equity of Hold co and its subsidiaries. Therefore, in the event of our bankmptcy, liquidation or reorganization, our assets, and 
those of Holdco and its subsidiaries will be available to satisfy the claims of our stockholders only after all of Holdco's and its 
subsidiaries' liabilities and any preferred equity have been paid in full. 

Investing in our common stock may involve a high degree of risk. 

The investments that we make in accordance witlh our investment objectives may result in a high amount of risk when compared to 
alternative investment options and volatility or loss of principal. Our investments may be highly speculative and aggressive, and 
therefore an investment in our common stock may not be suitable for someone with lower risk tolerance. 
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General Risk Factors 

A global economic slowdown, a recession or declines in real estate values could impair our investments and have a significant 
allverse effect on our business,fimmcia/ condition and results of operations. 

Geopolitical instability, including actual and potential shifts in U.S. and foreign trade, economic and other policies (including as a 
result of the 2024 U.S. presidential and congressional elections), rising trade tensions between the United States and China, the war 
between Russia and Ukraine, and the conflicts in the Middle East, as well as other global events have significantly increased 
macroeconomic uncertainty at a global level. The current macroeconomic environment is characterized by inflation, supply chain 
challenges, labor shortages or interruptions, elevated interest rates, foreign currency exchange volatility, volatility in global capital 
markets ru1d recession risk. Market and economic disruptions have affected, and may in the future affect, consumer confidence levels 
and spending, bankruptcy rates, levels of incurrence and default on consumer debt and home prices, among other factors. We cannot 
assure you that market disruptions, including the increased cost of funding for certain governments and financial institutions, will not 
impact the global economy. The risks associated w ith our business are more severe during pe riods of economic slowdown or recession 
and if these periods are accompm1ied by declining real estate values, our business can be materially adversely affected. 

Additionally, certain properties that secure a portion of our mortgage loan portfolio, such as those for offices, hospitality or residential 
tenrults, could be especially vulnerable to various macroeconomic pressures. For exrunple, in times of economic downturn, office 
tenants typically reduce their average occupancy as employment levels are reduced, lowering their need for office space. Similarly, 
consumer behavior related to discretionary spending and traveling, including demand for hotels, may be negatively impacted by the 
adverse changes in the perceived or actual economic climate, including higher unemployment rates, declines in income levels and loss 
of personal wealth resulting from macroeconomic pressures. Further, with increased employer flexibility and employee demand for 
work-from-home arrangements, current and prospective residents may be less likely to live in dense urban centers or multifrunily 
housing and office tenants may further reduce their average occupancy of office space. Any negative macroeconomic impact on these 
types of properties specifically, or the economy generally, could have a material adverse effect on our future business, results of 
operations, financial condition and the value of our common stock. 

In addition, political leaders in the U.S. and certain foreign countries have recently been elected on protectionist platfonns, fueling 
doubts about the future of global fre.e trade. The U.S. government has indicated its intent to alter its approach to intematiornal trade 
policy and in some cases to renegotiate certain existing trade agreements with foreign countries. In addition, the U.S. govermnent has 
recently imposed tariffs on certain foreign goods and has indicated a willingness to impose tariffs on imports of other products. Some 
foreign governments, including China, have instituted retaliatory tariffs on certain U.S. goods and have indicated a willingness to 
impose additional tariffs on U.S. products. Global trade disruption, significant introductions of trade barriers and bilateral trade 
frictions, together with 3llY future downturns in the global economy resulting therefrom, could adversely affect om perfonnru1ce. 

Our investment model may be adversely affected by prolonged economic downturns or recessions where declining real estate values 
reduce the level of new mortgage ru1d other real estate-related loan originations, since borrowers often use appreciation in the value of 
their existing properties to support the purchase or investment in additional properties. Further, declining real estate values have made 
and may continue to make it difficult for our borrowers to refinance our loans, which has resulted in losses on our loans as a result of 
default because the value of our collateral is insufficient to cover our loan amount. 

The obligations associated with being a public company require significant resources am/ attention from our Manager's senior 
leallership team. 

As a public company with listed equity securities, we are obligated to comply with certain laws, regulations and requirements, 
including the requirements of the Exchange Act, certain corporate governance provisions of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (the 
"Sarbanes-Oxley Act"), related regulations of the SEC and requirements of the NYSE. The Exchange Act requires that we file annual, 
quarterly and current reports with respect to our business, financial condition, cash flows ru1d results of operations. The Sarbanes­
Oxley Act requires, among other things, that we establish and maintain effective internal controls and procedures for financial 
reporting and that our management and independent registered public accounting fim1 report annually on the effectiveness of our 
internal control over financial reporting. 

These reporting and other obligations place significant demands on our Manager's senior leadership terun, administrative, operational 
and accounting resources and cause us to incur significant expenses. We may need to upgrade our systems or create new systems, 
implement additional financial and other controls, reporting systems and procedures, and create or outsource an internal audit function. 
If we are unable to maintain these functions in an effective fashion, our abillty to comply with the financial reporting requirements and 
other rules that apply to reporting companies could be impaired. 
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If we fail to maintain an effecti've system of internal control, we may be unable to accurately determine our financial results or 
pre11ent frmul. As a result, our stockholders could lose confidence in our financial results, which coultl materially and atlversely 
aff ect us. 

Effective internal controls are necessary for us to provide reliable financial reports and effectively prevent fraud. We may in the future 
discover areas of our internal controls that need improvement. We cannot be certain that we will be successful in maintaining an 
effective system of internal control over our financial reporting and financial processes. Furthermore, as our business grows, our 
internal controls will become more complex, and we will require significantly more resources to ensure our internal controls remain 
effective. Additionally, the existence of any material weakness or significant deficiency would require our Manager to devote 
significant time and us to incur significant expense to remediate any such material weaknesses or significant deficiencies and our 
Manager may not be able to remediate any such r111aterial weaknesses or significant deficiencies in a timely manner. The existence of 
any material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting could also result in errors in our financial statements that could 
require us to restate our financial statements, cause us to fail to meet our reporting obligations and cause stockholders to lose 
confidence in our fmancial results, which could materially and adversely affect us. 

Our business is subject to evob,ing corporate governance and public disclosure e.:-rpectations, including with respect to ESG 
matters, that could expose us to numerous risks. 

In recent years, advocacy groups, government agencies and the general public have raised concerns regarding ESG matters and 
increasingly regulators, customers, investors, employees and other stakeholders are focusing on ESG matters and related disclosures. 
Such governmental, investor and societal attention to ESG matters, including expanding mandatory and voluntary reporting, diligence, 
and disclosure on topics such as climate change, human capital, labor and risk oversight, could expand the nature, scope, and 
complexity of matters that we are required to manage, assess and report. 

We may choose to communicate certain initiatives, commitments and goals, regarding environmental matters, htunan capital 
management, responsible sourcing and social investments and other ESG-related matters in our SEC filings or in other disclosures. 
Any such current or future initiatives, commitments and/or goals are aspirational and there is no guarantee that all or any such 
initiative, commitment or goal will be achieved. Statements about our ESG-related initiatives, commitments and goals, and progress 
against those goals, may be based on standards for measuring progress that are still developing, internal controls and processes that 
continue to evolve, and assmnptions that are subject to change in the future. In addition, we could be criticized for the scope or nature 
of such initiatives, commitments or goals, any failure or perceived failure to demonstrate progress towards such commitments and 
goals, or for any revisions to these commitments and goals. Further, as part of our ESG practices, we may rely from time to time on 
Utird-party data, services and methodologies and such services, data and methodologies could prove to be incomplete or inaccurate. If 
our or such third parties' ESG-related data, processes or reporting are incomplete or inaccurate, if we fail to achieve progress with 
respect to our ESG initiatives, commitments and goals on a timely basis, or at all, our reputation and business results could be 
adversely affected, particularly if in connection with any such matters we were to become exposed to potential "greenwashing" 
liability. Further, developing and implementing ESG initiatives, and collecting, measuring and reporting ESG-related infonnation and 
metrics can be costly, difficult and time-consmning, and are subject to evolving reporting standards that lack harmonization on a 
global basis, all of which expose our business to additional risk. 

Investors and other stakeholders have become more focused on understanding how companies address a variety of ESG factors. As 
they evaluate investment decisions, many investors look not only at company disclosures but also to ESG rating systems that have 
been developed by third parties to allow ESG comparisons among companies. The criteria used in these ratings systems may conflict 
and change frequently, and we cannot predict how these third parties will score us, nor can we have any assurance that they score us 
accurately or other companies accurately or that other companies have provided them with accurate data. If our ESG ratings, 
disclosures or practices do not meet the standards set by such investors or om stockholders, they may choose not to invest in our 
securities. Relatedly, we risk damage to our reputation, if we do not, or are perceived to not, act responsibly in a number of areas, such 
as greenhouse gas emissions, energy management, human rights, community relations, workforce health and safety, and business 
ethics and transparency. Adverse incidents with respect to ESG matters or negative ESG ratings or assessments by third-party ESG 
raters could impact the value of our brand, or the cost of our operations and relationships with investors, all of which could adversely 
affect our business and results of operations. 

Growing interest on the part of investors and regulators in ESG factors and increased demand for, and scmtiny of, ESG-related 
disclosmes, have also increased the risk that companies could be perceived as, or accused of, making i.naccurate or misleading 
statements regarding their ESG efforts or initiatives, or greenwashing. Such perception or accusation could damage our reputation, 
result in litigation or regulatory actions and adversely impact our ability to raise capital. Relatedly, certain investors have also begun to 
use ESG data, third-party benchmarks and ESG ratings to allow them to monitor the ESG impact of their investments. 
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These changing stakeholder expectations have resulted in, and may continue to result ·in, increased general and administrative 
expenses and increased management time and attention spent complying with or meeting such expectations. If we or our borrowers 
fail or are perceived to fail to comply with or meet applicable stakeholder expectations, it could negatively impact our reputation and 
our business results. Further, our business could become subject to additional regulations, penalties and/or risks of regulatory scrutiny 
and enforcement in the future. Moreover, the requirements of various regulations we may become subject to may not be consistent 
with each other. We cannot guarantee that our current ESG practices will meet funrre regulatory requirements, reporting frameworks 
or best practices, increasing the risk of related enforcement. Compliance with new requirements may lead to increased management 
burdens and costs. 

Evolving investor-related sentiment to environmental, social, and/or governance issues could adversely aff ect our business. 

So-called "anti-ESG" sentiment has also gained momentum across the U.S., with several states having enacted or proposed "anti­
ESG" policies, legislation, or issued related legal opinions. For example, boycott bills in certain states target financial institutions that 
are perceived as "boycotting" or "discriminating against" companies in certain industries (e.g., energy and mining) and prohibit state 
entities from doing business with such institutions and/or investing the state' s assets through such institutions. In addition, certain 
states now require that relevant state entities or managers/administrators of state investments make investments based solely on 
pecuniary factors without consideration of ESG factors. If investors subject to such legislation viewed us, our policies, or our 
practices, as being in contradiction of such "anti-ESG" policies, legislation or legal opinions, such investors may not invest in us, 
which could negatively affect our financia l performance. 

Social, political, and economic instability, unrest, and other circumstances beyond our co.ntrol coultl adversely affect our business 
operations. 

Our business may be adversely affected by social, political, and economic instability, unrest, or disruption, including protests, 
demonstrations, strikes, riots, civil disturbance, disobedience, insurrection and looting in geographic regions where the properties 
securing our investments are located. Such events may result in property damage and destruction and in restrictions, curfews, or other 
governmental actions that could give rise to significant changes in regional and global economic conditions and cycles, which may 
adversely affect our fmancial condition and operations. 

There have been demonstrations and protests, some of which involved violence, looting, arson and property destruction, in cities 
throughout the U.S., as well as globally. While protests were peaceful in many locations, looting, vandalism and frres occwTed in 
cities, which led to the imposition of mandatory cmfews and, in some locations, deployment of the U.S. National Guard. 
Governmental actions taken to protect people and property, including curfews and restrictions on business operations, may disrupt 
operations, harm perceptions of personal well-being and increase the need for additional expenditures on security resources. The effect 
and duration of the demonstrations, protests or other factors is uncertain, and there may be further political or social tmrest in the 
future or other events that could lead to further social, political and economic instability. If such events or disruptions persist for a 
prolonged period of time, our overall business and results of operations may be adversely affected. 

Any or all of the foregoing could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows, or the 
market price of our common stock. 

Future offerings of tlebt or equity securities, which would rank senior to our common stock, may adversely affect the market price 
of our common stock. 

If we decide to issue debt or equity securities in the future, which would rank senior to our common stock, it is likely that they will be 
governed by an indenture or other instrument containing covenants restricting our operating flexibility. Additionally, any convertible 
or exchangeable securities that we issue in the future may have rights, preferences and privileges more favorable than those of om 
common stock and may result in dilution to owners of our common stock. We and, indirectly, our stockholders, will bear the cost of 
issuing and servicing such securities. Because our decision to issue debt or equity securities in any future offering will depend on 
market conditions and other fac.tors beyond our control, we cannot predict or estimate the amount, timing, nature or effect of our future 
offerings. Thus, holders of our common stock will bear the risk of our futme offerings reducing the market price of our common stock 
and diluting the value of their stock holdings in us. 

Item l B. Unresolved Staff Comments. 

None. 
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Item l C. Cybersecurity. 

As an externally managed company, our business is highly dependent on the communications and infonnation systems of our 
Manager, its affiliates and third-party service providers. Our Manager is an affiliate ofTPG, a leading global alternative asset manager 
with $246 billion in assets under management as of December 31 , 2024. TPG offers a broad range of investrnent strategies across the 
alternative asset management landscape, primarily in private equity, credit, and real estate. We, in conjunction with our Manager and 
TPG, have adopted processes designed to identify, assess and manage material risks from cybersecurity threats. These processes 
include risk assessments of internal and external threats to the confidentiality, integrity and availability of our and TPG's data and 
systems along with other materiaE risks to frrm operations. 

These risk assessments inform TPG's cybersecurity program and the continued development of a layered set of controls aimed at 
preventing, detecting and responding to threats. TPG's administrative, organizational, technical and physical security controls include, 
but are not limited to, policies and procedures, system hardening vuLnerability scanning and patching, employee train ing and 
awareness, third-party risk management processes, backup and recovery processes, access controls, data encryption in transit and at 
rest, network perimeter controls, and identity verification. TPG also has policies and controls in place designed to detect and respond 
to cybersecurity events, including an incident response plan, an incident response team with dedicated roles and responsibilities for 
assessing and responding to a cybersecurity event, system logging and ongoing monitoring, and periodic training exercises simulating 
cybersecurity events that are designed to raise awareness and test the TPG team's response readiness capabilities. 

The nature, scope and effectiveness of these controls are regularly reviewed through a series of internal and external processes. TPG's 
cybersecurity team performs both automated monitoring on a continuous basis and manual reviews of key controls. TPG also conducts 
annual assessments of TPG's cybersecurity program using industry standard cybersecurity frameworks, such as the NIST 
Cybersecurity Framework as benchmarks to perform TPG's evaluation. This does not imply that TPG fully meets any particular 
industry standards, specifications or requirements. In addition, independent reviews of TPG's cybersecmity control effectiveness are 
conducted by TPG's internal audit team on a periodic basis. TPG also engages external providers to conduct periodic extemal 
assessments, including penetration testing. 

Governance 

Our board of directors has responsibility for the direction and oversight of our risk management. Our board of directors administers 
this oversight function directly, wit11 support from its committees. In particular, the audit committee of om board of directors (the 
"audit committee") bas the responsibility to consider and discuss our major frnancial risk exposures and the steps our Manager takes, 
or is required to take, to monitor and control these exposures, including guidelines and policies to govern tfue process by which risk 
assessment and management is undertaken. Our audit committee also monitors compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, in 
addition to overseeing the perfom1ance of our internal audit function. 

With respect to cybersecurity, the audit committee engages in regular discussions with management regarding the Company's 
significant financial risk exposures and t11e measmes implemented to monitor and control these risks, includjng those t11at may result 
from material cybersecurity threats. Pursuant to our Cybersecurity Policy, our audit committee has appointed a dedicated member of 
the board of directors who is primarily responsible for our cybersecurity oversight (the "Board Cyber Lead"). TPG's chief information 
security officer periodically briefs the audit committee and/or the Board Cyber Lead on TPG 's infonnation security program and 
cybersecurity risks, and will brief the Board Cyber Lead or audit conunittee as needed in connection witl1 any potentially material 
cybersecurity incidents affecting the Company. Periodic briefrngs of the Board Cyber Lead and/or audit committee by TPG's chief 
information security officer typically include topics such as risk assessment, risk management and control decisions, service provider 
arrangements, test results, security incidents and responses, and recommendations for changes and updates to policies and procedures. 

As an externally managed company, we rely on TPG 's infonnation systems in connection with our day-to-day operations. 
Consequently, we also rely on the processes for assessing, identifying, and managing material risks from cybersecmity threats 
undertaken by TPG. TPG has established an enterprise risk committee ("ERC'') to manage overall risk, including cybersecurity risks 
identified by TPG's cybersecurity team. The ERC includes representatives from relevant functions and is led by TPG's chief executive 
officer. TPG bas also established an operational risk committee ("ORC") which is responsible for applying tbe policy decisions of the 
ERC. Operational responsibility for ensuring the adequacy and effectiveness of TPG's risk management, control and governance 
processes is assigned to TPG's chief information security officer, who periodically reports, among other things, potentially material 
cybersecurity incidents to the ORC and reports to t11e ERC at least annually. TPG's cybersecurity team also regularly coordinates with 
other key stakeholders within TPG, including compliance, human resources, internal audit and legal. 

TPG's chief information security officer leads TPG's cybersecurity team, which is responsible for implementing, maintaining and 
enforcing TPG's cybersecurity program. TPG's chief information security oftlcer previously held various leadership roles within the 
technology risk department of one of the world's largest banking institutions over a 17-year period. He holds a Bachelor of Science in 
Electrical Engineering and Mathematics from the University of Texas at Arlington and is a Certified lnfom1ation Systems Security 
Professional (CISSP). TPG ' s cybersecurity team possesses a variety of cybersecurity skW sets and extensive expertise obtained 
through decades of experience, numerous industry certifications, and advanced degrees. TPG's cybersecmity team continues to take 
steps to maintain up-to-date knowledge of evolving cybersecurity threats and countermeasures. 
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TPG employs processes to oversee and identify material risks associated with the use of third-party service providers, taking into 
account the nature of the services provided, the sensitivity and quantity of infonnation processed, and the identity of the service 
provider. 

As of the date of this report, we are not aware of any material risks from cybersecurity threats, including as a result of any previous 
cybersecurity incidents, that have materially affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect us, including our business strategy, 
results of operations, or financial condition. 

Cyber criminals do, however, target us, TPG and TPG's employees and other third parties. Ongoing or future attacks such as these 
could have impacts on our or TPG 's operations. For additional infonnation on these ongoing risks, please refer to "Part I. Item I A. 
Risk Factors- Operational risks, including the risks of cyberattacks, may disrupt our businesses, result in losses or limit our growth". 

Item 2. Prope rt ies. 

Our principal executive office is located in leased space at 888 Seventh Avenue, 35111 Floor, New York, New York 101 06. Our 
principal administrative office is located in leased space at 301 Commerce Street, 33'd Floor, Fort Worth, Texas 76102. We consider 
these facilities to be suitable and adequate for the management and operations of our business. 

For an overview of our real estate investments, see Item 7- "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and 
Results of Operations- Investment Portfolio Overview." 

Item 3. Legal P roceedings. 

From time to time, we may be involved in various claims and legal actions ansmg m the ordinary course of business. As of 
December 31, 2024, we were not involved in any material legal proceedings. 

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures. 

Not applicable. 
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PART ll 

Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities. 

Common Stock Performance 

Our common stock was listed on the NYSE on July 20, 2017 in connection with our initial public offering, which closed on July 25, 
2017, and is currently traded under the symbol "TRTX". It has been our ponicy to declare quarterly dividends to common stockholders 
in compliance with applicable provisions of the Internal Revenue Code governi11g REITs. As of February 18, 2025, there were 
approximately 45 holders of re.cord of our common stock. This does not include the number of stockholders that hold shares in "street 
name" through banks or broker-dealers. 

Dividends (Distributions) 

We generally intend to distribute each year substantially all of our taxable income (which may not equal net income (loss) attributable 
to common stockholders in accordance with GAAP) to our stockholders to comply with U1e REIT provisions of the Internal Revenue 
Code. In addition, our dividend policy remains subject to revision at the discretion of our board of directors. All distributions will be 
made at the discretion of our board of directors and will depend upon, among other things, our actual results of operations and 
liquidity. Our results of operations and our ability to pay distributions wil l be affected by various factors, including our net taxable 
income, our financial condition, our maintenance of REIT status, applicable law, and other factors as our board of directors deems 
relevant. 

See Item I A - "Risk Factors" and Item 7 - "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of 
Operations," of this Fonn 10-K for inforn1ation regarding the sources of funds used for distributions and for a discussion of factors 
which may adversely affect our ability to make distributions. 

Performance Graph 

The following graph sets forth the cumulative total stockholder return based on a $ 100 investment in our c01mnon stock, assuming a 
quarterly reinvestment of dividends before consideration of income taxes during the period from December 31 , 2019 through 
December 31 , 2024, as well as the corresponding returns on an overall stock market index (S&P 500 Index) and the FTSE NAREIT 

Mortgage REITs Index. Stockholder returns over t11e indicated periods should not be considered indicative of future stock prices or 
stockholder returns. 
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Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities 

On April 30, 2024, we announced that our board of directors approved a share repurchase program pursuant to which we are 
authorized to repurchase up to $25.0 million of our common stock. The repurchase program authorizes the repurchase of common 
stock from time to time on the open market or in privately negotiated transactions, including under 10b5-1 pla.ns. 

During the year ended December 31, 2024, we repurchased 4,603 shares of common stock, at a weighted average price of $7.98 per 
share, for total consideration (including commissions and related fees) of $0.04 million. We did not repurchase any shares of our 
common stock during the three months ended December 31, 2024. As of December 31, 2024, we had $24.96 million of remaining 
capacity under the share repurchase program. 

Item 6. [Reservcdj 
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Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Ot>erations. 

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto appearing 
elsewhere in this Form I 0-K. In addition to historical data, this discussion contains forward-looking statements about our business, 
operations and financial performance based on current expectations that involve risks, uncertainties and assumptions. Our actual 
results may differ materially from those in this discussion as a result of various factors, including but no/limited to those discussed in 
Part, /.Item lA, "Risk Factors" in this Form 10-K. 

This section discusses 2024 and 2023 items and year-to-year comparisons between 2024 and 2023. Discussions of 2022 items and 
year-to-year comparisons between 2023 and 2022 that are not included in this Form 10-K can befound in "Management's Discussion 
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" in Part II, Item 7 of the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-Kfor 
the year ended December 31, 2023. 

Overview 

We are a commercial real estate finance company externally managed by TPG REFinance Trust Management, L.P ., an affiliate of our 
sponsor TPG. We directly originate, acquire and manage commercial mortgage loans and other commercial real estate-related debt 
instruments in North America for our balance sheet. Our objective is to provide attractive risk-adjusted returns to our stockholders 
over time through cash distributions and capital appreciation. To meet our objective, we focus primarily on directly originating and 
selectively acquiring floating rate first mortgage Eoans that are secured by high quality commercial real estate properties undergoing 
some form of transition and value creation, such as retenanting, refurbishment or other fonn of repositioning. The collateral 
underlying our loans is located in primary and select secondary markets in the U.S. that we believe have attractive economic 
conditions and commercial real estate fundamenta ls. We operate our business as one segment. 

We made an election to be taxed as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes, commencing with our initial taxable year ended 
December 31, 2014. We believe we have been organized and have operated in confom1ity with the requirements for qualification and 
taxation as a REIT under the Internal Revenue Code and we believe that our organization and current and intended manner of 
operation will enable us to continue to meet the requirements for qualification and taxation as a REIT. As a REIT, we generally are not 
subject to U.S. federal income tax on our REIT taxable income that we distribute currently to our stockholders. We operate our 
business in a manner that penn its us to maintain an exclusion or exemption from registration under the Investment Company Act. 

We continue to evaluate the effects of macroeconomic conditions, including, wiiliout limitation: a period of sustained high interest 
rates; inflation; structural shifts and regulatory changes to the commercial banking systems of t11e U.S. and Western Europe; 
geopolitical tensions; concerns of an economic recession in the near term; and changes to the way commercial tenants use real estate, 
specifically office buildings. Rising interest rates, structural shifts and regulatory changes to the commercial banking systems of the 
U.S. and Western Europe, increased volatility in debt and equity markets, declines in commercial property values, and e levated 
geopolitical risk led us to continue to curtail Oll!r loan origination volume and maintain high levels of liquidity during 2023 and 
continuing through 2024. From January 1, 2024 through December 31, 2024, we originated eight first mor tgage transitional loans, 
with total commitments of $562.3 million, an initial unpaid principal balance of $532.0 million, and unftmded commitments at closing 
of $30.3 million. 

Our Manager 

We are externally managed by our Manager, TPG RE Finance Trust Management, L.P., an affiliate of TPG. TPG is a leading global 
alternative asset manager with $246 billion in assets under management as of December 31, 2024. TPG offers a broad range of 
investment strategies across the alternative asset management landscape, primarily in private equity, credit, and real estate. Our 
Manager manages our investments and our day-to-day business and affairs in conforn1ity with our investment guidelines and other 
policies that are approved and monitored by our board of directors. Our Manager is responsible for, among other matters, the selection, 
origination or purchase and sale of our portfolio investments, our financing activities and providing us with investment advisory 
services. Our Manager is also responsible for our day-to-day operations and performs (or causes to be performed) such services and 
activities relating to our investments and business and affairs as may be appropriate. Our investment decisions are approved by an 
investment committee of our Manager tl1at is comprised of senior investment professionals of TPG, including senior investment 
professionals of TPG's real estate investment group and TPG's management cmmnittee. 

For a summary of certain terms of the management agreement between us and our Manager (the "Management Agreement"), see Note 
10 to our Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Form 1 0-K. 
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Fourth Quarter 2024 Activity 

Operating Results: 

Recognized Net income attributable to common stockholders of$6.9 million, compared to $18.7 million for the three months 
ended September 30, 2024, a decrease of $ 1 I .8 million. 

Produced Net interest income of $24.7 m illion, resulting from interest income of $69.0 million and interest expense of $44.3 
million. Net interest income decreased $4.6 million compared to the three months ended September 30, 2024. 

Generated Distributable Earnings of $7.8 million, compared to $23 .0 million for the three months ended September 30, 2024, 
a decrease of $15.2 million. 

Recorded a decrease to our allowance for credit losses on our loan portfolio of $5.3 million, for a tota l allowance for credit 
losses of$64.0 million, or 187 basis points oftotalloan commitments of$3.4 billion. 

Declared a common stock dividend of $0.24 per common share for the three months ended December 31 , 2024. 

Investment Portfolio Activity: 

Origina ted two ftrst mortgage loans with a total loan commitment of $242.0 million, an aggregate initial unpaid p rincipal 
balance of $225.2 million, unfunded loan commitment of $16.8 miillion, a weighted average interest rate of Term SOFR plus 
3.33%, and a weighted average interest rate floor of 3.25%. 

Funded $4.7 million in future funding obligations associated with existing loans. 

Received three full loan repayments of $94.7 million and partial principal payments of $ 1 5.5 million related to four loans, for 
total loan repayments of$110.2 million. 

Acquired three multifam ily properties, which served as collateral for two first mortgage loans, one of which involved a UCC 
foreclosure and the other a non-judicial foreclosure, with an aggregate carrying value at December 3 1, 2024 of $88.8 million 
and a fair value at foreclosure of$89.9 million. 

Investment Portfolio Financing Activity: 

Extended the Wells Fargo secured credit agreement by three years to December 2027. 

Full Year 2024 Activity 

Operating Results: 

Recognized Net income attributable to common stockholders of $.59.7 million, or $0.75 per diluted share, and Distributable 
Eamings of $76.5 million or $0.96 per diluted share. 

Produced Net interest income of $108.3 million, resulting from interest income of $307.1 million and interest expense of 
$ 198.9 million. 

Declared dividends of $78.7 million, or $0.96 per common share, representing a 11.3% annualized dividend yield based on 
the December 31 , 2024 closing price of$8.50. 

Investment Portfolio Activity: 

Origina ted eight ftrst mortgage loans with total loan commitments of $562.3 million, an aggregate i11itial unpaid principal 
balance of $532.0 million, unftu1ded loan commitments of $30.3 million, a weighted average interest rate of Term SOFR plus 
3.29%, and a weighted average interest rate floor of 3.28%. 

Funded $41 .1 million in future funding obligations associated with existing loans. 

Received loan repayments, in whole and in part, of $673.4 million including accmed P1K interest. 

Investment Portfolio Financing Activity: 

Increased non-recourse, non-mark-to-market asset specific ftnancings by $72.0 million. Non-mark-to-market financing 
comprised 77.0% of total loan portfolio borrowings as of December 31, 2024. 

Utilized the reinvestment feature in TRTX 2022-FL5 14 times, recycling loan repayments of $255.2 million. 
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Liquidity: 

Maintained substantial near-term liquidity of$320.8 million, as ofDecember 31 , 2024, comprised of: 

$ 190.2 million of cash-on-hand, of which $175.2 million was available for investment, net of $15.0 million held to 
satisfy liquidity covenants under our secured financing agreements. 

Undrawn capacity (liquidity available to us without the need to pledge additional collateral to our lenders) of $128.1 
million under secured credit agreements with three lenders, and $2.5 million under other financing arrangements. 

We have financed our loan investments as of December 31 , 2024 utilizing three CRE CLOs totaling $1.7 billion, $585.0 million under 
secured credit agreements with total commitments of $1.7 billion provided by four lenders, and $ 186.5 million under asset-specific 
financing arrangements with various lenders. As of December 31 , 2024, 66.2% of our borrowings were pursuant to our CRE CLO 
vehicles, 26.4% were pursuant to our secured credit agreements and secured revolving credit facility and 7.4% were pursuant to our 
asset-specific financing arrangements. Non-mark-to-market financing comprised 77.0% of total loan portfolio borrowings as of 
December 3 1, 2024. 

Our ability to draw on our secured credit agreements and secured revolving credit facility is dependent upon our lenders' will ingness 
to accept as collateral loan investments we pledge to them to secure additional borrowings. These financing arrangements have credit 
spreads based upon the LTV and other risk characteristics of collateral pledged, and provide financing with mark-to-market provisions 
limited to collateral-specific evelllts (i.e., "credit" marks). Borrowings under our secured revolving credit agreement are permitted with 
respect to collateral that satisfies pre-determined eligibility standards, and have a pre-determined advance rate (generally, 75% of the 
unpaid principal balance pledged) and credit spread (Term SOFR plus 2.00%). As of December 31 , 2024, borrowings tmd.er these 
secured credit agreements and secured revolving credit facility had a weighted average credit spread of 1.94% (1.93% for 
arrangements with mark-to-market provisions and 2.00% for one arrangement with no mark-to-market provisions), and a weighted 
average term to extended maturity assuming exercise of all extension options and term-out provisions of 2.6 years. These financing 
arrangements are generally 25% recourse to Holdco, with the exception of the secured revolving credit facility that is l 00% recourse 
to Holdco. 
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Key Financial Measures and Indicators 

As a commercial real estate finance company, we believe the key fmancial measures and indicators for our business are earnings per 
share, dividends declared per corrunon share, Distributable Earnings, and book value per common share. As further described below, 
Distributable Earnings is a measure that is not prepared in accordance with GAAP. We use Distributable Earnings to evaluate our 
performance excluding the effects of certain transactions and GAAP adjustments t11at we believe are not necessarily indicative of our 
current investment activity and operations. 

For the three months ended December 31 , 2024, we recorded net income attributable to common stockholders of $0.09 per diluted 
common share, a decrease of $0. 14 per diluted common share from the tllree montlls ended September 30, 2024, of which $0.06 per 
diluted common share, or $4.6 million, relates to an increase quarter over quarter in our credit loss expense, compared to $0.3 million 
benefit during the third quarter of2024. 

Distributable Earnings per diluted common share was $0.10 for three mont11s ended December 31 , 2024, a decrease of $0.18 per 
diluted common share from the three months ended September 30, 2024. The decrease in Distributable Earnings per diluted common 
share was primarily due to an increase in realized losses on loan write-offs and REO conversions of $0.12 per diluted corrunon share 
during the fourtll quarter of2024. 

For the three months ended December 31 , 2024, we declared a cash dividend of $0.24 per common share which was paid on 
January 24, 2025. 

Our book value per common share as of December 31 , 2024 was $1 I .27, a decrease of $0.59 per common share from our book value 
per common share as of December 31, 2023 of $11.86, primarily due to an exercise of warrants (the "Warrants") during the six months 
ended Jtme 30, 2024, which resulted in the issuance of 2,647,059 shares of our common stock, diluting our book value by $0.38 per 
common share. Additionally our book value per common share also decreased due to an increase in credit loss expense during the year 
ended December 31, 2024 of $4.1 million, or $0.05 per common share. 

The following table sets forth the calculation of basic and diluted net income attributable to common stockholders per share and 
dividends declared per share (dollars in thousands, except share and per share data): 

Three Months Ended, Year E nded December 31, 

December 31, 2024 September 30, 2024 2024 2023 

Net income $ 10,682 $ 22,194 $ 74,335 $ ( 116,630) 

Preferred stock dEvidends<1> (3,148) (3,148) (12,592) (12,592) 

Participating securities' share in earnings (625) (370) (2,077) (1,683) 

Net income attributable to common stockholders - see 
Note I I $ 6,909 $ 18,676 $ 59,666 $ ( 130,905) 

Weighted average common shares outstanding, basic 80,931 ,861 80,925,851 79,801 ,990 77,575,788 

Weighted average common shares outstanding, diluted -
see Note I I 80,93 1,86 1 81,365,205 79,888,044 77,575,788 

Eamings per common share, basic<2> $ 0.09 $ 0.23 ~ 0.75 $ (1 .69) 

Eamings per common share, dilutedC2l $ 0.09 $ 0.23 $ 0.75 $ (1.69) 

Dividends declared per conunon share $ 0.24 $ 0.24 $ 0.96 $ 0.96 

(1) Includes preferred stock dividends declared and paid on outstanding shares of Series A Preferred Stock and Series C Preferred Stock. 

(2) Basic and diluted earnings per common share are computed independently based on the weighted average shares of common stock 
outstandling. Diluted eamings per common share includes the impact of participating securities outstanding. Prior to the May 8, 2024 
Warrant exercise, diluted eamings per common share included any incremental shares that would be outstanding assuming the exercise of 
the Warrants. 

Distributable Earnings 

Distributable Earnings is a non-GAAP measure, which we defme as GAAP net income (loss) attributable to our common 
stockholders, including realized gains and losses from loan write-offs, loan sales and other loan resolutions (including conversions to 
REO), regardless of whether such items are included in other comprehensive income or loss, or in GAAP net income (loss), and 
excluding (i) non-cash stock compensation expense, (ii) depreciation and amortization expense (which only applies to debt 
investments related to real estate to the extent we foreclose upon the property or properties underlying such debt investments), (iii) 
unrealized gains (losses) (including credit loss expense (benefit), net), and (iv) certain non-cash or income and expense items. 
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We believe that Distributable Earnings provides meaningful infonnation to consider in addition to our net income (loss) and cash flow 
from operating activities detem1ined in accordance with GAAP. We generally must distribute at least 90% of our net taxable income 
annually, subject to certain adjustments and excluding any net capital gains, for us to continue to qualify as a REIT for U.S. federal 
income tax purposes. We believe that one of the primary reasons investors purchase our common stock is to receive our dividends. 
Because of our investors' continued focus on our ability to pay dividends, Distributable Earnings is an important measure for us to 
consider when detem1ining our distribution policy and dividends per common share. Further, Distributable Eamings helps us to 
evaluate our performance excluding the effects of certain transactions and GAAP adjustnnents that we believe are not necessarily 
indicative of our current loan investment and operating activities. 

Distributable Earnings excludes the impact of our credit loss provision or reversals of our credit loss provision, but only to the extent 
that our credit loss provision exceeds any realized credit losses during the applicable reporting period. See Note 2 to our Consolidated 
Financial Statements included in this Form 1 0-K for addWonal details regarding our accounting policies and estimation of our 
allowance for credit losses. 

Distributable Eamings does not represent net income (loss) or cash generated from operating activities and should not be considered as 
an alternative to GAAP net income (loss), an indication of our GAAP cash flows from operations, a measure of our liquidity, or an 
indication of funds available for our cash needs. In addition, our methodology for calculating Distributable Earnings may differ from 
the methodologies employed by other companies to calculate the same or similar supplemental perfom1ance measures, and 
according ly, our reported Distributable Eamings may not be comparable to the Distributable Eamings reported by other companies. 

The following table provides a reconciliation of GAAP net income attributable to conm1on stockholders to Distributable Earnings 
(dollars in thousands, except share and per share data): 

Three Momths Ended, Year E nded December 31, 

December 31,2024 September 30, 2024 2024 2023 

Net income attributable to common stockholders - see 
Note 11 $ 6,909 s 18,676 s 59,666 $ (130,905) 

Non-cash stock compensation expense 1,886 ll , 141 6,387 8,029 

Depreciation and amortization 4,131 3,453 !5,987 3,577 

Credit loss expense (benefit), net 4,629 (301) 4, 147 189,912 

Distributable earnings before realized losses from loan 
sales and other loan resolutions $ 17,555 s 22,969 $ 86,187 $ 70,613 

Realized loss on loan write-offs related to loan sales and 
REO conversions (9,729) (9,729) $ (334,727) 

Distributable earnings (loss) $ 7,826 $ 22,969 s 76,458 $ {264,1142 

Weighted average common shares outstanding, basic 80,931 ,861 80,925,851 79,801,990 77,575,788 

Weighted average common shares outstanding, diluted -
see Note 11 80,931,861 81,365,205 79,888,044 77,575,788 

Distributable earmings (loss) per common share, basic $ 0.10 s 0.28 $ 0.96 $ (3.40) 

Distributable earmings (loss) per common share, diluted s 0.10 s 0.28 $ 0.96 $ (3.40) 

Book Value Per Common Share 

The following table sets forth the calculation of our book value per conm1on share (dollars in thousands, except share and per share 
data) : 

Total stockl1olders' equity 

Series C Preferred Stock ($201,250 aggregate liquidation preference) 

Series A Preferred Stock ($125 aggregate liquidation preference) 

Total stockholders' equity, net of preferred stock 

Number of common shares outstanding at period end 

Book value per common share 
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December 31, 2024 

$ 1,114,041 

(20 1,250) 

(125) 

$ 912,666 

81,003,693 

$ 11 .27 

December 3 1, 2023 

$ 1,124,785 

(201,250) 

(125) 

$ 923,410 

77,868,565 

$ 11.86 



Investment Portfolio Oven•icw 

Our interest-earning assets are comprised of a portfolio of primarily floating rate, first mortgage loans, or in two instances, contiguous 
mezzanine loans. As of December 31, 2024, our Loans held for investment portfolio consisted of 45 first mortgage loans (or interests 
therein) totaling $3.4 billion of commitments with an unpaid principal balance of $3.3 billion. As of December 31, 2024, 99.7% of the 
loan commitments in our portfolio consisted of floating rate loans, of which I 00.0% were first mortgage loans. In two instances, a first 
mortgage loan and contiguous mezzanine loan are both owned by us. As of December 31, 2024, we had $127.9 million of unfunded 
loan commitments, our funding of which is subject to borrower satisfaction of certain milestones. 

We may hold REO as a result of taking title to a loan's collateral. As of December 31, 2024, we owned four office properties and four 
multifamily properties wit11 an aggregate carrying value of $275.8 million. During the three months and year ended December 31, 
2024, we acquired three multifamily properties. 

During the three months ended December 31, 2024, we originated two mortgage loans with a total conmlitment of $242.0 nlillion, an 
initial unpaid principal balance of $225.2 million, and unfunded commitments at closing of $16.8 million. Loan fundings included 
$4.7 million of deferred future fundings related to previously originated loans. We received proceeds from three loan repayments in 
full of $94.7 million, and principal amortization of $15.5 million across four loans, for total loan repayments of $1 I 0.2 million during 
the period. 

The following table details our loans held for investment portfolio activity by unpaid principal balance (dollars in thousands): 

Loan originations and acquisitions- initial funding 

Other loan fundings0 l 

Loan repayments 

Accrued PTK interest repayments 

Realized loss on Loan write-offs, loan sales, and REO conversions 

Loan extinguislunent upon conversion to RE0<2l 

Total loan activity, net 

(I) Additional fundings made under existing loan conunitments. 

Thr·ee Months Ended, 

December 31, 2024 

$ 225,200 

4,657 

(110,173) 

Year Ended, 

December 31,2024 

$ 531,997 

41,057 

(672,196) 

(1,172) 

(9,729) (9,729) 

--------~(8_9~,4_99~) ________ ~(8_9~,4_99~) 
$ 20,456 ,;;$===~(~19;,;9,;;,5~42;f,) 

(2) For the three months and year ended December 31 , 2024, includes extinguishment of two first mortgage loans with an aggregate unpaid 
principal balance of $99.2 million pursuant to loan conversions in November 2024 and December 2024 as a result of our acquisition of the 
underlying properties pursuant to judicial foreclosure or UCC foreclosure, as applicable. 

For the three months ended December 31, 2024, we generated interest income of $69.0 nlillion and incurred interest expense of $44.3 
million, which resulted in net interest income of$24.7 million. 
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The following table details overall statistics for our loans held for investment portfolio as of December 31, 2024 (do llars in 
thousands): 

Number of loans<'' 

Floating rate loans 

Total loan comm~tments 

Unpaid principal balance<2l 

Unfi.mded loan commitments<3l 

Amortized cost 

Weighted average credit spread 

Weighted average all-in yield<4J 

Weighted average term to extended maturity (in years)<5l 

Weighted average LTv<6l 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

Balance sheet 
p01·tfolio 

45 

99.7% 

3,412,016 

3,284,510 

127,866 

3,278,588 

3.7% 

8.3% 

2.4 

66. 1 % 

Total loan 
expOSUI·e(l) 

45 

99.7% 

s 3,412,016 

$ 3,284,510 

$ 127,866 

$ 3,278,588 

3.7% 

8.3% 

2.4 

66.1% 

(I) In certain instances, we create structural leverage through the co-origination or non-recourse syndication of a senior loan interest to a third­
party. Im either case, the senior mortgage loan (i.e., the non-consolidated senior interest) is not included on our balance sheet When we 
create structural leverage through the co-origination or non-recourse syndication of a senior loan interest to a third-party, we retain on our 
balance sheet a mezzanine loan. Total loan exposure encompasses the entire loan portfolio we originated, acq11ired and financed. We did 
not have any non-consolidated senior interests as of December 31, 2024. As ofDecember 31 , 2024, total loan exposure includes one tixed 
rate contiguous mezzanine loan. 

(2) Unpaid principal balance includes PIK interest of$0.4 million related to one loan as ofDecember 31, 2024. 

(3) Unfunded loan commitments may be funded over the tenn of each loan, subject in certain cases to an expiration date or a force-funding 
date, primarily to finance property improvements or lease-related expenditures by our borrowers and to finance operating deficits during 
renovation and lease-up. 

(4) As of December 31, 2024, all of our floating rate loans were indexed to Term SOFR. In addition to credit spread, all-in yield includes the 
amortization of defeiTed origination fees, purchase price premium and discount, and accmal of both extension and exit fees. All-in yield for 
the total portfolio assumes Tenn SOFR as of December 31 , 2024 for weighted average calculations. 

(5) Extended maturity assumes all extension options are exercised by the boJTower; provided, however, that our loans may be repaid prior to 
such date. As of December 31, 2024, based on the unpaid principal balance of our total loan exposure, 22.1% of our loans were subject to 
yield maintenance or other prepayment restrictions and 77.9% were open to repayment without penalty. 

(6) Except for construction loans, LTV is calculated for loan originations and existing loans as the total outstanding principal balance of the 
loan or participation interest in a loan (plus any financing that is pari passu with or senior to such loan or participation interest) divided by 
the as-is appraised value of our collateral at ·U1e time of origination or acquisition of such loan or participation interest. For constn1ction 
loans only, LTV is calculated as the total commitment amount of the loan divided by the as-stabilized value of the real estate securing the 
loan. The as-is or as-stabilized (as applicable) value reflects our Manager's estimates, at the time of origination or acquisition of the loan or 
participation interest in a loan, of the real estate value underlying such loan or pa1t icipation interest detelT11ined in accordance with our 
Manager 's tmde1writing standards and consistent with third-party appraisals obtained by our Manager. 

The following table details the interest rate floors for our loans held for investment portfolio as of December 31, 2024 (dollars in 
thousands): 

Interest rate floors 

0.50% or less 

0.51% to 1.00% 

1.0 I% to 1.50% 

1.51% to 2.00% 

2.0 I% to 2.50% 

2.51%to3.00% 

3.01% to 3.50% 

3.51%or greater 

Total 

(I) Excludes capitalized interest of $0.4 million related to one loan. 

Total commitment<•l 

$ 1,210,292 $ 

224,535 

150,500 

231,160 

698,112 

722,617 

174,800 

$ 3,412,016 $ 

Unpaid principal Weighted average 
balance interest rate floor 

1,176,269 0.17% 

220,962 0.82 

150,500 1.50 

206,462 2.37 

682,043 2.95 

684, 114 3.35 

164, 160 3.83 

3,284,5 10 1.84% 

For information regarding the financing of our loans held for investment portfolio, see tl1e section entitled "Investment Portfolio 
Financing." 
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Real Estate Ownetl 

As of December 31 , 2024, we owned four office properties and four multifamily properties, each of which previously served as 
collateral for first mortgage loans. During the three months and year ernded December 31 , 2024, we acquired three muWfamily 
properties. 

In November 2024, we acquired two multifamily properties in San Antonio, TX, which served as collateral for one first mortgage 
loan, pursuant to non-judicial foreclosure. During the fourth quarter of 2024, we recognized the properties as REO with a carrying 
value of$52.5 million. 

In December 2024, we acquired a multifami ly property in Chicago, IL through a UCC foreclosure. During the fourth quarter of 2024, 
we recognized the property as REO with a carrying value of$37.4 million. 

The following table details the canying value of each of our REO properties reflected on our consolidated balance she·et as of 
December 3 L, 2024 (dollars in thousands): 

Property Type Location Month of Acquisition Can ·ying Value 

Office Houston, TX April2023 $ 48,194 

Office Manhattan, NY December 2023 38,571 

Office San Mateo, CA December 2023 15,457 

Office Orange, CA December 2023 17,664 

Multifamily Arlington Heights, IL December 2023 67,132 

Multifamily San Antonio, TX November 2024 26,698 

Multifamily San Antonio, TX November 2024 24,719 

Multifamily Chicago, IL December 2024 37,358 

$ 275,793 
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Asset Management 

We actively manage the assets in our portfolio from closing to final repayment or resolution. We are party to agreements with Situs 
Asset Management, LLC ("SitusAMC''), one of the largest commercial mortgage loan servicers, pursuant to which SitusAMC (i) 
provides us with dedicated asset management employees to provide asset management services pursuant to our proprietary guidelines 
and (ii) services our loans. Following the closing of an investment, the dedicated asset management team rigorously monitors the 
investment under our Manager' s oversight, with an emphasis on ongoing financial, legal and quantitative analyses. Through the final 
repayment of an investment, the asset management team maintains regular contact with borrowers, servicers and local market experts 
monitoring performance of the collateral, anticipating borrower, property and market issues, and enforcing our rights and r,emedies 
when appropriate. We manage our REO using resources of TPG Real Estate and third party property managers all under the direct 
supervision of our Manager. 

Loan Portfolio Review 

Our Manager reviews our entire loan portfolio quarterly, undertakes an assessment of the performance of each loan, and assigns it a 
risk rating between " 1" and "5," from least risk to greatest risk, respectively. See Note 2 to our Consolidated Financial Statements 
included in this Form 10-K for a discussion regarding the risk rating system that we use in co1mection with our loan portfolio. 

The following table allocates the amortized cost basis of our loans held for investment portfolio based on our internal risk ratings 
(dollars in thousands): 

December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023 

Risk rating Number of loans Am01tized cost Number of loans Amortized cost 

$ $ 

2 62,716 2 99,000 

3 42 3,098,671 47 3,160,928 

4 2 117,201 4 216,848 

s 
Totals 45 $ 3,278,588 53 $ 3,476,776 

The following table allocates the amortized cost basis of our loans held for investment portfolio based on our property type 
classification (dollars intJ1ousandls): 

December 31, 2024 Decembe1: 31,2023 

Weighted Weighted 
Number Amortized ave1·age Number Amortized average 

Property type of loans cost risk rating of loans cost risk rating 

Multifamily 26 $ 1,718,386 3.0 28 $ 1,732,023 3.0 

Office 6 581,996 3.1 8 685,197 3.1 

Life Science 3 354,402 3.0 4 372,324 3.0 

Hotel 6 333,443 2.8 7 373,980 2.8 

Industrial 2 148,103 3.0 2 99,197 3.0 

Mixed-Use 75,327 4.0 2 108,906 3.7 

Self Storage 66,931 3.0 66,818 3.0 

Other 1 38,331 3.0 

Totals 45 $ 3,278,588 3.0 53 $ 3,476,776 3.0 

The weighted average risk rating of our loan portfolio was 3.0 as of December 31, 2024, unchanged from December 31, 2023. 

During the three months ended December 31, 2024, as part of our quarterly risk rating process, we assigned an initial risk rating of "3" 
to two newly-originated loans. We received repayment in full of three loans with a total unpaid principal balance of $94.7 miJ[ion and 
a weighted average risk rating of 3.0 as of September 30, 2024. We converted to REO two multifamily loans, each with a risk rating of 
"4" as of September 30,2024. 

During the three months ended September 30, 2024, as part of our quarterly risk rating process, we did not upgrade or downgrade any 
of our loans. During the three months ended September 30, 2024, we received repayment in full of three Loans with a total unpaid 
principal balance of $141.1 million and a weighted average risk rating of 2.6 as of June 30, 2024. Of the three new loan investments 
made during the three months ended September 30, 2024, two loans were assigned an initial risk rating of "3" and the third loan was 
assigned an initial risk rating of "2". 
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During the three months ended June 30, 2024, as part of our quarterly risk rating process, we did not upgrade or downgTade any of our 
loans. During the three months ended June 30, 2024, we received repayment in full of tJ1ree loans with a total unpaid principal balance 
of$ 162.5 million and a •veighted average risk rating of3.0 as ofMarch 31 , 2024. 

During tJ1e three montJ1s ended March 31, 2024, as part of our quarterly risk rating process, we downgraded one hotel loan from "2" to 
"3" due to a decrease in occupancy and we downgraded one multifamily loan from "3" to "4" due to a decline in operating 
performance. During tJ1e three months ended March 31 , 2024, we received repayment in full of five loans with a total unpaid principal 
balance of $21 1..3 million and a weighted average risk rating of 3.2 as of December 31 , 2023. The five loan repayments were included 
within our hotel, other, and multifamily property categories. The hotel loan had a risk rating of "4", while the three multifamily loans 
and other loan each had a risk rating of "3" as of December 31, 2023. The three new loan investments made during the three months 
ended March 31 , 2024 were assigned an initial risk rating of "3 ". 

Loan Modification Activity 

Loan modifications and amendments are commonplace in the transitional lending business. We may amend or modify a loan 
depending on the loan's specific facts and circumstances. These loan modifications typically include additional time for the borrower 
to refinance or sell the collateral property, adjustment or waiver of performance tests that are prerequisite to the extension of a loan 
maturity, modification of terms of interest rate cap agreements, and/or deferral of scheduled principal payments. In exchange for a 
modification, we often receive a partial repayment of principal, a short-term accrual of PIK interest for a portion of interest due, a cash 
infusion to replenish interest or capital improvement reserves, termination of all or a portion of the remaining unfunded loan 
commitment, additional call protection, and/or an increase in the loan coupon or additional loan fees. We work with our borrowers to 
address issues as they arise while seeking to preserve the positive credit attributes of our loans. However, we cannot assure you iliat 
these efforts will be successful, and we may experience payment delinquencies, defaults, foreclosures, or losses. 

Allowance f or Credit Losses 

Our allowance for credit losses is influenced by the size and weighted average maturity date of our loans, loan quality, risk rating, 
delinquency status, loan-to-value ratio, historical loss experience and other conditions influencing loss expectations, such as 
reasonable and supportable forecasts of economic conditions. Dw-ing tJ1e year ended December 31 , 2024, we recorded a decrease of 
$5.8 million in our allowance for credit losses resulting in an aggregate CECL reserve of $64.0 million at year-end. This decrease was 
primarily attributable to improved asset level perfom1ance, a reduction in the aggregate amount of our loan investment portfolio, and a 
decrease in the general reserve which includes macroeconomic assumptions that reflect ongoing concerns about growing geopolitical 
tensions, the potential impact of market volatility, the general level of interest rates and slope of the yield curve, ilie possibility of an 
economic recession, limited liquidity in the capital markets, stmctural shifts and regulatory changes in the banking sector and a 
slowdown in investment sales, and loan specific property-level perfonnance trends such as shifting office market fundamentals and 
inflationary pressures that may cause operating margins to narrow. 

While tJ1e ultimate impact of the macroeconomic outlook and property performance trends remain uncertain, we selected our 
macroeconomic outlook to address tltis uncertainty, and made specific forward-looking adjustments to the inputs of our loan-level 
calculations to reflect collateral operating perfom1ance, credit stn1cture features of loan documents, variability in an economic climate 
marked by sustained higher interest rates, and other impacts to the broader economy. 

The following table presents the allowance for credit losses for loans held for investment (dollars in tJ1ousands): 

December 31, 2024 

Allowance fo·r 
Allowance for credit losses: 

ct·edit losses : loans Unpaid p .. incipal unfunded Unfunded Total Total basis 
held for investment balance commitments commitments commitments points 

General reserve $ 61,558 $ 3,284,510 $ 2,415 $ 127,866 $ 3,412,016 187 bps 

Specific reserve -bps 

Total $ 61,558 $ 3,284,510 $ 2,415 $ 127,866 $ 3,412,016 187 bps 
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Investment Portfolio Financing 

We finance our investment portfolio using secured financing agreements, including secured credit agreements, secured revolving 
credit facilities, mortgage loans payable, asset-specific financing arrangements, and collateralized loan obligations. In certain 
instances, we may create structural leverage and obtain matched-term financing through the co-origination or non-recourse syndication 
of a senior loan interest to a third party (a "non-consolidated senior interest"). We generally seek to match-fund and match-index our 
investments by minimizing the differences between the durations and indices of om investments and those of om liabilities, while 
minimizing our exposure to mark-to-market risk. 

The following table details om investment portfolio financing arrangements (dollars in thousands): 

Collateralized loan obligations 

Secured credit agreements 

Asset-specific financing arrangements 

Secured revolving credit facil ity 

Mortgage loan payable 

Total 

Outstanding principal balance 

December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023 

$ 1,682,288 s 1,919,790 

585,042 799,518 

186,500 274,158 

86,625 23,782 

31,200 31,200 

$ 2,571,655 $ 3,048,448 
================ 

All of our investment portfolio financing arrangements are floating rate indexed to Tem1 SOFR except a single fixed-rate mortgage 

loan secured by an REO property in Houston, TX. 
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As of D ecember 31 , 2024, non-mark-to-market financing sources accounted for 77.0% of our total loan portfolio borrowings. The 
remaining 23.0% of our loan portfolio borrowings, comprised primarily of our four secured credit agreements, are subject to credit 
marks only. As of December 31, 2024, we did not have any non-consolidated senior interests. 

The following table summarizes our loan portfolio fmancing arrangements (dollars in thousands): 

Loan portfolio Basis of 
financing arrangements margin calls 
Secured credit agreements 

Goldman Sachs Credit 

Wells fargo 

Barclays 

Morgan Stanley<1> 

Bank of America 

Credit 

Credit 

Credit 

Credit 

Secured revolving credit facility 

Syndicate lenders<2> None 

Asset-specific financing 

HSBC Facility 

BMOFacility 

I nstitlltional Lender 2 

Customers Bank 

Collateralized loan obligations 

TRTX 20 19-FL3 

TRTX 2021-FL4 

TRTX 2022-FLS 

None 

None 

None 

None 

None 

None 

None 

Recom·sc 
percentage 

25.0% 

25.0% 

25.0% 

25.0% 

25.0% 

100.0% 

20.0% 

25.0% 

n.a 

n.a 

n.a 

n.a 

n.a 

Outstanding principal balance 

December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023 

Non-mark­
to-market 

$ 

86,625 

136,011 

29,110 

21 ,379 

186,500 

119,526 

673,909 

888,853 

1,682,288 

Mark-to­
market 

$ 261, 121 

225,530 

62, 526 

35,865 

585,042 

Total 

$ 261,121 

225,530 

62,526 

35,865 

585,042 

86,625 

136,011 

29,110 

21,379 

186,500 

119,526 

673,909 

888,853 

1,682,288 

Non-mark­
to-market 

$ 

23,782 

82,143 

29,110 

141,526 

21,379 

274,158 

154,291 

858,468 

907,031 

1,919,790 

Mark-to­
market 

£: 293,597 $ 

335,606 

132,626 

1,824 

35,865 

799,518 

Total 

293,597 

335,606 

132,626 

1,824 

35,865 

799,518 

23,782 

82,143 

29,110 

141 ,526 

21 ,379 

274,158 

154,291 

858,468 

907,031 

1,919,790 

Total indebtedness $ 1,955,413 $ 585,042 $ 2,540,455 $ 2,217,730 s 799,518 $ 3,017,248 

Percentage of total indebtedness 77.0% 23.0% 100.0% 73.5% 26.5% 100.0% 

( I) On June 28, 2024, we terminated the financing arTangement prior to its July 3, 2024 maturity date. 

(2) On February 13, 2025, we extended the secured revolving credit facility for three years tlu·ough February 13, 2028. 
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Secured Credit Agreements 

As of December 31 , 2024, aggregate borrowings outstanding under om secured credit agreements totaled $0.6 billion. As of 
December 3 1, 2024, the overall weighted average interest rate was the benchmark interest rate plus 1.93% per annum and the overall 
weighted average advance rate was 77.6%. As of December 31, 2024, outstanding borrowings under these arrangements had a 
weighted average tem1 to extended maturity of 3.0 years assuming the exercise of all extension options and term-out provisions. These 
secured credit agreements are generally 25.0% recourse to Holdco. 

The following table detai Is our secured credit agreements as of December 3 J, 2024 (dollars in thousands): 

Commitment UPS or Adv:.mce Approved O utstanding Undrawn Avaihlble 'Wid. avg. Extended 
Lendet· amount<•J collateral rate borrowings balance capacity<' J capacity<'J credit spread<•J maturit)~'J 

Goldman Sachs $ 500,000 $ 485,557 76.8% $ 376,419 $ 261 ,121 s 115,298 $ 123,581 2.23% 08119/28 

Wells Fargo 500,000 295,833 79.8 236, !09 225,530 10,579 263,891 1.67 12/06/27 

Barclays 500,000 84,827 75.7 62,526 62,526 437,474 1.65 08113/26 

Bank of America 200,000 50,824 75.0 38, 11 8 35,865 2,253 161,882 175 06106126 

Totals I weighted average $ 1,700,000 $ 917,041 77.6% $ 713,172 s 585,042 s 128,130 $ 986,828 1.93 % 

(I) Commitment amount represents the maximum amount of bon·owings available under a given agreement once sufficient collateral assets 
have been approved by the lender and pledged by us. 

(2) Undrawn capacity represents the positive difference between the botTowitlg amount approved by the lender against collateral assets pledged 
by us and the amount actually drawn against those collateral assets. The fund ing of such amounts is generally subject to the sole and 
absolute discretion of each lender. 

(3) Represents the commitment amount less the approved borrowings, which amount is availabEe to be botTowed provided we pledge, and the 
lender approves, additional collateral assets. 

(4) Each secured credit agreement interest rate is subject to Tem1 SOFR as its benchmark interest rate. The credit spread for each <mangement 
is added to Tenn SOFR to calculate the interest rate charged for each borrowing. 

(5) Our ability to extend our secured credit agreements to the dates shown above is subject to satisfaction of certain conditions. Even if 
extended, our lenders retain sole discretion during the revolving period to determine whether to accept pledgedl collateral, and the advance 
rate and credit spread applicable to each bonowing thereunder. No new loan collateral may be pledged to the Goldman Sachs facility after 
August 19, 2026, on which date the facility automatically converts to a two-year term faci lity. 

Once we identify an asset and tbe asset is approved by the secured credit agreement lender to serve as collateral (which lender's 
approval is in its sole discretion), we and the lender may enter into a transaction whereby the lender advances to us a percentage of the 
value of the loan asset, which is refened to as the "advance rate." In the case of borrowings under our secured credit agreements that 
are repurchase arrangements, tJ1is advance serves as the purchase price at which the lender acquires the loan asset from us with an 
obligation of ours to repurchase the asset from the lender for an amount equal to t11e purchase price for the transaction plus a price 
differential, which is calculated based on an interest rate. Advance rates are subject to negotiation between us and our secured credit 
agreement lenders. 

For transactions, we and the lender generally agree to a trade continuation which sets forth , among other th ings, the asset purchase 
price, the maximum advance rate, the interest rate and the market value of the asset. For transactions under our secured credit 
agreements, the trade confirmation may also set fortJ1 any future funding obligations which are contemplated with respect to the 
specific transaction and/or the underlying loan asset and loan-specific margin maintenance provisions, described below. 

Generally, our secured credit agreements allow for revolving balances, wh ich allow us to voluntarily repay balances and draw again 
on existing available credit. The primary obligor on each secured credit agreement is a separate special purpose subsidiary of ours 
which is restricted from conducting activity other than activity related to the utilization of its secured credit agreement and the loans or 
loan interests that are originated or acquired by such subsidiary. As additional credit support, our holding company subsidiary, 
Holdco, provides certain guarantees of the obligations of its subsidiaries. Holdco's liability is generally capped at 25% of the 
outstanding obligations of the special purpose subsidiary which is the primary obligor under the related agreement. However, this 
liability cap does not apply in the event of certain "bad boy" defaults which can trigger recourse to Holdco for losses or the entire 
outstanding obligations of the borrower depending on the nature of the "bad boy" default in question. Examples of such "bad boy" 
defaults include, without limitation, fraud, intentional misrepresentation, willful misconduct, incurrence of adlditional debt in violation 
of financing documents, and the filing of a voltmtary or collusive involtmtary bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding of the special 
purpose entity subsidiary or the guarantor entity. 
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Each of the secured credit agreements have "margin maintenance" provisions, which are designed to allow the lender to maintain a 
certain margin of credit enhancement against the assets which serve as collateral. The lender's margin amount is typically based on a 
percentage of the market value of the asset and/or mortgaged property collateral; however, certain secured credit agreements may also 
involve margin maintenance based on maintenance of a minimwn debt yield with respect to the cash flow from tl1e underlying real 
estate collateral. In certain cases, margin maintenance provisions can relate to minimum debt yields for pledged collateral considered 
as a whole, or limits on concentration of loan exposure measured by property type or loan type. 

Our secured credit agreements contain defined mark-to-market provisions that permit the lenders to issue margin calls to us in the 
event that the collateral properties underlying our loans pledged to our lenders experience a non-temporary decline in value or net cash 
flow ("credit marks"). In the event that we experience market turbulence, we may be exposed to margin calls in connection with om 
secured credit agreements. 

The maturity dates for each of our secured credit agreements are set forth in tables that appear earlier in this section. Our secured 
credit agreements generally have terms of between one and three years, but may be extended if we satisfy certain performance-based 
conditions. ln the nonnal course of business, we maintain discussions with our lenders to extend, amend or otherwise optimize any 
financing agreements related to our loans. 

As of December 31, 2024, the weighted average haircut (which is equal to one minus the advance rate percentage against collateral for 
our secured credit agreements taken as a whole) was 22.4% compared to 22.3% as of December 31 , 2023. 

The secured credit agreements also include cash management features which generally require that income from collateral loan assets 
be deposited in a lender-controlled account for distribution in accordance with a specified waterfall of payments designed to keep 
facility-related obligations current before such income is disbursed for our own account. The cash management features generally 
require the trapping of cash in such controlled account if an tmcured default tmder our borrowing arrangement remains outstanding. 
Furthermore, some secured credit agreements may require an accelerated principal amortization schedule if the secured credit 
agreement is in its final extended term. 

Notwithstanding that a loan asset may be subject to a financing arrangement and serve as collateral under a secured credit agreement, 
we retain the right to administer and service the loan and interact directly with the underlying obligors and sponsors of our loan assets 
so long as there is no default under the secured credit agreement, and so long as we do not engage in certaun material modifications 
(including amendments, waivers, exercises of remedies, or releases of obligors and collateral, among other things) of the loan assets 
without the lender's prior consent. 
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Secured Revolving Credit Facility 

On Febmary 22. 2022, we closed a $250.0 million secured revolving credit facility with a syndicate of five banks to provide interim 
funding of up to 180 days for newly originated and existing loans. During the fourth quarter of 2022, an additional lender was added to 
the facility, increasing the borrowing capacity to $290.0 million. This facili ty has an initial term of three years, an interest rate of Term 
SOFR plus 2.00% that is payable monthly in arrears, and an unused fee of 15 or 20 basis points, depending upon whether uUlization 
exceeds 50.0%. During the year ended December 31, 2024, the weighted average unused fee was 20 basis points. Tllis facility is 100% 
recourse to Holdco. As of December 31 , 2024, we pledged one loan investment with a collateral principal balance of $115.5 nlillion 
and had outstanding Term SOFR-based borrowings of$86.6 million. 

Asset-Specific Financing Arrangements 

As of December 3 1, 2024, we had three separate asset-specific financing arrangements with three third-party lenders. On December 5, 
2023, we closed a $90.6 million asset-specific financing facility (the "HSBC Facility"). During the tJ1ird quarter of 2024, we increased 
the borrowings pursuant to the HSBC Facility by $72.0 million, with the pledge of an additional loan. The HSBC Facility provides 
asset-specific financing on a non-mark-to-market basis with matched term. This facility is 20% recourse to Holdco. On November 17, 
2022, we closed a $23.3 million asset-specific financing arrangement with Customers Bank. The arrangemel!lt provides non-mark-to­
market matched term, non-recourse financing. On June 30, 2022, we closed a $200.0 million loan financing facility (the "BMO 
Facility"). The BMO Facility provides asset-specific financing on a non-mark-to-market basis with matched term. This facili ty is 25% 
recourse to Holdco. 

The following table details our asset-specific fmancing arrangements (dollars in thousands): 

Decem be•· 31, 2024 

Fina ncing CoUateral 

O utsta nding Wtd. Outsta nding Wtd. 
Commitment pdnc ipal CalTying Wtd. 'wlj. avg. principal Amortized avg. 

Asset-specific finamcing Count a mount balan ce value<') spread<- temt(J) C ount bala nce cost tCl'lll 

HSBC Facility $ 144,114 $ 136,011 $ 135,451 2.0% 36 3 $ 188,995 $ 187,958 3.6 

BMO Faci lity 200,000 29,110 29,046 2 .. 0% 2.7 38,468 38,365 2.7 

Customers Bank 23,250 21 ,379 21 ,244 2.5 % 2.7 29,4 17 29,346 2.7 

Total / weighted average $ 367,364 $ 186,500 $ 185,741 2. 1 % 3.4 years $ 256,880 $ 255,669 3.4 years 

(I) Net of $0.8 million unamortized deferred finan cing costs. 

(2) Collateral loan assets and related financings are indexed to Tenn SOFR. 

(3) Borrowings are lerm-matched to the corresponding collateral loan asset. The weighted average term assumes all extension options of tl1e 
collateral loan asset are exercised by the borrower. 
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Collateralized L oan Obligations 

As of December 31, 2024, we had three collateralized loan obligations, TRTX 2022-FL5, TRTX 2021-FIA, and TRTX 20 19-FL3, 
totaling $1.7 billion, financing $2.3 billion, or 68.6%, of our loans held for investment portfolio. As of December 31, 2024, our CRE 
CLOs provide low cost, non-mark-to-market, non-recourse financing for 66.2% of our loan portfolio borrowings. The collateralized 
loan obligations bear a weighted average interest rate ofTenn SOFR plus 2.02%, and have a weighted average advance rate of 77.6%. 
Each CRE CLO included a reinvestment feature that allowed us to contribute existing or new loan investments in exchange for 
proceeds from loan repayments held by the CRE CLOs. The last of these reinvestment windows closed in February 2024. 

The following table details the loan collateral and borrowings under our CRE CLOs (dollars in thousands): 

December 31, 2024 

Outstanding 
Benchmark principal Wtd. avfi. Wtd. av~ 

CRECLOs Count interest rate balance Carrying value spread< maturity > 

TRTX 2019-FL3 

Collateral loan and REO investments 5 Tenn SOFR $ 311,381 $ 203,427 3.68% 1.0 

Financing provided Tenn SOFR 119,526 119,526 2.46% 9.8 

TRTX 2021-FIA 

Collateral loan and REO investments 19 Tenn SOFR 886,409 796,552 3.84% 2.0 

Financing provided Tenn SOFR 673,909 673,909 1.93% 13.2 

TRTX 2022-FL5 

Collateral loan investments 26 Tenn SOFR 1,056,822 1,033,775 3.70% 2.1 

Financing provided Tenn SOFR 888,853 888,225 2.02% 14.1 

Total 

Collat"eral loan and REO investments<3> 50 Tem1 SOFR $ 2,254,612 $ 2,033,754 3.75% 2.0 years 

Financing provided(4l 3 Tenn SOFR $ 1,682,288 $ 1,681,660 2.02% 13.4 :tears 

(I) Weighted average spread excludes the amortization of loan fees and defen·ed fmancing costs. 

(2) Loan term represents weighted average fmalmaturity, assuming extension options are exercised by U1e borrower. Repayments of CRE 
CLO notes are dependent on timing of underlying loan repayments post-reinvestment period. The tenn of the CRE CLO notes represents 
the rated final distribution date. 

(3) Collateral loan investment assets of FL3, FL4 and FL5 represent 9.5%, 27.0% and 32.2% of the aggregate unpaid principal balance of our 
loans held for investment portfolio as of December 31, 2024. 

(4) During n:hc iliree monilis ended December J1, 2024, we recognized interest expense of $29.9 million, which includes $0.7 million of 
deferred financing cost amortization. During the year ended December 3] , 2024, we recognized interest expense of $135.4 million, which 
includes $4.2 million of defened financing cost amortization. 

During the year ended December 31 , 2024, we utilized our eligible reinvestment feature related to TRTX 2022-FL5 14 times, 
recycling $255.2 million of principal repayments received. The reinvestment period for TRTX 2019-FL3 ended on October 11, 2021. 
The reinvestment period for TRTX 2021-FL4 ended on March 11, 2023. The reinvestment period for TRTX 2022-FL5 ended on 
Febmary 9, 2024. In accordance with the TRTX 2022-FL5 i.ndenhrre, prior to the end of the reinvestment period on Febmary 9, 2024, 
we committed to contribute certaun assets and completed the contribution process on April 12, 2024. 

See Note 5 to our Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Form l 0-K for details about our CRE CLO reinvestment feature. 

Mortgage Loan Payable 

Through a wholly owned special purpose subsidiary, we are the borrower lUnder a $31.2 million mortgage loan secured by a deed of 
tmst against an REO asset. The first mortgage loa11 was provided by an institutional lender, has an interest-only five-year tenn with a 
maturity date of July 6, 2028 and bears interest at a rate of7.7%. As of December 31, 2024, the carrying value of the loan was $30.7 
million. 

Non-Consolidate£! Senior Interests and Retained Mezzanine Loans 

In certain instances, we create stmctural leverage through the co-origination or non-recourse syndication of a senior loan interest to a 
third party. In either case, the senior mortgage loan (i.e., the non-consolidated senior interest) is not included on our balance sheet. 
When we create stmcturalleverage through the co-origination or non-recourse syndication of a senior loan interest to a third party, we 
retain on our balance sheet a mezzanine loan. 

As of December 31 , 2024, there are no non-consolidated senior interests or retained mezzanine loans outstanding. 
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Financial Covenants for Outstanding Borrowings 

For a description of our financial covenants and guarantees for outstanding borrowings related to our secured fmancing agreements, 
see Note 6 to our Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Fonn 10-K. 

Effective September 30, 2023, we obtained from our lenders a waiver with respect to the minimmn interest coverage ratio covenant. 
This waiver reduced the minimum interest coverage ratio to 1.30 to l.O from 1.40 to l.O for the quarters ended September 30, 2023 
and December 31, 2023. The interest coverage ratio threshold reverted to 1.40 to 1.0 for the quarter ending March 31 , 2024 and 
thereafter. 

We were in compliance with aU financia l covenants for om investment portfolio financing arrangements to the extent of outstanding 
balances as of December 3 1, 2024 and December 31 , 2023, respectively. 

If we fail to satisfy any of the covenants in our financing arrangements and are unable to obtain a waiver or other suitable relief from 
the lenders, we would be in default tmder these agreements, which could result in a cross-default or cross-acceleration tmder other 
financing arrangements, and our lenders could elect to declare outstanding amounts due and payable (or such amoullts may 
automatically become due and payable), terminate their commitments, require the posting of additional collateral and enforce their 
respective interests against existing collateral. A dlefault also could significantly limit our financing alternatives, which could cause us 
to curtail our investment activities or dispose of assets when we otherwise would not choose to do so. Further, this could make it 
difficult for us to satisfy the requirements necessary to maintain our qualification as a REIT for U.S. federal in come tax purposes. 
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Floating Rate Loan Portfolio 

Our business model seeks to minimize our exposure to changing interest rates by match-indexing our assets using the same, or similar, 
benchmark indices. Accordingly, rising interest rates wi ll generally increase our net interest jncome, while declining interest rates will 
generally decrease our net interest income, subject to the impact of interest rate floors in our mortgage loan investment portfolio. As of 
December 31, 2024, 99.8% of our loan investments by unpaid principal balance earned a floating rate of interest and were fi nanced 
with liabilities that require interest payments based on floating rates, which resulted in $0.7 billion of net floating rate exposure, 
subject to the impact of interest rate floors on all our floating rate loans and less than 5.6% of our floating rate liabilities. The weighted 
average interest rate floor on the mortgage loan investment portfolio was 1.84% and the weighted average interest rate floor on the 
liabilities was 0.10% as of December 31, 2024. Subject to the specific footnote disclosures in the preceding tables describing our 
revolving credit facilities, secured financing arrangements, asset-specific financing arrangements and CRE CLOs, and the table that 
follows, our liabilities are generally index-matched to each loan investment asset, resulting in a net exposure to movements in floating 
benchmark interest rates that varies based on the relative proportion of floating rate assets and liabilities. 

The following table details the net floating rate exposure of our loan portfolio by unpaid principal balance as of December 31 , 2024 
(dollars in thousands): 

Floating rate mo1tgage loan assets<'> 

Floating rate mortgage loan liabilities<IXl l 

Total floating rate mortgage loan exposure, net 

$ 

$ 

Net exposure 

3,276,400 

(2,540,455) 

735,945 

(I) As of December 31 , 2024, all of our floating rate mortgage loan assets and all of our outstanding floating rate mortgage loan liabilities were 
subject to Tenn SOFR as the benchmark interest rate. 

(2) Floating rate liabil ities include secured credit agreements, a secured revolving credit facility, asset-specific financing arrangements and 
collateralized loan obligations. 
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I nterest-Earning Assets and Interest-Bearing Liabilities 

The following table presents the average balance of interest-earning assets and related interest-bearing tiabiilities, associated interest 
income and interest expense, and financing costs and the corresponding weighted average yields for our loan portfolio (dollars in 
thousands): 

Three Months Ended 

December 31, 2024 September 30, 2024 

Wtd. avg. Wtdl. avg. 
Average Interest yield I Average Interest yield I 

amortized income I financing amortized incQmel financing 
cost<•> expense cost<2> cost<•> expense cosf2> 

Core Interest-earning assets: 

First mortgage loans $ 3,210,646 $ 68,992 8.6% $ 3,252,505 $ 77,855 9.6% 

Core interest-eaming assets $ 3,210,646 $ 68,992 8.6% $ 3,252,505 $ 77,855 9.6% 

Interest-bearing liabilities: 

Collateralized loan obligations $ 1,699,613 $ 29,944 7.0% $ M,761,164 $ 33,493 7.6% 

Secured credit agreements 527,955 9,010 6.8% 527,21 I 9,767 7.4% 

Secured revolving credit facility 41,443 1,103 10.6% 77,294 1,796 9.3% 

Asset-specific financing arrangements 193,866 3,607 7.4% 136,529 2,869 8.4% 

Mortgage loan payable 31,200 648 8.3% 31 ,200 648 8.3% 

Total interest-bearing liabi lities $ 2,494,077 $ 44,312 7.1 % $ 2,533,398 $ 48,573 7.7% 

Net interest income<3> $ 24,680 $ 29,282 

Other Interes t-earning assets: 

Cash equivalents $ 221,919 $ 2,457 4.4% $ 232,793 $ 3,236 5.6% 

Accounts receivable from servicerl 
trustee 3,109 9 1.1% 14,245 9 0.2 % 

Total interest-earning assets $ 3,435,674 $ 71,458 8.3% $ 3,499,543 $ 81 ,100 9.3% 

(1) Based on amortized cost for loans held for investment and interest-bearin.g liabilities as of December 3 1, 2024. Calculated balances as the 
month-end averages. 

(2) Weighted average yield or financing cost calculated based on ammalized interest income or expense divided by calculated month-end 
average outstanding balance. 

(3) Represents interest income on core interest-earning assets less interest expense on total interest-bearing liabilities. Interest income on Other 
Interes t-earning assets is included in Other Income, net on the consolidated statements of income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss). 
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The following table presents the average balance of interest-earning assets and related interest-beru·ing liabi lities, associated interest 
income and interest expense, and financing costs and the corresponding weighted average yields for our loan portfolio (dollars in 
thousands): 

Years E nded 

December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023 

Wtd. avg. Wtd. avg. 
Average Inter est yield I Average Interest yield / 

amortized income I financing amortized inc>Ome I financing 
cost<t> expense cost<2> cost<1> expense cost<2> 

Core Interest-earning assets: 

First mortgage loans $ 3,299,435 $ 307,146 9.3% $ 4,491,580 $ 362,550 8.1% 

Core interest-earning assets $ 3,299,435 $ 307,146 9.3 % $ 4,491 ,580 $ 362,550 8.1 % 

Interest-bearing fiabilities: 

Collateralized loan obligations $ 1,801,348 $ 135,368 7.5% $ 2,133,013 $ 153,347 7.2% 

Secured credit agreements 604,803 43,576 7.2 % U,056,303 74,876 7_1 % 

Secured revolving credit facil ity 39,385 4,348 I LO % 55,960 5,050 9.0% 

Asset-specific financing arrangements 157,949 12,990 8.2 % 417,687 39,189 9.4 % 

Mortgage loan payable 31,200 2,572 8.2% 3 1,200 1,400 7.7 % 

Total interest-bearing liabilities $ 2,634,685 $ 198,854 7.5 % $ 3,694,163 $ 273,862 7.4 % 

Net interest income(3l $ 108,292 $ 88,688 

Other Interest-earning assets: 

Cash equivalents $ 225,251 $ l0,877 4.8 % $ 246,336 $ 7,788 3.2 % 

Accounts receivable from servicer/ 
trustee 58,129 3,228 5.6% 316,750 11 ,344 3.6 % 

Total interest-earning assets $ 3,582,815 $ 321,251 9.0% $ 5,054,666 $ 381,682 7.6% 

(I) Based on amortized cost for loans held for investment and interest-bearing liabilities as of December 31, 2024. Calculated balances as the 
month-end averages. 

(2) Weighted average yield or financing cost calculated based on annualized interest income or expense divided by calculated month-end 
average outstanding balance_ 

(3) Represents interest income on core interest-earning assets less interest expense on total interest-bearing liabilities. Interest income on Other 
Interest-earning assets is included in Other Income, net on the consolidated statements of income (Joss) and comprehensive income (loss). 
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Our Results of Operations 

Operating Results 

Comparison of the Three Months Ended December 31, 2024 and Septemb·er 30, 2024 

The fo llowing table sets forth information regarding ow· consolidated results of operations (dollars in thousands, except per share 
data): 

Three Months Ended 

December 31, 2024 September 30, 20242 Variance 

Interest income and interest expense 

Interest income $ 68,992 $ 77,855 s (8,863) 

interest expense (44,312) (48,573) 4,261 

Net interest income 24,680 29,282 (4,602) 

Other revenue 

Other income, net 2,525 3,202 (677) 

Revenue from real estate owned operations 7,536 7,661 (125) 

Total other revenue 10,061 10,863 (802) 

Other expenses 

Professional fees 1,299 1,788 (489) 

General and administrative 1,029 1,063 (34) 

Stock compensation expense 1,886 1,141 745 

Servicing and asset management fees 464 487 (23) 

Management fee 5, 11 1 5,107 4 

Expenses from real estate owned operations 9,798 8,600 1,198 

Total other expenses 19,587 18,186 1,401 

Credit loss (expense) benefit, net (4,629) 301 (4,930) 

Income before income taxes 10,525 22,260 (11,735) 

Income tax expense, net 157 (66) 223 

Net income $ 10,682 $ 22,194 $ (11,512) 

Preferred stock dividends and participating securities' share in eamings (3,773) (3,5 18) (255) 

Net income attributable to common stockholders - see Note 11 $ 6,909 $ 18,676 $ (11,767) 

Other comprehensive income 

Net income $ 10,682 $ 22,194 $ (11 ,5 12) 

Comprehensive net income $ 10,682 $ 22,194 $ (11,512) 

Eamings per common share, basic<•> $ 0.09 $ 0.23 $ (0.14) 

Eamings per common share, diluted(!) $ 0.09 $ 0.23 $ (0.14) 

Dividends declared per common share $ 0.24 $ 0.24 $ 

(I) Basic and diluted eamings per common share are computed independently based on the weighted average shares of common stock 
outstanding. Diluted eamings per conunon share includes the impact of participating securities outstanding. Prior to the May 8, 2024 
Warrant exercise, diluted earnings per common share included any incremental shares that would be outstanding assuming the exercise of 
the Warrants. 

(2) Additional infonnation regarding our consolidated results of operations and financial perfonnance for the three months ended 
September 30, 2024 can be found in our Quarterly Report on Fonn 1 0-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2024 filed with the SEC on 
October 29, 2024. 

Net Interest Income 

Net interest income decreased by $4.6 m illion to $24.7 m ill ion during the three months ended December 3 1, 2024 compared ~o $29.3 

million for the three months ended September 30, 2024. The decrease was p rimarily due to full loan repayments and REO conversions 
during the fourth quarter. 
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Other Revenue 

Other revenue decreased $0.8 million for the three months ended December 31 , 2024 compared to the three months ended 
September 30, 2024, due primarily to a decrease in interest earned on cash balances as a result of decreased interest rates of $0.7 
million. 

Other Expenses 

Other expenses increased $ 1.4 million for the three months ended December 31, 2024 compared to the three months ended 
September 30, 2024, primarily due to an increase in expenses from real estate owned operations of $1.2 million related to three real 
estate owned properties acquired during the fourth quarter of 2024 and an increase in stock compensation expense. 

Credit Loss (Expense) Benefit 

Credit loss expense increased by $4.9 million for the three months ended December 31 , 2024 compared to the three months ended 
September 30, 2024. This increase was primarily attributable to a $4.6 minlion increase in our allowance for credit losses during the 
three months ended December 31 , 2024 due to a realized loss on REO conversions of $9.7 million offset by a net decrease of $5.1 
million from improved asset-level performance and changes to the macroeconomic assumptions employed in determining the general 
CECL reserve compared to a $0.3 million decrease during the three months ended September 30, 2024. See Notes 3 and 15 to our 
Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Form 1 0-K for additional details regarding our allowance for credit losses, risk 
ratings, and property type concentration risk. 

Preferred Stock Dividends and Participating Securities Share in Earnings 

During each of the three month periods ended December 31 , 2024 and September 30, 2024, we declared and paid a cash dividend of 
$3.1 million related to our Series C Preferred Stock. 

Dividends Declared Per Common Share 

During the three· months ended December 31 , 2024, we declared cash dividends of $0.24 per common share, or $20.0 million. During 
the three months ended September 30, 2024, we declared cash dividends of $0.24 per common share, or $19.7 million. 
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Comparison of the Years E nded December 31, 2024 am/ December 31, 2023 

The following table sets forth information regarding our consolidated results of operations (dollars in thousands, except per share 
data): 

Year s Ended 

December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023 Variance 

Interest income and interest expense 

Interest income $ 307,146 $ 362,550 $ (55,404) 

Interest expense (198,854) (273,862) 75,008 

Net interest income 108,292 88,688 19,604 

Other revenue 

Other income, net 14, 123 19,875 (5,752) 

Revenue from real estate owned operations 30,700 7,829 22,871 

Total other revenue 44,823 27,704 17,119 

Other expenses 

Professional fees 5,778 6,695 (917) 

General and administrative 4,264 3,845 419 

Stock compensation expense 6,387 8,029 (1,642) 

Servicing and asset management fees 1,930 1,352 578 

Management fee 20,249 22,426 (2,177) 

Expenses from real estate owned operations 35,626 7,532 28,094 

Total other expenses 74,234 49,879 24,355 

Gain on sale of real estate owned, net 7,028 (7,028) 

Credit loss expense, net (4, 147) ( 189,912) 185,765 

Income (loss) before income taxes 74,734 (1 16,371) 191,105 

Income tax expense, net (399) (259) (140) 

Net income (loss) $ 74,335 $ (116,630) $ 190,965 

Preferred stock dividends and participating securities' share in eamings (14,669) (14,275) (394) 

Net income (Joss) attributable to common stockholders- see Note 11 $ 59,666 $ (130,905) $ 190,571 

Other comprehensive income (loss) 

Net income (loss) $ 74,335 $ (116,630) $ 190,965 

Comprehensive net income (loss) $ 74,335 $ (11 6,630) $ 190,965 

Earnings (loss) per common share, basic0 l $ 0.75 $ (1.69) $ 2.44 

Earnings (loss) per common share, diluted<•> $ 0.75 $ ( 1.69) $ 2.44 

Dividends declared per common share $ 0.96 $ 0.96 $ 

(I) Basic and diluted earnings per conuuon share are computed independently based on the weighted average shares of conunon stock 
outstandling. Diluted earnings per common share includes the impact of participating secwities outstanding_ Prior to the May 8, 2024 
Warrant exercise, diluted earnings per common share included any incremental shares that would be outstanding assuming the exercise of 
the Wanants. 

Net Interest Income 

Net interest income increased $19.6 million to $ 108.3 million during the year ended December 31 , 2024 compared to $88.7 million for 
the year ended December 31 , 2023. The increase was p rimarily due to net repayments on our investment portfolio financing 
arrangements during the year ended December 31 , 2024 of $476.8 mill ion and a decrease in the number of loans on non-accrual 
including those on cost-recovery, which totaled ten throughout the year ended December 31, 2023 compared to none during the 
comparable period. The weighted average strike interest rate on the interest rate floors embedded in our loans increased from 1.09% as 
ofDecember 31,2023 to 1.84% as of December 31,2024. 

Other Revenue 

Other revenue increased $ 17.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2024 compared to the year ended December 31, 2023, 
primarily due to operating revenue from an office property acquired through a deed-in-lieu of foreclosure during the second quarter of 
2023, an additional three office properties and one multifamily property acquired during the fourth quarter of 2023, and three 
multifamily properties acquired during the fourth quarter of2024. 
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Other Expenses 

Other expenses increased $24.4 million for the year ended December 31 , 2024 compared to the year ended December 31, 2023, 
primarily due to an increase in operating expenses from: real estate owned of$28.1 million from an office property acquired through a 
deed-in-lieu of foreclosure during the second quarter of 2023; an additional three office properties and one multifamily property 
acquired during the fourth quarter of 2023; and three multifamily properties acquired during the fourth quarter of 2024. This increase 
was offset by a decrease in management fees of $2.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2024 compared to the same period in 
2023. 

Gain on Sale of Real Estate Owned, net 

We did not sell any REO during the year ended December 31, 2024. During the year ended December 31, 2023, we sold a multifamily 
REO property for net cash proceeds of$75.4 million and recognized a gain on sale of real estate owned, net of$7.0 million. 

Credit Loss Expense 

Credit loss expense decreased by $185.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2024 compared to the year ended December 31, 
2023, primarily due to a $4.1 million expense recognized during the year ended December 31, 2024 compared to a $189.9 million 
expense recognized during the comparable period. Credit loss expense during the year ended December 31, 2024, was primarily due to 
an increase of $9.7 million related to realized losses on REO conversions, partially offset by $5.6 million related to macroeconomic 
assumptions employed in detennining the general CECL reserve. Credit loss expense during the year ended December 31, 2023, was 
primarily due to an increase of $79.6 million related to realized losses on loan resolutions, partially offset by a decline in the general 
CECL reserve of $62.6 million resulting from changes in macroeconomic conditions and investment activity during the year ended 
December 31, 2023. See Note 3 to our Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Form 10-K for additional details regarding 
our allowance for credit losses atld risk ratings. 

Preferred Stock Dividends and Participating Securities Share in Earnings 

During each of the years ended December 31 , 2024 and 2023, we declared and paid cash dividends of$12.6 million related to our 
Series C Preferred Stock. 

Dividends Declared Per Common Share 

During the year ended December 31,2024, we declared cash dividends of$0.96 per common share, or $78.7 million. During the year 
ended December 31, 2023, we declared cash dividends of$0.96 per common share, or $76.0 million. 

90 



Liquidity and C apital Resources 

Capitalization 

We have capitalized our business to-date through, among other things, the issuance and sale of shares of our common stock, issuance 
of Series C Preferred Stock classified as permanent equity, issuance of Series B Preferred Stock treated as temporary equity, 
borrowings under secured credit agreements, secured revolving credit facilities, collateralized loan obligations, mortgage loan p ayable, 
asset-specific financings, and non-consolidated senior interests. As of December 31 , 2024, we had outstanding 81.0 mill ion sl1ares of 
our common stock representing $0.9 billion of stockholders' equity, and $2.6 billion of outstanding borrowings used to finance our 
investments and operations. 

See Notes 5 and 6 to our Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Form 10-K for details regarding our borrowings under 
secured credit agreements, a secured revolving credit facility, asset-specific ftnancings and collateralized loan obligations. 

Debt-to-Equity Ratio and Total Leverage Ratio 

The following table presents our Debt-to-Equity ratio and Total Leverage ratio: 

Debt-to-equity ratio<tl 

Total leverage ratio<2l 

December 31, 20>24 December 31, 2023 

2.14x 

2.14x 

2.53x 

2.53x 

(I) Represents (i) total outstanding borrowings under secured financing atTangements, including collateralized loan obligations, secured credit 
agreements, asset-specific financing arrangements, a secured revolving credit facility, and mortgage loans payable, less cash, to (ii) total 
stockholders' equity, at period end. 

(2) Represents (i) total outstanding borrowings under secured financing arrangements, including collateralized loan obligations, secured credit 
agreements, asset-specific fmancing anangements, a secured revolving credit facility, and mortgage loans payable, plus non-consolidated 
senior interests sold or co-originated (if any), less cash, to (ii) total stockholders ' equity, at period end. 

Sources of Liquidity 

Our primary sources of liquidity include cash and cash equiva lents, available borrowings under secured credit agreements, available 
borrowings under our asset-specific financing arrangements, capacity in our collateralized loan obligations available for reinvestment, 
and a secured revolving credit facility. 

Our current sources of near-term liquidity are set forth in the following table (dollars in thousands): 

December 31, 2024 

Cash and cash eqllivalents 

Secured credit agreements 

Secured revolviJlg credit facility 

Asset-specific financing arrangements 

Collateralized loan obligation proceeds held at tmstee 

Total 

$ 

$ 

190,160 

128,130 

2,485 

320,775 

December 3 J, 2023 

$ 206,376 

24,784 

1,592 

247,229 

$ 479,981 

Our existing loan portfolio may provide us with liquidity as loans are repaid or sold, in whole or in part, of which some proceeds may 
be included in accounts receivable from our servicers until released and the proceeds from such repayments become available lfor us to 
reinvest. For the year ended December 31, 2024, loan repayments (including $1.2 million of accrued PIK interest) totaled $673.4 
million. We held tmencumbered loan investments with an aggregate tmpaid principal balance of $33.4 million that are eligible to 
pledge under our existing financing arrangements. We also hold eight REO properties with an aggregate carrying value of $275.8 
million. One of our REO properties is financed and the remaining seven properties are unencumbered a11d thus create financing 
capacity. Additionally, proceeds from the sale of REO properties may provide us with liquidity. 

Uses of Liquidity 

In addition to our ongoing loan activity, our primary liquidity needs include interest and principal payments under our $2.5 b illion of 
outstanding borrowings w1der secured credit agreements, a secured revolving credit facility, asset-specific financing arrangements, 
and collateralized loan obligations, the repurchase or deleveraging of loans, $127.9 milli011 of unfunded loan commitments on om 
loans held for invesnnent, dividend distributions to our preferred and common stockholders, operating expenses, and repurchases of 
shares of our common stock pursuant to a $25.0 million share repurchase program that our board of directors approved on April 25, 
2024. 

91 



Consolidated Cash Flows 

Our primary cash flow activities involve actively managing our investment portfolio, originating primarily floating rate, first mortgage 
loan investments, and raising capital through public offerings of our equity and debt securities. 

The following table provides a breakdown of the net change in our cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash balances (dollars in 
thousands): 

Cash !lows provided by operating activities 

Cash flows provided by investing activities 

Cash flows (used in) provided by financing activities 

Net change in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash 

Operating Activities 

Year Ended December 31, 

2024 2023 

$ 11 2,131 ~ 80,126 

440,510 I ,095,385 

------~(~56_9~, 1_76~) ____ ~(~1 ,_22_2~,8_08~) 

$ (16,535) =~===(=47=,2=9==7) 

During the year ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, cash flows provided by operating activities totaled $ 112.1 million and $80.1 
million, respectively, primarily related to the change in accrued expenses and other assets during the period. Additionally, net income 
includes an increase in net interest income, partiaiEy offset by an increase in REO-related operating expenses. 

Investing A ctivifies 

During the year ended December 3 1, 2024, cash flows provided by investing activities totaled $440.5 million primarily due to loan 
repayments of $887. 1 million, proceeds of $92.8 mill ion related to a loan sale during the fourth quarter of 2023, and cash assumed 
from the conversion of loans held for investment to real estate owned of $1.6 million, partially offset by new loan originations and 
acquisitions of $495.0 million, advances on loans of $40.7 million, and capital expenditures related to real estate owned of $5.3 
million. During the year ended December 31, 2023 cash flows provided by investing activities totaled $1.1 billion primarily due to 
loan repayments of $ 1. 1 billion, proceeds from the sale of loans held for investment of $247.6 million, and p roceeds from the sale of 
real estate owned of $75.4 million, partially offset by new loan originations and acquisitions of $ 194.7 million, advances on loans of 
$ 140.5 million, and capital expenditures related to real estate owned of$5.4 million. 

Financing Activities 

During the year ended December 3 1, 2024, cash flows used in financing activities totaled $569.2 million primarily due to repayments 
of CRE CLO liabilities of $23 7.5 million as a result of the repayment of underlying loans, payments on secured financing agreements 
of $594.4 million, payments on asset-specific financing arrangements of $ 159.4 million and payment of dividends on our common 
stock and Series C Preferred Stock of $90.4 million, offset by borrowings on our secured financing agreements of $442.7 mill ion and 
borrowings on our asset-specific :financing arrangements of $7 1.7 million. During the year ended December 31 , 2023, cash flows used 
in financing activities totaled $1.2 billion primarily due to repayments on CRE CLO liabilities of $541.4 million as a resunt of the 
repayment of underlying loans, payments on seemed financing agreements of $814.2 million, payments on asset-specific financing 
arrangements of $386.2 million, and payment of dividends on our common stock and Series C Preferred Stock of $88.4 million, offset 
by borrowings on our secured financing agreements of $484.8 million, borrowings on our asset-specific financing arrangements of 
$94.9 million and proceeds from mortgage loan payable of $31.2 million. 

See Note 5 to our Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Form 10-K for additional details related to our CRE CLO 
frnancing activities. 
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Material Cash Requirements 

Contractual Obligations and Commitments 

Our contractual obligations and commitments as of December 31, 2024 were as follows (dollars in thousands): 

Payment tinting 

Total Less than 1 More than 5 
obligation Year 1 to 3 Years 3 to 5 Vca1·s Years 

Unfunded loan commitments(!) $ 127,866 $ 62,294 $ 46,685 s 18,887 $ 

Collateralized loan obligations-principal<zJ 1,682,288 193,369 I ,232,746 256,173 

Secured credit agreements-principa l<3J 585,042 62,526 261 ,395 261,121 

Secured revolving credit facility-principal<3J 86,625 86,625 

Asset-specific financing arrangements- principai<4J 186,500 86,877 99,623 

Mortgage loan payable-principal 3 1,200 31,200 

Collateralized loan obligations- interesf5J 187,582 90,690 90,666 6,226 

Secured credit agreements-interestcsJ 108,970 35,670 62,250 11,050 

Secured revolving credit facility-interest<3J 808 808 

Asset-specific financing atTangements-interest<SJ 40,882 12,075 20,798 8,009 

Mortgage loan payable-interest 8,535 2,428 4,856 1,251 

Total $ 3,046,298 $ 546,485 $ 1,806,273 $ 693,540 $ 

(1) The allocation of our tmftmded loan commitments for our loans held for investment portfolio is based on the earlier of the commitment 
expiration date and the loan maturity date. 

(2) Collateralized loan obligation liabilities are based on the fully extended maturity of mortgage loan collateral, considering the reinvestment 
window of our collateralized loan obligation_ 

(3) The allocation of secured credit agreements and secured revolving credit faci lity is based on the extended maturity date for those secured 
financing agreements whe1·e extensions are at our option, subject to no default, or the current maturity date of those facilities where 
extension options are subject to counterparty approval. 

(4) The allocation of asset-specific financing arrangements are based on the fully extended maturity date of the underlying mortgage loan 
collateraL 

(5) Amounts include the related future interest payment obligations, which are estimated by assuming the amounts outstanding under our 
secured debt agreements, asset-specific fmancing arrangements and collateralized loan obligations and the interest rates in effect as of 
December 31 , 2024 will remain constant into the future_ This is only an estimate, as actual amounts bonowed and rates will vary over time_ 
Our floating rate loans and our related liabilities are indexed to Term SOF!R. 

With respect to our debt obligations that are contractually due within the next five years, we plan to employ several strategies to meet 
these obligations, including: (i) exercising maturity date extension options that exist in our current financing arrangements; (ii) 
negotiating extensions of tenns with our providers of credit; (iii) periodicanty accessing the private and public equity and debt capital 
markets to raise cash to fund new investments or the repayment of indebtedness; (iv) the issuance of additional structured finance 
vehicles, such as collateralized loan obligations s imilar to TRTX 2022-FLS, TRTX 2021-FIA, or TRTX 20 19-FL3 as a method of 
financing; (v) the establishment of new asset-specific financing arrangements, including matched-term note-on-note facilities; (vi) 
tenn loans with private lenders; (vii) selling loans and REO to generate cash to repay our debt obligations; (viii) encumbering REO 
properties to generate cash; and/or (ix) applying repayments from underlying loans to satisfy the debt obligations which they secure. 
Although these avenues have been available to us in the past, we cannot offer any assurance that we will be able to access any or all of 
these alternatives in the future. 

We are required to pay our Manager a base management fee, an incentive fee, and reimbursements for certain expenses pursuant to 
our Management Agreement. The table above does not include the amounts payable to our Manager under our Management 
Agreement as they are not fixed and determinable. During the year ended December 31, 2024, our Manager did not earn an incentive 
management fee. See Note 10 to our Consolidatedl Financial Statements included in this Fonn 10-K for additional terms and details of 
the fees payable under our Management Agreement. 

As a REIT, we generally must distribute substantially all of our net taxable income to stockholders in the form of dividends to comply 
with the REIT provisions of the Internal Revenue Code. In 2017, the IRS issued a revenue procedure permitting "publicly offered" 
REITs to make elective stock dividends (i.e., dividends paid in a mixture of stock and cash), with at least 20% of the total distribution 
being paid in cash, to satisfy their REIT distribution requirements. Pursuant to this revenue procedure, we may elect to make future 
distributions of our taxable income in a mixture of stock and cash. 
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Our REIT taxable income does not necessarily equal our net income as calculated in accordance with GAAP or our Distributable 
Earnings as described above. See Note 9 to our Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Form 10-K for additional details. 

Corporate Acti"ities 

Dividends 

Upon the approval of our Board of Directors, we accrue dividends. We intend to distribute each year not less than 90% of our taxable 
income to our stockholders to comply with the REIT provisions of the Internal Revenue Code. The Board of Directors will determine 
whether to pay fi.tture dividends, entirely in cash, or in a combination of stock and cash based on facts and circumstances at !the time 
such decisions are made. 

On December 13, 2024, our Board of Directors declared and approved a cash dividend of $0.24 per share of common stock, or $20.0 
million in the aggregate, for the fourth quarter of 2024. The common stock dividend was paid on January 24, 2025 to the holders of 
record of our common stock as of December 27, 2024. 

On December 6, 2024, our Board of Directors declared a cash dividend of $0.3906 per share of Series C Preferred Stock, or $3.1 
million in the aggregate, for the fourth quarter of 2024. The Series C Preferred Stock dividend was paid on December 30, 2024 to the 
preferred stockholders of record as of December 20, 2024. 

On December 18, 2023, our Board of Directors declared and approved a cash dividend of$0.24 per share of common stock, or $19.2 
million in the aggregate, for the fourth quarter of 2023. The conunon stock dividend was paid on January 25, 2024 to the holders of 
record of our common stock as of December 29, 2023. 

On December 8, 2023, our Board of Directors declared a cash dividend of $0.3906 per share of Series C Preferred Stock, or $3.1 
million in tJ1e aggregate, for t11e fourtll quarter of 2023. The Series C Preferred Stock dividend was paid on December 29, 2023 to the 
preferred stockholders ofre.cord as of December 19, 2023. 

For the year ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, common stock dividends in the amount of $78.7 million and $76.0 mWion, 
respectively, were declared and approved. 

As of December 31 , 2024 and December 31, 2023, common stock dividends of $20.0 million and $19.2 nrillion, respectively, were 
unpaid and are reflected in dividends payable on our consolidated balance sheets. 
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Critical Accounting Estimates 

The preparation of our consolidated financia l statements in accordance with GAAP requires our management to make estimates and 
judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, interest income and otJ1er revenue recognition, allowance for loan 
losses, expense recognition, tax Liiability, future impairment of our investments, valuation of our investment portfolio and disclosure of 
contingent assets and liabilities, among other items. Our management bases these estimates amd judgments about current, and for some 
estimates, future economic and market conditions and their effects orn available information, historical experience and other 
assumptions that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances. However, these estimates, judgments and assumptions are often 
subjective and may be impacted negatively based on changing circumstances or changes in our analyses. 

If conditions change from those expected, it is possible that our judgments, estimates and assumptions could change, which may result 
in a change in our interest income and other revenue recognition, allowance for loan losses, expense recognition, tax liability, future 
write-offs of our investments, and valuation of our investment portfolio, among other effects. If actual amounts are ultimately different 
from those estimated, judged or assumed, revisions are included in the consolidated financial statements in the period in which the 
actual amounts become known. We believe our critical accounting estimates could potentially produce materially different results if 
we were to change underlying estimates, judgments or assumptions. 

During 2024, our Manager reviewed and evaluated our critical accounting policies and believes them to be appropriate, but such belief 
is based on judgments, estimates and assumptions. The following is a summary of our significant accounting policies that we believe 
are the most affected by our Manager's judgments, estimates, and assumptions: 

Allowance for Credit Losses 

As discussed in Note 2, the allowance for credit losses measured under the CECL accounting framework represents an estimate of 
current expected losses for our existing portfolio of loans held for investment and is presented as a valuation reserve on our 
consolidated balance sheets. Expected credit losses related to non-cancelable unfunded loan commitments are accmmted for as 
separate liabilities included in accrued expenses and other liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets. The allowance for credit 
losses for loans held for investment, as reported in our consolidated balance sheets, is adjusted by a credit loss (expense) benefit, 
which is reported in earnings in the consolidated statements of income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss) and reduced by the 
write-off of Joan amounts, net of recoveries and additions related to purchased credit-deteriorated ("PCD") assets, if relevant. The 
allowance for credit losses includes a modeled component and an individuanly assessed component. We have elected to not measure an 
allowance for credit losses on accrued interest receivables related to all of our loans held for investment because we write off 
uncollectible accrued interest receivable in a timely manner pursuant to our non-accrual policy. 

We consider key credit quality indicators in underwriting loans and estimating credit Losses, including but not limited to: the 
capitalization of borrowers and sponsors; the expertise of the borrowers and sponsors in a particular real estate sector and geographic 
market; collateral type; geographic region; use and occupancy of the property; property market value; loan-to-value ("LTV") ratio; 
loan amount and lien position; debt service and coverage ratio; our risk rating for the same and similar loans; and prior experience 
with tl1e borrower and sponsor. This information is used to assess the financial and operating capability, experience and profitability of 
the sponsor/borrower. Ultimate repayment of our loans is sensitive to interest rate changes, general economic conditions, liquidity, 
LTV ratio, existence of a liquid investment sales market for commercial properties, and availability of replacement short-tenn or long­
term fmancing. The loans in our commercial mortgage loan portfolio are secured by collateral of the following property types: office; 
life science; multifamily; hotel; industrial; mixed-use; and self storage. 

Our loans are typically collatera lized by real estate, or in the case of mezzanine loans, by a partnership i11terest or similar equity 
interest in the entity that owns the real estate securing our fi rst mortgage loan. We regularly evaluate on a loan-by-loan basis, typically 
no less frequently than quarterly, the extent and impact of any credit deterioration associated with the perfom1ance and/or value of the 
underlying collateral property, and the financia l and operating capability of the borrower/sponsor. We also evaluate the fmancial 
strength of loan guarantors, if any, and the borrower's competency in managing and operating the property or properties. In addition, 
we consider the overall economic environment, real estate sector, and geographic sub-market in which the borrower operates. Such 
analyses are completed and reviewed by asset management personnel and evaluated by senior management, who utilize various data 
sources, including, to the extent available (i) periodic fmancial data such as property occupancy, tenant profile, rental rates, operating 
expenses, the borrower's exit plan, and capitalization and discount rates, (ii) site inspections, (iii) sales and fmancing comparables, (iv) 
current credit spreads for refinancing and (v) other market data. 
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Quarterly, we evaluate the risk of all loans and assign a risk rating based on a variety of factors, whereby no single factor on its own, 
whether quantitative or qualitative, is given more weight than others. The factors that we consider in connection with this evaluation 
are grouped as follows: (i) loan and credit stmcture, including the as-is LTV and stmctural features; (ii) quality and stability of real 
estate value and operating cash flow, including debt yield, property type, dynamics of the geography, property type and local market, 
physical condition, stability of cash flow, leasing velocity and quality and diversity of tenancy; (iii) perfom1ance against underwritten 
business plan; and (iv) quality, experience and fmancial condition of sponsor, borrower and guarantor(s). Based on a 5-point scale, our 
loans are rated" 1" through "5," from least risk to greatest risk, respectively: 

1 - Very Low Risk 

2- Low Risk 

3- Medium Risk 

4 - High Risk/Potential for Loss-A loan that has a risk of realizing a principal loss; and 

5- Default/Loss Likely-A loan that has a very high risk of realizing a principal loss or has otherwise incurred a principal loss. 

We generally assign a risk rating of "3" to all loans originated or acquired during the most recent quarter, except when specific 
circumstances warrant an exception. 

Our CECL reserve also reflects estimates of the current and future economic conditions that impact the performance of the 
commercial real estate assets securing the loans. These estimates include unemployment rates, inflation rates, interest rates, price 
indices for commercial property, current and expected future availability of liquidity in the commercial property debt and equity 
capital markets, and other macroeconomic factors that may influence the likelihood and magnitude of potential credit losses for our 
loans during their anticipated term. We license certain macroeconomic fmancial forecasts to inform our view of the potential future 
impact that broader economic conditions may have on our loan portfoJjo's perfonnance. Selection of the economic forecast or 
forecasts used, in conjunction wi tth loan level inputs, to detem1ine the CECL reserve requires significant judgment about future events 
that, while based on the information available to us as of the balance sheet date, are ultimately unknowable with certainty. The actual 
economic conditions impacting our loan portfolio could vary significantly from the estimates made for the periods presented. 

The commercial property investment sales and commercial mortgage loan markets have experienced uneven liquidity due to global 
macroeconomic conditions, including heightenedl inflation, changes to fisca l and monetary policy, sustained higher interest rates, 
currency fluctuations, labor shortages and structural shifts and regulatory changes in tl1e banking sector, which continue to make it 
more difficult to estimate key inputs for estimating the allowance for credit losses. The amount of allowance for credit losses is 
influenced by tl1e size of our loan portfolio, loan asset quality, risk rating, delinquency status, historic loss experience and other 
conditions influencing loss expectations, such as reasonable and supportable forecasts of economic conditions. We employ two 
methods to estimate credit losses in our loan portfolio: (I) a model-based approach and (2) an individually assessed approach for loans 
considered to be· "collateral-dependent" as the repayment of tl1e loan is expected to be provided substantially through the operation or 
sale of the underlying collateral and the borrower is experiencing financia l difficulty or foreclosure is probable. Estimates made by us 
are necessarily subject to change due to the limited number of observable inputs and uncertainty regarding the global macroeconomic 
conditions described above. 

Significant judgment is required when estimating future credit losses and, as a result, actual losses over nime could be materially 
different. During tl1e year ended December 31 , 2024, we recognized a decrease of $5.8 million to our allowance for credit losses. The 
credit loss allowance was $64.0 million as of December 31, 2024. During the year ended December 31, 2024, we recognized $4.1 
million of credit loss expense, net. 
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Real Estate Ownetl 

Upon the acquisition of a property, we assess the fair value of the acquired tangible and intangible assets (including land, buildings, 
tenant improvements, above- and below-market leases, acquired in-place leases, other identified intangible assets and assumed 
liabilities) and allocate the purchase price to the acquired assets and assumed Jjabilities, whjcb are on a relative fair value basis. The 
most sigruficant portion of the allocation is to building and land and requires the use of market based estimates and assumptions. We 
assess and consider fair value based on estimated cash flow projections that utilize appropriate discount and/or capitalization rates, as 
well as other available market information. Estimates of future cash flows are based on a number of factors including the historical 
operating results, known and anticipated trends, and market and economic conditions. 

In determining the fair value of the tangible assets of an acquired property, we consider the value of the property as if it were vacant. 
We also consider an allocation of purchase price of other acquired intangibles, including acquired in-place leases that may have a 
customer relationship intangible value, including (but not limited to) the nature and extent of the existing relationship with the tenants, 
the tenants' credit quality and expectations of lease renewals. 

Acquired above and below-market leases are recorded at their fair values (using a discmUlt rate which reflects the risks associated with 
the leases acquired) equal to the difference between (i) the contract11al amounts to be paid pursuant to each in-place lease and (ii) 
management's estimate of fair market lease rates for each corresponding in-place lease, measured over a period equal to the remaining 
tenn of the lease for favorable leases and the initial tenn plus the term of any below-market fixed rate renewal options for unfavorable 
leases. Other intangible assets acquired include amounts for in-place lease values that are based on our evaluation of the specific 
characteristics of each tenant's lease. Factors to be considered include estimates of carrying costs during hypothetical expected lease­
up periods considering current market conditions., and costs to execute similar leases. In estimating carrying costs, we include real 
estate taxes, insurance and other operating expenses and estimates of lost rentals at market rates during the expected lease-up periods, 
depending on local market conditions. In estimating costs to execute similar leases, we consider leasing conunissions, legal and other 
related expenses. 

REO is initially measured at fair value and is thereafter subject to an ongoing impainnent analysis. Subsequent to an REO acquisition, 
events or circumstances may occur that result in a material and sustained change in the cash flows generated, or expected to be 
generated, from the property. REO is evaluated for recoverability when impairment indicators are identified. REO is considered for 
impairment when the sum of estimated future undiscounted cash flows to be generated by the REO over the estimated remaining 
holding period is less than the carrying value of the REO. An impaim1ent loss is recorded when the carrying value of the REO exceeds 
its fair value. Any impairment loss is included in the consolidated statements of income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss). 

See Note 2 to our Consolidated Financial Statements included in tllis Form 10-K for a listing and description of our significant 
accounting policies. 

Recent Accounting Pronouncements 

For a discussion of recently issued accounting pronouncements, see Note 2 to our Consolidated Financial Statements included in this 
Fom110-K. 

Subsequent Events 

For a discussion of subsequent events, see Note 16 to our Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Form 10-K. 
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Loan Portfolio Details 

The following table provides details with respect to our loans held for investment portfo lio on a loan-by- loan basis as of December 3 1, 2024 (dollars in millions, except loan per 
square foot/uni t): 

Loan 
# 

lo~orm of 
inn slmrnl 

First mortgab"C loans411 

Senior loan<'}• 

Senior toanliOt 

9 

10 

II 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

29 

30 

31 

32 

33 

34 

35 

36 

37 

38 

39 

40 

41 

42 

Senior loan 

Senior Loanr111 

Senior Loon 

Senior Loan 

Senior toott 

Senior Loan 

Senior' Lontl 

Senior Loan 

Senior l.onn 

Senior Loan 

Senior Loan 

Senior Loan 

Senior Loan 

Senior Lon.n(l~f 

Senior Loan 

Senior Loon 

Senior loan 

Senior l.oun 

Senior Loan 

Scniorl..oo:n 

Senior Loanr•n 

Senior loan 

Senior Lonn 

Senior Loan 

SeniorLorm 

Senior Loan 

Senior Lonn 

Senior loan 

Senior Loon 

Senior Loon 

Senior Loon 

Senior lonn 

Senior Lo~n 

Senior Lonn 

Senior Loan 

Senior Loan 

Senior loan 

Scriior lonn 

Senior Loan 

Senior Loan 

O rigination or 
aectulsirion daletll 

7/28/2022 s 
8/21/2019 

5/5/2021 

9/18/2019 

12/31/2024 

517/2021 

11113/2024 

7/20/2021 

611 4/2021 

7/3/2024 

1219/2021 

11/21/2022 

21212023 

12/20/2018 

7/28/2022 

911/2022 

9/30/2021 

7/26/2022 

11/30/2021 

4/20/2022 

9/1312024 

111312023 

9/1/2022 

12/29/2021 

3/3/2022 

12117/2021 

6/24/2022 

1/17/2024 

12120/2017 

8/26/2021 

10/27/2021 

61212021 

8110/2022 

12/21/2021 

8/28/2024 

9/3012021 

7128/2023 

3/301201 8 

3/24/2023 

3/11/2019 

3/28/2024 

619/2022 

Total 
lonn 

Principnl 
balance 

Amorti""Li.'d 
eosrtH 

256.3 s 
227.1 

253.1 s 253.1 

215.0 

150.5 

129.0 

113.0 

113.0 

106.0 

102.6 

96.0 

94.0 

87.0 

86.8 

78.8 

72.0 

70.0 

69.0 

67.0 

65.6 

63.0 

63.0 

62.0 

61.5 

60.6 

58.0 

52.1 

51.6 

51.3 

51.0 

51.0 

50.4 

48.6 

46.2 

45.0 

45.0 

44.4 

43.6 

42.4 

37.0 

34.0 

34.0 

31.2 

227.1 

205.6 

150.5 

115.5 

113.0 

109.7 

106.0 

102.6 

95.8 

93.0 

71.6 

79.1 

75.3 

n.o 
70.0 

66.6 

67.0 

63.5 

63.0 

63.0 

52.2 

61.5 

56.0 

58.0 

49.3 

50.8 

45.9 

51.0 

46.4 

42.9 

48.3 

38.5 

45.0 

41.3 

44.4 

37.2 

41.9 

34.1 

34.0 

33. 1 

27.8 

227.1 

205.5 

150.5 

114.2 

113.0 

108.9 

106.0 

102.6 

95.0 

93.0 

71.3 

78.7 

75.3 

n.o 
70.0 

66.6 

66.9 

63.5 

62.9 

62.7 

52.0 

61.5 

56.0 

58.0 

49.3 

50.8 

45.5 

51.0 

46.3 

42.9 

48.3 

38.4 

45.0 

41.2 

44.4 

37.0 

41.9 

33.9 

34.0 

32.8 

27.8 

lnli.'resl 
rnre 

S + 3.6% 

s + 3.0'/o 

s + 4.0'/o 

s + 4.1% 

$ + 3.4% 

$ + 3.5% 

S + 3.3% 

S + 35% 

s + 3.2"/o 

S + 3.1% 

S + 3.9% 

S + 5.3% 

S + S.Io/o 

S + -1.1% 

s + 4.0'/o 

S + 3.6% 

S + 3.8% 

$ + 4.2% 

S + 3.5% 

S + 3.7% 

S + 3.5% 

S -t- 3.5% 

S + 2.9% 

s + 3.4% 

S + 3.4% 

s + 3.80/o 

S + 3.8% 

s + 3.1% 

$ + 4.9% 

S + 4.2% 

S + 3.5o/o 

S + 3.9% 

S + 3.9% 

S + 3.8% 

$ + 2.9% 

S + 3.4% 

S + 4.6% 

s + 3.8% 

S + 3.5% 

s + 4.0'/o 

S + 3.9% 

S + 3.6% 

All-in 
y ield(4l 

s + 3.7% 

s + 3.2% 

s + 4.2% 

s + 4.4% 

s + 3.7% 

s + 3.8% 

s + 3.6% 

s + 3.9% 

s + 3.5% 

s + 3.4% 

s + 4.2% 

S + 5.6'1o 

s + 5.4% 

s + 4.4% 

s + 4.3% 

s + 3.2% 

s + 4.1% 

S + .t.5o/o 

s + 3.9% 

S + -t.OIII~ 

s + 3.8% 

S+ 3.8% 

S + 1.6% 

s + 3.7% 

s + 3.7% 

S + -J.l% 

S + 4.1% 

s t 3.4% 

s + 5.3% 

S+ 4.5% 

s + 3.8% 

s + 4.2% 

S + 4A% 

s + . .u•;. 
S + 3.1% 

s + 3.7'/o 

S + 5.1% 

s + 4.3% 

s + 3.8% 

S + 4.4% 

s + 4.3% 

s + 3.9% 

Fixed I 
non ling 

Floating 

Floating 

Floating 

Floating 

Floating 

Floating 

!~louting 

Floating 

Floating 

Floating 

Floating 

Floating 

Floating 

Floating 

Floating 

Floating 

Floming 

Flootins 

Floating 

Floating 

Floating 

1:1oming 

Floating 

Floating 

Floating 

Floating 

Floating 

Floating 

Floating 

Floating 

Homing 

Floating 

Floating 

Flooring 

Floating 

Floating 

Floating 

Flouring 

Floating 

!"louting 

Floatins 

Flooring 

Extended 
maruriry<~l 

819/2027 

9/9/2026 

5/9/2026 

12/31/2025 

1/9/2030 

5/9/2026 

1219/2029 

819/2026 

7/9/2026 

7/9/2029 

1219/2026 

1219/2027 

3/9/2028 

11912025 

819/2027 

9/9/2026 

10/9/2026 

819/2027 

1219/2026 

5/9/2027 

10/9/2029 

11/9/2028 

5/9/2026 

1/9/2027 

3/9/2027 

1/9/2027 

7/9/2027 

219/2029 

12/31/2026 

9/9/2026 

11/9/2026 

619/2026 

9/9/2027 

1/9/2027 

9/912029 

10/9/2026 

81912028 

6/22/2025 

4/9/2028 

819/2025 

4/9/2029 

619/2027 

City/ sr:u e 

San Jose. CA 

Ne\\ York. NY 

Daly City. CA 

Ne" York. NY 

VariO\IS. Various 

Towson. MD 

Various. Vuriou.s 

Various. NJ 

llayward. CA 

Phoenix. AZ 

~OS Angeles. CA 

Dallas. TX 

Miami. FL 

TomlJlCC. CA 

Yonkers. NY 

Cedar Creek. TX 

Tampa. FL 

Various. Various 

S1. Louis. ~·tO 

IJuOo lo. NY 

Calistoga. CA 

Slam ford. CT 

Raleigh. NC 

Rogers. A R 

Hampton. VA 

Newport News. VA 

Snn Antonio. TX 

Albuquerque. NM 

New Orleans. LA 

San Diego. CJ\ 

Longmonl. CO 

Fort lauderdale. FL 

Plano. TX 

Knox' ill c. TN 

Bakersfie ld, CA 

Snn Antonio. TX 

Various. AZ 

llonolulu.lll 

Dallas. TX 

Miami Beach. FL 

Mcsa. AZ 

Centerton. AR 

Property 
type 

Multifamily 

Oflice 

Li fc Science 

Oflicc 

lnd\lstrial 

Muhifamily 

Multifamily 

Muhifhmily 

Life Scier1cc 

Muhif..1mily 

Mulrifamily 

Ofllcc 

llorcl 

Mixed-Usc 

M ultifamily 

l101cl 

Multif..11nily 

SelfSrorage 

Multif..11n ily 

l\•1uhifamily 

Hotel 

Multifamily 

Multif.'lmily 

Multifamily 

Muhif<lmily 

Multifamil> 

Muhifamily 

Multifamily 

llorcl 

Life Science 

Office 

Oflicc 

Multifamily 

Muhif.1mily 

Multifamily 

Muhifamily 

ll01cl 

Office 

Industrial 

l101cl 

Multif..11nily 

Muhifamil)' 

Loan 
IJ'pe 

Bridge 

Light Transitional 

Moderate Tr::ansitional 

Moderate Transitional 

Li~ht Trru1sitional 

Bridge 

13ridge 

Bridge 

Modemte Traositional 

Bridge 

L... ight Transitional 

Moderate Transitional 

Bridge 

Moderate Transitional 

Bridge 

Bridge 

Moderate Transitional 

Light Tran:)itional 

Moderate Transitional 

13ridge 

Bridge 

Moderate Transitional 

Bridge 

Bridge 

Bridge 

Light Transitional 

13ridgc 

Light Transitional 

13ridgc 

Moderate Tmnsitional 

Moderate Traositi011al 

L ight Transitional 

Moderate Transitional 

Bridge 

Light Transitional 

Bridge 

Bridge 

L ight Trrul:)itional 

Light Transitional 

Bridge 

Bridge 

Light Trarbitional 

Lo~1n JlCr 
SQF'T I unit 

$444.646 Unit 

$448 Sq ft 

$544 Sq ft 

$677 Sq ft 

S215Sq ft 

$136.504 Unit 

$112.214 Unit 

$117.7% Unit 

$277 Sq ft 

$209.150 Unit 

$209,258 Unit 

SIOO Sq ft 

S 170.866 Unir 

S218Sq ft 

$400.000 Unir 

5345.825 Unit 

$221.154 Unit 

$166 Sq ft 

5158.838 Unit 

5167.553 Unir 

5630.000 Unit 

$254.098 Unir 

$188.650 Unit 

$153.1 25 llnir 

$202.091 Unit 

5135.677 Unit 

Sl59.259 llnir 

$149.1 28 Unit 

$217.949 Unir 

$599 Sq 11 

$145 Sq ft 

5187 Sq 11 

$173.534 Unit 

5119.681 llnir 

$180.723 Unit 

5132.024 Unit 

$150.345 Unir 

$147 Sq 11 

S83 Sq n 
5257.576 Unit 

$173.469 Unit 

$156.859 Unir 

vrv'" 

72.7 o/o 

65.2 o/o 

63.1 % 

65.2 % 

55.3 '~'/o 

70 .2 % 

64.6 % 

7 1.3 % 

49.7 o/o 

68.6 o/o 

78.1 o/o 

60.8 o/. 

58.4 % 

61.1 o/o 

64.8 % 

61.2 % 

64.2 o/o 

66.2 ~·· 

69.3 % 

6 7.1 o/o 

48.5 o/o 

66.1 o/o 

66.2 % 

75.9 % 

72.~ % 

67.3 °/o 

70.2 % 

7 1.7 °/o 

59.9 % 

72.1 o/o 

70.6 o/o 

71.0 o/o 

66.3 % 

8.t.9 % 

72.9 Ofc, 

64.1 % 

63.3 o/e 

57.9 % 

61.2 o/o 

59.3 % 

72.9 o/o 

73.8 % 

Risk 
ratingrn 

2 



\0 
\0 

toan Form of Origination or_ Total l)rincirlal Amortized Interest All· in Fixed I F.xtcndcd Property Loan Loan per Risk 
# irwcstmcnl acquisition dllrctll loan balance cost(J~ nliO y icld(4l flo:Hirlg maruriry(."il City/stare type 1)1>0 SQn t unil ~ nuingfiJ --

43 Senior Loan 8123/2022 3 1.0 29.4 29.3 $ + 4.0% s + 4.7% Floating 919/2027 Marietta. GA Multifamily Light Transitiona l $127.049 Unil 68.5 % 

44 Senior Loan 1/1912024 31.0 30.3 30.1 5 + 3.4% 5 + 3.7% Floating 219/2029 Ca•llc Rock. CO Muhif.:'lmil)' Moderate Tr::msitional $303.922 Unil 63.7 % ---
45 Senior Loan 6/29!2022 24.5 22.3 22.3 s + 3.9"/o s + 4.2% Floating 719!2027 San Antonio. TX M ultifamily Light Transitional $107.456 Unil 75.5 % 

-
Subtotal / \\Cightcd avcrngci~') s 3.412.0 s 3.284.5 s 3.278.6 s +3.?0/o s +3.9"/o 2..4 )Cars 66.1 o/o J .O 

- ----
Toml / we ighted avcrJgc131 s 3.412.0 s 3.284.5 s 3.278.6 s +3.7% 5 +3.9% 2.4 year< 66.1 % 3.0 

* 
( I) 

(2) 

(3) 

(4) 

(5) 

(6) 

(7) 

Numbers presented may not foot due to rounding. 

First mortgage loans are whole mottgage loans unless otherwise noted. 

Date loan was o rig inated or acquired by us. The origination or acquisition date is not updated for subsequent loan modifications. 

Re presents unpaid principal balance net of unamo1tized costs. 

In addition to the interest rate, al i-in yield includes the amottization of deferred origination fees, purchase price premium and discount, a nd accrual of both extension and exit fees. All-in 
yield fo r our loan assets and total loan portfolio excludes the applicable floating benchmark interest rate as of December 31, 2024 and excludes the impact of our interest rate floors and 
borrower interest rate caps. 

Extended maturity assumes a ll extension options are exercised by the borrower; provided, however, that our loans may be repaid prior to such date. As of December 31, 2024, based on 
unpaid princ ipal balance, 22. 1% of our loans were s ubject to yield maintenance or other prepayment restrictions and 77.9% were open to repayment by the borrower without penalty. 

Except for construction loans, LTV is calculated for loan originations and existing loans as the total o utstanding principal bala nce of the loan or participation interest in a loan (plus any 
financing that is pari passu with or senior to s uch loan or patticipation interest) divided by the as- is appraised value of our collateral at the time of origination or acquisition of such loan or 
participation interest. For construction loans only, LTV is calculated as the total commitment amount of the loan divided by the as-stabilized value of the real estate securing the loan. The 
as-is o r as-stabi lized (as applicable) value reflects our Manager's estimates, at the time of origination or acquisition of the loan or participation interest in a loan, of the real estate value 
underlying such loan or participation inte rest determined in accordance with our Manager's underwriting standards and consistent with third-party appraisals obtained by our Manage r. 

For a discussio n of risk ratings, please see Notes 2 and 3 to o ur Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Form I 0-K. 

(8) Represents the weig hted average of the credit spread as of December 31, 2024 for the loans, 99.7% of which are floating rate. 

(9) The loan is C<lmprised of a first mo11gage loan of $245.0 mill ion and a contiguous mezzanine loan of $11.3 mill ion, both of which we own. The first mortgage loan carries an interest rate of 
S+3.40% and the mezzanine loan has a fixed 8.0% PIK interest rate. 

( I 0) Calculated as the ratio of unpaid principal balance as of December 31, 2 024 to the as-is appraised value at origination, to reflect the sale by us in August 2020 of the contiguous mezzanine 
loan with a n unpaid principal balance of$46.4 million and a commitment amount of$50.0 million as of the sale date. 

( I I) This loan is comprised of a first mortgage loan of$72.2 mill ion and a contiguous mezzanine loan of$78.3 mill ion, both of which we own. Each loan carries the same inte rest rate. 

( 12) This loan represents a 41.2% pari passu participation interest in a first mortgage loan, that was originated by a third pa1t y on August 31, 202 1 and acquired by us on Septem ber I, 2022. 

(13) This loan was originated by a third party on June 9, 202 1 and acquired by us on September I, 2022. 



Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosua·es About Market Risk 

Investment Portfolio Risks 

Interest Rate Risk 

Our business model seeks to minimize our exposure to changing interest rates by matching duration of our assets and liabiltities and 
match-indexing our assets using the same, or similar, benchmark indices. Accordingly, rising interest rates will generally increase our 
net interest income, while declining interest rates will generally decrease our net interest income, subject to the impact of interest rate 
floors embedded in substantially all of our loans. As of December 31, 2024, the weighted average interest rate floor for our loan 
portfolio was 1.84%. As of December 31, 2024, 99.8% of our loans by unpaid principal balance earned a floating rate of interest, 
subject to the impact of embedded interest rate floors, and were financed with liabilities that require interest payments based on 
floating rates. As of December 31, 2024, less than 5.6% of our floating rate liabilities contain an interest rate floor greater than zero. 
The weighted average interest rate floor for our floating rate mortgage loan [iabilities was 0.10% as of December 31 , 2024. 

The following table illustrates the impact on our interest income and interest expense, for the twelve-month period following 
December 31 , 2024, of an immediate increase or decrease in the underlying benchmark interest rate of 25, 50 and 75 basis points on 
our existing floa·ting rate loans held for investment portfolio and related liabilities (dollars in thousands): 

Assets (liabilities) subject to Net 
interest mte sellsitivity<IXll e:xposure 

Income (expense) subject to 
in te rest rate sensitivity 25 B:1sis Point SO Basis Poin t 75 Basis Point 

Inca·ease Decrease Increase DecJ"ea se IncJ"ease DecJ"ease 

Floating rate mortgage loan assets $ 3,276,400 Interest income s 8,191 s (8,191) s 16,382 s (16,297) $ 24,573 $ (24,17 1) 

Floating rnte mortgage loan 
liabilities (2,540,455) Interest expense (6,351) 6,351 (12,702) 12,702 (19,053) 19,053 

Total noating rate mortgage loan Total change in net interest 
exposure, net $ 735,945 income $ 1,840 s (1,840) s 3,680 s (3,595) $ 5,520 $ (5,118) 

(I) As of December 31, 2024, all of our floating rate mortgage loan assets and all of our floating rate mortgage loan liabilities were subject to 
Tenn SOFR as the benchmark interest rate. 

(2) Floating rate liabilities include secured credit agreements, a secured revolving credit facili ty, asset-specific financing arrangements, and 
collateralized loan obligations. 

Credit Risk 

Our loans are also subject to credit risk. The performance and value of our loans and other investments depend upon the sponsors' 
ability to operate the properties that serve as our collateral so that they produce cash flows adlequate to pay interest and principal due to 
us. To monitor this risk, our Manager and the asset management team review our portfolio and maintain regular contact with 
borrowers, co-lenders and local market experts to monitor the perfonnance of tJ1e underlying collateral, anticipate borrower, property 
and market issues and, to the extent necessary or appropriate, enforce our rights as the lender. 

In addition, we are exposed to tJ1e risks generally associated with the commercial real estate market, including variances in occupancy 
rates, capitalization rates, absorption rates and other macroeconomic factors beyond our control. We seek to manage these risks 
through our underwriting and asset management processes. 

Prepayment Risk 

Prepayment risk is the risk that principal will be repaid at a different rate than anticipated, causing tJ1e return on certain investments to 
be less than expected. Generally, declining interest rates result in increasing prepayment speeds. As we receive prepayments of 
principal on our assets, any premiums paid on such assets are amortized against interest income. In general, an increase in prepayment 
rates accelerates the amortization of purchase premiwns, which reduces the interest income earned on the assets, and accelerates the 
accretion into interest income of purchase discOtmts, which increases interest income. Increasing prepayment speeds may expose us to 
the risk that we cannot reinvest loan repayment proceeds promptly in suitable loan investments or other investments, which may cause 
investment income to decline. 
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Extension Risk 

Our Manager computes the projected weighted average life of our assets based on assumptions regarding the pace at which individual 
borrowers will prepay the mortgages or extend. If prepayment speeds decrease in a rising interest rate environment or extension 
options are exercised, the life of our loan investments could extend beyond the term of the secured debt agreements we use to finance 
our loan investments, except for our CRE CLOs for which the obligation to repay liabilities is tied to the repayment of Ul1derlying 
loans held by the CRE CLO trust. We expect that higher interest rates imposed by the Federal Reserve to rein in inflation may lead to 
a decrease in prepayment speeds and an increase in the number of our borrowers who exercise extension options. This could have a 
negative impact on our results of operations. In some situations, we may be forced to sell assets to maintain adequate liquidity, which 
could cause us to incur losses. 

Non-Performance Risk 

In addition to the risks related to fluctuations in cash fl.ows and asset values associated with movements in interest rates, there is a lso 
the risk of non-perfom1ance on floating rate assets. In the case of a significant increase in interest rates, the additional debt service 
payments due from our borrowers may strain the operating cash flows of the collateral real estate assets and, potentially, contribute to 
non-performance or, in severe cases, default. This risk is partially mitigated by various factors we consider during our underwriting 
and loan structur ing process, including but not limited to, establishing interest reserves in our loans and requiring substantially all of 
our borrowers to purchase an interest rate cap contTact for all, or substantially all, of the initial term of our lorun. 

Loan Portfolio Value 

We may in the future originate loans that earn a fixed rate of interest on unpaid principal balance. The va lue of fixed rate loans is 
sensitive to changes in interest rates. We generally hold all of our loans to maturity, and do not expect to realize gains or losses on any 
fixed rate loan we may hold in the future, as a result of movements in market interest rates during future periods. 

Real Estate Risk 

The market values of commercial mortgage assets are subject to volatility and may be adversely affected by a number of factors, 
including, but not limited to, national, regional and local economic conditions (which may be adversely affected by industry 
slowdowns and other factors); local real estate conditions; changes or continued weakness in specific industry segments; construction 
quality, age and design; demographic factors; andl retroactive changes to building or similar codes. In addition, decreases in property 
values reduce the value of the collateral and the potential proceeds available to a borrower to repay the underlying loans, which could 
also cause us to suffer losses. 

Operating ami Capital Market Risks 

Liquidity Risk 

Liquidity is a measure of our ability to meet potential cash requirements, including ongoing commitments to repay borrowings 
including margin calls, fund and maintain investments, pay dividends to our stockholders and ot11er general business needs. Our 
liquidity risk is principally associated witl1 our financing of longer-maturity investments with shorter-tenn borrowings in the fom1 of 
secured credit agreements. We are subject to "margin call" risk under our secured credit agreements. In the event that the valllle of our 
assets pledged a:s collateral decreases due to an other-than-temporary decline in the value of the collateral securing our pledged loan, 
margin calls relating to our secured credit agreements could increase, causing an adverse change in om liquidity position. 
Additionally, if one or more of our secured credit agreement counterparties chooses not to provide ongoing funding, we may be unable 
to replace the financing through other lenders on favorable terms or at all. As such, we provide no assurance that we will be able to 
roll over or replace our secured credit agreements as they mature from time to time in the future. We maintain frequent dialogue with 
the lenders Ul1der our secured credit agreements regarding our management of their collateral assets. 

Jn some situations, we have in the past, and may in the future, decide to sell assets to adjust our portfolio construction or maintain 
adequate liquidity. Market disruptions may lead to a significant decline in transaction activity in all or a significant portion of the asset 
classes in which we invest and may at the sallle time lead to a significant contraction in short-term and long-term debt and equity 
funding sources. A decline in market liquidity of real estate-related investments, as well as a lack of availability of observable 
transaction data and inputs, may make it more difficult to sell assets or determine their fair values. As a result, we may be unable to 
sell investments, or only be able to sell investments at a price that may be materially different from the fair values presented. Also, in 
such conditions, there is no guarantee that our borrowing arrangements or other arrangements for obtaining leverage will continue to 
be available or, if available, will be available on terms and conditions acceptable to us. 

101 



Capital Markets Risk 

We are exposed to risks related to the equity capital markets and our related ability to raise capital through the issuance of our stock or 
other equity instmments. We are also exposed to risks related to the debt capital markets and our related ability to finance our business 
through borrowings under secured credit agreements, secured revolving credit facilities, collateralized loan obligations, mortgage 
loans, tenn loans, or other debt instruments or arrangements. As a REIT, we are required to distribute a significant portion of our 
taxable income annually, which constrains our abili ty to accumulate operating cash flow and therefore requires us to utilize debt or 
equity capital to finance our business. We seek to mitigate these risks by monitoring t11e debt and equity capital markets to inform our 
decisions on the amount, timing and terms of capital we raise. 

Global macroeconomic conditions, including, w itlwut limitation, heightened inflation, changes to fiscal and monetary policy, 
sustained higher interest rates, structural shifts and regulatory changes to the commercial banking systems of the U.S. and Western 
Europe, currency fluctuations, and labor shortages, have contributed to increased volatility in public debt and equity markets, 
increased cost of ftmds and reduced availability of efficient debt capital, factors which caused us to moderate our investment activity 
in 2023 and throughout 2024, and may cause us to restrain our investment activity in the future. 

Counlerparly Risk 

The nature of our business requires us to bold our cash and cash equivalents with, and obtain fmancing from, various fmancial 
institutions. Tlus exposes us to the risk that these financial institutions may not fulfill their obligations to us under these various 
contrachtal arrangements. We seek to nutigate this exposure by depositing our cash and cash equivalents and entering into financing 
agreements with what we believe to be !ugh credit-quality institutions. 

The nature of our loans and other investments also exposes us to the risk that our counterparties do not make required interest and 
principal payments on scheduled due dates. We seek to manage this risk through a comprehensive credit analysis prior to making an 
investment, rigorous monitoring of the underlying collateral during the term of our investments, and active asset management to 
protect our security interest in our collateral. 

Currency Risk 

We may in the future hold assets denominated in foreign currencies, which would expose us to foreign currency risk. As a result, a 
change in foreign currency exchange rates may have an adverse impact on the valuation of our assets, as well as our income and 
distributions. Any such changes in foreign currency exchange rates may impact the measurement of such assets or income for the 
purposes of our REIT tests and may affect the amounts available for payment of dividends on our common stock. 

We intend to hedge any currency exposures in a prudent mrumer. However, our currency hedging strategies may not eliminate all of 
our currency risk due to, among other things, uncertainties in the timing and/or amount of payments received on the related 
investments and/or unequal, inaccurate or unavailability of hedges to perfectly offset changes in future exchange rates. Addi ttionally, 
we may be required under certain circumstances to collateralize our currency hedges for the benefit of the hedge counterparty, which 
could adversely affect our Liquidity. 

We may hedge foreign currency exposure on certain investments in the future by entering into a series of forwards to fix the U.S. 
dollar amount of foreign currency denominated cash flows (interest income, rental income and principal payments) we expect to 
receive from any foreign currency denominated investments. Accordingly, the notional values and expiration dates of our foreign 
currency hedges would approximate the amounts and timing of future payments we expect to receive on the related investments. 

Item 8. F inancial Statements and Supplementary Data. 

The financial statements required by this item and the reports of the indeperndent accowllants thereon appear on pages F-2 to F-52. See 
the accompanying Index to Consolidated Financial Statements and Schedule on page F -I. 

Item 9. C hanges in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure. 

None. 
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Item 9A. Controls and Procedures. 

Disclosure Controls and Procedures. We maintain disclosure controls and procedures tJ1a t are designed to ensure that information 
required to be disclosed in our reports under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within 1!.he time 
periods specified in the SEC's mles and forms and that such information is accumulated. and cmrummicated to our management, 
including our Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer) and Cll_ief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer), to allow 
for timely decisions regarding required disclosure. In designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures, management 
recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of 
achieving the desired control objectives, and management is required to apply its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship 
of possible controls and procedures. 

As required by Rules l3a-l5(b) and l5d-l5(b) under the Exchange Act, we carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with 
the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer) and Chief Financial Officer 
(Principal Financial Officer), of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of 
December 31 , 2024. Based upon that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer) and Chief Financial 
Officer (Principal Financial Officer) concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective at the reasonable assurance 
level as of December 3 1, 2024. 

Changes in Inte rnal Control Over Financial R eporting. There were no changes in our internal control over fmancial reporting (as 
such term as defined in Rules 13a-l5(f) and l5d-l5(f) under the Exchange Act) during the most recently completed fiscal quarter that 
have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting. 

Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Management is responsible for establishing and 
maintaining adequate internal control over financia l reporting. Internal control over financial reporting is a process designed under the 
supervision of our Chief Executilve Officer and Chief Financial Officer to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of 
fmancial reporting and the preparation of our consolidated financial statements for external reporting purposes in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America ("generally accepted accounting principles"). 

Internal control over fmancial reporting includes policies and procedures that pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable 
detail, accurately and fairly reflect transactions and dispositions of assets of the company; provide reasonable assurances that 
transactions are recorded as necessary to penn it preparation of financial statements in accordance witJ1 generally accepted accounting 
principles, and that receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorizations of the company's management 
and directors; and provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of tmauthorized acquisition, use or 
disposition of assets that could have a material effect on the Company's financial statements. 

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. In addition, 
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of 
changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. 

Management conducted an assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 , 2024, based 
on the framework established in Internal Control -Integrated Framework issued by the Conm1ittee of Sponsoring Organizations of the 
Treadway Commission in 2013. Based on this assessment, management has determined that the Company' s internal control over 
financial reporting as ofDe.cember 31 , 2024, was effective. 

Deloitte & Touche LLP, an independent registered public accounting ftrm, has audited the Company' s fmancial statements included in 
tllis Aruma! Report on Form 10-K and issued its report on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting 
as of December 3 1, 2024, which is included herein. 

Item 9B. Other Information. 

None. 

Item 9C. Disclosure R egarding Foreign Jurisdictions That Prevent Inspections. 

Not Applicable. 
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PART Ill 

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance. 

The information required by tJ1is item is incorporated by reference to the Company's definitive proxy statement to be fi led not later 
than April30, 2025 with the SEC pursuant to Regulation l4A trnder the Exchange Act. 

Item 11. Executive Compensation. 

The information required by tllis item is incorporated by reference to the Company's definitive proxy statement to be filed not later 
than April30, 2025 with the SEC pursuant to Regulation l4A under the Exchange Act. 

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters. 

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the Company's definitive proxy statement to be filed not later 
tJ1an April 30, 2025 with the SEC pursuant to Regll!lation l4A under the Exchange Act. 

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence. 

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the Company's definitive proxy statement to be filed not later 
than April30, 2025 with the SEC pursuant to Regmlation 14A under the Exchange Act. 

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services. 

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the Company' s definitive proxy statement to be fi led not later 
than April 30, 2025 with the SEC pursuant to Regl!l lation 14A under the Exchange Act. 

104 



PART IV 

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules. 

Financial Statements 

See the accompanying Index to Consolidated Financial Statements and Schedule on page F-l . 

Consolidated Financial Statement Schedules 

See the accompanying Index to Consolidated Financial Statements and Schedule on page F-l. 

Exhibits 
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Exhibit Index 

Exhibit 
Number Description 

3. 1 (a) Articles of Amendment and Restatement ofTPG REFinance Trust, Inc. (incorporated by refere.nce to Exhibit 3.1 to the 
Company's Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-38 156) fi led on July 25, 20 17) 

3. 1 (b) Articles Supplementary reclassifying and designating 2,500,000 authorized but unissued shares of the Company' s Class 
A common stock, $0.001 par value per share, as additional shares of undesignated common stock, $0.001 par value per 
share, of the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 (b) to the Company' s Annual Report on Form 10-K 
(File No. 001-38156) filed on Febmary 19, 2020) 

3.l(c) Articles Supplementary designating TPG RE Finance Tmst, Inc. ' s 11.0% Series B Cumulative Redeemable Preferred 
Stock (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company's Current Report on Fonn 8-K (File No. 001-38156) 
filed on May 29, 2020) 

3. l(d) Articles Supplementary designating TPG REFinance Trust, Inc.'s 6.25% Series C Cumulative Redeemable Preferred 
Stock (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.4 to the Company' s Registration Statement on Form 8-A (File No. 
001 -38156) filed on June 10, 2021) 

3. 1 (e) Articles Supplementary reclassifying and designating 7,000,000 authorized but unissued shares of TPG RE Finance 
Trust, Inc.'s 11% Series B Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock, $0.00 I par value per share, as additional shares of 
undesignated preferred stock, $0.001 par value per share, of the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to 
the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001 -38156) filed on June 24, 2021) 

3.2 Second Amended and Restated Bylaws of TPG RE Finance Trust, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the 
Company' s Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No. 001-38156) filed on Febmary 19, 2020) 

4.1 Specimen Cornman Stock Certificate of TPG REFinance Tmst, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the 
Company's Registration Statement on Form S-11/A (File No. 333-217446) filed on June 21 , 2017) 

4.2* Description of Securities ofTPG RE Finance Tmst, Inc. 

I 0.1 (a) Management Agreement, dated as of July 25, 2017, between TPG RE Finance Tmst, Inc. and TPG REFinance Tmst 
Management, L.P. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company' s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 
001-38156) liled on July 25, 2017) 

I 0.1 (b) Amendment No. I to Management Agreement, dated as of May 2, 20 18, by and between TPG RE Finance Trust, Inc. 
and TPG REFinance Trust Management, L.P. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit I 0.1 to the Company's Quarterly 
Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001 -38156) filed on May 7, 2018) 

10.2(a) Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of December 15, 2014, by and among TPG REFinance Tmst, Inc. and other 
parties named therein (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company's Registration Statement on Form 
S-Ill A (File No. 33 3-217446) filed on July I 0, 20 17) 

10.2(b)* Amendment No. 1 to Registration Rights Agreement, dated May 27, 2020, by and between TPG REFinance Trust, Inc. 
and other parties named therein 

I0.3t Form of Indemnification Agreement between TPG RE Finance Tmst, Inc. and each of its directors and officers 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company's Registration Statement on Form S-11/A (File No. 
333-2 17446) tiled on Jtme 2 1, 2017) 

10.4 Trademark License Agreement, dated July 19, 2017, between Tarrant Capital IP, LLC and TPG REFinance Trust, Inc. 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit I 0. 1 to the Company' s Current Report on Fom1 8-K (File No. 00 1-38156) filed on 
July25, 2017) 
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Exhibit 
Number Description 

l0.5(a) Indenture, dated as of October 25, 2019, by and among TRTX 20 19-FL3 Issuer, Ltd., TRTX 20 19-FL3 Co-Issuer, LLC, 
TRTX Master CLO Loan Seller, LLC, Wilmington Tntst, National Association and Wells Fargo Bank, National 
Association (incorporated by referelllce to Exhibit 10.5 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 
001 -38156) filed on October 28, 20 19) 

10.5(b) Preferred Share Paying Agency Agreement, dated as of October 25, 2019, among TRTX 2019-FL3 Issuer, Ltd. , Wells 
Fargo Bank, National Association and MaplesFS Limited (incorporated by reference to Ex.hibitt 10.6 to the Company's 
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. OOI -38156) filed on October 28, 2019) 

10.5(c) Collateral Interest Purchase Agreement, dated as of October 25, 20I9, an1ong TRTX Master CLO Loan Seller, LLC, 
TRTX 20I9-FL3 Issuer, Ltd., TPG RE Finance Trust Holdco, LLC and TPG RE Finance Trust CLO Sub-REIT 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit I 0.7 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form I 0-Q (File No. 00 1-38156) filed 
on October 28, 20 19) 

10.5(d) Collateral Management Agreement, dated as of October 25, 2019, between TRTX 2019-FL3 Issuer, Ltd. and TPG RE 
Finance Trust Management, L.P. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit I 0.8 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Fonn 
10-Q (File No. 001-38 156) fi led on October 28, 2019) 

I 0.5(e) Servicing Agreement, dated as of October 25, 2019, by and among TRTX 2019-FL3 Issuer, Ltd. , TPG REFinance Trust 
Management, L.P. , Wilmington Trust, National Association, Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, TRTX Master 
CLO Loan Seller, LLC, Situs Asset Management LLC and Situs Holdings, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 
10 . .9 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form IO-Q (File No. OOI-38I56) filed on October 28, 20I9) 

I 0.6(a)t Amended and Resta ted 2017 Equity Incentive Plan ofTPG REFinance Trust, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 
10 . .1 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-38156) filed on April29, 2019) 

I 0.6(b )t Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement for Non-Management Directors llmder the 2017 Equity Incentive Plan of 
TPG REFinance Trust, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.38 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K 
(File No. 001-38156) filed on February 26, 2018) 

10.6(c)t Amended and Restated Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement under the Amended and Restated 2017 Equity 
Incentive Plan ofTPG REFinance Trust, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14(c) to the Company' s Annual 
Report on Form 10-K (File No. 001 -38156) fLied on February 26, 20 19) 

I 0.6( d)t Amended and Restated Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement under the Amended and Restated 2017 Equity 
Incentive Plan ofTIPG REFinance Trust, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7(b) to the Company' s Annual 
Report on Form 1 0-K (File No. 001 -38156) filed on February 20, 2024) 

10.6(e)"l* Amended and Restated Form ofRestricted Stock Unit Award Agreement under the Amended and Restated 2017 Equity 
Incentive Plan of TPG Real Estate Finance Trust, Inc. 

I 0.6(1)t* Fonn of Deferred Stock Unit Award Agreement for Non-Management Directors under the Amended and Restated 2017 
Equity Incentive Plan ofTPG REFinance Trust, Inc. 

10.7(a) Indenture, dated as ofMarch 31,2021 , by and among TRTX 202l-FL4 Issuer, Ltd., TRTX 2021-FL4 Co-Issuer, LLC, 
TR TX Master CLO Loan Seller, LLC, Wilmington Trust, National Association and Wells Fargo Bank, National 
Association (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 
001 -38156) filed on April!, 2021) 

10.7(b) Preferred Share Paying Agency Agreement, dated as of March 31, 2021 , among TRTX 2021-FL4 Issuer, Ltd. , Wells 
Fargo Bank, National Association and MaplesFS Limited (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company' s 
Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 00 1-38156) filed on April 1, 2021) 
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Exhibit 
Number 

10.7(c) 

10.7(d) 

10.7(e) 

I 0.8(a) 

1 0.8(b) 

10.8(c) 

10.8(d) 

l0.8(e) 

19.1 * 

21.1 * 

23.1 * 

31.1 * 

31.2* 

32. 1 ** 

32.2** 

Description 

Collateral Interest Purchase Agreement, dated as of March 31 , 2021, among TRTX 2021-FL4 Issuer, Ltd., TRTX 
Master CLO Loan Seller, LLC, TPG RE Finance Trust Ho1dco, LLC and TPG RE Finance Trust CLO Sub-REIT 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-38156) filed on 
April! , 2021) 

Collateral Management Agreement, dated as of March 31 , 2021, between TRTX 202 1-FL4 Issuer, Ltd. and TPG RE 
Finance Tmst Management, L.P. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company's Current Report on Form 
8-K (File No. 001 -38156) filed on April I , 2021) 

Servicing Agreement, dated as of March 31 , 2021 , by and among TRTX 2021-FL4 Issuer, Ltd., TPG REFinance Tmst 
Management, L.P., Wilmington Tmst, National Association, Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, TRTX Master 
CLO Loan Seller, LLC, Situs Asset Management LLC and Situs Holdings, LLC. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 
10..5 to the Company's Current Report on Fonn 8-K (File No. 001 -38 156) filed on April I, 2021) 

Indenture, dated as of February 16, 2022, by and among TRTX 2022-FL5 Issuer, Ltd., TRTX 2022-FL5 Co-Issuer, 
LLC, TRTX Master CLO Loan Seller, LLC, Wilmington Tmst, National Association and Computershare Tmst 
Company, National Association (incorporated by reference to Exhibit I 0. 17(a) to the Company's Annual Report on 
Form 10-K (File No. 001-38156) filed on Febmary 23, 2022) 

Preferred Share Paying Agency Agreement, dated as of February 16, 2022, among TRTX 2022-FL5 Issuer, Ltd., 
Computershare Tmst Company, National Association, and MaplesFS Limited (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 
10.17(b) to tl1e Company's Annual Report on Fonn 10-K (File No. 001 -35156) filed on February23, 2022) 

Collateral Interest Purchase Agreement, dated as of Febmary 16, 2022, among TRTX 2022-FL5 Issuer, Ltd., TRTX 
Master CLO Loan Seller, LLC, TPG RE Finance Trust Holdco, LLC and TPG RE Finance Trust CLO Sub-REIT 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17(c) to tlle Company's Almual Report on Fonn 10-K (File No. 001-38156) 
filed on Febmary 23, 2022) 

Collateral Management Agreement, dated as of Febmary 16, 2022, between TRTX 2022-FL5 Issuer, Ltd. and TPG RE 
Finance Tmst Management, L.P. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit IO.l7(d) to tl1e Company's Almual Report on 
Form 10-K (File No. 001-38156) filed on February 23, 2022) 

Servicing Agreement, dated as of February 16, 2022, by and among TRTX 2022-FL5 Issuer, Ltd., TPG RE Finance 
Trust Management, L.P., Wilmington Trust, National Association, Computershare Trust Company, National 
Association, TRTX Master CLO Loan Seller, LLC, Situs Asset Management LLC and Situs Holdings, LLC 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17(e) to ilie Company's Almual Report on Form 10-K (File No. 001 -38156) 
filed on February 23 , 2022) 

TPG REFinance Trust, Inc. Insider Trading Policy 

Subsidiaries ofTPG REFinance Trust, Inc. 

Consent ofDeloitte & Touche LLP 

Certificate of Doug Bouquard, Princnpal Executive Officer, pursuant to Section 302 ofthe Sarbanes-Oxley Act of2002 

Certificate ofRobert Foley, ChiefFinancial Officer, pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of2002 

Certificate of Doug Bouquard, Principal Executive Officer, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to 
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 

Certificate of Robert Foley, Chief Financial Officer, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 
906 of tlle Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 
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Exhibit 
Number Descript ion 

97 Policy Relating to Recovery of Erroneously Awarded Compensation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 97 to the 
Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No. 001-38156) filed on Febmary 20, 2024) 

10 l.fNS* In line XBRL Instance Document - the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because its XBRL 
tags are embedded within the lnline XBRL document. 

lOl.SCH* Inl!ine XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document 

101. CAL* In line XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document 

10 l.DEF* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Link base Document 

I OI.LAB* In line XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document 

I 0 l.PRE* In line XBRL Taxonomy Extension P resentation Linkbase Document 

I 04* Cover Page Interactive Data File (fom1atted as in line XBRL and contained in Exhibit I 0 I) 

t This document has been identified as a management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement. 

* Filed herewitJ1. 

** Furnished herewith. 
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SIGNATURES 

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or IS( d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the Registrant has duly 
caused this Report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized. 

Date: February 18, 2025 TPG RE Finance Trust, Inc. 

By: /s/ Doug Bouquard. 
----------------------~--~--------------------

Doug Bouquard 

Chief Executive Officer 

(Principal Executive OjjiceJy 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, this Report has been signed below by the following 
persons on behalf of the Registrant in the capacities and on the dates indicated. 

Name Title Date 

/s/ Avi Banyasz Chairman of the Board of Directors February 18, 2025 

Avi Banyasz 

Is/ Doug Bouquard ChiefExe.cutive Officer 
----------~~--~---------

February 18, 2025 

Doug Bouquard (Principal Executive Officer) 

Is/ Robert Foley Chief Financial Officer 
------------------~-------

February 18, 2025 

Robert Foley (Principal Financial Officer and Accounting Officer) 

Is/ Michael Gillmore Director Febmary 18, 2025 

Michael Gillmore 

/s/ Julie Hong Director Febmary 18, 2025 

Julie Hong 

Is/ Todd Schuster Director Febmary 18, 2025 

Todd Schuster 

Is/ Wendy Silverstein Director Febmary 18, 2025 

Wendy Silverstein 

Is/ Bradley Smith Director February 18, 2025 

Brad!ley Smith 
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Rei>Ort oflndependent Registered Public Accounting Firm 

To the stockholders and the Board of Directors ofTPG REFinance Trust, Inc. 

Opinions on the Financial Statements and Internal Control over Financial Rellorting 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of TPG REFinance Trust, Inc. and subsidiaries (the "Company") as 
of December 31 , 2024 and 2023, the related consolidated statements of income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss), changes in 
equity and cash flows, for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2024, and the related notes and the schedules 
listed in the Index at Item 15 (collectively referred to as the "financial statements"). We also have audited the Company' s internal 
control over fmancial reporting as of December 3 1, 2024, based on criteria established in internal Control - integrated Framework 
(20i3) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in a ll material respects, the financial position of the Company 
as of December 31 , 2024 and 2023, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended 
December 31, 2024, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also, in our 
opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 3 I, 2024, 
based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (20i3) issued by COSO. 

Basis for Opinions 

The Company's management is responsible for these financial statements, for maintaining effective internal control over financial 
reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying 
Management' s Report on InternaJ Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these fmanciaJ 
statements and an opinion on the Company's internal control over financial reporting based on our audits. We are a public accounting 
finn registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent 
with respect to tJ1e Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the 
Securities and Exchange Commission and ilie PCAOB. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits 
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud, 
and whetller effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. 

Our audits of the fmaucial statements included performing procedmes to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures to respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, 
on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the 
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the 
financial statements. Our audit of internal control over frnancial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over 
fmancial reporting, assessing ilie risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness 
of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary 
in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions. 

Definition and Limitations oflnternal Control over Financial Reporting 

A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliabili ty of 
financial reporting and the preparation of financia l statements for external purposes in accordance witJ1 generally accepted accounting 
principles. A company' s internal control over f'manciaJ reporting includes those policies and procedures iliat (1) pertain to ilie 
maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect tl1e transactions and dispositions of the assets of ilie 
company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financia l statements in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditmes of the company are being made only in 
accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding 
prevention or timely detection oftmauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect 
on the financial statements. 

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections 
of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in 
conditions, or that the degree of compliance wiili the policies or procedures may deteriorate. 
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Critical Audit Matter 

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter ru·ising from the current-period audit of the .linru1cial statements that was 
communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee md that (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material 
to the finilllcial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The conununication of 
critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by 
communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on tl1e accounts or 
disclosures to which it relates. 

Loans Hefti for Investment and the Allowance for Cretlif Losses- Refer to Notes 2 anti 3 to the Financial Statements 

Critical Audit Matter Description 

The Company employs an individually-assessed approach to estimate credit losses for loans considered to be "collateral-dependent" 
when repayment of the loru1 is expected to be provided substantially through the operation or sale of the underlying collateral and the 
borrower is experiencing financial difficulty or foreclosure is probable. For loru1s evaluated by the individually-assessed approach, ilie 
Company estimates an allowance for credit losses based on the difference between the fair value of the underlying collateral and the 
amortized cost basis of the loan. The detennination as to whether a loan meets the criteria for individual-assessment requires judgment 
by management about matters iliat are inherently uncertain. 

We have identified the detem1ination as to whether a loan meets the criteria for individual-assessment as a critical audit matter because 
of the judgment and subjectivity required by management in making tl1is detennination. Auditing the Company's application of ilie 
individually-assessed approach requires a high degree of auditor judgment and increased audit effort. 

How the Critical Audit Matter Was Addressed in the Audit 

Our audit procedures related to the election to use ilie practical expedient included the following, among oiliers: 

We involved more senior, more experienced audit terun members to perf01m audit procedures. 

We tested the operating effectiveness of controls related to management's process to identify loans that meet the criteria for 
individual-assessment. 

We evaluated ilie Company's conclusions as to whether loans meet ilie criteria for individual-assessment by performing ilie 
following: 

We evaluated the reasonableness of the Company's loan risk rating. 

We tested the Wlderlying information used to evaluate !om performmce to ensure the completeness md accuracy of 
that information. 

We considered wheilier events or trilllsactions that occurred after the balance sheet date but before ilie completion of 
the audit affected the conclusim1s reached. 

Is/ Deloitte & Touche LLP 

Dallas, Texas 
Febmary 18, 2025 

We have served as the Company' s auditor since 2016. 
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Assets(!) 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Restricted cash 

Accounts receivable 

Collateralized loan obligation proceeds held at trustee 

Accounts receivable from servicerftms tee 

Accmed interest and fees receivable 

Loans held for investment 

Allowance fo•· credit losses 

TPG RE Finance Trust, Inc. 
Consolidated Balance Sheets 

(In thousands, except sha re data) 

Loans held for investment, net (includes $ 1,0 14,852 and $1 ,070,629, respectively, pledged as collateral under 
secured financing agreements) 

Real estate owned, net 

Other assets 

Total assets 

Liabilities and stockholders' equif),(l) 

Liabilities 

Accmed interest payable 

Accrued expenses and other liabilities(2
) 

Collateralized loan obligations, net 

Secured financing agreements, net 

Asset-specific financings, net 

Mortgage loan payable, net 

Payable to affilia.tes 

Deferred revenue 

Dividends payable 

Total liabilities 

Commitments and contingencies- see Note 14 

Stockholders' equity 

Series A preferred stock ($0.00 I par value per share; I 00,000,000 and I 00,000,000 shares authorized; 125 and 
125 shares issued and outstand ing, respectively) ($12.5 aggregate liquidation preference) 

Series C preferred stock ($0.00 I par value per share; 8,050,000 shares authorized; 8,050,000 and 8,050,000 
shares issued and outstanding, respectively) ($201,250 aggregate liquidation preference) 

Common stock ($0.00 I par value per share; 302,500,000 and 302,500,000 shares authorized, respectively; 
81 ,003,693 and 77,868,565 shares issued and outstanding, ~;-espectively) 

Additional paid-~n-capital 

Accumulated deficit 

Total stockholders' equity 

Tota l liab ilit ies and stockholdc•·s' equity 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

December 3.1 , 2024 December- 3 .1 , 2023 

190, 160 $ 206,376 

323 642 

10 40 

247.229 

369 66,468 

27.267 32,19.5 

3,278,588 3 ,476,776 

(61 ,558) (67,092) 

3,217,030 3,409,684 

256,404 174,057 

39,866 77,62 1 

3,731,429 $ 4,214,312 

6,655 $ 10,225 

15,077 14,587 

1,681 ,660 I ,91.5,174 

670,727 820,824 

185,741 272,810 

30,695 30,55 1 

5, 111 4,913 

1,744 1,28 1 

19,978 19,162 

2,617,388 3,089,527 

8 8 

81 77 

1,731 , 174 I ,724,967 

(617 ,222) (600,267) 

1, 114,041 1,124,785 

3,731.429 $ 4 ,214,312 

(I) The Company's consolidated Total Assets and Total Liabilities as of December 3 1, 2024 include assets and liabilities of variable interest 
entities ("VIEs") of $2.1 billion and $1.7 billion, respectively. The Company's consolidated Total Assets and Total Liabilities as of 
December 31, 2023 include assets and liabilities of VIEs of $2.6 billion and $19 billion, respectively These assets can be used only to 
satisfy obligations of the VIEs, and creditors of the VIEs have recourse only to these assets, and not to TPG RE Finance Trust, Inc. See 
Note 5 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for details. 

(2) includes $2.4 million and $2.7 million of reserve for expected losses for tmfunded loan corrunitments as of December 31 , 2024 and 
December 31 , 2023, respectively. 

See accomparry ing notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
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TPG RE Finance Trust, Inc. 
Consolidated Statements of I ncome (Loss) 

and Comprehensive Incom e (Loss) 
(In thousands, exce(lt share a nd per sh a re data) 

Year Ended December 31, 

2024 2023 2022 

Interest income and interest expense 

Interest income $ 307,146 $ 362,550 $ 302,860 

Interest expense (198,854) (273,862) ( 160,755) 

Net interest income 108,292 88,688 142,105 

Other revenue 

Other income, net 14,123 19,875 2,849 

Revenue from real estate owned operations 30,700 7,829 

Total other reYcnue 44,823 27,704 2,849 

Other expenses 

Professional fees 5,778 6,695 4,735 

General and admimistmtive 4,264 3,845 4,399 

Stock compensati.on expense 6,387 8,029 5,052 

Servicing and asset management fee-s 1,930 1,352 1,975 

Management fee 20,249 22,426 23,455 

Incentive management fee 5,183 

Expenses from real estate owned operations 35,626 7,532 

Total other exp enses 74,234 49,879 44,799 

Gain on sale of real estate owned, net 7,028 13,291 

Credit loss expense, net (4,147) (189,912) ( 172,982) 

Income (loss) before income taxes 74,734 ( 11 6,371) (59,536) 

lncome tax expense, net (399) (259) (530) 

Net income (loss) $ 74,335 $ ( 11 6,630) $ (60,066) 

Preferred stock d~vidends and participating securi ties' share in earnings (14,669) (14,275) (13,578) 

Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders - see Note 11 $ 59,666 $ (130,905) $ (73,644) 

Eamings (loss) per common share, basic $ 0.75 $ (11.692 $ (0.95) 

Eamings (loss) per common share, diluted $ 0.75 $ (] .69) $ (0.95) 

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding 

Basic: 79,801 ,990 77,575,788 77,296,524 

Diluted: 79,888,044 77,575,788 77,296,524 

Other comprehensive income (loss) 

Net income (loss) $ 74,335 $ (1 16,630) $ (60,066) 

Comprehensive net income (loss) $ 74,335 $ (11 6,630) $ (60,066) 

See accompanying notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
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TPG RE Finance Trust, Inc. 
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity 

(In thousands, except share data) 

Series A !'refe rred Stock Series C J>refe rred Stock Common Stock 

T otal 
Additiona l Accuruula ted stockholders' 

Sha r·es l'ar value Shares l'a r· value Shares l'ar value paid-in-capital deficit equity 

Balance at December 31 , 2021 125 $ - 8,050,000 $ 8 77,183,892 $ 77 $ 1,711,886 $ (247,265) s 1,464,706 

Issuance of common stock - - - - 226,390 

Amortization of stock compensation expense - - - - - - 5,052 - 5,052 

Net (loss) (60,066) (60,066) 
-

Dividends on preferred stock ( 12,592) - ( 12,592) 

Dividends on common stock (d ividends declared per share of$0.96) - - - - - - - (75,104) (75, I 04) 

Balance at December 3 1, 2022 125 $ - 8,050,000 $ 8 77,4 10,282 $ 77 $ 1,716,938 $ (395,027) $ 1,321,996 

Issuance of common stock - - - - 458,283 

Amortization of stock compensation expense 8,029 8,029 

Net (loss) - - - - - - - ( 116,630) ( 116,630) 

Dividends on preferred stock - - - - - - - ( 12,592) ( 12,592) 

Dividends on common stock (d ividends declared per share of$0.96) - - - - - - - (76,0 18) (76,018) 

Balance at December 31, 2023 - 125 $ - 8,050,000 $ 8 77,868,565 $ 77 $ 1,724,967 $ (600,267) $ 1,124,785 

Issuance of common stock, net 3,139,731 4 ( 180) ( 176) 
>-r1 Retired common stock - - - - (4,603) - - (37) (37) ' 0\ 

Amortization of stock compensation expense - - - - - - 6,387 - 6,387 

Net income - - - - - - 74,335 74,335 - -- -
Dividends on preferred stock - - - - - - - (12,592) ( 12,592) 

-
Dividends on common stock (d ividends declared per share of$0.96) (78,661) (78,661) 

Balance at December 31, 2024 125 $ - 8,050,000 $ 8 81 ,003,693 $ 8 1 $ 1,731,174 $ {6 17,222) $ 1,114.041 

See accompany ing notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 



TPG .RE Finance Trust, Inc. 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 

(In thousands) 

Year Ended December 31, 

2024 2023 2022 

Casb flows from o perating activities: 

Net income (loss) $ 74,335 $ (1 16 ,630) $ (60,066) 

Adjustment to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash flows from operating activities: 

Amortization and accretion of premiums, discounts and Joan origination fees, net (6,075) ( 11,955) (11,085) 

Amortization of deferred financing costs 7,989 13,354 15,007 

Depreciation and amortization 15,987 3,577 

Amortization of above and below-market leases (255) (524) 

Accrued PlK interest (360) 

Collection of accmed PIK interest 1,172 542 1,314 

Gain on sale of real estate owned, net (7,028) (13,291) 

Stock compensation expense 6,387 8,029 5,052 

Increase of al lowance for credit losses, net (see Note 3) 4 ,147 189,912 172,982 

Cash flows due to changes in operating assets and liabilities: 

Accounts receivable 71 626 (504) 

Accmed interest and fees receivable 4,713 10 ,773 (16,542) 

Accrued expenses and other liabilities (3 ,197) 4 ,025 (143) 

Accmed interest payable (3 ,570) (855) 8,357 

Payable to affiliates 198 ( 1,071) 375 

Deferred revenue 463 ( 178) 93 

Other assets 10, 126 ( 12 ,471) (1 ,053) 

Net ca s.b provided by openlltiog activities 112, 131 80.126 100.496 

Cash flows from investing activities: 

Origination and acquisition of loans held for investment (494,995) (194,706) (1,519,406) 

Advances on loans held for investment (40,697) (140,547) ( 145,199) 

Principal repayments of loans held for investment 887, 145 1,1 12,919 1,062,381 

Capital expendin•res related to real estate owned (5 ,324) (:5,364) (5,060) 

Cash assumed from conversion of loans held for investment to real estate owned 1,583 

Sale of real estate owned 7:5,434 154,723 

Sales of loans held for investment 92,798 247,649 

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 440,5 10 1,095,385 (452,561) 

Cash flows from financing activities: 

Payments on collateralized loan obligations (237,502) (541,379) (1 ,001,850) 

Proceeds from collateralized loan obligations 907,031 

Payments on secured financing agreements (594,381) (8 14,193) (I , 346,5 74) 

Proceeds from secured financing agreements 442,748 484,828 1,333,028 

Payments on asset-specilic financing atTangements (159,358) (386,164) (19,465) 

Proceeds from asset-specific financing arrangements 71 ,700 94,947 584,841 

Proceeds from mortgage loan payable 3 1,200 

Payment of deferred financing costs (1 ,732) (3,629) (18,788) 

Payment of costs from warrant exercise and issuance of common stock (177) 

Payments to retire common stock (37) 

Dividends paid on common stock (77,849) (7:5,826) (80,290) 

Dividends paid on preferred stock (12,588) ( 12 ,592) (12,592) 

Net cash (used in) p•·ovided by financing nctivities (569,176) ( I ,222,808) 345,341 

Net change in cash, cash equivalents, and restt·icted cash (16,535) (47,297) (6,724) 

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of period 207,0 18 254,315 261,039 

Cash, cash cqui\lalents and rcstl"ictt>d cash at end of pcl"iod $ 190,483 $ 207,018 $ 254,315 
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Supplemental disclosul'c of cash flow infol'mation: 

Interest paid $ 194,437 $ 263,710 $ 137,511 

Taxes paid $ 260 $ 371 $ 784 

Supplemental disclosul'e of non-cash i:nvesting and financing activities: 

Collateralized loan obligation proceeds held at trustee $ $ 247,229 $ 296,964 

Dividends declared, not paid $ 19,978 $ 19 ,162 $ 18,970 

Sale and principal repayments of loans held for investment held by servicer/ trustee, net $ $ 66,057 $ 162,203 

Accrued interest receivable held by servicer/ trustee, net $ $ $ 1,444 

Loan sale hold back (see Note 3) $ $ 30,027 $ 

Conversion to real estate owned ofloans held for investment - REO $ 89,499 $ 241,868 $ 76,500 

Conversion to real estate owned of loans held for investment - Other assets $ 1,905 $ 31,576 $ 

Conversion to real estate owned of loans held for investment - Other liabilities $ 2,100 $ 4,311 $ 

Accrued deferred financing costs $ $ 122 $ 608 

Accrued capital expenditures related to real estate owned $ 298 $ 315 $ 

See accompa~rying notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
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TPG RE Finance Trust, Inc. 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

(1) Business and Organization 

TPG RE Finance Trust, Inc. (together with its consolidated subsidiaries, "we," "us," "our" or the "Company") is organized as a 
holding company and conducts its operations primarily through TPG RE F:inance Trust Holdco, LLC ("Holdco"), a Delaware limited 
liability company that is wholly owned by the Company, and Holdco's direct and indirect subsiruaries. The Company conducts its 
operations as a real estate invesunent tmst ("REIT") for U.S. federal income tax pw-poses. The Company is generally not subject to 
U.S. federal income taxes on its REIT taxable income to the extent that it annually rustributes all of its REIT taxable income to 
stockl10lders and maintains its qualification as a REIT. The Company also operates its business in a manner that permits it to maintain 
an exclusion from reg istration under the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended. 

The Company's principal business activity is to directly originate and acquire a ill versified portfolio of commercial real estate-related 
credit investments, consisting primarily of first mortgage loans and senior participation interests in first mortgage loans secured by 
institutional-quality properties in primary and select secondary markets in the United States. 

(2) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies. 

Basis of Presentation 

The consolidated financial statements of tl1e Company have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally 
accepted in tl1e United States ("GAAP"). The consolidated financial statements include tl1e Company's accounts, consolidated variable 
interest entities for which the Company is the primary beneficiary, and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. All intercompany transactions 
and balances have been eliminated. 

Use of Estimates 

The preparation of the consolidated fmancial statements in conformity with GAAP requires estimates of assets, liabilities, revenues, 
expenses and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements. Actual results could 
differ from management's estimates, and such differences could be materia l. Significant estimates made in the consolidated financial 
statements include, but are not limited to, the ad·equacy of our allowance for credit losses and U1e valuation inputs related thereto. 
Actual amounts and values as of the balance sheet dates may be materially different from tl1e amounts and values reported due to the 
inherent uncertainty in the estimation process and the limited availability of observable pricing inputs due to the nature of transitional 
mortgage loans .. Also, future amounts and values could differ materially from those estimates due to changes in values and 
circumstances after the balance sheet date and the limited availability of observable prices. 

Segments 

The Company operates its business in a single operating and reportable segment, which is consistent with how tl1e Company's Chief 
Executive Officer, who is its chief operating decision maker ("CODM"), assesses financial perfonnance and allocates resources. The 
CODM uses consolidated Net income (loss) as one of the primary measures to assess financial perfonnance and allocate resources. All 
expense categories on the Company's consolidated statements of income (loss) are significant, and t11ere are no other significant 
expenses that would require disclosure. There is no di fference between segment assets and total consolidated assets. 

Principles of Consolillation 

Financial Accounting Standards Board ("F ASB") Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC") Topic 81 O-Conso1idation ("ASC 
8 1 0") provides guidance on the identification of a variable interest entity ("VIE"), for which control is achieved through means other 
than voting rights, and the detennination of which business enterprise, if any, should consolidate the VlE. An entity is considered a 
VIE if any of the following applies: (1) the equity investors (if any) lack one or more of the essential characteristics of a controlling 
fmancial interest; (2) the equity investment at risk is insufficient to finance that entity's activities without additional subordinated 
financial support; or (3) the equity investors have voting rights that are not proportionate to their economic interests and the activities 
of t11e entity involve or are conducted on behalf of an investor with a disproportionately small voting interest. The Company 
consolidates VIEs in which the Company is considered to be U1e primary beneficiary. The primary beneficiary is defined as the entity 
having both of tbe following characteristics: ( 1) the power to direct tl1e activities that, when taken togetl1er, most significantly impact 
the VIE's performance; and (2) the obligation to absorb losses and right to receive the returns from the VIE that would be significant 
to the VJE. 

At each reporting date, the Company reconsiders its primary beneficiary conclusions for all its VIEs to determine if its obligation to 
absorb losses of, or its rights to receive benefits from, the VIE could potentially be more t11an insignificant, and will consolidate or not 
consolidate in accordance with GAAP. See Note 5 for details. 
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Revenue Recognition 

Interest income on loans is accrued using tlle interest method based on the contractual terms of the loan, adjusted for expected or 
realized credit losses, if any. The objective of the interest method is to arrive at periodic interest income, including recognition of fees 
and costs, at a constant effective yield. Premiums, discollilts, and origination fees are amortized or accreted into interest income over 
tlle lives of the loans using the interest method, or on a straight-line basis when it approximates the interest method. Extension and 
modification fees are accreted into interest income on a straight-line basis, when it approximates the interest method, over the related 
extension or modification period. Exit fees are accreted into interest income on a straight-line basis, when it approximates the interest 
method, over the lives of the loans to which they relate unless they can be waived by the Company or a co-lender in connection with a 
loan refinancing, or if timely collection of principal and interest is doubtful. Prepayment penalties from borrowers are recognized as 
interest income when received. Certain of the Company's loan investments have in the past, and may in the future, provide for 
additional interest based on the borrower' s operating cash flow or appreciation in the value of the underlying collateraL Such amounts 
are considered contingent interest and are reflected as interest income only upon certainty of collection. Certain of the Company' s loan 
investments have in the past, and may in tlle future, provide for the accrual of interest (in part, or in whole) instead of its current 
payment in cash, with the accrued interest ("PIK interest") added to the unpaid principal balance of the loan. Such PIK interest is 
recognized currently as interest income unless the Company concludes eventual collection is unlikely, in which case the PIK interest is 
written off. 

All interest accrued but not received for loans placed on non-accrual status is subtracted from interest income at the time the loan is 
placed on non-accrual status. Based on the Company's judgment as to the collectability of principal, a loan on non-accrual status is 
either accounted for on a cash basis, where interest income is recognized only upon receipt of cash for interest payments, or on a cost­
recovery basis, where all cash receipts reduce the loan's carrying value, and interest income is only recorded when such carrying value 
has been fully recovered. 

Loans Held for I nvestment 

Loans that tJ1e Company has the intent and ability to hold for the foreseeable future, or until mat11rity or repayment, are reported at 
their outstanding principal balances net of cumulative write-offs, interest applied to principal (for loans accounted for using the cost­
recovery method), llilamortized premiums, discounts, loan origination fees and costs. Loan origination fees and direct loan origination 
costs are deferred and recognized! in interest income over the estimated life of the loans using the interest method, or on a straight-line 
basis when it approximates t11e interest method, adjusted for actual prepayments. Interest accrued but not yet collected is separately 
reported as accrued interest and fees receivable on the Company' s consolidated balance sheets. 

Non-Accrual Loans 

Loans are placed on non-accrual status when the full and timely coUection of principal or interest is doubtful, generaUy when: 
management determines that the borrower is incapable of, or has ceased efforts toward, curing the cause of a default; the loan becomes 
90 days or more past due for principal or interest; or the loan experiences a maturity default. The Company considers an account past 
due when an obligor fails to pay substantially all (defined as 90%) of the scheduled contractual payments by the due date. In each 
case, the period of delinquency is based on the number of days payments are contractually past due. A loan may be retumed to accrual 
status if all delinquent principal and interest payments are brought current, and collectability of t11e remaining principal and interest 
payments in accordance with the loan agreement is reasonably assured. Loans that in the j udgment of the Manager, are adequately 
secured and in the process of collection are maintained on accrual status, even if they are 90 days or more past due. 

Loans Held for S ale 

The Company may change its intent, or its assessment of its ability, to hold for the foreseeable future loans held for investment based 
on changes in the real estate market, capital markets, or when a shift occurs in the Company's approach to loan portfolio construction. 
Once a determination is made to sell a loan, or the Company determines it no longer has the intent and ability to hold a loan held for 
investment for the foreseeable future, the loan is transferred to loans held for sale. In accordance with GAAP, loans classified as held 
for sale are recorded at the lower of cost or fair value, net of estimated selling costs, and the loan is excluded from the detennination of 
the CECL reserve. 
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Credit L osses 

Allowance for Credit Losses for Loans Held for Investment 

The Company accounts for its all.owance for crednt losses on loans held for investment using the Current Expected Credit Loss model 
of ASC Topic 326, Financial Instruments-Credit Losses ("ASC 326"). Periodic changes to tl1e CECL reserve are recognized through 
net income on the Company's consolidated statements of income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss). The allowance for credit 
losses measured under the CECL accow1ting framework represents an estimate of current expected losses for the Company's existing 
portfolio of loans held for investment, and is presented as a valuation reserve on the Company' s consolidated balance sheets. Expected 
credit losses related to non-cancelable unfunded loan commitments are accounted for as separate liabilities included in accrued 
expenses and other liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets. The allowance for credit losses for loans held for investment, as 
reported in the Company's consolidated balance sheets, is adjusted by a credit loss (expense) benefit, which is reported in eamings in 
the consolidated statements of income (loss) and comprehensive income Ooss) and reduced by the write-off of loan amounts, net of 
recoveries and additions related to purchased credit-deteriorated ("PCD") assets, if relevant. The Company has elected to not measure 
an allowance for credit losses on accrued interest receivables related to all of its loans held for investment because it writes off 
uncollectible accmed interest receivable in a timely manner pursuant to its non-accmal policy, described above. 

The Company considers key credit quality indicators in underwriting loans and estimating credit losses, including but not limited to: 
the capitalization of borrowers and sponsors; the expertise of the borrowers and sponsors in a particular real estate property type and 
geographic market; collateral type; geographic region; use and occupancy of the property; property market value; loan-to-value 
("LTV") ratio; loan amount and lien position; debt service coverage ratio; the Company's risk rating for the same and similar loans; 
and prior experience with the borrower and sponsor. This information is used to assess the financial and operating capability, 
experience and profitability of the sponsor/borrower. Ultimate repayment of the Company's loans is also sensitive to interest rate 
changes, general economk conditions, liquidity, LTV ratio, existence of a liquid investment sales market for commercial properties, 
and availability of replacement short-term or long-term financing. The loans in the Company's conm1ercial mortgage loan portfolio 
are secured by collateral of the following property types: office; life science; multifamily; hotel; industrial; mixed-use; and self 
storage. 

The Company's loans are typically collateralized by real estate, or in the case of mezzanine loans, by a parmership interest or similar 
equity interest in the entity that owns the real estate securing the Company's first mortgage loan. The Company regularly evaluates on 
a loan-by-loan basis, typically no less frequently than quarterly, the extent and impact of any credit deterioration associated with the 
performance and/or value of the underlying collateral property, and tlle fina ncial and operating capability of the borrower/sponsor. The 
Company also evaluates the financial su-ength of loan guarantors, if any, and the borrower's competency in managing and operating 
the propetty or properties. In addition, the Company considers the overall economic environment, real estate property type, and 
geographic sub-market in which the borrower operates. Such analyses are completed and reviewed by asset management personnel 
and evaluated by senior management, who utilize various data sources, including, to the extent available (i) periodic financial data 
such as property occupancy, tenant profile, rental rates, operating expenses, the borrower's exit plan, and capitalization and discount 
rates, (ii) site inspections, (iii) sales and fmancing comparables, (iv) current availability of, and credit spreads for, refinancing and (v) 
otl1er market data. 

Quarterly, the Company evaluates the risk of all loans and assigns a risk rating based on a variety of factors, whereby no single factor 
on its own, whether quantitative or qualitative, is given more weight than otl1ers. The factors that tl1e Company considers in 
connection with this evaluation are grouped as follows: (i) loan and credit stmcture, including the as-is LTV; (ii) quality and stability 
of real estate value and operating cash flow, including debt yield, property type, dynamics of the geography, local market, physical 
condition, stability of cash flow, leasing velocity and quality and diversity of tenancy; (iii) perfonmnce against underwritten business 
plan; (iv) the frequency and materiality of loan modifications or waivers occasioned by unfavorable variances between the 
underwritten business plan and actual perfonnance; (v) changes in the capital markets that may impact the repayment of the loan via a 
refinancing or sale of the loan collateral; and (vi) quality, experience and financial condition of sponsor, borrower and guarantor(s). 
Based on a 5-point scale, the Company's loans are rated" I " through "5," from least risk to greatest risk, respectively: 

I - Very Low Risk 

2 - Low Risk 

3 - Medium Risk 

4 - High Risk/Potential for Loss-A loan U1at has a high risk of realiizing a principal loss; and 

5 - Default/Loss Likely-A loan that has a very high risk of realizing a principal loss or has otherwise incurred a p rincipal 
loss. 

The Company generally assigns a risk rating of "3" to all loan investments upon origination or acquisition, except when specific 
circumstances warrant an exception. 
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The Company's CECL reserve also reflects estimates of the current and future economic conditions that impact the performance of the 
commercial real estate assets securing the Company's loans. These estimates include unemployment rates, inflation rates, interest 
rates, price indices for commercial property, current and expected future availability of liquidity in the commercial property debt and 
equity capital markets, and other macroeconomic factors that may influence the likelihood and magnitude of potential credit losses for 
the Company's loans during their anticipated tenn. The Company licenses certain macroeconomic financia l forecasts to infonn its 
view of the potential future impact that broader economic conditions may have on its loan portfolio's performance. Selection of the 
economic forecast or forecasts used, in conjw1ction with loan level inputs, to determine the CECL reserve requires significant 
judgment about future events that, while based on the information available to the Company as of the balance sheet date, are 
ultimately unknowable with certainty. The actual economic conditions impacting the Company's portfolio could vary significantly 
from the estimates the Company made for the periods presented. 

The key inputs to the Company's estimation of its allowance for credit losses as of December 3 1, 2024 were impacted by continued 
dislocations in the capital markets, declines in property values, sustained higher interest rates, uncertain inflationary trends, a 
continued risk of recession, structural shifts and regulatory changes in the banking sector, and political and geopolitical conflicts. 
Inherent tmcertainty in the estimation process and the limited availability of observable pricing inputs due to the nature of transitional 
mortgage loans also constrain the Company's ability to estimate key inputs utilized to calculate its allowance for credit losses. Key 
inputs to the estimate include, but are not limited to: LTV; debt service coverage ratio; current and future operating cash flow and 
performance of collateral properties; the financial strength and liquidity of borrowers and sponsors; capitalization rates and discount 
rates used to value conm1ercial real estate properties; and market liquidity based on market indices or observable transactions 
involving the sale or fmancing of commercial properties. Estimates made by the Company are su~ject to change. Actual results could 
differ from management' s estimates, and such differences could be material. 

Credit Loss Measurement 

The amount of allowance for credit losses is influenced by the size of the Company' s loan portfolio, loan quality and duration, 
collateral operating performance, risk rating, delinquency status, historic loss experience and otJ1er characteristics influencing loss 
expectations, such as reasonable and supportable forecasts of economic conditions. The Company employs two methods to estinlate 
credit losses in its loan portfolio: (l) a model-based approach; and (2) an individually assessed approach for loans considered to be 
"collateral-dependent" since the repayment of the loan is expected to be provided substantially through the operation or sale of the 
underlying collateral, and the borrower is experiencing financial difficulty or foreclosure is probable. 

Once the expected credit loss ammmt is determined, an allowance for credit losses is established. A loan will be written off through 
the allowance for credit losses wlhen it is deemed non-recoverable or upon a realization event. This is generally at the time tJle loan is 
settled (including conversion to real estate owned), transferred or exchanged. Non-recoverability may also be concluded by the 
Company if, in its determination, it is nearly certain that all amounts due will not be collected. This loss is equal to the difference 
between the cash received, or expected to be received, and the carrying value of the asset. Factors considered by the Company in 
determining whether the expected credit loss is not recoverable include whether the Company determines that the loan is uncollectible, 
which means repayment is deemed to be delayed beyond a reasonable time, a loss becomes evident due to a borrower' s lack of assets 
and liquidity, or a borrower' s sponsor is unwilling or unable to support the loan. 

Allowance for Credit Losses for Loans Held f or Investment - Model-Based Approach 

The Company uses a model-based approach used to measure the expected lifetime allowance for credit losses related to loans which 
are not individually assessed. The model-based approach considers the underlying loan level cash flows and relevant historical market 
loan loss data. The Company licenses from Trepp, LLC historical loss infonnation, incorporating loan perfonnance data for over 
125,000 commercial real estate loans dating back to 1998, and an analytical model to compute statistical credit loss factors (i.e., 
probability-of-default, loss severity, and loss-given-default). These credit loss factors are utilized by the Company together with loan 
specific inputs such as property-level operating performance information, delinquency status, indicators of credit quality, and other 
credit trends and risk characteristics. Additionally, the Company considers relevant loan and borrower specific qualitative factors and 
incorporates its expectations about the impact of current macroeconomic and local market conditions and reasonable and supportable 
operating forecasts on expected fumre credit losses in deriving its estimate. For the period beyond which the Company is able to make 
reasonable and supportable forecasts, the Company reverts to unadjusted historical loan loss infonnation. 

The Company uses other acceptable alternative approaches depending on, among other factors, the type of loan, underlying collateral 
and availability of relevant historical market loan Loss data. 
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Allowance for Credit Losses f or Loans Held for Investment - Individua!ly Assessed Approach 

In instances where the Company concludes a loan repayment is entirely dependent on the operation or sale of tlle underlying collateral 
and the borrower is experiencing financial difficulty or foreclosure is probable, the Company individually assesses the allowance for 
credit loss for the tmderlying loan. The ammmt of expected credit loss is detennined using broadly accepted and standard real estate 
valuation techniques (most commonly, a discounted cash flow model and real estate sales comparables). ln instances where the 
Company determines foreclosure of the underlying collateral is probable, the expected credit loss is measured as the difference 
between the amortized cost basis of the loan and the fai r value of the underlying collateral as of the measurement date. The fair value 
of the underlying collateral is adjusted for the estimated costs to sell if repayment or satisfaction of a loan is dependent on the sale 
(rather than the operation) of the ooderlying collateral in instances where foreclosure is not probable. 

Determining the appropriateness of the allowance is complex and requires judgment by management about the effect of matters that 
are inherently uncertain. Evaluations of the loan portfolio in future periods, given the prevailing forecasts and credit loss factors, may 
result in significant changes to the Company's allowance for credit losses and credit loss expense. 

Unfunded Loan Commitments 

The Company's first mortgage loans often contain provisions for future funding of a pre-detennined portion of capital and other costs 
incurred by the borrower in executing its business. plan. These deferred f1mdings are conditioned upon the borrower's execution of its 
business plan with respect to the underlying collateral property securing the loan. These deferred fundings are typically for base 
building work, tenant improvement costs and leasing cmmnissions, interest reserves, and occasionally to fund forecasted operating 
deficits dming lease-up. These deferred funding commitments may be for specific periods, often require satisfaction by the borrower 
of conditions precedent, and may contain termination clauses at the option of the borrower or, more rarely, at the Company's option. 
The total amount of unfunded commitments does not necessarily represent actual amounts that may be funded in cash in the future, 
since commitments may expire without being drawn, may be cancelled if certain conditions are not satisfied by the borrower, or 
borrowers may elect not to borrow some or all of the unused comtnitment. The Company does not recognize these unfunded loan 
commitments in its consolidated financial statements. 

The Company applies its expected credit loss estimates to all future fundirng conm1innents that cannot be contractually terminated at 
the Company's option. The Company maintains a separate allowance for expected credit losses from unfunded loan commitments, 
which is included in accrued expenses and other liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets. The Company estimates the amount of 
expected losses by calculating a commitment usage factor over the contractual period for exposures that are not unconditionally 
cancellable by the Company and applies the loss factors used in the allowance for credit loss methodology described above to the 
results of the usage calculation to estimate the liability for credit losses related to unfunded colllll1itments for each loan. 

Exit Fees Receivable 

The Company's first mortgage loans may require the borrower to pay an exit fee upon repayment or maturity. For each loan that has an 
exit fee outstanding, the Company calculates an allowance for credit losses as of the reporting date. Such amounts are recorded within 
Accrued interest and fees receivable on the Company's consolidated balance sheet and Credit loss expense, net on the Company's 
consolidated statements of income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss). 

Real Estate Ownetl 

Real estate acquired through a foreclosure or by deed-in-lieu of foreclosure is classified as real estate owned ("REO") and held for 
investment on the Company's consolidated balance sheet until a pending sa les transaction meets the criteria of ASC 360-10-45-9 after 
which t11e real estate is considered to be held for sale, or is sold. The Company's basis in REO is equal to t11e fair value of the 
collateral's net assets upon foreclosure. The estimated fair value of REO is detennined using generally accepted valuation techniques, 
including a discounted cash flow model and inputs that include the highest and best use for each asset, estimated future values based 
on extensive discussions with local brokers, investors and other market participants, the estimated holding period for the asset, and 
capitalization and discount rates that reflect estimated investor return requirements for the risks associated wit11 the expected use of 
each asset. If the estimated fair value of REO is lower than the carrying value of the related loan upon its conversion to REO, the 
difference, along with any previously recorded specific CECL reserve, is recorded through credit loss (expense) benefit in the 
consolidated statements of income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss). 

Upon the acquisition of a property, the Company assesses the fair value of the acquired tangible and intangible assets (including land, 
buildings, tenant improvements, above and below-market leases, acquired in-place leases, other identified intangible assets and 
assumed liabilities) and allocates the purchase price to the acquired assets and assumed liabilities, which are on a relative fai r value 
basis. The Company assesses and considers fair value based on estimated cash flow projections that utilize appropriate discount and/or 
capitalization rates, as well as other available market infonnation. Estimates of future cash flows are based on a number of factors 
including historical operating results, known and anticipated trends, and market and economic conditions. 

In determining t11e fair value of the tangible assets of an acquired property, the Company considers the value of the property as if it 
were vacant. The Company allocates the purchase price to other acquired intangibles, including acquired in-place leases that may have 
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a customer relationship intangible value, including (but not limited to) the nature and extent of the existing relationship with the 
tenants, the tenants' credit quality and expectations of lease renewals. Revenue from real estate owned is primarily comprised of rental 
income, including base rent and reimbursements of property operating expenses. For leases that have fixed and measurable base rent 
escalations, the Company recognizes base rent on a straight-line basis over the non-cancelable lease terms. The difference between 
such rental income eamed and the cash rent amount is recorded as straight-nine rent receivable and included within Other assets on the 
consolidated balance sheet. 

The Company records the amortization of above and below-market leases as an adjustment to Revenue from real estate owned 
operations on the consolidated statements of income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss). 

As of December 31 , 2024, REO depreciable assets are depreciated using the straight-line method over estimated useful lives as 
follows: 

Desca·iption 

Building 

Building improvements 

Lease intangibles 

Depreciable Life 

Up to 48 years 

Up to i2 years 

Over lease tenn 

Renovations and/or replacements that improve or extend the life of the REO are capitalized and depreciated over their estimated useful 
lives. The cost of ordinary repairs and maintenance are expensed as incurred. The Company capitalizes costs directly related to the 
pre-development, development or improvement of its REO, referred to as capital projects. Costs associated with the Company's capital 
projects are capitalized as incurred. Costs considered for capitalization include, but are not limited to, construction costs, interest, real 
estate taxes, insurance and utilities, if appropriate. The Company capitalizes indirect costs such as personnel, office, and admin.istrative 
expenses that are directly related to development projects based on an estimate of the time Sjpent on the construction and development 
activities. These costs are capitalized only during the period in which activities necessary to ready an asset for its intended use are in 
progress and such costs are incremental and identifiable to a specific activity to prepare the asset for its intended use. The Company 
detem1ines when the capitalization period begins and ends through communication with project and other managers responsible for the 
tracking and oversight of individual projects. In the event that the activities to ready the asset for its intended use are suspended, the 
capitalization period will cease until such activities are resw11ed. 

REO is initially measured at fair value and is thereafter subject to an ongoing impaim1ent analysis. Subsequent to an REO acquisition, 
events or circumstances may occur that result in a material and sustained change in the cash flows generated, or expected to be 
generated, from the property. REO is evaluated for recoverability when impairment indicators are identified. REO is considered for 
impairment when the sum of estimated future undiscounted cash flows to be generated by the REO over the estimated remaining 
holding period is less than the carrying value of the REO. An impairment loss is recorded when the carrying value of the REO exceeds 
its fair value. Any impairment loss and gains on sale are included in the consolidated statements of income Ooss) and comprehensive 
income (loss). Revenue and expenses from REO operations are included in the consolidated statements of income (loss) and 
comprehensive income (loss) within Revenue from real estate owned operations and Expenses from real estate owned operations, as 
applicable. 

Investment Portfolio Financing A rrangements 

The Company finances its portfolio of loans, or participation interests therein, and REO using secured financing agreements, including 
secured credit agreements, secured revolving credit faci lities, asset-specific financing arrangements, mortgage loans payable, and 
collateralized loan obligations. The related borrowings are recorded as separate liabilities on the Company's consolidated balance 
sheets. Interest income earned on the investments and interest expense incurred on the related borrowings are reported separately on 
the Company's consolidated statements of income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss). 

In certain instances, the Company creates structural leverage through the co-origination or non-recourse syndication of a senior loan 
interest to a tJ1ird party. For all such syndications the Company has completed through December 31, 2024, the Company transferred 
to a third-party lender, on a non-recourse basis, 1 00% of the senior mortgage loan that the Company originated, and retained as a loan 
investment a separate mezzanine loan investment secured by a pledge of the equity in the mortgage borrower. With respect to the 
senior mortgage loans transferred, the Company retains: no control over the mortgage loan; no economic interest in the mortgage loan; 
and no recourse to the purchaser or the borrower. Consequently, based on these circumstances and because the Company does not 
have any continuing involvement with the transferred senior mortgage loan, these syndications are accounted for as sales under GAAP 
and are removed from t11e Company's consolidated financial statements at the time of transfer. The Company' s consolidated balance 
sheets only include the separate mezzanine loan remaining after the transfer. 

For more infomution regarding the Company's investment portfolio financing arrangements, see Note 6. 
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Fair Value Measurements 

The Company follows ASC 820-10, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures ("ASC 820-10"), for its holdings of financial 
instruments. ASC 820-10 defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair vall!le in accordance with GAAP and expands 
disclosme of faiir value measurements. ASC 820-10 determines fair value to be the price that would be received for a fmancial 
instrument in a current sale, wlhich assumes an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date. The 
Company determines the estimated fair value of financial assets and liabilities using the three-tier fair value hierarchy established by 
GAAP, which prioritizes the inputs used in measuring fa ir value. GAAP establishes market-based or observable inputs as the preferred 
source of values followed by valuation models using management assumptions in the absence of market inputs. The financial 
instruments recorded at fair value on a recurring basis in the Company's consolidated financial statements are cash, cash equivalents, 
and restricted cash. The three levels of inputs that may be used to measure fair value are as follows: 

Level !-Valuations based on quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Company has the 
ability to access. 

Level IT-Valuations based on quoted prices in markets that are not active or for which all significant inputs are 
observable, either directly or indirectly. 

Level ITT-Valuations based on inputs that are unobservable and significant to the overall fair value measurement. 

For certain fmancial instruments, the inputs used by management to measure fair value may fall into different levels of the fair value 
hierarchy. In such cases, the determination of which category within the fair value hierarchy is appropriate for such financial 
instrument is based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement. 

The assessment of the significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement in its entirety requires judgment and considers 
factors specific to the fmancial instrwnent. The Company may use valuation techniques consistent with the market and income 
approaches to measure the fair value of its assets and liabilities. The market approach uses third-party valuations and information 
obtained from market transactioms involving identical or similar assets or liabilities. The income approach uses projections of the 
future economic benefits of an instrument to determine its fai r value, such as in the discounted cash flow methodology. The inputs or 
methodology used for valuing financial instmments are nor necessarily an indication of the risk associated with investing in these 
fmancial instnm1ents. Transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy are assumed to occur at the end of the reporting period. 

The following methods and assumptions are used by the Manager to estimate the fair value of each class of fmancial instruments for 
which it is practicable to estimate that value: 

Cash and cash equivalents: the carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents approximates fair value. 

Loans held for investment, net: using a discounted cash now methodology employing a discount rate for loans of 
comparable credit quality, structure, and LTV based upon appraisal infonnation and current estimates of the value of 
collateral property perfonned by the Manager, and credit spreads for loans of comparable risk (as determined by the 
Manager based on the factors previously described) as corroborated by inquiry of other market participants. 

Loans held for sale: estimated fair market value based on sale comparables as corroborated by inquiry of other market 
participants or independent market data providers. 

Secured revolving credit facilities, asset-specific financings, and mortgage loan payable: based on the rate at w hich a 
similar secured revolving credit facility, asset-specific fmancing, or mortgage loan payable would currently be priced, as 
corroborated by inquiry of other market participants. 

Commercial Real Estate Collateralized Loan Obligations, net: indications of value from dealers active in trading similar 
or substantially similar securities, observable quotes from market data services, reported prices and spreads for recent 
new issues, and Manager estimates of the credit spread at which similar bonds would be issued, or traded, in the new 
issue and secondary markets. 

Other assets and Liabilities subject to fair value measurement, including receivables, payables and accmed liabilities have 
carrying values that approximate fair value due to their short-term nature. 

As discussed above, market-based or observable inputs are generally the preferred source of values for purposes of measuring the fair 
value of the Company's assets under GAAP. The commercial property investment sales and commercial mortgage loan markets have 
experienced uneven liquidity due to global macroeconomic conditions, including heightened inflation, slower growth or recession, 
changes to fiscal and monetary policy, sustained higher interest rates, currency fluctuations, labor shortages and structural shifts and 
regulatory changes in the banking sector, which has made it more difficult to rely on market-based inputs in connection w ith the 
valuation of the Company's assets under GAAP. Key valuation inputs include, but are not limited to, future operating cash flow and 
performance of collateral properties, the fmancial strength and liquidity of borrowers and sponsors, credit spreads for secured real 
estate borrowings, capitalization rates and discount rates used to value commercial real estate properties, and observable transactions 
involving the sale or financing of commercia l properties. 
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Income Taxes 

The Company qrualilies and has elected to be taxed as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes under the Internal Revenue Code 
of 1986, as amended (tJ1e "Internal Revenue Code"), commencing with its initial taxable year ended December 31, 2014. To the extent 
that it annually distributes at least 90% of its REIT taxable income to stockholders and complies witl1 various other requirements as a 
REIT, the Company generally will not be subject to U.S. federal income taxes on its distributed REIT taxable income. In 2017, the 
Internal Revenue Service issued a revenue procedure pern1itting "publicly offered" REITs to make elective stock dividends (i.e., 
dividends paid in a mixture of stock and cash), w itlt at least 20% of tlte total distribution being paid in cash, to satisfy their REIT 
distribution requirements. Pursuant to this revenue procedure, the Company may elect to make future distributions of its taxable 
income in a mixture of stock and cash. If tl1e Company fails to continue to qualify as a REI'f in any taxable year and does not qualify 
for certain statutory relief provisions, the Company will be subject to U.S. federa l and state income taxes at regular corporate rates 
beginning with the year in whiclh it fails to qualify and may be precluded from being able to elect to be treated as a REIT for the 
Company's four subsequent taxable years. Even though the Company currently qualifies for taxation as a REIT, the Company may be 
subject to certain U.S. federal, state, local and foreign taxes on the Company's irlcome and property and to U.S. federal irlcome and 
excise taxes on the Company's undistributed REIT taxable income. 

In certain instances, the Company may generate excess inclusion income ("'Ell") within tl1e Sub-REIT strucrure it established for the 
purpose of issuing collateralized loan obligations ("CRE CLOs"). Ell has previously occurred in certain instances where the 
Company's CRE CLOs generate excess income as a result of declines in the underlying benchmark interest rates from the issuance 
date of aCRE CLO's liabilities and the loans contributed to the CRE CLOs wiili interest rate floors iliat are materially higher than the 
current benchmark rates. Ell, which is treated as unrelated business taxable income ("UBTI"), is an obligation of the Company and is 
allocated only to a taxable REIT subsidiary ("TRS") and not to the Company's common stockholders. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for future tax consequences attributable to temporary differences between tlle 
financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases. Deferred tax assets and liabilities 
are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the periods in which those temporary differences are 
expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in tl1e period 
in which the enactment date occurs. Under ASC Topic 740, Income Taxes ("ASC 740"), a valuation allowance is established when 
management believes it is more likely than not that a deferred tax asset will not be realized. Currently, the Company has no taxable 
temporary differences between t11e financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and tlheir respective tax basis. 

The Company intends to continue to operate in a manner consistent witl1, ood to continue to meet tl1e requirements to be treated as, a 
REIT for tax purposes and to distr ibute all of its RETT taxable income. 

Earnings per Common Share 

The Company calculates basic earnings per share using the two-class method. The two-class metllod is an allocation formula that 
determines earnings per share for each share of common stock and participating securities according to dividends declared and 
participation rights in undistributed earnings. Under this method, all earnings (distributed and undistributed) are allocated to common 
shares and participating securities based on their respective rights to receive dividends. Basic earnings per common share is calculated 
by dividing earnings allocated to common shareholders by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during tlle 
period. 

Diluted earnings. per share is computed under the more dilutive oftlle treasury stock metllod or the two-class method. The computation 
of diluted earnings per share is based on the weighted average number of participating securities outstanding plus the incremental 
shares that would be outstanding assuming exercise of then-outstanding warrants to purchase common stock (the "Warrants", see Note 
12) issued in cOimection with the Company's no-longer-outstanding Series B Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock (llie "Series B 
Preferred Stock"), which were exercisable on a 11et settlement basis. The number of incremental shares is calculated utilizing the 
treasury stock method. As discussed in Note 12, on May 8, 2024, all of tlle Warrants were exercised on a net settlement basis, resulting 
in tlle issuance of2,647,059 shares of the Company's common stock. As of December 31, 2024, there were no Warrants outstanding. 

The Company accounts for unvested stock-based compensation awards that contain non-forfeitable dividend rights or dividend 
equivalents (whether paid or unpaid) as participating securities, which are included in the computation of eamings per share pursuant 
to the two-class method. The Company excludes participating securities. and Warrants from the calculation of diluted weighted 
average shares outstanding in periods of net losses since their etlect would be anti-dilutive. 
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Stock-based Compensation 

Stock-based compensation consists of awards issued by the Company to certain employees of affiliates of the Manager and certain 
members of the Company's Board of Directors. The stock-based compensation awards to certain employees of affiliates of the 
Manager generally vest in installments over a fixed period. Deferred stock units granted to the Company's Board ofDiTe.ctors prior to 
December 2021 fully vested on the grant date and accmed, and will continue to accme, common stock dividends that are paid-in kind 
through additional deferred stock units on a quarterly basis. Deferred stock units granted in December 2021 and thereafter will fully 
vest on t11e grant date and will continue to accrue and be paid cash common stock dividends on a quarterly basis. Stock-based 
compensation expense is recognized in net income on a straight-line basis over the applicable award's vesting period. Forfeitures of 
stock-based compensation awards are recognized as they occur. 

Deferred Fimmcing Costs 

Deferred financing costs are reflected net of the liabilities to which tlley relate, currently collateralized loan obligations, secured 
fmancing agreements, which include secured credit agreements and a secured revolving credit facility, asset-specific financing 
arrangements, and mortgage loans payable on the Company's consolidated balance sheets. These costs are amortized in interest 
expense using the interest method, or on a straight-line basis when it approximates tl1e interest method, as follows: (i) for secured 
financing agreements other than CRE CLOs, the initial tenn of the financing agreement, or in the case of costs directly associated with 
the loan, over the life of the financing agreement or the loan, whichever is shorter; and (ii) for CRE CLOs, over the estimated life of 
the liabilities issued based on the underlying loans' initial maturity dates, considering the expected repayment behavior of the loans 
collateralizing the notes and the ill11pact of any reinvestment periods, as of the closing date. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash held in banks or invested in money market funds with original maturities of less than 90 days. 
The Company deposits its cash and cash equivalents with high credit quality institutions to minimize credit risk exposure. The 
Company maintains cash accounts at several financial institutions, which are insured up to a maximum of $250,000 per account as of 
December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023. The balances in these accounts may exceed the insured limits. 

Pursuant to financial covenants applicable to Holdlco, which is the guarantor of t11e Company's recourse indebtedness, the Company is 
required to maintain minimum cash equal to the greater of (i) $I 5 million or (ii) the product of 5% and the aggregate recourse 
indebtedness of the Company. As of December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, the Company held as part of its total cash balances 
$15.0 million and $15.0 million to comply with this covenant, respectively. 

Restricted Cllsh 

Restricted cash primarily represents deposits paid by potential borrowers to cover certain costs incurred by the Company in connection 
with loan originations. These deposits may be returned to borrowers, after deducting eligible transaction costs paid by the Company 
for the benefit of the borrowers, upon the closing of a loan transaction, or if a loan transaction does not close and deposit proceeds 
remain. As of December 31, 2024, $0.3 million of restricted cash was combined with cash and cash equivalents of $ 190.2 m illion in 
the consolidated statement of cash flows. As ofDecember 31,2023,$0.6 million ofrestricted cash was combined with cash and cash 
equivalents of$206.4 million in the consolidated statement of cash flows. 

Collateralizell Loan Obligation Proceeds Held at Trustee 

Collateralized Loan Obligation Proceeds Held at Trustee represent cash held by t11e Company's collateralized loa11 obligations pending 
reinvestment in eligible collateral. See Note 5 for additional details. 

Accounts Receivable from Servicer/Trustee 

Accounts receivable from Servicer!Irustee represents cash proceeds from Loan activities that have not been remitted to t11e Company 
based on established servicing and borrowing procedures. Such amounts are generally held by the Servicerrrrustee for less than 30 
days before being remitted to the Company. 
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Stockholders' Equity 

Total Stockholders' Equity may include preferred stock, common stock, and derivative instruments indexed to the Company's 
common stock such as warrants or other embedded options within financing arrangements that may be classified as temporary or 
permanent equity. Common shaJres generally represent a basic ownership interest in an entity and a residlual corporate interest in 
liquidation, bearing the ultimate risk of loss and receiving the benefit of success. Common shares are usually perpetual in nature with 
voting rights and dividend rights. Preferred shares are usually characterized by the life of the instrument (i.e., perpetual or redeemable) 
and the ability of a holder to convert the equity instrument into cash, common shares, or a combination thereof. The tem1s of preferred 
shares can vary significantly, including but not limited to, an equity instrument's dividend rate, term (e.g ., existence of a stated 
redemption date), conversion features, voting rights, and liquidation preferences. Derivative instruments indexed to the Company's 
common stock such as warrants or other embedded options within financing arrangements are generally classified based on which 
party controls the contract settlement mechanism and the nature of the settlement tenns that may require, or allow, the Company to 
make a cash payment, issue common shares, or a combination thereof to satiisfy its obligation of the underlying contract. 

The Company has shares of preferred stock and common stock that are outstanding and classified as pennanent equity. Prior to June 
30, 2024, the Company also had Warrants outstanding. The Warrants were exercisable on a net settlement basis. As discussed below 
in Note 12, on May 8, 2024, all of the Warrants were exercised on a net settlement basis, resulting in the issuance of2,647,05'9 shares 
of the Company's conunon stock. As of December 31 , 2024, there were no Warrants outstanding. 

The Company's common stock is perpetual with voting rights and dividend rights. On June 14, 2021, the Company issued 8,050,000 
shares of Series C Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock (the "Series C Preferred Stock") that is classified as pennanent equity. The 
outstanding shares of Series C Preferred Stock have a 6.25% dividend rate and may be redeemed by the Company at its option on and 
after June 14, 2026. The Series C Preferred Stock issuance and Warrants are described in Note 12. 

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements 

In November 2024, the FASB issued ASU 2024-03, Income Statement-Reporting Comprehensive Income-Expense Disaggregation 
Disclosures ("ASU 2024-03"). ASU 2024-03 intends to enhance disclosures about a public business entity ' s expenses and requires 
more detailed information about the types of expenses included in certain expense captions in the consolidated financial statements. 
This standard is effective for the Company beginning with its 2026 annual reporting. ASU 2024-03 is to be adopted prospectively. The 
Company is currently evaluating the impact of ASU 2024-03. 
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(3) Loans Held for Investment and the Allowance for Credit Losses 

The Company originates and acquires frrst mortgage and mezzanine loans secured by conm1ercial properties. The Company considers 
these loans to comprise a single portfolio of mortgage loans, and the Company has developed its systematic methodology to determine 
the allowance for credit losses based on a single portfolio. For purposes of certain disclosures herein, the Company disaggregates this 
portfolio segment into the following classes of finance receivables: senior loans; and subordinated and mezzanine loans. These loans 
can potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk, including, without limitation: property type collateralizing the 
loan; loan category; loan size; Loans to a single sponsor; and loans in a single geographic area. The Company's loans held for 
investment are accounted for at amortized cost. Interest accrued but not yet collected is separately reported withi11 accrued interest and 
fees receivable on the Company's consolidated ba lance sheets. Amounts within that caption relating to loans l1eld for investment were 
$ 16.0 million and $20.2 million as ofDecember 31 , 2024 and December 31,2023, respective ly. 

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company originated eight mortgage loans with a total commitment of $562.3 million, 
an initial unpaid principal balance of $532.0 million, and unfunded commitments at closing of $30.3 million. Additionally, the 
Company received 14 full loan repayments of $609.6 million, and partial principal payments including accrued PIK interest payments 
of $63 .8 million across seven loans, for total loan repayments of $673.4 million during the year ended December 31 , 2024. The 
Company also converted to REO two loans with an unpaid principal balance of$99.2 million. 

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company originated four mortgage loans, with a total commitment of $229.4 million, 
an initial unpaid principal balance of $ 196.7 million, and unfunded commitments at closing of $32.7 million. Additionally, the 
Company received ten full loan repayments of $71 1.6 million, and partial principal payments including accrued PIK interest payments 
and cost-recovery proceeds of $ 195.4 million across 14 loans, for total loan repayments of $907.0 million during the year ended 
December 31, 2023. The Company also received proceeds of $349.5 million from the sale of five of its loans with an aggregate unpaid 
principal balance of $564.9 million, and converted to REO six loans with an unpaid principal balance of $386.1 million. 

The following table details overall statistics for the Company's loans held for investment portfolio (dollars in thousands): 

December 31, 2024 Decembe1· 31, 2023 

Balance sheet Total loan Balance sheet Total loan 
portfolio exposure<'> portfolio expos111re<'> 

Number of loans 45 45 53 53 

Floating rate loans 99.7% 99.7% 100.0% 100.0% 

Total loan comm~tment $ 3,412,016 $ 3,412,016 $ 3,666, 173 $ 3,666,173 

Unpaid principal balance(2> $ 3,284,510 $ 3,284,510 $ 3,484,052 $ 3,484,052 

Unfimded loan commitments<3> $ 127,866 $ 127,866 $ 183,293 $ 183,293 

Amo11ized cost $ 3,278,588 $ 3,278,588 $ 3,476,776 $ 3,476,776 

Weighted average credit spread 3.7 % 3.7 % 3.7 % 3.7% 

Weighted average all-in yieJd<4> 8.3 % 8.3% 9.3 % 9.3% 

Weighted average term to extended maturity (in yearsP> 2.4 2.4 2.6 2.6 

(I) In ce11ain instances, the Company creates stmctural leverage through the co-origination or non-recourse syndication of a senior loan 
interest to a third party. In either case, the senior mortgage loan (i.e., the non-consolidated senior interest) is not included on the Company's 
balance sheet. When the Company creates stmct11ral leverage through the co-origination or non-recourse syndication of a senior loan 
interest to a third party, the Company retains on its balance sheet a mezzanjne loan. Tota l loan exposure e:ncompasses the entire loan 
portfolio U1e Company origina ted, acquired and fmanced. l11e Company had no non-consolidated senior interests as of December 31, 2024 
and December 31, 2023. As of December 31, 2024, total loan exposure includes one fixed rate contiguous mezzanine loan. 

(2) Unpaid principal balance includes PIK interest of $0.4 million and $ 1.2 million as of December 31 , 2024 and December 31 , 2023, 
respectively. 

(3) Unfunded loan commitments may be funded over the tenn of each loan, subject in certa in cases to an expiration date or a force-funding 
date, primarily to finance property improvements or lease-related expenditures by the Company's borrowers and to finance operating 
deficits during renovation and lease-up. 

(4) As of December 31, 2024, all of the Company's floating rate loans were indexed to Term SOFR In addition to credit spread, all-in yield 
includes the amortization of deferred origination fees, purchase price premium and discount if any, and accmal of both extension and exit 
fees. All-in yie ld for the total portfolio assumes Term SOFR as of December 31, 2024 for weighted average calculations. 

(5) Extended maturity assumes all extension options are exercised by the bonower; provided, however, that the Company's loans may be 
repaid prior to such date. As of December 31, 2024, based on the unpaid principal balance of the Company's total loan exposure, 22.1% of 
the Company's loans were subject to yield maintenance or other prepayment restrictions and 77.9% were open to repayment by the 
borrower without penalty. 
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The following tables present an overview of the Company's loans held for investment portfolio by loan seniority (dollars in 
thousands): 

Senior loans<l) 

Total 

Loans held for investment, net 

Allowance for credit losses 

Loans held for investment, net 

Senior loans0 > 

Total 

Loans held for investment, net 

Allowance for credit losses 

Loans held for investment, net 

Outstanding principal 

$ 3,284,5 10 

$ 3,284,510 

Outstanding principal 

$ 3,484,052 

$ 3,484,052 

December 31, 2024 

Unamortized premium 
(discount) and 

loan origination fees, net 

$ (5,922) 

$ (5,922) 

December 31, 2023 

Unamortized premium 
(discount) and 

loan origination fees, net 

$ (7,276) 

$ (7,276) 

(I) Senior loans may include contiguous mezzanine loans and pari passu participations in senior mortgage loans. 

The following table presents the Company's loans held for investment portfolio activity (dollars in thousands): 

Amo11ized ·cost 

$ 3,278,588 

$ 3,278,588 

(61 ,558) 

$ 3,217,030 

Amortized ·cost 

$ 3,476,776 

$ 3,476,776 

(67,092) 

$ 3,409,684 

For the years ended December 31, 

2024 2023 

Balance as of January 1, $ 3,409,684 $ 4,781,402 

Additions during the period: 

Loans otiginated and acquired 527,276 194,706 

Additional fundings 40,697 140,547 

Accmed PIK interest 360 

Amortization of origination fees and discounts 6,075 11,955 

Deductions during the period: 

Collection of principal (672,196) (890,566) 

Collection of accrued PTK interest (1 ,172) (542) 

Collection of interest applied to reduce principal under ti1c cost-recovery method (15,894) 

Realized loss on loan write-offs, loan sales, and REO conversions (9,729) (334,727) 

Loan sales (343,637) 

Loan extinguishment upon conversion to REO (89,499) (263,740) 

Decrease of allowance for credit losses 5,534 130,180 

Balance as of Decem bet· 31, $ 3,2 17,030 $ 3,409,684 

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company had no loan sales. 

During the three months ended Jw1e 30, 2023, the Company sold one office loan with an unpaid principal balance of$71.3 million for 
$47.8 million, resulting in a realized loss on sale of$24.lmillion, including transaction costs of$0.6 million. During the three months 
ended September 30, 2023, the Company recorded additional transaction costs of $0.8 million, which increased the rea lized loss on 
sale to $24.9 mi Ilion. Such losses are included w ithin Credit loss expense, net on the Company's consolidated statements of income 
(loss) and comprehensive income (loss). 

During the three months ended September 30, 2023, tl1e Company sold one mixed-use loan w ith an unpaid princ ipal balance of $ 129.2 
million for $95.0 million, resulting in a realized loss on sale of $35.0 million, including transaction costs of $0.8 million, .and one 
office loan with an unpaid principal balance of$ L 52.4 million for $79.0 million, resulting in a realized loss on sale of $74.4 million, 
including transaction costs of $0.9 million. Such losses are included within Credit loss expense, net on the Company's consolidated 
statements of income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss). 
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During the tJ1ree months ended December 31 , 2023, tJ1e Company sold one office loan with an unpaid principal balance of $84.7 
million for $29.0 million, resulting in a realized loss on sale of $55.8 million, including transaction costs of $0.04 million and one 
multifamily Joan with an Lmpaid principal balallice of $ 127.3 million for $98.7 million, including a hold back of $30.0 million, 
resulting in a realized loss on sale of$22.4 million, which includes transaction costs of$2.7 million and $8.9 million from ilie reversal 
of tJ1e unamortized purchase discount from acquisition. Such losses are included wiiliin Credit loss expense, net on ilie Company's 
consolidated statements of income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss). The proceeds from sale of the Company's multifamily loan 
and the hold back are included witJ1in Accounts receivable from servicer/trustee and Other assets, respectively, on tJ1e Company's 
consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2023. During the year ended December 31 , 2024, the Company received $92.8 million 
of the proceeds from sale and ilie hold back. 

As of December 31 , 2024 and December 31 , 2023, there was $5.9 million and $5.2 million, respectively, of Lmamortized loan fees 
included in loans held for investment, net in the consolidated balance sheets. As of December 31, 2024, there were no unamortized 
discounts included in loans held for investment at amortized costs on ilie consolidated balance sheets. As of December 31 , 2023, there 
was $2.1 million of unamortized discounts included in loans held for investment at amortized cost on the consolidated balance sheets. 

Loan Risk Rating s 

The Company evaluates all of its loans to assign risk ratings on a quarterly basis on a 5-point scale. As described in Note 2, the 
Company's loans are rated " I" through "5," from least risk to greatest risk, respectively. The Company generally assigns a risk rating 
of"3" to all loan investments upon origination or acquisition, except when specific circumstances warrant an exception. 

The following tables present tJ1e Company's 
grouped by risk rating (dollars in iliousands): 

Senior loans by internal risk ratings: 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

Total senior loans 

Senior loans: 

Current-period realized loss on loan write-
offs related to REO conversions 

Senior loans by internal risk ratings: 

2 

3 

4 

5 

Total senior loans 

Senior loans: 

Cunenl-period realized loss on loan write­
offs related to loan sales and REO 
converswns 

:il 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

loans held for investment portfolio on an amortized cost basis by origination year, 

December 31, 2024 

Amortized cost by origination year 

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 Prio1· Total 

$ $ $ $ $ $ 

62,7 16 62,716 

467,735 201,588 752,847 1,2 13,894 462,607 3 ,098,671 

117,201 J J 7,201 

530,451 $ 201,588 $ 752,847 $ 1,213,894 $ $ 579,808 $ 3,278,588 

- $ - $ (7,818) $ (1,911) $ - $ - $ (9,729) 

December 31, 2023 

Amcwtized cost by origination year 

2023 2022 202 1 2020 2019 Prio1· Total 

$ $ $ $ $ $ 

99,000 99,000 

196,268 1,013,299 1,313,889 100,550 450,849 86 ,073 3 , 160,928 

60,229 40,415 116,204 216,848 

196,268 $ 1,073,528 $ 1,313,889 $ 100,550 $ 590,264 $ 202,277 $ 3,476,776 

- $ (29,630) $ (8,526) $ (24,906) $ ( 188,275) $ (83,390) $ (334, 727) 

Loans acquired are presented in tlhe preceding tables in the colunm conesponding to tJ1e year of origination, not acquisition. 
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The table below sunm1arizes the Company' s portfolio of loans held for investment on an amortized cost basis, by the resuhs of its 
internal risk rating review process perfonned (dollars in thousands): 

I 

2 

3 

4 

5 

Total 

Allowance for credit losses 

Carrying value 

Weighted average risk rating<ll 

Risk rating 

(I) Weighted average risk rating calculated based. on the amortized cost balance at period end. 

December 31, 2024 December 31,2023 

$ $ 

62,716 99,000 

3,098,671 3, 160,928 

117,201 216,848 

$ 3,278,588 $ 3,476,776 

(61 ,558) (67,092) 

$ 3,217,030 $ 3,409,684 

3.0 3.0 

The weighted average risk rating of the Company' s loans held for investment portfolio was 3.0 as of December 31, 2024, unchanged 
from December 31, 2023. 
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Allowance for Credit Losses 

The Company's allowance for credit losses developed pursuant to ASC 326 reflects its current estimate of potential credit losses 
related to its loans held for investment portfolio as of December 31, 2024. As part of its allowance for credit losses, the Company 
maintains a separate allowance for credit losses related to unfunded loan commitments which is included in accrued expenses and 
other liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets. See Note 2 for additional details regarding the Company's accounting policies and 
estimation of its allowance for credit losses. 

The following tables present activity in the allowance for credit losses for loans by finance receivable class (dollars in thousands): 

Allowance for credit losses for loans held for investment: 

Beginning balance at January I, 2024 

Allowance for credit losses, net 

Realized loss on loan write-offs 

Subtotal 

Allowance for credit losses on unfunded loan commitments: 

Beginning balance at January I, 2024 

Reversal of credit losses, net 

Subtotal 

Total allowance for credit losses(ll 

Allowance for credit losses for loans held for investment: 

Beginning balance at January I, 2023 

Allowance for credit losses, net 

Realized loss on loan write-off 

Subtotal 

Allowance for credit losses on unfunded loan conunitments: 

Beginning balance at January I, 2023 

Reversal of credit losses, net 

Subtotal 

Total allowance for credit losses 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

For the Year Ended December 31, 2024 

Senio•· loans 

67,092 

4,195 

(9,729) 

61,558 

2,679 

(264) 

2,415 

63,973 

For the Year Ended December 31, 2023 

Senio•· loans 

197,272 

204,547 

(334,727) 

67,092 

17,314 

(14,635) 

2,679 

69,771 

(l) Excludes $0.2 million of allowance for credit losses on exit fees receivable related to the Company's loans held for investment portfolio. 
Such amounts are recorded within Accmed interest and fees receivable on the Company's consolidated balance sheet and Credit loss 
expense, net on the Company's consolidated statements of income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss). 
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The following table presents the allowance for credit losses for loans held for investment (dollars in thousands): 

Allowance for credit losses: 

Loans held for investment 

Unfunded loan commitments 

Total allowance for credit losses0> 

Total unpaid principal balance 

Allowance for credit losses: 

Loans held for investment 

Unfimded loan commitments 

Total allowance for credit losses 

Total unpaid principal balance 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

General reserve 

61,558 

2,415 

63,973 

3,284,510 

General reserve 

67,092 

2,679 

69,771 

3,484,052 

December 31,2024 

Specific reser ve 

$ 

$ 

$ 

December 31, 2023 

Specific reser ve 

$ 

$ 

$ 

Total reserve 

$ 61,558 

2,415 

s 63,973 

$ 3,284,510 

Total reserve 

$ 67,092 

2,679 

s 69,771 

s 3,484,052 

(I) Excludes $0.2 million of allowance for credit losses on exit fees receivable related to the Company's loans held for investment portfolio. 
Such amounts are recorded within Accmed interest and fees receivable on the Company's consolidated balance sheet and Credit loss 
expense, net on the Company's consolidated statements of income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss). 

The Company's allowance for credit losses is influenced by the size and maturity dates of its loans, loan quality, credit indicators 
including risk ratings, delinquency status, historical loss experience and other conditjons influencing loss expectations, such as 
property valuation and reasonable and supportable forecasts of economic conditions. 

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company recorded a decrease of $5.8 million to its allowance for credit losses, 
decreasing its CECL reserve for Loans held to investment to $64.0 million as of December 31, 2024. For the year ended December 31 , 
2024, the decrease to the Company's allowance for credit losses was due primarily to (i) a decrease of $9.7 million resulting from 
realized losses on loan write-offs related to REO conversions and (ii) a decrease of $4.9 million resulting from loan repayments during 
the year ended December 31, 2024, partially offset by (i) an increase of $2.7 million resulting from the Company's loan origination 
activity during the year ended December 31 , 2024 and (ii) a net increase of $6.1 million related to macroeconomic assmnptions 
employed in determining t11e general CECL reserve. 

During tlle year ended December 31 , 2023, the Company recorded a decrease of $144.8 million, decreasing its allowance for credit 
losses to $69.8 million as of December 31 , 2023. For the year ended December 31, 2023, t11e decrease to the Company's estimate of 
expected credit losses was primarily due to (i) a decrease of $334.7 million resulting from realized losses on loan write-offs, loan 
sales, and REO conversions and (ii) a decrease of $2.5 million resulting from net investment activity during 2023, partially offset by 
(i) a year over year increase of $ 168.6 million for loans resolved during 2023 and (ii) an increase of $23.8 million related to 
macroeconomic assumptions employed in detennining the general CECL reserve and the deterioration of local market fundamenta ls in 
the office sector. 

As of December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, none of the Company's fust mortgage loans satisfied] the CECL framework's 
criteria for individual assessment and the Company had no loans on non-accrual status or cost-recovery. As of December 31 , 2024 and 
December 31 , 2023, none of the Company's perfonning loans (full accrual status) had accrued interest income receivable 90 days or 
more past due. 
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The following table presents an aging analysis for the Company's portfolio of loans held for investment, by class of loans on 
amortized cost basis (dollars in thousands): 

Days Outstanding as of December 31, 2024 

Days: 90 OJ" Total loans 
Current Days: 30-59 Da~·s: 60-89 more past due Total loans 

Loans receivable: 

Senior loans $ 3,278,588 $ $ $ $ $ 3,278,588 ------
Total $ 3,278,588 $ $ $ $ ===== $ 3,278,588 

Days Outstanding as of December 31, 2023 

Days: 90 OJ" Total loans 
Cun ent Days: 30-59 Days: 60-89 more past due Total. loans 

Loans receivable: 

Senior loans $ 3,476,776 $ $ $ $ $ 3,476,776 
------

Total $ 3,476,776 $ $ $ $ =========== =========== =========== $ 3,476,776 

See Note 2 of the consolidated financial statements for details of the Company's revenue recognition and allowance for credit losses 
accounting policies. 
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Loan Modifications 

The Company may amend or modify a loan depending on the loan's specific facts and circumstances. These loan modifications 
typically include additional time for the borrower to refinance or sell the coUlateral property, adjustment or waiver of performance tests 
that are prerequisite to the extension of a loan maturity, modification of tenns of interest rate cap agreements, and/or deferral of 
scheduled principal payments. In exchange for a modification, the Company often receives a partial repayment of principal, a short­
term accrual of PIK interest for a portion of interest due, a cash infusion to replenish a loan's interest or capital improvement reserves, 
termination of all or a portion of the remaining w1funded loan commitment, additional call protection, and/or an increase in the loan 
coupon. 

During the three months ended March 31 , 2024, the Company modified one loan to extend! the loan maturity and increase the credit 
spread. The modified loan was accOtmted for as a new loan for GAAP purposes. The new loan was assigned a risk rating of "3". 

During the three months ended June 30, 2024, the Company modified one loan to extend the loan maturity, increase the interest rate 
floor, require the borrower's sponsor to inject an additional $11 .3 million of cash into the capital structure, and require the borrower to 
purchase a replacement interest rate cap. As part of this modification, the Company issued a contiguous mezzanine loan with a total 
commitment of $11.3 million, an initial funding of $7.8 million, and a fixed 8.0% PIK interest rate. The new loan was assigned a risk 
rating of "3". 

During the three montJ1s ended September 30, 2024, tJ1e Company modified one loan to extend the loan maturity, increase the credit 
spread, and increase the commitment amount. The modified loan was accounted for as a new loan for GAAP purposes. The new loan 
was assigned a risk rating of"2". 

None of the Company's loan modifications were the result of the borrower experiencing financial difficulty. 

As of December 3 1, 2024, the total amount of accrued PIK interest in the Company's loans held for investment portfolio was $0.4 
million related to one loan. Total PJK interest of$0.4 million was recorded and deferred during the year ended December 31 , 2024. 

The following table presents the accrued PIK interest activity for the Company' s loans held for investment portfolio (dollars in 
thousands): 

Year E nded 

2024 2023 

Balance as of Janua11' 1, $ 1, 172 $ 1,714 

Repayments of accmed P1K interest (1, 172) (542) 

Balance as of March 31, $ $ 1, 172 

Accrued PIK interest 34 

Balance as of J une 30, $ 34 $ 1,172 

Accmed PIK interest 162 

Balance as of September 30, $ 196 $ 1,172 

Accrued PIK interest 164 

Balance as of Decem be•· 31, $ 360 $ 1, 172 
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(4) Real Estate O wned 

As of December 31 , 2024, assets and liabilities related to REO consisted of eight properties: four multifamily properties, one located 
in each of Arlington Heights, JL and Chicago, IL; two located in San Antonio, TX; and four office properties, one located in each of 
Orange, CA, San Mateo, CA, Manhattan, NY, and Houston, TX. The Company accounted for these acquisitions as asset acquisitions. 
As of December 31 , 2024, the carrying value of the Company's REO is $275.8 million. The Company acquired three REO properties 
during the three months and year ended December 31, 2024. The Company recorded an aggregate fair value of $89.9 million as of the 
acquisition date, including assumed working capital of$(0.4) million. 

In 2021 , the Company originated] a $39.0 million senior loan secured by a multifamily property in Chicago, IL. As of September 30, 
2024, the loan had a risk rating of "4" with an amortized cost and carrying value of $39.0 million and $37.1 million, respectively. On 
December 16, 2024, the Company acquired the property via a UCC foreclosure. The Company recognized] a realized loss on REO 
conversion of $1 .9 million. 

In 2022, the Company originated a $62.4 million senior loan secured by two multifamily properties in San Antonio, TX. As of 
September 30, 2024, the loan had a risk rating of "4" with an amortized cost and carrying value of $60.2 million and $52.4 million, 
respectively. On November 5, 2024, the Company acquired the properties via a non-judicial foreclosure. The Company recognized a 
realized loss on REO conversion of $7.8 million. 

The Company allocated the fair value of the assets and liabilities acquired during the year ended December 31, 2024, as of the 
acquisition date (dollars in thousands): 

Building and building improvements 

Land and land improvements 

In-place lease intangibles 

Total 

s 

s 

Fair Value Allocation 

71,720 

16,391 

1,793 

89,904 

The Company's fair market value estimate was dletermined primarily using discounted cash flow models and Level 3 inputs, which 
include estimates of property-specific cash flows over a specific holding period. These inputs are based on the location, type and 
nature of the property, costs-to-complete, expected time required to lease and stabilize the property, current sales and lease 
comparables, anticipated real estate and capital market conditions, and management's knowledge, experience, and judgment. 

During the year ended December 31 , 2023, the Company acquired four office properties and two multifamily properties. 

In 202 1, the Company originated a $80.0 million senior loan secured by a multifamily property in Arlington Heights, IL. As of 
September 30, 2023, the loan had a risk rating of "4" with an amortized cost and carrying value of $79.7 million and $76.3 million, 
respectively. The loan was placed on non-accmal status and accounted for under cost-recovery during the fourth quarter of 2023. On 
December 28, 2023, the Company acquired the property through a foreclosure. The acquisition was accounted for as an asset 
acquisition. The Company recognized a realized loss on REO conversion of$8.5 million. 

In 20 19, the Company originated a $76.5 million senior loan secured by an office property in Orange, CA. As of September 30, 2023, 
the loan had a risk rating of "5", was on non-accrual status and accounted for under cost-recovery with an amortized cost and carrying 
value of $60.3 million and $24.3 million, respectively. On December 28, 2023, the Company acquired the property through a deed-in­
lieu of foreclosure. This acquisition was accounted for as an asset acquisition. The Company recognized a realized loss on REO 
conversion of $40.4 million. 

In 20 19, the Company originated a $75.8 million senior loan secured by an office property in San Mateo, CA. As of September 30, 
2023, the loan had a risk rating of "5" with an amortized cost and carrying value of $61.9 million and $32.6 million, respectively. The 
loan was placed on non-accmal status and accolllnted for under cost-recovery during the fourth quarter of 2023. On December 27, 
2023, the Company acquired the property through a deed-in-lieu of foreclosure. This acquisition was accounted for as an asset 
acquisition. The Company recognized a realized loss on REO conversion of$42.4 million. 

In 2019, the Company originated a $54.0 million senior loan secured by an office property in Manhattan, NY. As of September 30, 
2023, the loan had a risk rating of "5", was on non-accmal status and accounted for under cost-recovery witl1 an amortized cost and 
carrying value of $52.6 million and $44.3 million, respectively. On December 15, 2023, the Company acquired the property through a 
deed-in-lieu of foreclosure. This acquisition was accounted for as an asset acquisition. The Company recognized a realized loss on 
REO conversion of$ 14.8 million. 

In 2022, the Company originated a $97.0 million senior loan secured by a multifamily property under development in Los Angeles, 
CA. As of June 30,2023, the loan had a risk rating of"4" and was on non-accmal status, with an an1ortized cost and carrying value of 
$77.1 million and $71.1 million, respectively. On August 17, 2023, the Company acquired the property via foreclosure. This 
acquisition was accounted for as an asset acquisition. 
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In 2018, the Company originated a $55.7 million senior loan secured by an office property in Houston, TX. As of March 31 , 2023, the 
loan had a risk rating of "5", was on non-accn~al starus and accounted for under cost-recovery, with an amortized cost and carrying 
value of $55.0 million and $46.0 million, respectively. On April 28, 2023, the Company acquired the property through a deed-in-lieu 
of foreclosure. This acquisition was accounted for as an asset acquisition. 

The Company allocated the fair value of the assets and liabilities acquired during the year ended December 31 , 2023, as of the 
acquisition date (dollars in thousands): 

Fair Value Allocation 

Building and building improvements $ 103,293 

Land and land improvements 91,484 

Constntction in progress 47,091 

In-place lease intangibles 27,594 

Above-market lease intangibles 3,982 

Below-market lease intangibles (4,311) 

Total $ 269,133 

The Company's fair market value estimate was dletermined primarily using discounted cash flow models and Level 3 inputs, which 
include estimates of property-specific cash flows over a specific holding period. These inputs are based on the location, type and 
nature of the property, costs-to-complete, expected time required to lease and stabilize the property, current sales and lease 
comparables, anticipated real estate and capital market conditions, and management's knowledge, experience, and judgment. 

During lhe three months ended December 31 , 2023, the Company sold the Los Angeles, CA multifamily property under development 
for net cash proceeds of $75.4 million and recognized a gain on sale of real estate owned, net of $7.0 million on the consolidated 
statements of income and comprehensive income. 

During June 2023, the Company obtained from a third pa1ty a $31.2 million first mortgage loan secured by the Houston, TX office 
property, which is classified as Mortgage loan payable, net on the Company's consolidated balance sheets. See Note 6 for details of the 
Mortgage loan payable. 
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The following table presents the REO assets and liabilities (dollars in thousands): 

December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023 

Assets 

Cash $ 13,195 $ 532 

Real estate owned - Building and building improvements 174,427 103,293 

Real estate owned - Land and land improvements 80,328 67,472 

Real estate owned - Tenant improvements 8,678 4,299 

Real estate owned 263,433 175,064 

Accumulated depreciation (7,029) (1,007) 

Real estate owned, net 256,404 174,057 

In-place lease intangibles, net<•> 17,004 25,036 

Above-market lease intangibles, net0 l 2,945 3,902 

Leasing commissions, net<•> 1,935 533 

Other assets, net<•> 9,481 12,384 

Total assets $ 300,964 $ 216,444 

Liabilities 

Mortgage loan payable, net<2J $ 30,695 $ 30,551 

Below-market lease intangibles, net0> 2,495 3,707 

Other liabilitiesC3> 7,377 3,214 

Total liabilities $ 40,567 $ 37,472 

(I) Included within Other assets within the Company's consolidated balance sheet. Other assets, net includes $3.8 million and $11.3 million of 
cash proceeds from the Company's mortgage loan payable escrowed for tenant improvements and leasing costs, and other working capital 
balances as of December 31 , 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively. 

(2) During the year ended December 31 , 2024, the Company incurred interest expense of $2.6 million, which is included within Interest 
expense on the Company's consolidated statements of income (loss) and comprehens ive income (loss). During the year ended 
December 31, 2023, the Company incurred interest expense of $1.4 million, which is included within Interest expense on the Company's 
consolidlated statements of income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss). 

(3) Included within Accrued expenses and other liabilities within the Company's consolidated balance sheet 
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The Company acquired certain legacy tenant leases upon the acquisition of REO. These leases entitle the Company to receive 
contractual rent payments during the lease periods and in some instances tenant reimbursements for certain property operating 
expenses, including conm1on area costs, insurance, utilities and real estate taxes. The Company elected the practical expedient to not 
separate the lease and non-lease components of the rent payments and accounts for these leases as operating leases. 

The following table presents the REO operations and related income (loss) (dollars in thousa11ds): 

Years Ended 

December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023 

Rental income 

Minimum lease payments 

Variable lease payments 

Tota l rental incmne 

Other operating income 

Revenue from real estate owned ope rations 

Rental property operating expenses<•l 

Depreciation and arnortization<2l 

Expenses from real estate owned operations 

Net (loss) income from REO 

$ 

$ 

27,417 

3,152 

30,569 

131 

30,700 

19,639 

15,987 

35,626 

(4,926) 

$ 5,292 

1,047 

6,339 

1,490 

7,829 

3,955 

3,577 

7,532 

$ 297 

( I) Excludes $2.6 million of interest expense incuned during the year ended December 31 , 2024, which is included within Interest expense on 
the Company's consolidated statements of income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss). Excludes $1.4 million of interest expense 
incmTed during the year ended December 3 1, 2023, which is included within Interest expense on the Company's consolidated statements of 
income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss). 

(2) During U1e year ended December 31 , 2024, the Company incurred $6.0 million of depreciation expense. During U1e year ended 
December 3 1, 2023, the Company incurred $ L.O million of depreciation expense. 

Real estate-related capital expenditures 

For the year ended December 31 , 2024, the Company's capital expenditures were $5.6 million, as shown on the Company's 
consolidated statements of cash flows , which includes $0.3 million of accrued capital expenditures. For the year ended December 31 , 
2023, the Company's capital expenditures were $5.7 million, as shown on the Company's consolidated statements of cash flows, which 
includes $0.3 million of accrued capital expenditures. 
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The fo llowing table presents the gross carrying amount and accumulated amortization of lease intangibles (dollars in thousands): 

Intangible assets: 
Tn-place lease intangibles 

Above-market lease intangibles 

Leasing commissions 
Total intangible assets 

Accumulated amortization: 
In-place lease intangibles 

Above-market lease intangibles 

Leasing commissions 

Total accumulated amortization 

Intangible assets, net 

Intangible liabilities: 

Below-market lease intangibles 

Total intangible liabilities 

Accumulated amo1tization: 

Below-market lease intangibles 

Total accumulated am011ization 
Intangible liabilities, net 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

December· 31, 2024 

29,387 $ 

3,982 

2,088 

35,457 

(12,383) 

( l ,037) 

(!53) 

(13,573) 

21,884 $ 

4,311 $ 

4,311 

(1,816) 

(1,816) 

2,495 $ 

December 31, 2023 

27,594 

3,982 

545 

32,121 

(2,558) 

(80) 

(12) 

(2,650) 

29,471 

4,311 

4,311 

(604) 

(604) 

3,707 

The following table presents the estimated future amortization of the Company's intangibles for each of the next five years (dollars in 
thousands): 

In-place lease Above-market lease Leasing Below-market lease 
Year intangibles intangibles commissions intangibles 

2025 5,040 877 314 (704) 

2026 2,797 626 267 (496) 

2027 1,672 484 260 (300) 

2028 1,430 426 235 (293) 

2029 916 119 201 (205) 

The weighted average amortization period for the acquired in-place lease intangibles, above-market lease intangibles, leasing 
commissions, and below-market lease intangibles acquired during the year ended December 31 , 2024, were 8.1 years, 5.8 years, 7.8 
years, and 6.3 years, respectively. 

Future Minirnum Lease Payments 

Minimum rental amounts due w1der tenant leas·es are generally su~ject either to scheduled fixed increases or adjustments. The 
following table presents approximate future minimum rental income under non-cancelable operating leases, excluding variable lease 
revenue of tenant reimbursements, to be received over the next five years and thereafter as of December 31, 2024 and excludes leases 
at the Company's multifamily property as they are short tem1, generally 12 months or less (dollars in thousands): 

Year 

2025 

2026 

2027 

2028 

2029 

Thereafter 

Total $ 

Future Minimum Rents 

16,485 

11,556 

10,358 

8,239 

5,092 

64,694 

[ 16,424 

The weighted average minimum term of the non-cancelable leases was approximate! y eleven years as of December 31, 2024. 

F-31 



(5) Variable Interest Entities and CoUateralized Loan Obligations 

Subsidiaries of the Company have financed certain of the Company' s loans held for investment portfolio through the issuance of 
collateralized loan obligations. 

On Febmary 16, 2022, TPG RE Finance Tmst CLO Sub-REIT ("Sub-REIT"), a subsidiary of the Company, issued a collateralized 
loan obligation ("TRTX 2022-FL5" or "FL5''). TRTX 2022-FL5 permits the Company, during the 24 months after closing, to 
contribute eligible new loans or participation interests in loans to TRTX 2022-FL5 in exchange for cash, which provides additional 
liquidity to the Company to originate new loan investments as underlying loans repay. The reinvestment period for TRTX 2022-FL5 
ended on Febmary 9, 2024. In accordance with the TRTX 2022-FL5 indenture, prior to the end of the reinvestment period, the 
Company conunitted to contribute certain loan assets and completed the contribution process on April 12, 2024. The Company utilized 
the reinvestment feature during the years ended December 31 , 2024 and 2023. In connection with TRTX 2022-FL5, the Company 
incurred $6.5 million of deferred financing costs, including issuance, legal, and accounting related costs. 

On March 31 , 2021 , Sub-REIT issued a collateralized loan obligation ("TRTX 2021 -FL4" or "FL4"). TRTX 2021-FL4 permitted the 
Company, during the 24 months after closing, to contribute eligible new loans or participation interests in loans to TRTX 2021-FL4 in 
exchange for cash, which provided additional liquidity to the Company to originate new loan investments as underlying loans repaid. 
The reinvestment period for TRTX 2021-FL4 ended on March 11, 2023. In accordance with the TRTX 2021-FL4 indenture, prior to 
the end of the reinvestment period, the Company committed to contribute certain loan assets and completed the contribution process 
by mid-May 2023. The Company utilized the reinvestment feature during the year ended December 31 , 2023. In connection with 
TRTX 2021-FL4, the Company incurred $8.3 mnllion of deferred financing costs, including issuance, legal, and accounting related 
costs. 

On October 25, 2019, Sub-REIT issued a collateralized loan obligation ("TRTX 2019-FL3" or "FL3"). TRTX 2019-FL3 permitted the 
Company, during the 24 months after closing, to contribute eligible new loans or participation interests in loans to TRTX 2019-FL3 in 
exchange for cash, which provided additional liquidity to the Company to originate new loan investments as tmderlying loans repaid. 
The reinvestment period for TRTX 2019-FL3 ended on October 11, 2021. In connection with TRTX 2019-FL3, the Company incurred 
$7.8 million of deferred financing costs, including issuance, legal, and accounting related costs. 

On November 29, 2018, Sub-REIT issued a collateralized loan obligation ("TRTX 2018-FL2" or "FL2"). TRTX 20 18-FL2 pennitted 
the Company, during the 24 months after closing, to contribute eligible new loans or participation interests in loans to TRTX 2018-
FL2 in exchange for cash, which provided additional liquidity to the Company to originate new loan investments as underlying loans 
repaid. The reinvestment period for TRTX 2018-FL2 ended on December 11, 2020. In connection with TRTX 20 18-FL2, the 
Company incurred $8.7 million of deferred financing costs, including issuarnce, legal, and accounting related costs. 

On Febmary 17, 2022, the Company redeemed TRTX 2018-FL2, which at its redemption had $600.0 million of invesnnent-grade 
bonds outstanding. TI1e 17 loans or participation interests therein with an aggregate unpaid principal balance of $805.7 million held by 
the trust were refinanced in part by the issuance of TRTX 2022-FL5 and in part with the expansion of an existing secured credit 
agreement. In connection with the redemption ofTRTX 2018-FL2, the Company exercised an option under an existing secured credit 
agreement to increase the commitment amount by $250.0 million, pledge additional collateral with an aggregate unpaid principal 
balance of $463.8 million and borrow an additional $359.1 million. 

The Company evaluated the key attributes of the issuers of the CRE CLOs ("CRE CLO Issuers"), which are wholly owned 
subsidiaries of the Company, to detennine if they were VIEs and, if so, whether the Company was the primary beneficiary of their 
operating activities and therefore consolidate the CRE CLOs. The Company concluded that the CRE CLO Issuers are VIEs and the 
Company is the primary beneficiary because it has the ability to control the most significant activities of the CRE CLO Issuers, the 
obligation to absorb losses to the extent of its equity investments, and the right to receive benefits that could potentially be significant 
to these entities. Accordingly, as of December 31 , 2024 and December 31 , 2023 the Company consolidated the CRE CLO Issuers. 
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The following table outlines the total assets and liabilities witl1in the Sub-REIT (dollars in thousands): 

December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023 

Assets 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Collateralized loan obligation proceeds held at trustee<'> 

Accounts receivable from servicer/trustce 

Accrued interest receivable 

Loans held for investment, net<2> 

Real estate owned, net 

Other assets 

Total assets 

Liabilities 

Accrued interest payable 

Accrued expenses 

Collateralized loan obligations, net<3> 

Payable to affi]iates 

Deferred revenue 

Total liabilities 

$ 71,541 $ 

299 

10,866 

1,917,210 

117,090 

3,947 

$ 2,120,953 $ 

$ 4,436 $ 

4,738 

1,681,660 

3,052 

2,583 

$ 1,696,469 $ 

(I) Includes $247.2 mil lion of cash available to acquire eligible assets related to TRTX 2022-FLS as of December 3 1, 2023. 

(2) Includes three loans held for investment with an unpaid principal balance of$3.9 million as of December 31 , 2023. 

59,204 

247,229 

300 

10,207 

2,245,241 

33,540 

5,363 

2,601,084 

6,602 

777 

1,915,174 

2,879 

2,124 

1,927,556 

(3) Net of $0.6 million and $4.6 million of unamortized deferred financing costs as of December 31, 2024 and December 31 , 2023, 
respectively. 

As of December 31, 2024 and December 31 , 2023, assets held by these VIEs are restricted and are only available to settle obligations 
of the related VIE. The liabilities of these VIEs are non-recourse to the Company and can only be satisfied from the then-current assets 
of the related VIE. 
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The following tables detail the loan collateral and borrowings under the Company's CRE CLOs (dollars in thousands): 

December 31, 2024 

Outstanding 
Benchmark principal Wtd. av~. Wtd. av~ 

CRECLOs Count interest rate balance Carrying value spread< maturity > 

TRTX 2019-FL3 

Collateral loan and REO investments 5 Tenn SOFR $ 311,381 $ 203,427 3.68% l.O 

Financing provided Tenn SOFR 119,526 119,526 2.46% 9.8 

TRTX 202l-FL4 

Collateral loan and REO investments 19 Tenn SOFR 886,409 796,552 3.84% 2.0 

Financing provided Te1m SOFR 673,909 673,909 1.93% 13.2 

TRTX 2022-FLS 

Collateral loan Envestments 26 Tenn SOFR 1,056,822 1,033,775 3.70% 2.1 

Financing provided Tenn SOFR 888,853 888,225 2.02% 14.1 

Total 

Collateral loan and REO investmentsC3> 50 Tenn SOFR $ 2,254,612 $ 2,033,754 3.75% 2.0 ~ears 

Financing provided(4) 3 Tenn SOFR $ 1,682,288 $ 1,681,660 2.02% 13.4 years 

(I) Weighted average spread excludes the amortization of loan fees and deferred financing costs. 

(2) Loan term represents weighted average fmalmaturity, assuming extension options are exercised by the borrower. Repayments of CRE 
CLO notes are dependent on timing of underlying loan repayments post-reinvestment period. The tenn of the CRE CLO notes represents 
the rated final disttibution date. 

(3) Collateral loan investment assets of FL3, FL4 and FL5 represent 9.5%, 27.0% and 32.2%, respectively, of the aggregate unpaid principal 
balance of the Company's loans held for investment portfolio as of December 31 , 2024. 

(4) During the year ended December 31 , 2024, the Company recognized interest expense of $ 135.4 million, which includes $4.2 million of 
deferred financing cost amortization and is reflected within the Company's consolidated statements of income (loss) and comprehensive 
income (loss). 
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December 31, 2023 

Outstanding 
Benchmark interest principal Carrying Wtd. avs . Wtd. av~ 

CRECLOs Count rate balance value<1> spread< maturity > 

TRTX 2019-FL3 

Collateral loan Envestments 5 Tem1 SOFR<4> $ 345,150 $ 220,562 3.66% 1.7 

Financing provided Tem1 SOFR<4> 154,291 154,291 2.38% 10.8 

TRTX 2021-FIA 

Collateral loan Envestments 2 1 Term SOFR<5> 1,070,968 961,604 3.63% 2.5 

Financing provided I Term SOFR<s) 858,468 856,747 1.80% 14.2 

TRTX 2022-FL5 

Collateral loan Envestments 15 Tenn SOFR<6) 1,075,000 1,059,239 3.61% 3.0 

Financing provided Term SOFR<6> 907,031 904, 136 2.02% 15.1 

Total 

Collateral loan investments(7) 4 1 Tem1SOFR $ 2,491 ,118 $ 2,241,405 3.62% 2.6 :rears 

Financing provided(S) 3 Term SOFR $ 1,919,790 $ 1,9 15,174 1.95% 14.3 years 

(1) Includes loan amounts held in the Company's CRE CLOs and excludes other loans held for investment, net of$3.9 million held within the 
Sub-REJT. 

(2) Weighted average spread excludes the amortization of loan fees and deferred financing costs. 

(3) Loan term represents weighted average final maturity, assuming extension options are exercised by the borrower. Repayments of CRE 
CLO notes are dependent on timing of related loan repayments post-reinvestment period. The tenn of the CRE CLO notes represents the 
rated final distribution date. 

(4) On October l , 2021, the benchmark index interest rate for boJTowings under TRTX 2019-FL3 was converted from Compounded SOFR to 
Tenn SOFR by the designated transaction representative under the FL3 indenture. The Company exercised its right to convert the mortgage 
assets' benchmark interest rate from LlBOR to Term SOFR to eliminate the difference between benclunark rates used for the assets and 
liabilities of the CRE CLO. As of December 31 , 2023, the TRTX 2019-FL3 mortgage assets are indexed to Term SOFR. 

(5) On May 15, 2023, the benchmark index interest rate for borrowings under TRTX 2021-FL4 was converted from LIBOR to Term SOFR by 
the designated transaction representative under the FL4 indenture. The Company exercised its right to convert the mortgage assets' 
benchmark interest rate from LlBOR to Term SOFR to eliminate the difference between benchmark rates used for the assets and liabilities 
of the ClRE CLO. 

(6) The Company had the abil ity to convert the interest rate benchmark from Compounded SOFR to Tem1 SOFR once 50% of the underlying 
mortgage loans were converted to Tenn SOFR. On September 12, 2023, the benchmark interest rate for borrowEngs under TRTX 2022-FL5 
was converted from Compounded SOFR to Tenn SOFR by the designated transaction representative under the FL5 indenture. As of 
December 31 , 2023, a ll ofthe TRTX 2022-FL5 mortgage assets are indexed to Tenn SO FR. 

(7) Collatera l loan investment assets of FL3, FL4, and FL5 represent 9.9%, 30.7%, and 30.9%, respectively, of the aggregate unpaid principal 
balance of the Company's loans held for investment portfolio as of December 31 , 2023. 

(8) During the year ended December 31 , 2023, the Company recognized interest expense of$153.3 million, which includes $5.0 million of 
deferred financing cost amortization and is reflected within the Company's consolidated statements of income (loss) and comprehensive 
income (loss). 
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(6) Investment Portfolio Financing 

The Company fmances its portfolio of loans, or participation interests therein, and REO using secured financing agreements, including 
secured credit agreements, secured revolving credit faci lities, asset-specific fmancing arrangements, collateralized loan obligations, 
and mortgages. 

The following table summarizes the Company's investment portfolio financing (dollars in thousands): 

Outstanding principal balance 

December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023 

Collateralized loan obligationsO> $ 1,682,288 $ 1,919,790 

Secured credit agreements 585,042 799,518 

Asset-specific financing arrangements 186,500 274,158 

Secured revolving credit facility 86,625 23,782 

Mortgage loan payable 31,200 31,200 

Total $ 2,571 ,655 $ 3,048,448 

(I) See Note 5 for additional infonnation regarding tl1e Company's collateralized loan obligations. 

Secured Credit Agreements 

As of December 3 1, 2024 and December 3 1, 2023, the Company had secured credit agreements used to finance certain of the 
Company's loan investments. These financing arrangements bear interest at rates equal to Term SOFR plus a credit spread negotiated 
between the Company and each lender, often a separate credit spread for each pledge of collateral, which is primarily based on 
property type and advance rate against the unpaid principal balance of the pledged loan. These borrowing arrangements contain 
defined mark-to-market provisions that permit our lenders to issue margin calls to the Company only in the event that the collateral 
properties underlying the Company's loans pledged to the Company's lenders experience a non-temporary decline in value ("credit 
marks") due to reasons other than capital markets events that result in changing credit spreads for similar borrowing obligations. 

The following table presents certain information regarding the Company's secured credit agreements. Except as otherwise noted, all 
agreements are on a partial (25%) recourse basis (dollars in thousands): 

Occembc~ 31,2024 

Wtlghttd Wtlghttd Maximum Principal 
Secured credil Iolll:ol Extended Index average :wer;tge Commltmenl cu.-rent B;.l~mce balance Am Ot"Hzed cost 
agl'eements0) matui'Uy date matu•·lty date rate credit spread lntel'est rate amount availability outstanding of collateral or collateral 

Goldman Sachs0) 08119126 08119128 TennSOFR 2.2 °0 6.6 °'o $ 500,000 $ 238,879 $ 261.121 s 485.557 s 485.207 

Wells Fargo0' 12106127 12106/27 TennSOFR 1.7% 6.0% 500,000 274,470 225,530 295.833 294.810 

Barc1•ys 08113125 08113126 TennSOFR 1.7 0'o 6.0 °o 500,000 437,474 62.526 84.827 84.754 

Bank of America 06/06126 06/06126 TennSOFR 1.8% 6.1 % 200,000 164,135 35,865 50,824 50,824 

Totals 1.700.000 $ 1,114,958 $ 585.042 s 917,041 $ 915.595 

(1) Borrowings under secured credit agreements with a 25% recourse guarantee from Holdco. Each secured credit agreement contains defined 
mark-to-market provisions that permit the lenders to issue margin calls based on credit marks. 

(2) On January 31 , 2024, the Company executed a two-year extension of the secured credit agreement through August 19, 2026. Until such 
date, new and revolving borrowings are permitted. After such date, the secured credit agreement automatically enters a two-year term-out 
period through August 19, 2028. 

(3) On December 6, 2024, the Company executed a three-year extension of the secured credit agreement through December 6, 2027. 

On May 2, 2024 , the Company executed a short-term extension of the Morgan Stanley secured credit agreement's maturity to June 3, 
2024, and on June 3, 2024 executed a further short-term extension to July 3, 2024. On June 21, 2024, the Company repaid the $1.8 
million outstanding under the Morgan Stanley secured credit agreement and on June 28, 2024 tenninated the financing arrangement 
prior to its July 3, 2024 maturity date. 
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Decembfr 31, 202.3 

\Veigh led Weighted ~latimum Principal 
Secured credll Initial Exl~nded lndu average average Commllmenl current Balance balance Am ortlzed cost 
agt·~menls<1' maturity dale malurily date rate credil spread inlet·est rate ~'mount availability outstan<llng or collat•o·al or collateral 

Goldman Sachs{l) 08119124 08119124 TennSOFR 2.2 Gl) 7.5 ~I) $ 500.000 $ 206.403 $ 293.597 $ 376.694 $ 376.440 

Wells Fargo 0<1118125 04118125 Term SOFR 1.9% 7.3% 500.000 164.39<1 335.606 <140.804 439.773 

Barclays 08113125 08!13126 Tenn SOFR 2.0 '• 7.3 •• 500.000 367.374 132.626 178.827 178.509 

Morgan Stanley'" 05104124 05104124 Term SOFR 1.9% 7.2% 500.000 498.176 1,824 10,570 10.570 

Bank of America< ... , 06106'26 06106126 Tenn SOFR 1.8 GG 7.1 ~I) 200,000 164.135 35.865 50.194 50.194 

Totals 2,200,000 1.400.482 799,518 1,057.089 1.055.486 

(I) Bon·owings under secured credit agreements with a 25% recourse guarantee from Holdco. Each secured credit agreement contains defined 
mark-to-market provisions that permit the lenders to issue margin calls based on credit marks. 

(2) On August 18, 2023, the Company executed an extension of the secured credit agreement's maturity to August 19, 2024. On January 31, 
2024, the Company executed a two-year extension of the secured credit agreement through August 19, 2026. During the two-year extension 
period, new and revolving borrowings are pem1itted, after which the secured credit agreement automatically enters a two-year tem1-out 
period through August 19, 2028. 

(3) On March 17, 2023, the Company executed an extension of the secured credit agreement's maturity that is effective May 4, 2023 with a one 
year tem1 maturing on May 4, 2024. 

(4) On March 20, 2023, the Company executed a sh011-term extension of the secured credit agreement's maturity to May 30, 2023, and on May 
25, 2023 executed a fi.n1her short-term extension to June 6, 2023. On June 6, 2023, the secured credit agreement's initial and extended 
maturity was extended to Jl!.lne 6, 2026. 

Secured Credit Agreement Terms 

As of December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, the Company had four and five, respectively, secured credit agreements to fmance 
its loan investing activities. Credit spreads vaty depending upon the collateral type, advance rate and other factors. Assets pledged as 
of December 31 , 2024 and December 31, 2023 consisted of 21 and 28 mortgage loans, or participation interests therein, respectively. 
Under three of the four secured credit agreements, the Company transfers all of its rights, title and interest in the loans to the secured 
credit agreement counterparty in exchange for cash, and simultaneously agrees to reacquire the asset at a future date for an amount 
equal to the cash exchanged plus an interest factor. The secured credit agreement lender collects all principal and interest on related 
loans and remits to the Company the net amount after the lender collects its interest and other fees. For the fourth secured credit 
agreement, which until June 6, 2023 was a mortgage warehouse facility, the lender received a security interest (pledge) in U1e loans 
financed under the arrangement. Effective June 6, 2023, this credit faci lily was extended for three years and converted fi·om a 
mortgage warehouse facility to a secured credit facility similar to the Company's other seCtLred credit facilities. The secured credit 
agreements used to finance loan investments are 25% recourse to Holdco. 

Under each ofthe Company's secured credit agreements, the Company is required to post margin for changes in conditions to specific 
loans that serve as collateral for those secured credit agreements. The lender's margin amount is limjted to collateral-specific credit 
marks based on non-temporary declines in the value of the properties securing the underlying loan collateral. Market value 
determinations and redeterminations may be made by the repurchase lender in its sole discretion subject to certain specified 
parameters. These considerations only include credit-based factors unrelated to the capital markets. 

The following table summarizes certain characteristics of the Company's secured credit agreements secured by mortgage loan 
investments, including counterparty concentration risks (dollars in thousands): 

Decembe1· 31, 2024 

Amortized Net P er·cent of Days to 
Commitment UPB of cost Amount counter·party stockholders' extended 

Secured credit agreements amount colla tenll of collateral(' ) payable(2) exposure(Jl equity maturity 

Goldman Sachs Bank $ 500,000 $ 485,557 $ 489,121 s 261 ,705 $ 227,416 20.4 % 1327 

Wells Fargo 500,000 295,833 295,8 15 226,028 69,787 6.3% 1070 

Bare lays 500,000 84,827 84,750 62,681 22,069 2.0% 590 

Bank of America 200,000 50,824 51 ,089 35,899 15,190 1.4 % 522 

Total / weighted average $ 1,700,000 $ 917,041 $ 920,775 s 586,3 13 $ 334,462 1100 

(1) Loan amounts include interest receivable of $5.2 million and are net of premium, discount and origination fees of $1 .4 mi II ion. 

(2) Loan amounts include interest payable of $1.3 million and do not reflect unamortized deferred financing fees of $0.8 million. 

(3) Loan amounts represent the net carrying value of the commercial real estate loans sold under agreements to repurchase, including accrued 
interest plus any cash or assets on deposit to secure the repurchase obligation, less the amount of the repurchase liability, including accrued 
interest. 
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The following table summarizes certain characteristics of the Company's secured credit agreements secured by mortgage loan 
investments, including counterpalfty concentration risks (dollars in thousands): 

Decem bet· 31, 2023 

Amortized Net P ercent of Days to 
Commitment UPB of cost Amount countcrpatty stockholdc.-s' extended 

Sccm·cd ucdit ag.-ccmcnts amount colla tCJ"al of collatct·al<1l payable(!) cxposurc<J> eq uity m:•turity 

Goldman Sachs Ban k $ 500,000 $ 376,694 $ 379,012 $ 294,258 $ 84,754 7.5% 232 

Wells Fargo 500.000 440.804 443,923 336,539 107,384 9.5 % 474 

Barclays 500,000 178,827 179,152 133,100 46.052 4. 1 % 956 

Morgan Stanley Bank 500,000 10,570 10,7 10 1,87 1 8,839 0.8% 125 

Bank of America 200.000 50.194 50.484 35,911 14,573 1.3% 888 

Total / weighted average $ 2,200,000 $ I ,057,089 $ I ,063,28 1 s 80 1,679 $ 261,602 483 

( I) Loan amounts include interest receivable of $7.8 million and are net of premium, discount and origination fees of $ 1.6 million. 

(2) Loan amounts include interest payable of $2.2 million and do not reflect unamortized defen ed fmancing fees of $1.5 million. 

(3) Loan amounts represent the net carrying value of the commercial real estate loans sold under agreements to repurchase, including accmed 
interest plus any cash or assets on deposit to secure the repurchase obligation, less the amount of the repurchase liability, including accrued 
interest. 

Secured Revolving Credit Facility 

On February 22. 2022, the Company closed a $250.0 million secured revolving credit facility with a syndicate of five lenders. During 
the fourth quarter of 2022, an additional lender was added to the facility, increasing the borrowing capacity to $290.0 million. This 
facility has an initial term of three years, an interest rate of Tenn SOFR plus 2.00% that is payable monthly in arrears, and an unused 
fee of 15 or 20 basis points, depending upon whether utilization exceeds 50.0%. During the year ended December 3 1, 2024 and 2023, 
the weighted average unused fee was 20 and 20 basis points, respectively. The faci li ty generally provides the Company with interim 
frnancing of eligible loans for up to 180 days at am initial advance rate of 75.0%, which declines to 65.0%, 45.0%, and 0.0% after 90, 
135, and 180 days from initial borrowing, respectively, depending on the likely source ofrefmancing. This facility is 100% recourse to 
Holdco. For the quarters ended September 30, 2023 and December 3 1, 2023, the Company received a waiver with respect to the 
minimum interest coverage ratio covenant included in this facili ty and in doing so, each of the facility's advance rates was reduced 
during the waiver period by five points. 

As of December 31 , 2024, the Company pledged one loan investment with a collateral principal balance of $ 115.5 million and had 
outstanding Term SOFR-based borrowings of $86.6 million under its secured revolving credit facility. As of December 31 , 2023, the 
Company pledged one loan investment with a collateral principal balance of $32.8 million and had outstanding Term SOFR-based 
borrowings of$23.8 million. 
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Asset-Specific Financing Arrangements 

On December 5 , 2023, the Company closed a $90.6 million asset-specific financing facility with HSBC Bank USA, National 
Association ("HSBC Facility"). On September 26, 2024, the Company added an additional loan to the loan financing facility, 
increasing the total facility size by $72.0 million. The facility provides asset-specific financing on a non-mark-to-market, matched 
tem1 basis. This facility is 20% recourse to Holdco. The advance rate and borrowing rate are determined separately for each loan 
financed under the facility. 

On June 30, 2022, the Company closed a $200.0 million loan financing facil ity with BMO Harris Bank ("BMO Facility"). The facility 
provides asset-specific financing on a non-mark-to-market, matched term basis. This facility is 25% recourse to Holdco. The advance 
rate and borrowing rate are determined separately for each loan financed under the facility. 

On November 17, 2022, t11e Company closed a $23.3 million asset-specific financing arrangement with Customers Bank. The 
arrangement is non-mark-to-market, matched term, and non-recourse. 

The following table details the Company's asset-specific fu1ancing aiTangements (dollars in thousands): 

December 31, 2024 

Financing Collateral 

O utstanding Outstanding 
Commitment principal Carrying Wtd. a vg. Wtd. avg. principal Amo•·tized Wtd. avg. 

Asset-specific financing Count amount balance value<•> spread< term<3> Count balance cost term 

HSBC Facility $ 144,1 14 $ 136,011 $ 135,451 2.0 % 3.6 3 $ 188,995 $ 187,958 3.6 

BMOFacility 200,000 29,110 29,046 2.0 % 2.7 38,468 38,365 2.7 

Customers Bank 23,250 2 1,379 21,244 2.5 % 2.7 29,417 29,346 2.7 

Total / weighted average $ 367,364 $ 186,500 $ 185,741 2.1 % 3.4 years $ 256,880 $ 255,669 3.4 years 

(I) Net of$0.8 million unamortized deferred financing costs. 

(2) Collateral loan assets and related financings are indexed to Tenn SO FR. 

(3) Bon·owings are term-matched to the corresponding collateral loan asset. The weighted average term assumes all extension options of the 
collateral loan assets are exercised by the borrower. 

The Company repaid all outstanding borrowings under the Company's former $397.9 million asset-specific financing arrangement 
with an Institutional Lender ("Institutional Lender 2") during t11e three months ended March 31, 2024. 

The following table details the Company's asset-specific financing aiTangements (dollars in thousands): 

Decem be•· 31,2023 

Financing CoUateral 

O utstanding Outstanding 
Commitment principal Carry ing Wtd.avg. Wtd. avg. p rincipal Amortized W td. avg. 

Asset-specific financing Count amount balance valu(•(t) sprt>ad<· tt'l"lll(J) Count balance cost tc1·m 

HSBC Facility $ 90,564 $ 82,143 $ 81,351 2.1% 3.5 3 $ 117,343 $ 116,694 3.5 

BMO Facility 200,000 29,110 28,883 2.0 % 3.7 I 37,623 37,370 3.7 

Institutional Lende•- 2<4l 141 ,526 141,526 141,526 3.5% 1.1 2 136,057 134,3 19 1.4 

Customers Bank 23,250 2 1,379 21,050 2.5 % 3.7 28,956 28,784 3.7 

Total / weighted average $ 455,340 $ 274,158 s 272,810 2.8% 2.3 years s 319,979 s 3 17, 167 2.6 years 

(I) Net of $ 1.3 million tmamortized deferred financing costs. 

(2) Collateral loan assets and related fmancings are indexed to Tem1 SOFR. 

(3) Borrowings are tem1-matched to the corresponding collateral loan asset. The weighted average term assumes all extension options of the 
collateral loan assets are exercised by the borrower. 

(4) Collateral includes one loan and a receivable owed pursuant to the terms of a co-lender agreement and servicing agreement, of which $88.0 
million of this borrowing was repaid in January 2024. The remaining borrowings under this asset-specific financing arrangement were 
repaid during the tluee montl1s ended March 31, 2024. 
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Mortgage Loan Payable 

The Company, through a wholly owned special purpose subsidiary, is the borrower tmder a $31.2 million, non-recourse mortgage loan 
secured by a deed of trust against an REO asset. T he first mortgage loan was provided by an institutional lender, has an interest-only 
tem1 of five years with a maturity of July 6, 2028 and bears interest at a rate of 7.7%. As of December 31 , 2024 and December 31, 
2023, the carrying value of the loan was $30.7 million and $30.6 million, respectively. 

Financial Covenant Compliance 

Our fmancial covenants and guarantees for outstanding borrowings related to our secured fmancing agreements require Holdco to 
maintain compliance with the following financial covenants (among others): 

Financial Covenant 

Cash Liquidity 

Tangible Net Worth 

Debt-to-Equity 

Interest Coverage 

Current 

Minimum cash liquidity of no less than tl1e greater of: $15.0 million; and 5.0% ofHoldco 's recourse indebtedness. 

$1.0 billion, plus 75% of all subsequent equity issuances (net of discounts, commissions, expense), minus 75% of 
the redeemed or repurchased preferred or redeemab1e equity or stock. 

Debt-to-Equity ratio not to exceed 4.25 to 1.0. 

Minimum interest coverage ratio of no less than 1.4 to 1.0, effective June 30, 2023. Previously, 1.5 to 1.0. 

The financial covenants and guarantees for outstanding borrowings related to the Company's secured credit agreements and secured 
revolving credit facility require Holdco to maintain compliance with certain fmancial covenants. The uncertain long-term impact of 
global macroeconomic conditions, including heightened inflation, slower growth or recession, changes to fiscal and monetary policy, 
sustained higher interest rates, currency fluctuations, labor shortages and stn1ctural shifts and regulatory changes in the banking sector, 
on the commercial real estate markets and global capital markets may make it more difficult to meet or satisfy these covenants, and 
there can be no assurance that the Company will remain in compliance with these covenants in the future . 

Financial Covenant Compliance 

Effective September 30, 2023, the Company obtained from its lenders a waiver wit11 respec t to the minimum interest coverage ratio 
covenant. The waiver reduced the minimum interest coverage ratio to 1.30 to 1.0 from 1.40 to 1.0 for the quarters ended September 
30, 2023 and December 31, 2023. The interest coverage ratio threshold reverted to 1.40 to ] .0 for the quarter ending March 31, 2024 
and thereafter. 

investment Portfolio Financing Financial Covenant Compliance 

The Company was in compliance with all fmancial covenants for its investment portfolio fmancing arrangements to the extent of 
outstanding balances as of December 31, 2024 and December 31 , 2023, respectively. 

(7) Schedule of Maturities 

As of December 31, 2024, future principal payments for the following five years and thereafter are as follows (dollars in thousands): 

Year 

2025 

2026 

2027 

2028 

2029 

Thereafter 

Total 

$ 

$ 

Total Collateralized 
indebtedness loan obligations(!> 

342,520 $ 193,369 $ 

891,359 855,494 

689,659 377,252 

482,955 162,711 

165, 162 93,462 

2,571,655 $ 1,682,288 $ 

Secured credit 
agreements<2> 

62,526 

35,865 

225,530 

261,12L 

Secured revolving 
credit facility<2> 

$ 86,625 $ 

585,042 $ 86,625 $ 

Asset-specific 
financing 

arrangements(3> 

86,877 

27,923 

7 1,700 

Mortgage loan 
payable 

31,200 

186,500 =$===3=1=,2=00= 

(I) The scheduled marurities for the investment grade bonds issued by t11e Company's CRE CLOs are based upon the fully extended maturity 
of t11e underlying mortgage loan collateral, considering the reinvestment window of each CRE CLO. 

(2) The scheduled maturities of the Company's secured credit agreement liabilities are based on the extended maturity date for the specific 
credit agreement where extension options are at the Company's option, subject to standard defiwlt provisions, or the cunent maturity date 
of those credit agreements where extension options are subject to counterparty approval. 

(3) The scheduled maturities of the Company's asset-specific fmancing arrangements are based on the fully extended maturity date of the 
underlying m011gage loan collateral. 
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(8) Fair" Value Measurements 

The Company' s consolidated balance sheet includes Level I fair value measurements related to cash eqlllivalents, restricted cash, 
accounts receivable, and accrued liabilities. As of December 31 , 2024 and December 31 , 2023, the Company had £124.7 million and 
$172.7 million, respectively, invested in money market funds with original maturities o f less than 90 days. The carrying values of 
these financial assets and liabilities are reasonable estimates of fair value because of the short-term maturities of these instruments. 
The consolidated balance sheet also includes loans held for investment, the assets and liabilities of its CLOs, secured credit 
agreements, and asset-specific financing arrangements that are considered Level III fair value measurements. Level Ill items are not 
measured at fair value on a recurring basis, but are subject to fair value adjustments utilizing the fair value of the underlying collateral 

when there is evjdence of impaimnent and when the loan is dependent solely on the collateral for payment of principal and interest. 

The following tables provide information about the fair value of the Company's fmancial assets and liabilities on the Company's 
consolidated balance sheets (dollars in thousands): 

December 31, 2024 

Fair value 

P1incipal balance Carrying value Level I Level II Level III 
Financial assets 

Loans held for investment s 3,284,510 $ 3,217,030 $ - $ - $ 3,258,017 

Financial liabilities 

Collateralized loan obligations 1,682,288 1,681 ,660 1,661,615 

Secured credit agreements 585,042 584,235 580,921 

Asset-specific i:inancing arrangements 186,500 185,741 186,006 

Secured revolving credit facility 86,625 86,492 86,625 

Mortgage loan payable 31 ,200 30,695 31,200 

December 31, 2023 

Fair value 

Principal balance Carrying value Level I Level II Level Ill 
Financial assets 

Loans held for investment $ 3,484,052 $ 3,409,684 $ - $ - $ 3,446,648 

Financial liabilities 

Collateralized loan obligations 1,919,790 1,915,174 1,893,803 

Secured credit agreements 799,518 798,060 791 ,495 

Asset-specific financing arrangements 274,158 272,810 273,218 

Secured revolving credit facility 23,782 22,764 23,323 

Mortgage loan payable 31 ,200 30,55 1 31 ,200 

As of December 31 , 2024 and December 31, 2023, the estimated fair value of the Company's loans held for investment portfolio was 
$3.3 billion and! $3.4 billion, respectively, which approximated carrying value. The weighted average gross credit spread for the 
Company's loans held for investment portfolio as ofDecember 31, 2024 and December 3 1, 2023 was 3.68% and 3.73%, respectively. 
The weighted average years to maturity as of December 31 , 2024 and December 31, 2023 was 2.4 years and 2.6 years, respectively, 
asswning full extension of all loans held for investment. 

As of December 3 1, 2024 and December 31, 2023, the estimated fair value of the collateralized loan obligation liabilities and secured 
credit agreements approximated fair value since current borrowing spreads reflect current market tenns. 

Level Ill fair values are determined based on standardized valuation models and significant unobservable market inputs, including 
holding period, discount rates based on LTV, property type and loan pricing expectations developed by the Manager that were 
corroborated witJ1 other institutional lenders to dete rmine market spreads that are added to the forward curve of the underlying 
benchmark interest rate. There were no transfers of financial assets or liabilities within the levels of the fair value hierarchy during the 
year ended December 31, 2024. 
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(9) Income Taxes 

The Company indirectly owns 100% of the equity of TRSs. TRSs are subject to applicable U.S. federal, state, local and foreign 
income tax on their taxable income. In addition, as a REIT, the Company also may be subject to a I 00% excise tax on certain 
transactions between it and its TRSs that are not conducted on an ann's-length basis. The Company files income tax returns in the 
United States federal jurisdiction as well as various state and local jurisdictions. The filings are subject to nom1al reviews by tax 
authorities until the related statute of limitations expires. The years open to exan1ination generally range from 2021 to present. 

ASC 740 also prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition and measurement 
of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax retum. ASC 740 also provides guidance on derecognition, classification, 
interest and penalties, accounting in interim periods, disclosure and transition. The Company has analyzed its various federal and state 
filing positions and believes that its income tax filing positions and deductions are well documented and supported. As of 
December 31,2024 and December 31,2023, based on the Company's evaluation, the Company did not have any material tu1certain 
income tax positions. 

The Company's policy is to classify interest and penalties associated wit11 underpayment of U.S. federal and state income taxes, if any, 
as a component of general and administrative expense on its consolidated statements of income (loss) and comprehensive income 
(loss). For the year ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company did not have interest or penalties associated with the 
underpayment of any income taxes. 

The Company owns, t11rough an entity classified as a partnership for U.S. federal tax purposes ("Parent LLC"), I 00% of the common 
equity in Sub-REIT, which qual ifies as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes and is a separate taxpayer from bot11 the 
Company ru1d Parent LLC. Parent LLC is owned by the Company both directly and indirectly through a TRS. The Company, through 
Sub-REIT, issues CRE CLOs to finance on a non-recourse, non-mark-to-market basis a large proportion of its loan investment 
portfolio. Due to unusually low LIBOR rates between March 2020 and September 2022, coupled with high interest rate floors relating 
to many loans and participation interests pledged to Sub-REIT's CLOs, certain of Sub-REIT's CRE CLOs have in t11e past generated 
Ell, which may be treated as UBTI. Published IRS guidance requires that Sub-REIT allocate its Eli among its shareholders in 
proportion to its dividends paid. Accordingly, Ell generated by Sub-REIT's CRE CLOs is allocated to Parent LLC. Pursuant to the 
Parent LLC operating agreement, any Ell allocated from Sub-REIT to Parent LLC is allocated further to the TRS. Consequently, no 
Ell is allocated to the Company and, as a result, tl1e Company's shareholders will not be allocated any Ell (or UBTI attributable to 
such Ell) by tl1e Company. TI1e tax liability borne by the TRS on the Ell is approximately 2 1%. This tax liability is included in the 
consolidated statements of income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss) and balance sheets oft11e Company. 

The following table details the income tax treatment for dividends declared on the Company's common stock: 

For the Years Ended December 31, 

2024(!) 2023(2) 2022 

Ordinary income dividends $ 0.80 $ 0.12 $ 0.95 

Rerum of capital 0. 16 061 

Total common stock dividends $ 0.96 $ 0.73 $ 0.95 

(I) The Company declared $0.96 of common stock dividends during the year ended December 31, 2024. Pursuant to IRC Section 857(b)(9), 
cash distributions made on January 24, 2025 with a record date of December 27, 2024 aJe treated for federal income tax purposes as 
received! by shareholders on December 31, 2024 to the extent of the Coiillpany's 2024 eamings and profits. As the Company's aggregate 
2024 dividends declared exceeded its 2024 earnings and profits, the January 2025 cash disllibution declared in the fourth quarter of 2024 
will be treated as a 2025 distribution for federal income tax purposes and will not be included on the 2024 Form l 099-DIV. 

(2) The Company declared $0.96 of conunon stock dividends during the year ended December 31, 2023. Pursuant to IRC Section 857(b)(9), 
cash distributions made on January 25, 2024 with a record date of December 29, 2023 aJe treated for federal income tax purposes as 
received! by shareholders on December 31, 2023 to the extent of the Coiillpany's 2023 earnings and profits. As the Company's aggregate 
2023 dividends declared exceeded its 2023 earnings and profits, the January 2024 cash distribution declared in the fourth quarter of 2023 
will be treated as a 2024 distribution for federal income tax purposes and will not be included on the 2023 Form I 099-DIV. 

For tl1e year ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, the Company recognized $0.4 million, $0.3 million, and $0.5 million, 
respectively, of federal, state, andllocal tax expense. 

As of December 31, 2024, the Company had no income tax assets and no income tax liability recorded for the operating activities of 
the Company's TRSs. As of December 31 , 2023, the Company had no income tax assets and a $0.02 million income tax liability 
recorded for the operating activities of the Company's TRSs. 
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As ofDecember 31 , 2021 , the Company had $187.6 million ofremaining capital losses that it can carry forward into future years. 
During the year ended December 31 , 2022, the Company utilized $13.3 million of the $187.6 million of available remaining capital 
loss carryforwards to offset the capital gain generated from the partial sale of a REO in April 2022. During the year ended December 
31 , 2023, the Company incurred! a capital loss of $19.8 million from the sale of an acquired loan. As of December 31 , 2024, the 
Company has $194.1 million of capital losses, of which $174.3 million and $ 19.8 million will expire at the end of 2025 and 2028, 
respectively, iftmused. 

The Company does not expect these capital loss carryforwards to reduce the amotmt that the Company will be required to distribute in 
accordance with the requirement that the Company distribute to its stockholders at least 90% of the Company's RETT taxable income 
(computed wiU10ut regard to U1e deduction for d£vidends paid and excluding net capital gain) each year to continue to qualify as a 
REIT. 

(10) Related Party Transactions 

Management Agreement 

The Company is extemally managed and advised by the Manager pursuant to the terms of a management agreement between the 
Company and the Manager (as an1ended, the "Management Agreement"). Pursuant to the Management Agreement, the Company pays 
the Manager a base management fee equal to the greater of $250,000 per annum ($62,500 per quarter) or 1.50% per annum (0.375% 
per quarter) of the Company' s "Equity" as defined in the Management Agreement. Net proceeds from the issuance of Series B and 
Series C Preferred Stock are included in the Company's Equity for purposes of detennining the base management fee using the same 
daily weighted average method as is utilized for common equity. The base management fee is payable in cash, quarterly in arrears. 
The Manager is also entitled to incentive compensation which is calculated and payable in cash with respect to each calendar quarter 
in arrears in an amount, not less than zero, equal to the difference between: (1) the product of (a) 20% and (b) the difference between 
(i) the Company's Core Earnings for the most recent 12-month period, including the calendar quarter (or part thereof) for which the 
calculation of incentive compensation is being made (the "applicable period"), and (ii) the product of (a) the Company' s Equity in the 
most recent 12-month period, including the applicable period, and (b) 7% per annum; and (2) the sum of any incentive compensation 
paid to the Manager with respect to the first three calendar quarters of the most recent 12-month period. No incentive compensation is 
payable to the Manager with respect to any calendar quarter unless Core Earnings for the 12 most recently completed calendar quarters 
is greater than zero. For purposes of calculating the Manager's incentive compensation, the Management Agreement specifies that 
equity securities of the Company or any of the Company's subsidiaries that are entitled to a specified periodic distribution or have 
otl1er debt characteristics will not constitute equity securities and will not be included in "Equity" for the purpose of calculating 
incentive compensation. Instead, lhe aggregate distribution amount that accrues to such equity securities during the calendar quarter of 
such calculation will be subtracted from Core Earnings, before incentive compensation for purposes of calculating incentive 
compensation, tmless such distribution is otl1erwise excluded from Core Earnings. 

Core Earnings, as deOned in the Management Agreement, means the net income (loss) attributable to t11e holders of t11e Company's 
common stock and Class A common stock (in those periods in which such Class A shares were outstanding) and, without duplication, 
the holders of the Company's subsidiaries' equity securities (other than tl1e Company or any of the Company's subsidiaries), 
computed in accordance with GAAP, inducting realized gains and losses not otherwise included in net income (loss), and excluding (i) 
non-cash equity compensation expense, (ii) the incentive compensation, (ii i) depreciation and amortization, (iv) any unrealized gains 
or losses, including an allowance for credit losses, or other similar non-cash items that are included in net income for the applicable 
period, regardless of whether such items are included in other comprehensive income or loss or in net income and (v) one-time events 
pursuant to changes in GAAP and certain material non-cash income or expense items, in each case after discussions between the 
Manager and the Company's independent directors and approved by a majority of the Company's independent directors. 
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Mtmagement Fees and Incentive Management Fees Incurred ant/ Ptlid 

The following table details the management fees and incentive management fees incurred and paid pursuant to the Management 
Agreement (dollars in thousands): 

Incur red 

Management fees 

Incentive management fee 

Total managemernt and incentive fees incurred 

Paid 

Management fees 

Incentive management fee 

Total management and incentive fees paid 

2024 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

Years Ended December 31, 

2023 

20,249 $ 

20,249 $ 

20,05 1 $ 

20,05 1 $ 

2022 

22,426 s 23,455 

5,183 

22,426 =$====2=8=,6=38= 

23,497 $ 23,080 

5,183 

23,497 =$====2=8=,2=63= 

Management fees and incentive management fees included in payable to affiliates on the consolidated balance sheets as of 
December 31 , 2024 and December 31 , 2023 are $5.1 million and $4.9 million, respectively. No incentive management fee was earned 
during the year ended December 31 , 2024 and 2023. During the year ended December 3 1, 2022, the Manager earned $5.2 million of 
incentive management fees. 

Termination Fee 

A termination fee would be due to the Manager upon termination of the Management Agreement by the Company absent a cause 
event. The tem1ination fee would also be payable to the Manager upon termination of the Management Agreement by the Manager if 
the Company materially breaches the Management Agreement. The termination fee is equal to three times the sum of (x) the average 
annual base management fee and! (y) the average annual incentive compensation earned by the Manager, in each case during the 24-
month period immediately preceding the most recently completed calendar quarter prior to the date oftern1ination. 

Other Related Party Transactions 

The Manager or its affiliates is responsible for the expenses related to the personnel of the Manager and its affiliates who provide 
services to the Company. However, the Company does reimburse the Manager for agreed-upon an1ounts based upon the Company's 
allocable share of the compensation (including, without limitation, annual base salary, bonus, any related withholding taxes and 
employee benefits) paid to (i) the Manager' s personnel serving as the Company's chief financial officer based on the percentage of his 
or her time spent managing the Company's affairs and (ii) other corporate finance, tax, accounting, internal audit, legal risk 
management, operations, compliance and other non-investment personnel of the Manager or its affiliates who spend all or a portion of 
their time managing the Company's affairs, based on the percentage of time devoted by such personnel to the Company's and the 
Company's subsidiaries' affairs. During the years. ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022 the Company reimbursed the Manager 
$1.5 million, $ l.O million, and $l.O million, respectively, of expenses for services rendered on its behalf by the Manager and its 
affiliates. 

The Company is required to pay the Manager or its affiliates for documented costs and expenses incurred with third parties by the 
Manager or its affiliates on behalf of the Company, subject to the Company' s review and approval of such costs and expenses. The 
Company's obligation to pay for costs and expenses incurred on its behalf is not subject to a dollar limitation. 

As of December 31, 2024 and December 31 , 2023, no amounts remained outstanding and payable to the Manager or its affiliates for 
third-party expenses that were incurred on behalf of the Company. All expenses due and payable to the Mamager are reflected in the 
respective expense category of tl1e consolidated statements of income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss) or consolidated balance 
sheets based on the nature of the item. 

The Company engaged SOP 2 Management, LLC, a portfolio company owned by an affiliate of TPG, Inc., to provide a specified 
scope of asset management services related to the Company's REO properties. During the year ended December 31, 2024, the 
Company incurred $1.4 million of expenses for these services. 
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(11) Earnings per Share 

The Company calculates its basic and diluted earnings per share using the two-class method for all periods presented, which defines 
unvested stock-based compensation awards that contain nonforfeitable rights to dividends as participating securities. The two-class 
method is an allocation formula that detennines. earnings per share for each share of common stock and participating securities 
according to dividends declared and participation rights in undistributed earnings. Under this method, all earnings (distributed and 
undistributed) are allocated to common shares and participating securities based on their respective rights to receive dividends. The 
unvested restricted shares of the Company's common stock granted to certain current and former employees of affiliates of the 
Manager and affiliates of the Manager qualify as participating securities. These restricted shares have the same rights as the 
Company's other shares of common stock, including participating in any dividends, and therefore are included in the Company's basic 
and diluted earnings per share calculation. For the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022, $2.1 million, $1.7 mill ion, and 
$1.0 million, respectively, of common stock dividends declared and undistributed net income attributable to common stockholders 
were allocated to unvested shares of our common stock pursuant to stock grants made under the Company's Incentive Plan. See Note 
12 for details. 

The computation of diluted eamings per common share is based on the weighted average number of participating secunt1es 
outstanding plus the incremental shares that would be outstanding assum.iing exercise of the Warrants. The number of incremental 
common shares is calculated utilizing the treasury stock method. As discussed below in Note 12, on May 8, 2024, all ofthe Warrants 
were exercised on a net settlement basis, resulting in the issuance of 2,647,059 shares of the Comp;my's common stock. As of 
December 31, 2024, there were no Warrants outstanding. For the year ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, 188,57 1 and 2,881,459 
warrants, respectively, are excluded from the calculation of diluted earnings per conm1on share since their effect would be anti­
dilutive. For the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022, 142,388, 376,444, and 605,936 participating securities, 
respectively, are excluded from the calculation of diluted earnings per comnaon share since their effect would be anti-dilutive. 

The following table sets forth the calculation of basic and diluted earnings per common share based on the weighted average number 
of shares of common stock outstanding (dollars in thousands, except share and per share data): 

Net income (loss) 

Preferred stock di vidends(J) 

Participating securities' share in earnings 

Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders 

Weighted average common shares outstanding, basic 

Weighted average common shares outstanding, diluted 

Eamings (loss) per common share, basicC2l 

Earnings (loss) per common share, diluted(2J 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

Yea•· Ended December 31, 

2024 2023 

74,335 $ (116,630) $ 

(12,592) (12,592) 

(2,077) (1 ,683) 

59,666 $ (130,905) $ 

79,801,990 77,575,788 

79,888,044 77,575,788 

0.75 $ (1.69) $ 

0.75 $ (1.69) $ 

2022 

(60,066) 

(12,592) 

(986) 

(73,644) 

77,296,524 

77,296,524 

(0.95) 

(0.95) 

(I) Includes preferred stock dividends declared and paid on outstanding shares of Series A Preferred Stock and Series C Preferred Stock. 

(2) Basic and diluted earnings per common share are computed independently based on the weighted average shares of common stock 
outstanding. Diluted earnings per conunon share includes the impact of participating securities outstanding. Prior to the May 8, 2024 
Warrant exercise, diluted earnings per common share included any incremental shares that would be outstanding assuming the exercise of 
the Warrants. l11e sum of the quarterly eamings (loss) per common share amounts may not agree to the total for 01e years ended 
December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022. 
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(12) Stockholders' E quity 

Series C Cumult1tive Redeemable Preferred Stock 

On June 14, 2021 , the Company received net proceeds of $ 194.4 mill ion firom the sale of tJ1e 8,050,000 shares of Series C Preferred 
Stock after deducting the underwriting discount and commissions of $6.3 million and issuance costs of $0.6 million. The Company 
used the net proceeds from the offering to partially fund the redemption of all of the outstanding shares of the Company's Series B 
Preferred Stock. The Series C Preferred Stock is currently listed on the NYSE under the symbol ' 'TRTX PRC." In connection with the 
Series C Preferred Stock issuance the Company paid TPG Capital BD, LLC a $0.7 million underwriting discount and commission for 
its services as joint bookrunner. The underwriting discount and c01mnission was settled net of the preferred stock issuance proceeds 
and recorded as a reduction to additional paid-in-capital in the Company' s consolidated statement of changes in equity at closing. 

The Company' s Series C Preferred Stock has a liquidation preference of $25.00 per share. When, as, and if authorized by the 
Company' s Board of Directors and declared by the Company, dividends on Series C Preferred Stock will be payable quarterly in 
arrears on or about March 30, June 30, September 30, and December 30 of each year at a rate per rumum equal to 6.25% per annum of 
the $25.00 per share liquidation preference ($1.5624 per share atmually or $0.3906 per share quarterly). Dividends on the Series C 
Preferred Stock are cumulative. The first dividend on the Series C Preferred Stock was payable on September 30, 2021 , and covered 
the period from, and including, June 14, 2021 to, but not including, September 30, 2021 and was in the amount of$0.4601 per share. 

On atld after June 14, 2026, the Company, at its option, upon not fewer that1 30 days' nor more thru1 60 days' written notice, may 
redeem the Series C Preferred Stock, in whole, at any time, or in part, from time to time, for cash, at a redemption price of $25.00 per 
share, plus any accrued and unpaid dividends (whether or not declared) on such shares of Series C Preferred Stock to, but not 
including, the redemption date (other than any dividend with a record date before the applicable redemption date and a payment date 
after the applicable redemption date, which shall be paid on the payment date notwithstanding prior redemption of such shares). 

Upon the occurrence of a Change of Control event, the holders of Series C Preferred Stock have the right to convert their shares solely 
into common stock at their request and do not have the right to request that their shares convert into cash or a combination of cash and 
common stock. The Company, upon the occurrence of a Change of Control event, at its option, upon not fewer than 30 days' nor more 
than 60 days' written notice, may redeem the shares of Series C Preferred Stock, in whole or in part, within 120 days after the first 
date on which such Change of Control occurred, for cash at a redemption price equal to $25.00 per share, plus any accrued and unpaid 
dividends (whetl1er or not declared) to, but not including, the redemption date (other than any dividend with a record date before the 
applicable redemption date and a payment date after the applicable redemption date, which will be paid on the payment date 
notwithstanding prior redemption of such shares). 

Holders of Series C Preferred Stock have no voting rights except as set forth in the Articles Supplementary for the Series C Preferred 
Stock. 

Series B Cumullllive Redeemable Preferred Stock and Warrants to Purchase Shares of Common Stock 

On May 28, 2020, the Company issued 9,000,000 shares of the Company's 11.0% Series B Preferred Stock, par value $0.001 per share 
(the "Series B Preferred Stock"), ru1d Warratlts to purchase up to 12,000,000 shares of the Company's common stock to PE Holder 
L.L.C., a Delaware limited liability company (the "Purchaser"), an affi[iate of Starwood Capital Group Global II, L.P., for an 
aggregate purchase price of $225.0 million. On June 16, 2021 , the Company redeemed all9,000,000 outstanding shares of the Series 
B Preferred Stock at an aggregate redemption price of approximately $247.5 million. 

The Warrants were exercisable on a net settlement basis and would have expired on May 28, 2025. The Warrants were classified as 
equity and were initially recorded at their estimated fair value of $14.4 million with no subsequent remeasurement. On May 8, 2024, 
the Purchaser exercised all of the Warrants on a net settlement basis, and the Company issued 2,647,059 shares of the Company's 
common stock to the Purchaser. As of December 31 , 2024, there were no Warrants outstanding. 

Share Repurchase Program 

On April 25, 2024, the Compru1.y's Board of Directors approved a share repurchase program pursuant to which the Company is 
autJ1orized to repurchase up to $25.0 million of the Company's common stock. The repurchase program authorizes the repurchase of 
common stock from time to time on the open market or in privately negotiated transact ions, including under I Ob5- l. plans. The 
Compru1y repurchased 4,603 shares of common stock, at a weighted average price of $7.98 per share, for total consideration (including 
commissions and related fees) of $0.04 million during the year ended December 31 , 2024. As of December 31 , 2024, the Company 
had $24.96 million of remaining capacity under its share repurchase program. 
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Di11idends 

Upon the approval of the Company's Board of Directors, the Company accrues dividends. The Company intends to distribl.lte each 
year not less than 90% of its taxable income to its stockholders to comply with the REIT provisions of the Internal Revenue Code. The 
Board of Directors will determine whether to pay future dividends, entirely in cash, or in a combination of stock and cash based on 
facts and circumstances at the time such decisions are made. 

On December 13, 2024, the Company's Board of Directors declared and approved a cash dividend of $0.24 per share of common 
stock, or $20.0 million in the aggregate, for the fourth quarter of 2024. The common stock ctividend was paid on January 24, 2025 to 
the holders of record of the Company's common stock as of December 27, 2024. 

On December 6, 2024, the Company' s Board of Directors declared a cash dividend of $0.3906 per share of Series C Preferred Stock, 
or $3.1 million in the aggregate, for the fourth quarter of 2024. The Series C Preferred Stock dividend was paid on December 30, 2024 
to the preferred stockholders of record as of December 20, 2024. 

On December 18, 2023, the Company' s Board of Directors declared and approved a cash dividend of $0.24 per share of common 
stock, or $19.2 million in the aggregate, for the fourth quarter of2023. The common stock dividend was paid on January 25, 2024 to 
the holders of record of the Company's common stock as of December 29, 2023. 

On December 8, 2023, the Company's Board of Directors declared a cash dividend of $0.3906 per share of Series C Preferred Stock, 
or $3.1 million in the aggregate, for the fourth quarter of2023. The Series C Preferred Stock dividend was paid on December 29, 2023 
to the preferred stockholders of record as of December 19, 2023 . 

For the year ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, common stock dividends in the amount of $78.7 million and $76.0 million, 
respectively, were declared and approved. 

For the year ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, Series C Preferred Stock dividends in the amotmt of $12.6 million an.d $12.6 
million, respectively, were declared and approved. 

As of December 31,2024 and December 31, 2023, common stock dividends of $20.0 million and $19.2 million, respectively, were 
unpaid and are reflected in dividends payable on the Company' s consolidated balance sheets. 
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(13) Stock-based Compensation 

The Company does not have any employees. As of December 31 , 2024, certain individuals employed by an affiliate of the Manager 
and certain members of the Company' s Board of Directors were compensated, in part, through the issuance of stock-based 
instruments. 

The Company's Board of Directors has adopted, and the Company' s stockholders have approved, the TPG RE Finance Trust, Inc. 
2017 Equity Incentive Plan (the "Incentive Plan"). The Incentive Plan provides for the grant of equity-based compensation awards to 
the Company's, and its affiliates' , directors, officers, employees (if any) and consultants, and the members, officers, directors, 
employees and consultants of our Manager or its affi liates, as well as to our Manager and otl1er entities that provide services to us and 
our affiliates and the employees of such entities. T he total number of shares of conm1on stock or long-term incentive plan ("LTIP") 
units that may be awarded tmder the Incentive Plan is 4,600,463. The Incentive Plan will automatically expire on the tenth anniversary 
of its effective date, unless terminated earlier by the Company' s Board of Directors. 

The following table details the outstanding common stock awards and includes the numbers of shares granted and weighted average 
grant date fair value per share under the Incentive Plan: 

Common Stock 
Weighted Average Grant 

Date Fair Value per Share 

Balance as of December 31, 2021 835,929 $ 13 16 

Granted 1,141,926 7.93 

Vested (278,821) 14.25 

Forfeited (15,594) 12.06 

Balance as of December 3 1, 2022 1,683,440 s 9.44 

Granted 950,000 6.66 

Vested (527,831) 10.55 

Forfeited (6,545) 7.64 

Balance as of December 31, 2023 2,099,064 $ 7.91 

Granted 990,100 8.51 

Vested (712,041) 8.51 

Forfeited 

Balance as of December 3 1, 2024 2,377,123 $ 7.98 

Generally, conm1on shares vest over a four-year period pursuant to the terms of the award and the Incentive Plan with the exception of 
deferred stock units granted to certain members of the Company's Board of Directors that are vested upon issuance. 

The following table presents the number of shares associated with outstanding awards that will vest over the next four years: 

Share Grant Vesting Year Shar es of Common Stock 

2025 

2026 

2027 

2028 

Total 

875,674 

768,892 

485,053 

247,504 

2,377,123 

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company accrued 15,218 shares ofconm1on stock for dividends that are paid-in-kind 
to non-management members of its Board of Directors related to the dividends payable to holders of record of our common stock as of 
March 28, 2024, June 27, 2024, September 27, 2024, and December 27, 2024. 

During the year ended December 31 , 2023, the Company accrued 16,049 shares ofconm1on stock for dividends that are paid-in-kind 
to non-managem.ent members of its Board of Directors related to the dividends payable to holders of record of our common stock as of 
March 29, 2023, June 28, 2023, September 28, 2023, and December 29, 2023. 

As of December 3 I, 2024, total unrecognized compensation costs relating to unvested stock-based compensation arrangements was 
$ 15.5 million. These compensation costs are expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 1.3 years from 
December 31 , 2024. For the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022, the Company recognized $6.4 million, $8.0 million, and 
$5.1 million, respectively, of stock-based compensation expense. 
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(14) Commitments and Contingencies 

Unfunded Commitments 

As part of its lending activities, the Company commits to certain funding obligations which are not advanced at loan closing and that 
have not been recognized in the Company' s consolidated financial statements. These commitments to extend credit are made as part of 
the Company's loans held for investment portfolio and are generally utilized for capital expenditures, including base building work, 
tenant improvement costs and leasing commissions, and interest reserves. The aggregate amount of unrecognized w1funded loan 
commitments existing as of December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023 was $127.9 million and $183.3 million, respectively. 

The Company recorded an allowance for credit losses on loan commitments that are not unconditionally cancellable by the Company 
of$2.4 million and $2.7 million as of Dec-ember 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively, which is included in accrued expenses 
and other liabilities on the Company's consolidated balance sheets. 

Litiglltion 

From time to time, the Company may be involved in various claims and legal actions arising in the ordinary course of business. The 
Company establishes an accrued liability for loss contingencies when a settlement arising from a legal proceeding is both probable and 
reasonably estimable. If a legal matter is not probable and reasonably estimable, no such liability is recorded. Examples of this include 
(i) early stages of a legal proceeding, (ii) damages that are unspecified or crumot be determined, (iii) discovery has not started or is 
incomplete or (iv) there is tmcertainty as to the outcome of pending appeals or motions. If these items exist, an estimated range of 
potential loss catmot be determined and as such the Company does not record an accrued liability. 

As of December 3 1, 2024 and December 31, 2023, the Company was not involved in any material legal proceedings and has not 
recorded an accmed Liability for loss contingencies. 
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(15) Concentration of Credit Risk 

Property Type 

A summary of the Company's portfolio of loans held for investment by property type based on total loan commitment and current 
unpaid principal balance (" UPB") follows (dollars in thousands): 

Decembe•- 31 , 2024 

Loan Unfunded % of loan 
Property type commitment commitment commitment Loan UPB % of loan UPB 

Multifamily $ 1,777,221 $ 56,101 52.0% $ 1,721,480 52.4% 

Office 606,047 23,788 17.8 582,259 17.7 

Life Science 368,573 14,019 10.8 354,554 10.8 

Hotel 348,400 14,11 0 10.2 334,290 10.2 

Industrial 166,000 16,400 4.9 149,600 4.6 

Mixed-Use 78,775 3,448 2.3 75,327 2.3 

Self Storage 67,000 2.0 67,000 2.0 

Total $ 3,4 12,016 $ 127,866 100.0% $ 3,284,510 100.0% 

Decem bet· 31 , 2023 

Loan Unfunded % of loan 
Prope•·t)• type commitment commitment commitment Loan UPB % of loan UPB 

Multifamily $ 1,801,668 $ 67,035 49.2% $ 1,734,633 49.7% 

Office 728,447 42,489 19.9 685,958 19.8 

Life Science 404,600 31 ,739 I LO 372,861 10.7 

Hotel 389,643 14,110 10.6 376,705 10.8 

Mixed-Use 115,215 6,256 3.1 108,959 3.1 

Industrial 107,000 7,504 2.9 99,496 2.9 

Self Storage 69,000 2,000 1.9 67,000 1.9 

Other 50,600 12,160 1.4 38,440 1.1 

Total $ 3,666,173 $ ] 83,293 100.0% $ 3,484,052 100.0% 

Loan commitments exclude capitalized interest of $0.4 million and $1.2 million as of December 31, 2024 and December 3 1, 2023, 
respectively. 
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Geography 

All of the Company' s loans held for investment are secured by properties within the United States. The geographic composition of 
loans held for investment based on total loan commitment and current UPB follows (dollars in thousands): 

December 31, 2024 

Loan Unfunded %of loan 
Geogr aphic region commitment commitment commitment Loan UPB % of loan UPB 

West $ 1,254,320 $ 47,318 36.7% $ I ,207,362 36.8% 

East 965,249 12,678 28.3 952,571 29.0 

South 817,847 49,016 24.0 768,831 23.4 

Various 309,000 16,800 9.1 292,200 8.9 

Midwest 65,600 2,054 1.9 63,546 1.9 

Total $ 3,412,016 $ 127,866 100.0% $ 3,284,510 100.0% 

Decembet· 31, 2023 

Loan Unfunded % of1oan 
Geogr aphic region commitment commitment commitment Loan UPB % of loan UPB 

West $ 1,159,180 $ 62,263 31.6% $ 1,096,917 31.5% 

East 1,156,075 31 ,096 31.5 1,126,151 32.3 

South 1,061 ,968 75,430 29.0 986,538 28.3 

Midwest 149,950 8,743 4.1 141,207 4.1 

Various 139,000 5,761 3.8 133,239 3.8 

Total $ 3,666,173 $ 183,293 100.0% $ 3,484,052 100.0% 

Loan c01mnitments exclude capitalized interest of $0.4 million and $1.2 m illion as of December 31 , 2024 and December 31, 2023, 
respectively. 

Category 

A summary of the Company' s portfolio of loans held for investment by loan category based on total loan commitment and cmrent 
UPB follows (dollars in thousands): 

December· 31, 2024 

Loan Unfunded %of loan 
Loan category commitment commitment commitment Loan UPB %of loan UPB 

Bridge $ 1,522,789 $ 27,472 44.6% $ 1,495,677 45.5% 

Moderate Transitional 1,009,038 63,063 29.6 945,975 28.8 

Light Transitional 880,189 37,331 25.8 842,858 25.7 

Total $ 3,412,016 $ 127,866 100.0% $ 3,284,510 100.0% 

December· 31, 2023 

Loan Unfunded %of loan 
Loan category commitment commitment commitment Loan UPB %of loan UPB 

Bridge $ 1,540,873 $ 32,898 42.0% $ 1,507,975 43.3% 

Moderate Transitional 1,156,858 99,507 31.6 1,058,523 30.4 

Light Transitional 917,842 38,728 25.0 879,114 25.2 

Construction 50,600 12,160 1.4 38,440 1.1 

Total $ 3,666,173 $ 183,293 100.0% $ 3,484,052 100.0% 

Loan commitments exclude capitalized interest of $0.4 million and $1.2 million as of December 31 , 2024 and December 31, 2023, 
respectively. 
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(16) Subsequcnrt Events 

The following events occurred subsequent to December 31 , 2024: 

• Closed on February 13, 2025 a three-year extension and amendment to the Company's existing I 00% recourse, secured 

revolving credit facility with a syndicate of seven lenders agented by Bank of AmericaNA. Pursuant to the amendment, the 

commitment amotmt tmder the secured revolving credit facility increased to $375.0 million from $290.0 million, material 

economic and structural tenns remain unchanged, and the new maturity date is February 13, 2028. 
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Schedule IV - M ortgage Loans on Real Estate 
As of December 31, 2024 
(Dollars in Thousands) 

Type of 
Loan/Bot·t·owet·<'J Description I Location In tCJ'est Payment Rates 

Senior Loans in excess of 3% of tlte carrying mnount of total loans 

Borrower A Senior Loan I San Jose S+ 3.6% 

Borrower B Senior Loan I New York S+3.0% 

Borrower C Senior Loan I Daly City S+4.0% 

Borrower D Senior Loan I Various S+3.5% 

Borrower E Senior Loan I New York S+4.1% 

Borrower F Senior Loan I Towson S+3.5% 

BorrowerG Senior Loan I Hayward S+3.2% 

Borrower H Senior Loan I Various S+3.3% 

Borrower I Senior Loan I Various S+3.4% 

Senior Loans less than 3% oftlte carryi11g fiiiiOIIIIt of total loans 

Senior loan Multifamily I Diversi fied Floating S+2.9%- 4.0% 

Senior loan Office I Diversified Floating S+3.5% - 5.3% 

Senior loan Hotel / Diversified Floating S+3.5%- 5.1% 

Senior loan 

Senior loan 

Senior loan 

Senior loan 

Total senior loans 

Total loans 

CECL reserve<6l 

Total loans, net 

Mixed-Use I CA 

Life Science I CA 

Industrial I TX 

Self Storage I Diversified 

Floating S+4.1% 

Floating S+4.2% 

Floating S+3.S% 

Floating S+4.2% 

Extended Period ic Unpaid 
Maturity Payment P rior Pl'incipal 

Date(2) Tums(JJ Liens<•> Ba lance 

2027 110 253,110 

2026 1/0 227.107 

2026 110 205,557 

2026 110 !06,017 

2025 110 l50,500 

2026 1/0 n 13,025 

2026 110 102,573 

2029 110 !09,700 

2030 110 115,500 

2026- 2029 110 I,D9,628 

2025 - 2027 110 204,65 1 

2025- 2029 110 334,290 

2025 110 75,327 

2026 110 46,425 

2028 110 34,100 

2027 110 67,000 

3,284,510 

3,284,510 

( I) Includes senior mortgage loans, contiguous subordinate loans, and pari passu participations in senior mmtgage loans. 

(2) Extended maturity date asswnes all extension options are exercised. 

(3) 1/0 = interest only, P/1 = principal and interest. 

Can ·ying 
Amount of 

Loans<5J 

253,110 

227,107 

205,49 1 

106,017 

150,500 

113,025 

102,573 

108,943 

114,211 

I ,137,29 1 

204,390 

333,443 

75,327 

46,337 

33,892 

66,93 1 

3,278,588 

3,278,588 

(61,558) 

$ 3,217,030 

(4) Represents only third-party liens and is expressed as the total loan commitment senior to our subordinated loan interest as ofDecember 31, 
2024. 

(5) The aggregate tax basis of the loans is $2.8 billion as ofDecember 31 , 2024. 

(6) As of December 31 , 2024, the Company bas a total CECL reserve ofS6l.6 million on its loans held for investment. Refer to Note 3 for 
additional infonnation on the Company's CECL reserve. 

1. Reconciliation of Mortgage Loans on Real Estate: 

The following table reconciles the Company' s mortgage loans on real estate activity for the years ended (dollars in thousands): 

2024 2023 2022 
Balance at Janua11' I, $ 3,409,684 $ 4,781,402 $ 4,867,203 

Additions during period: 

Loans originated and acquired 527,276 194,706 1,519,406 

Additional fundings 40,697 140,547 145,199 

Accrued PIK interest 360 

Amortization of origination fees and discounts 6,075 11 ,955 11,085 

Deductions during period: 

Collection of principal (672,196) (890,566) (1,506,870) 

Collection of accrued PIK interest (1,172) (542) (1,314) 

Collection of interest applied to reduce principal under the cost-
recovery method (15,894) 

Realized loss on loan write-offs, loan sales, and REO conversions (9,729) (334,727) (4,400) 

Loan sales (343,637) 

Loan extingu~shment on conversion to REO (89,499) (263,740) (89,234) 

Decrease (increase) of al lowance for credit losses 5,534 130, 180 ( 159,673) 

Balance at December 31, $ 3,217,030 $ 3,409,684 $ 4,781,402 
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